### National Geodetic Survey Positioning America for the Future

geodesy.noaa.gov



### **OPUS Projects** Online Position User Service Baseline Processing and Adjustment Software **User Guide**





### June 2021

This page is intentionally blank

# Abstract

This document presents instructions for the successful use of OPUS Projects (hereafter referred to as OP), the first version of OP specifically designed to streamline the process by which a user processes and submits campaign-style GNSS surveys for inclusion in the National Geodetic Survey's authoritative database of survey control, known as the Integrated Database, or "**IDB**." As a result of a successful NGS review and acceptance, the project files are archived by NGS and the authoritative, least squares-adjusted coordinates are published and made available to anyone with an internet connection via the **NGS Datasheets**. Throughout the document, this entire process is simply referred to as "**submission to NGS**." This version of OPUS Projects (OP) has a very similar look and feel to previous versions, until the user specifies an official NGS-issued GNSS **Project Tracking ID** (provided through the <u>Survey Project Proposal</u> portal). The inclusion of this Tracking ID in OP unlocks new features of the software specifically for projects intended for submission to NGS. Note that although OP will support multiple GNSS constellations in the future, at the time of this manual's publication, only **GPS** data files are supported.



Figure i: OPUS Projects supports the submission of GNSS survey data to NGS for publication on Datasheets

# **Revision History**

Draft v1.0 (First Draft) – 20 September, 2020 – Submitted for NGS internal review

\_\_\_\_\_

Draft v.1.1 – 04 January 2021 – Submitted for external review

-----

Draft v1.2 – 18 February 2021 – Approved by the NGS Products & Services Committee

-----

This document is formatted for double-sided printing

This page is intentionally blank

# **Living Document**

The OPUS Projects User Guide is designed to be a "living document" and will be updated with new information and resources as the OPUS suite of programs evolve over time. As this current edition of the document is being prepared for publication, an even newer and better version of OPUS Projects will be made available to users on the NGS Beta internet site.

If you have any question or comment regarding this User Guide, or if you discover any errors, please contact the OPUS Projects Team at <u>ngs.opus.projects@noaa.gov</u>.

If there are any topics or resources that you would like NGS to add to this User Guide or to the training materials on OPUS Projects, please contact the NGS Training Coordinator at <u>nos.ngs.corbin.training.center@noaa.gov</u>.

# Acknowledgements

This document was made possible by the dedicated support of an entire team comprised of:

Mark Schenewerk, Julie Prusky, Philippe Hensel, Dan Gillins, Dave Zenk, Kevin Jordan, Bill Stone, Boris Kanazir, Jeff Jalbrzikowski, Erika Little, Michael Dennis, Dan Prouty, and Rick Foote.

The authors wish to thank John May and Ed Carlson for their help in revising the first draft, as well as Dave Streitz (MNDT) and Mark Huber (USACE) for their revisions to the second draft.

Special thanks to Ying Jin for helping to bring this document to production.

# **Table of Contents**

Table of Contents Conventions Used Throughout the Document	1 4
Disclaimer	4
Quick Start Guide (OP Success in 10 Easy Steps)	5
1. Introduction	not defined.
1.1 Intended Audience	16
1.2 Disclaimers	16
1.3 Helpful Resources	16
2. NGS Survey Proposal	17
3. Create Your Project in OP	20
3.1 Create Your New Project	21
3.2 Access to Your Project	24
4. Review and Edit Project Preferences	26
4.1 Project Title, ID and Keywords	27
4.2 Adding Emails to the Project Team	27
4.3 Data & Solution Quality Thresholds	28
4.4 Data Processing Defaults	30
4.5 Session Definition	
4.6 Mark Co-location Definition	32
4.7 Saving Your Preferences	33
5. Naming Files Correctly for Best Results in OP	34
5.1 RINEX Files Naming Convention for GNSS Observations	34
5.2 Description Files and Naming Conventions	35
5.3 Photos	36
5.4 GNSS Observation Logs Naming Convention	37
5.5 Naming Problem Examples	38
6. Loading GNSS Observation Files	39
6.1 How to Load GNSS Observations into OPUS	40
6.2 Results of a Successful Load	41
6.3 Results of an Unsuccessful Load	43
6.4 Checking Your OPUS Solution Results	43

7. Walking Through OP Visualizations	49
7.1 The Project Manager's Web Page	49
7.2 Sessions and Solutions Page	68
7.3 Mark Pages	71
8. Mark Descriptions	85
9. Selecting CORSs	86
9.1 Adding or Deleting CORSs	86
9.2 Selecting Appropriate CORSs for Successful Processing in OP	88
9.3 Add/Del CORS	
10. Session Processing	100
10.1 Session Processing Page	100
10.2 Selecting the Session Network Design	102
10.3 Selecting the Constraints	104
10.4 Processing Preferences and Performing the Processing	105
10.5 Where to Look for Your Results	108
10.6. Analyzing the Processing Report	114
10.7. Analyzing the Solution Statistics for ALL SESSIONS	116
10.8. Next Steps	118
11. Network Adjustments	118
11.1. Recommended Network Adjustment Sequence for Alignment with the NSRS	120
11.2. Recommended Network Adjustment Sequence Without NGS Project Tracking ID	121
11.3. Verifying Constraints Prior to an Adjustment	121
11.4. Setting up a Network Adjustment	121
11.5. Network Adjustment Results	126
11.6. Analyzing Network Adjustment Results	130
11.7 Sequential Adjustments with Tracking ID	137
Acronyms and Glossary	157
Appendix A: WinDesc Module for OPUS Projects	162
A1. Introduction	163
A2. Creating a New Description FIIe	164
A3. Editing Project Data	167
A4. Editing Descriptive Data	174
A5.Checking the Description File:	176

A6. Organizing Files to Upload to OP	187
A7. Checking Coordinates Prior to Network Adjustments in OP	190
Appendix B: How OP Arranges GNSS Observations into Sessions	202
B1: Scenario 1	202
B2: Scenario 2	202
B3: Scenario 3	202
Appendix C: Coordinate Shifts	207
C1: Session Processing Results	202
C2: Preliminary Adjustment	202
C3: Horizontal Free Adjustment	202
C4: Horizontal Constrained Adjustment	202
C5: Vertical Free Adjustment	202
C6: Vertical Constrained Adjustment	202
Appendix D: How OP Assigns Sigmas on Constrained Marks	216
D1: Source of Uncertainties for Session Processing	202
D2: Source of Uncertainties for Network Adjustments	202
Appendix E: FAA Airport Surveys	219
E1: New PACS/SACS	202
E2: Existing PACS/SACS	202
E3: Example of Recovering an Existing PACS	202
Appendix F: Tying a Real-Time Network to the NSRS	231
F1: Determining RTN Station Coordinates using OPUS Projects	202
F2: Mon vs. GRP vs. ARP	202
F3: Use the Latest Absolute Antenna Calibrations	202
F4: Collect Station Data During Optimal Weather Conditions	202
F5: Tie RTN Stations to the NSRS Using Select CORSs	202
F6: Coordination	202
F7: Field Tests	202
F8: Monitoring RTN Station Coordinates	202
F9: Literature Cited	202

# **Conventions Used Throughout the Document**

Useful tips are presented in green text bubbles

General cautionary statements are presented in yellow text bubbles with the "caution" red triangle

Critically important cautionary statements are given in the red text bubble

More information on selected terms and acronyms are found in the Glossary. Selected terms are highlighted in **bold** font when first used.

## Disclaimer

Mention of specific commercial product, process, or service, or the use of any trade, firm or corporation name is for the information and convenience of the public, and does not constitute endorsement, recommendation, or favoring by the Department of Commerce

# **Quick Start Guide**

QS1. If you would like to submit your least squares-adjusted campaign-style GNSS project to NGS, an official Project Tracking ID will be required. This ID is issued by NGS upon successful review of a <u>Survey Project Proposal</u>. We recommended you coordinate this with your <u>NGS Regional</u> <u>Geodetic Advisor</u>. If you do not intend to submit your project to NGS, then skip this step.

<b>S</b>	Survey Project Proposal - version 3.5.3	ILVEY
NGS Home About NGS	Data & Imagery Tools Surveys Science & Education Se	earch
	Survey Proposal	
	We publish high-accuracy GPS and/or differential leveling observations which meet our criteria. Describe your project below to receive helpful data files and advice about your project.	
ISWAA	Read NGS Bluebook     NGS Bluebook Policy	
Survey Proposal	(Fields marked with an asterisk (*) are required)	
Bluebook Project	PROJECT INFORMATION:	
Adjust Guidelines	Project Title: *	
eveling Project		
105 NG \$-58	State: * Select One State	
NOS NGS-59	Survey Type: GPS 💌	
OPUS-Projects Get		
tarted Info	GPS: N/A	
sample Project Report		
	Leveling: - N/A -	
	Beginning on or about : *	
	Ending on or about : * O January 2021 O	
	CONTACT INFORMATION:	
	Adjusted by Agency:	
	Click here to register an age 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 helpdesk@noaa.gov.t	to
	have your mailto client setup 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 yr agency code.	
	Email: * 24 25 26 27 28 29 30	
	Confirm Empil: * 31	
	Phone:	
	ADDITIONAL COMMENTS: (500 characters remaining)	
	More info about my project	I
		I
	PHOTOS AND SKETCHES:         (Acceptable File Type: gif, jpg, png, pdf, bxt)             Choose          Mark type, typical (<4mb) [Help]	le2;
	I'm not a robot	

Figure QS1: NGS Survey Project Proposal Form

The uploaded Network sketch should identify the project's network baseline design (baselines connecting the **user marks** and **CORS**s). The design plays a role in both **session processing** and network adjustment in OP (See Section 10 of this manual).

QS2. Create your project in OP.

Мар	Satellite	Create Project	
ID WY	SD V MI	* Email address Privacy Act Statement NGS-supplied	Refers to Project Manager who must be registered with OPUS-Projects
AZ NM		project tracking ID Data code	AA (if uncertain, leave as is):
Google	TX LA FL	* Project title	
OPUS mer	ıu	* Agency	
about OPUS		* Approx. location	Latitude: Ndd:mm and Longitude: Wdd:mm Update Map
projects	0	* Anticipated start	
shared solut	lions	* Approx. size	Stations: 0 + - and Duration: 0 + - days
support / fee	edback		Create Reset
		* required fields	Website Owner: National Geodetic Survey / Last modified by NGS.OPUS V 1.0 Oct 17 2019
NOS	Home • NGS Employees	Privacy Policy      Take Our	Survey • Disclaimer • USA.gov • Ready.gov • Site Map • Contact Webmaster

Figure QS2: Input screen to create a project in OPUS Projects

Creation of a project is limited to email addresses associated with attendees of NGS OPUS Projects Manager's Training classes. Please see the <u>NGS training calendar</u> for upcoming class offerings or contact an <u>NGS Regional Geodetic Advisor</u> for additional information. To unlock the advanced capabilities of OP, an NGS-supplied Project Tracking ID will need to be entered at this step [see Step 1, or enter "0000" (four zeros) as a dummy variable to access the advanced capabilities].

QS3. Review your project Preferences to make sure preferences match project requirements.



Figure QS3: Location of the Preferences button on the OP Manager's Page

QS4. If submitting the project to NGS, upload <u>WinDesc</u> Description Files for all user marks to OP (not CORSs). A WinDesc tutorial is provided in Appendix 1. If photos are already available, load them via the "Upload A Photo" button on the individual mark pages. When GNSS Observation Field Logs are available, they can be loaded from the Manager's Page. If you do not intend to submit your project to NGS, then skip this step.



Figure QS4a: Location of upload descriptions and field log buttons on the OP Manager's Page



Figure QS4b: Upload a photo button on the user mark page

QS5. Load static GNSS observation files through the OPUS upload portal.

	1 1	- W				Nat	onal Geodetic Survey
NGS Home	About NGS	Data & Imagery	Tools	Surveys	Science & Education		Search
		Upload y Solve your What is OF Choose I * data file of NONE antenna - of	our data GPS post PUS? F/ File No of dual-free	a file. Ion & the it to AQs file chos quency GPS	the National Spatial Refe en observations sample	rance System.	Antonia Ant
oppus men nome / uploe sbout OPUS projects shared solut	d ons	e.ese // antenna he	nefers adv light of yo	ove your mai ur antenna's	K. reference point.		
planned imp support / fee OP	ovements dback US Today	<sup>•</sup> email add	iress - yoi customi	ur solution w ze your solut	II be sent here. Privacy A	ict Statement	
		Upload to for data 15	Repid-Ste min 2 h	tic Uplos rs. for da	ad to Static ta 2 hrs 48 hrs.		
		* required to We may us	elds e your dat	a for internal	evaluations of OPUS use	e, accuracy, or relate	d research.

Figure QS5: OPUS GNSS data file upload page

QS6. Review OPUS solutions (Show File) and OP visualizations (Manager's Page, **Session** pages, Mark pages) to make sure observations are correct, data quality is good, and four-character ID assignments and sessions are as expected.



Figure QS6: OPUS single file processing results are available under "Show File" and on the individual user mark page

QS7. CORS Selection: select the best CORSs for use as control for session **baseline processing** and network adjustments. CORS and IGS Stations should be added to the project using the "Add/Del CORS" button on the Manager's Page. Typically, 4 to 8 stations should be selected, including at least one within 200 km of the observed user marks to function as a session baseline processing "**hub** station." A detailed, step-by-step procedure is provided in Section 9. Add one distant station (300 to 800 km away) to help model the tropospheric delays.



QS8. Conduct session processing. Only constrain the hub(s) in lat/lon/ellipsoid height (3D) during session processing.



Figure QS8: Session processing sequence

Review results of session processing to ensure project specifications have been met (review session outputs in email attachments or under "Show File" from the Manager's Page).

QS9. A) If no Project Tracking ID (real or "dummy") has been associated with the project, network adjustments are performed on all selected sessions. Typically the CORS are held fixed in 3D. Any vertical user marks with known or published orthometric heights may be constrained vertically at those heights. See Section 11, Network Adjustments.

B) If a Project Tracking ID was used, then the next step is a series of five sequential network adjustments (see below). After each step, carefully review the results and especially the **shifts** in the coordinates. You may have to go back and reject some observations (or remove some **constraints**) and reprocess some sessions.

2	31				Perform	Adjustm	ent					
					- CHOIN	rajastin						
IGS surv	ey project	tracki	ng ID : 0000									
Prelimi	nary		Horizontal fr	ree	Horizon constraine	ntal ed		Vertical 1	free	Ve const	rtical rained	
Adjustme	nt Name (3	30 cha	r max): Preli	iminary								
	Ir	nclude	d Solutions	6				Ava	ailable S	olutions		
2017-241 2017-242 2017-243 2017-262 2017-263	A A A A				4 •	[none ←	9]					*
	CONSTR	AINT	HEIGHT							REE	FRAME	
MARK	CONSTR	College of the level of the lev	neionn	(m)	LATITUD	E (° ' '')	LONG	HUDE (*	1	THET.		
MARK bell	NONE	•	EL HGT V	( <b>m)</b> 81.236	LATITUD N39:32:5	E(°'") 57.8285	LONG W076:	40:02.8	929 NA	D_83(201	1) (2010.00	• (000
MARK bell O brun O	NONE	• •	EL HGT V	(m) 81.236 106.51	LATITUD N39:32: N39:19:(	E(°'') 57.8285 02.9992	LONG W076: W077:	40:02.8 36:40.4	929 NA 427 NA	.D_83(201 .D_83(201	1) (2010.0( 1) (2010.0(	000) ▼ 000) ▼
MARK bell O brun O calv O	NONE NONE NONE	• • •	EL HGT V EL HGT V EL HGT V	(m) 81.236 106.51 27.832	LATITUD N39:32:5 N39:19:( N39:02:5	<b>E (°''')</b> 57.8285 02.9992 59.4964	LONG W076: W077: W076:	40:02.8 36:40.4 55:59.3	929 NA 427 NA 789 NA	.D_83(201 .D_83(201 .D_83(201	1) (2010.0( 1) (2010.0( 1) (2010.0(	000) <b>v</b> 000) <b>v</b> 000) <b>v</b>
MARK bell O brun O calv O e087 O	NONE NONE NONE NONE	• • •	EL HGT V EL HGT V EL HGT V	(m) 81.236 106.51 27.832 215.85	LATITUD N39:32:5 N39:19:0 N39:02:5 N39:20:0	₩ <b>E (°''')</b> 57.8285 52.9992 59.4964 52.7187	LONG W076: W077: W076: W077:	40:02.8 36:40.4 55:59.3 09:20.3	929 NA 427 NA 789 NA 399 NA	.D_83(201 .D_83(201 .D_83(201 .D_83(201	1) (2010.0( 1) (2010.0( 1) (2010.0( 1) (2010.0(	000) ¥ 000) ¥ 000) ¥
MARK bell brun calv e087 fran	NONE NONE NONE NONE NONE	T           T           T           T           T           T           T           T	EL HGT V EL HGT V EL HGT V EL HGT V	(m) 81.236 106.51 27.832 215.85 75.264	LATITUD N39:32:5 N39:19:0 N39:02:5 N39:20:0 N39:20:5	₩ (°'') 57.8285 59.4992 59.4964 52.7187 55.8960	LONG W076: W077: W076: W077:	40:02.8 36:40.4 55:59.3 09:20.3 19:38.3	929 NA 427 NA 789 NA 399 NA 173 NA	D_83(201 D_83(201 D_83(201 D_83(201 D_83(201 D_83(201	1) (2010.0( 1) (2010.0( 1) (2010.0( 1) (2010.0( 1) (2010.0( 1) (2010.0(	000) ¥ 000) ¥ 000) ¥ 000) ¥
MARK bell o brun o calv o e087 o fran o gorf o	NONE NONE NONE NONE NONE NONE		EL HGT V EL HGT V EL HGT V EL HGT V EL HGT V	(m) 81.236 106.51 27.832 215.85 75.264 124.64	LATITUD N39:32: N39:19:0 N39:02:5 N39:20:0 N39:29:5 N39:13:3	E (° ' ') 57.8285 02.9992 59.4964 02.7187 55.8960 34.2416	LONG W076: W077: W077: W077: W077:	40:02.8 36:40.4 55:59.3 09:20.3 19:38.3 48:50.4	929 NA 427 NA 789 NA 399 NA 173 NA 635 NA	D_83(201 D_83(201 D_83(201 D_83(201 D_83(201 D_83(201 D_83(201	1) (2010.00 1) (2010.00 1) (2010.00 1) (2010.00 1) (2010.00 1) (2010.00	000) ¥ 000) ¥ 000) ¥ 000) ¥ 000) ¥
MARK bell brun calv e087 fran gorf n102	NONE NONE NONE NONE NONE NONE	T           T           T           T           T           T           T           T           T           T	EL HGT V EL HGT V EL HGT V EL HGT V EL HGT V EL HGT V EL HGT V	(m) 81.236 106.51 27.832 215.85 75.264 124.64 105.80	LATITUD N39:32:1 N39:02:5 N39:20:0 N39:20:0 N39:29:5 N39:13:3	E (°'') 57.8285 59.4964 52.7187 55.8960 34.2416 51.9792	LONG W076: W077: W076: W077: W077: W077: W076:	40:02.8 36:40.4 55:59.3 09:20.3 19:38.3 48:50.4 12:53.7	929 NA 427 NA 789 NA 399 NA 173 NA 635 NA 347 NA	D_83(201 D_83(201 D_83(201 D_83(201 D_83(201 D_83(201 D_83(201 D_83(201	1) (2010.00 1) (2010.00 1) (2010.00 1) (2010.00 1) (2010.00 1) (2010.00 1) (2010.00	000) ¥ 000) ¥ 000) ¥ 000) ¥ 000) ¥ 000) ¥
MARK bell O brun O calv O e087 O fran O gorf O n102 O pond O	NONE NONE NONE NONE NONE NONE NONE		EL HGT V EL HGT V EL HGT V EL HGT V EL HGT V EL HGT V EL HGT V	(m) 81.236 106.51 27.832 215.85 75.264 124.64 105.80 231.99	LATITUD N39:32:0 N39:02:5 N39:20:0 N39:29:5 N39:13:3 N39:07:5 N39:38:2	E(°'') 57.8285 59.4964 02.7187 55.8960 34.2416 51.9792 26.7039	LONG W076: W077: W077: W077: W077: W077: W076: W076:	40:02.8 36:40.4 55:59.3 09:20.3 19:38.3 48:50.4 12:53.7 52:06.8	929 NA 427 NA 789 NA 399 NA 173 NA 635 NA 347 NA 219 NA	D_83(201 D_83(201 D_83(201 D_83(201 D_83(201 D_83(201 D_83(201 D_83(201 D_83(201	1) (2010.00 1) (2010.00 1) (2010.00 1) (2010.00 1) (2010.00 1) (2010.00 1) (2010.00 1) (2010.00 1) (2010.00	000) ¥ 000) ¥ 000) ¥ 000) ¥ 000) ¥ 000) ¥ 000) ¥
MARK bell O brun O calv O e087 O fran O gorf O n102 O pond O tane O	NONE NONE NONE NONE NONE NONE NONE		EL HGT V EL HGT V	(m) 81.236 106.51 27.832 215.85 75.264 124.64 105.80 231.99 111.79	LATITUD N39:32: N39:19:0 N39:20:0 N39:20:0 N39:13:3 N39:07:5 N39:38:2 N39:39:4	<pre>IE (° '') 57.8285 02.9992 59.4964 02.7187 55.8960 34.2416 51.9792 26.7039 48.0655</pre>	LONG W076: W077: W077: W077: W077: W077: W076: W076: W076: W076: W076: W077: W076: W077: W07	artube (* 40:02.8 36:40.4 55:59.3 09:20.3 19:38.3 48:50.4 12:53.7 52:06.8 11:00.7	929 NA 427 NA 789 NA 399 NA 173 NA 635 NA 347 NA 219 NA 770 NA	D_83(201 D_83(201 D_83(201 D_83(201 D_83(201 D_83(201 D_83(201 D_83(201 D_83(201 D_83(201	1) (2010.00 1) (2010.00	000) ¥ 000) ¥ 000) ¥ 000) ¥ 000) ¥ 000) ¥ 000) ¥ 000) ¥
MARK bell brun calv e087 fran gorf n102 pond tane CORS	NONE NONE NONE NONE NONE NONE NONE NONE	T T T T T T T T T T T T T T	EL HGT V EL HGT V	(m) 81.236 106.51 27.832 215.85 75.264 124.64 105.80 231.99 111.79 (m)	LATITUD N39:32:4 N39:19:( N39:20:( N39:20:( N39:20:( N39:30:4 N39:39:4 N39:39:4 LATITUD	E (° '') 57.8285 59.4964 52.7187 55.8960 34.2416 51.9792 26.7039 48.0655 FE (° '')	LONG W076: W077: W077: W077: W077: W077: W076: W076: W076: W077: LONG	40:02.8 36:40.4 55:59.3 09:20.3 19:38.3 48:50.4 12:53.7 52:06.8 11:00.7 <b>iITUDE (°</b>	929 NA 427 NA 789 NA 399 NA 173 NA 635 NA 347 NA 219 NA 770 NA	D_83(201 D_83(201 D_83(201 D_83(201 D_83(201 D_83(201 D_83(201 D_83(201 D_83(201 D_83(201 D_83(201 D_83(201	1) (2010.0( 1) (2010.0( 1) (2010.0( 1) (2010.0( 1) (2010.0( 1) (2010.0( 1) (2010.0( 1) (2010.0( 1) (2010.0( 1) (2010.0( <b>FRAME</b>	000) ¥ 000) ¥ 000) ¥ 000) ¥ 000) ¥ 000) ¥ 000) ¥ 000) ¥ 000) ¥
MARK bell brun calv e087 fran gorf n102 pond tane CORS algo ach	NONE NONE NONE NONE NONE NONE NONE NONE	T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T	EL HGT V EL HGT V	(m) 81.236 106.51 27.832 215.85 124.64 105.80 231.99 111.79 (m) 201.98	LATITUD (N39:32: (N39:20: (N39:20: (N39:20: (N39:38: (N39:39:4 LATITUD (N45:57:2)	E (° ' ') 57.8285 52.9992 59.4964 02.7187 55.8960 34.2416 51.9792 26.7039 48.0655 E (° '') 20.8473 20.84757 20.84757 20.84757 20.84757 20.84757 20.84757 20.84757 20	LONG W076: W077: W07	A TUDE (° 40:02.8 36:40.4 55:59.3 09:20.3 19:38.3 48:50.4 12:53.7 52:06.8 11:00.7 <b>HTUDE (°</b> 04:16.9	929 NA 427 NA 789 NA 399 NA 173 NA 635 NA 347 NA 219 NA 770 NA ***	D_83(201 D_83(201 D_83(201 D_83(201 D_83(201 D_83(201 D_83(201 D_83(201 D_83(201 D_83(201 REF. D_83(201 D_83(201	1) (2010.01 1) (2010.01) (2010.01 1) (2010	000) ¥ 000) ¥ 000) ¥ 000) ¥ 000) ¥ 000) ¥ 000) ¥ 000) ¥ 000) ¥
MARK bell brun calv e087 gorf n102 pond tane CORS algo corb acob algo	NONE NONE NONE NONE NONE NONE NONE NONE	AINT	EL HGT V EL HGT V	(m)         81.236           81.236         106.51           27.832         215.85           75.264         124.64           105.80         231.99           111.79         111.79           201.98         37.237	LATITUD N39:32: N39:19: N39:20: N39:20: N39:33: N39:33: N39:33: LATITUD N45:57:2 N39:12: (N39:12: (N39:12: (N39:12: N39:12: N39:20:	<pre>IE (° ' ') 57.8285 02.9992 59.4964 02.7187 55.8960 34.2416 51.9792 26.7039 48.0655 IE (° ' ') 20.8473 07.8279</pre>	LONG W076: W077: W077: W077: W077: W076: W076: W076: W076: W076: W076: W077: W076: W076: W077: W076: W077: W076: W077: W076: W077: W077: W077: W076: W077: W076: W077: W076: W077: W076: W077: W076: W077: W076: W077: W076: W077: W076: W077: W076: W077: W076: W077: W076: W077: W076: W077: W076: W077: W076: W077: W077: W076: W077: W076: W077: W076: W077: W077: W076: W077: W077: W076: W077: W076: W077: W077: W076: W077: W076: W077: W077: W076: W077: W076: W077: W076: W077: W076: W077: W076: W077: W076: W077: W076: W077: W076: W077: W076: W077: W076: W077: W077: W076: W077: W076: W077: W076: W077: W077: W076: W077: W076: W077: W076: W077: W076: W077: W076: W076: W077: W076: W077: W076: W077: W076: W077: W07	A 100E (° 40:02.8 36:40.4 55:59.3 09:20.3 19:38.3 48:50.4 12:53.7 52:06.8 11:00.7 <b>GITUDE (°</b> 04:16.9 22:24.5	929 NA 427 NA 789 NA 399 NA 173 NA 635 NA 635 NA 347 NA 219 NA 770 NA *** 064 NA 703 NA	D_83(201 D_83(201 D_83(201 D_83(201 D_83(201 D_83(201 D_83(201 D_83(201 D_83(201 D_83(201 D_83(201 D_83(201	1) (2010.01 1) (2010.01	000) ¥ 000) ¥ 000) ¥ 000) ¥ 000) ¥ 000) ¥ 000) ¥ 000) ¥ 000) ¥ 000) ¥
MARK bell brun calv calv calv calv calv calv calv calv	NONE NONE NONE NONE NONE NONE NONE NONE	V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	EL HGT V EL HGT V	(m) 81.236 106.51 27.832 215.85 75.264 124.64 105.80 231.99 111.79 231.99 111.79 201.98 37.237 6.547	LATITUD N39:32:5 N39:19:0 N39:20:0 N39:20:0 N39:20:0 N39:33:2 N39:33:2 N39:33:2 N39:33:2 LATITUD N45:57:2 N38:12:0 N38:12:0	<pre>HE (° ' ') 57.8285 02.9992 59.4964 02.7187 55.8960 34.2416 51.9792 26.7039 48.0655 HE (° ' ') 20.8473 07.8279 30.8473</pre>	LONG W076: W077: W076: W077: W076: W077: W076: W077: W076: W077: W076: W077: W076: W077: W076: W077: W076: W077: W076: W077: W076: W077: W076: W077: W076: W077: W076: W077: W076: W077: W076: W077: W076: W077: W076: W077: W076: W076: W077: W076: W076: W076: W077: W076: W07	A 100E (° 40:02.8 36:40.4 55:59.3 09:20.3 19:38.3 48:50.4 12:53.7 52:06.8 11:00.7 6 11:00.7 6 11:00.7 6 11:00.7 6 11:00.7 6 11:00.7 6 11:00.7 6 11:00.7 6 11:00.7 6 11:00.7 7 11:00.7	) 929 NA 427 NA 789 NA 399 NA 173 NA 635 NA 347 NA 219 NA 770 NA '') 064 NA 703 NA 288 NA	D_83(201 D_83(201 D_83(201 D_83(201 D_83(201 D_83(201 D_83(201 D_83(201 D_83(201 D_83(201 D_83(201 D_83(201 D_83(201 D_83(201	1) (2010.00 1) (2010.00 1) (2010.00 1) (2010.00 1) (2010.00 1) (2010.00 1) (2010.00 1) (2010.00 1) (2010.00 FRAME 1) (2010.00 1) (2010.00 1) (2010.00 1) (2010.00 1) (2010.00	000) ¥ 000) ¥
MARK bell brun calv calv calv calv calv calv calv calv	NONE NONE NONE NONE NONE NONE NONE NONE		EL HGT V EL HGT V	(m)           \$1.236           106.51           106.51           27.832           215.85           75.264           124.64           105.80           231.99           111.79           (m)           201.98           37.237           6.5478           984.678	LATITUD N39:32:5 N39:19:0 N39:20:0 N39:20:0 N39:20:0 N39:33:2 N39:33:2 N39:33:2 LATITUD N45:57:2 N39:12:0 N39:40:2 N39:40:2	<pre>Fe (° ' ') F7.8285 F7.8285 F7.8285 F7.8285 F7.8285 F7.829 F7.829 F7.829 F7.829 F7.829 F7.829 F7.827 F7</pre>	LONG W076: W077: W076: W077: W077: W076: W077: W076: W077: W076: W077: W076: W077: W076: W077: W076: W077: W076: W077: W076: W076: W077: W076: W077: W076: W077: W076: W077: W076: W077: W076: W076: W077: W076: W077: W076: W077: W076: W077: W076: W077: W076: W077: W076: W076: W077: W076: W076: W076: W076: W077: W076: W07	Artube (* 40:02.8 36:40.4 55:59.3 09:20.3 19:38.3 48:50.4 12:53.7 52:06.8 11:00.7 <b>STUDE (*</b> 04:16.9 22:24.5 44:34.8 <b>49:365</b>	929 NA 427 NA 789 NA 399 NA 399 NA 173 NA 635 NA 347 NA 219 NA 770 NA <b>'')</b> 064 NA 703 NA 288 NA 746 NA	LD_83(201) D_83(201) D_83(201) D_83(201) D_83(201) D_83(201) D_83(201) D_83(201) D_83(201) D_83(201) D_83(201) D_83(201) D_83(201) D_83(201)	1) (2010.00 1) (20	000) ¥ 000) ¥
MARK bell brun calv calv calv calv calv calv calv calv	NONE NONE NONE NONE NONE NONE NONE NONE		EL HGT V EL HGT V	(m)           \$1.236           106.51           106.51           27.832           215.85           75.264           124.64           105.80           231.99           111.79           (m)           201.98           37.237           6.547           15.784           328.07	LATITUD N39:32:5 N39:19:0 N39:20:0 N39:20:0 N39:20:0 N39:23:0 N39:33:2 N39:33:2 N39:33:2 LATITUD N45:57:2 N39:01:2 N39:01:2 N39:01:2 N39:01:2 N39:01:2	<pre>Fer (****) Fr. 8285 Fr. 8285 Fr. 8285 Fr. 8285 Fr. 84964 Fr. 8496 Fr. 8496 Fr. 8497 Fr. 8497 Fr. 8497 Fr. 8497 Fr. 8497 Fr. 8498 Fr. 849 Fr. 8</pre>	LONG W076: W077: W076: W077: W077: W077: W077: W077: W077: W076: W077: W07	ArtObe (* 40:02.8 36:40.4 55:59.3 09:20.3 19:38.3 48:50.4 12:53.7 52:06.8 11:00.7 <b>STUDE (*</b> 04:16.9 22:24.5 44:34.8 <b>49:36.5</b> 41:50.5	929 NA 427 NA 789 NA 399 NA 399 NA 173 NA 635 NA 347 NA 219 NA 219 NA 770 NA ''') 064 NA 703 NA 288 NA 746 NA 102 NA	L_83(201) D_83(201) D_83(201) D_83(201) D_83(201) D_83(201) D_83(201) D_83(201) D_83(201) D_83(201) D_83(201) D_83(201) D_83(201) D_83(201)	1) (2010.00 1) (20	000) ▼ 000) ▼ 0000) ▼
MARK bell brun calv calv calv calv calv calv calv calv	NONE NONE NONE NONE NONE NONE NONE NONE		EL HGT V EL HGT V	(m)           \$1.236           106.51           106.51           27.832           215.85           75.264           124.64           105.80           231.99           111.79           (m)           201.98           37.237           6.547           15.784           328.00           165.70	LATITUD N39:32:5 N39:19:0 N39:20:0 N39:20:0 N39:20:0 N39:23:0 N39:33:2 N39:33:2 N39:33:2 N39:55:2 N39:01:2 N39:01:2 N39:01:2 N39:01:2 N39:55:	<pre>Fe (° ' '') F7 .8285 F7 .8285 F7 .8285 F7 .8285 F7 .8285 F7 .8285 F8 .4964 F7 .829 F8 .4964 F7 .829 F8 .4964 F8 .446 F8 .</pre>	LONG W076: W077: W075: W07	ArtObe (* 40:02.8 36:40.4 55:59.3 09:20.3 19:38.3 48:50.4 12:53.7 52:06.8 11:00.7 <b>STUDE (*</b> 04:16.9 22:24.5 44:34.8 <b>49:36.5</b> 41:50.5 09:29.7	329         NA           427         NA           427         NA           789         NA           399         NA           173         NA           635         NA           347         NA           219         NA           770         NA           703         NA           726         NA           746         NA           800         NA           800         NA	L83(201) D83(201) D83(201) D83(201) D83(201) D83(201) D83(201) D83(201) D83(201) D83(201) D83(201) D83(201) D83(201) D83(201)	1) (2010.00 1) (2010.00 1) (2010.00 1) (2010.00 1) (2010.00 1) (2010.00 1) (2010.00 1) (2010.00 FRAME 1) (2010.00 1) (2010.00	000) ▼ 000) ▼ 0000) ▼ 0000) ▼
MARK bell brun calv calv calv calv calv calv calv calv	NONE NONE NONE NONE NONE NONE NONE NONE		EL HGT V EL HGT V	(m)           \$1.236           106.51           106.51           27.832           215.85           75.264           124.64           105.80           231.99           111.79           (m)           201.98           37.237           6.547           15.784           328.00           165.70           99.6157	LATITUD N39:32:5 N39:19:0 N39:20:0 N39:20:0 N39:20:0 N39:23:0 N39:33:2 N39:33:2 N39:33:2 LATITUD N45:57:2 N39:01:2 N39:01:2 N39:01:2 N39:01:2 N39:55:5 N39:55:5	<pre>le (° ' ') s7.8285 s7.8285 s7.8285 s9.4964 s2.7187 s5.8960 s4.2416 s1.9792 26.7039 48.0655 le (° ' ') 20.8473 s7.8279 s6.2495 ls.1897 s5.6889 20.9276</pre>	LONG (10076) 10077) 10077) 10077) 10077) 100771	ArtObe (* 40:02.8 36:40.4 55:59.3 09:20.3 19:38.3 48:50.4 12:53.7 52:06.8 11:00.7 37UDE (* 04:16.9 22:24.5 44:34.8 49:36.5 99:29.7 44:25.5	929         NA           929         NA           427         NA           427         NA           789         NA           399         NA           173         NA           635         NA           347         NA           219         NA           770         NA           770         NA           703         NA           703         NA           728         NA           703         NA           704         NA           705         NA           703         NA           704         NA           705         NA           706         NA           703         NA           704         NA           705         NA           706         NA           707         NA           708         NA           709         NA           700         NA           701         NA           702         NA           703         NA           704         NA	LD_83(201) D_83(201) D_83(201) D_83(201) D_83(201) D_83(201) D_83(201) D_83(201) D_83(201) D_83(201) D_83(201) D_83(201) D_83(201) D_83(201) D_83(201) D_83(201)	1) (2010.00 1) (20	000) 00

Figure QS9: Network adjustment window showing sequence of five network adjustments when a NGS Tracking ID is used.

- a. Preliminary network adjustment: constrain the hub(s) (3D) and float all other stations. Make sure you have at least two good occupations (>2 hrs) per user mark.
- b. Horizontal free network adjustment (minimally constrained same design as the Preliminary): constrain only one station (3D), typically a hub. This adjustment uses a different processing engine compared to the Preliminary adjustment. Analyze residuals, make sure they are small.
- c. Horizontal constrained network adjustment: constrain all CORSs (3D) except the distant CORS. Constrain the (published) adjusted horizontal coordinates for all observed user marks with published lat/lon's. Evaluate the coordinate shifts for the signs of any outliers. Evaluate the F-test result (see Section 12 for more guidance on applying the F-test).
- d. Vertical free network adjustment (minimally constrained): constrain one hub in 2D; constrain to one (published) adjusted orthometric height (1D). Analyze residuals, make sure they are small.
- e. Vertical constrained network adjustment: constrain one hub (2D), float all other CORSs. Constrain all user marks that have published, adjusted orthometric heights. Evaluate the vertical shifts as well as the results of the F-test.
- QS10. Review project, verify field logs, photos, descriptions, finalize the project report, and submit to NGS.

# **1** Introduction

OP is a web-based geodetic application which enables the baseline processing of simultaneous, static GNSS observations, called **sessions**, followed by a least squares adjustment of the sessions. Results are tied to the National Spatial Reference System (NSRS). Collectively, the data, session **solutions**, least squares adjustment and additional metadata are called a project. OP provides a user-friendly map and graphic interfaces to visualize the project and solutions. It also provides useful quality assurance and quality control functionality as well as file organization features to assist in processing. The new OP builds on the success of previous versions of the application to provide the same look and feel and ease of operation, but fully replaces legacy methods of **PAGE-NT** GPS processing and NGS **ADJUST** software programs, and provides an updated method of submitting least squares adjusted, campaign-style GPS projects to NGS.



Figure 1-1: Sample OPUS Projects Manager's Page showing all five network adjustments

### Access to OP is through the Projects link on the OPUS upload web page at

<u>http://geodesy.noaa.gov/OPUS/</u>, or directly using the URL: <u>http://geodesy.noaa.gov/OPUS-</u> <u>Projects/</u>.

			<b>OPUS</b> Project	ets	
Standard Contract				National Geodetic Su	irvey
Home About NGS	Data & Imagery Too	s Surveys	Science & Education		Search
	OPUS Projects gi processing tools f occupations. The Data uploading Customizable o Visualization ai	ves users web- or projects invo advantages of through OPUS lata processing id managemen	based access to simple m living multiple sites and m OPUS Projects are: 3. y via the PAGES software tt aids.	anagement and ultiple suite.	
	What is OPUS pro One page clas What is OPUS User Manual. Manager train	gects? s description. Projects. ng videos.			
PUS menu	If you're interester NGS Integrated D Survey Project P number.	l in submitting atabase (IDB) roposal web s	your project's results for p and have not done so, ple site to request a required p	ublication in the ase visit the NGS project tracking	
out OPUS					
rojects	Starting the wee	k of May 17, 2	020, the International GNS 4 Generally any effects of	SS Service (IGS)	
ared solutions	switch are negli	jible; however,	the coordinates for small	number of IGS	
upport / foodbook	base stations ch	anged up to 2	cm. This will not affect NA	D 83(2011)	
	At the same tim deprecated. On project is using the ITRF2014 w to access your p converted to the	e, use of the IG y projects usin GS08 coordina ill appear on th roject, but can ITRF2014.	SO8 reference system for g IGS08 coordinates are a ates, a notice with a link fo le manager web page. You not processing unless the	processing was iffected. If your r conversion to will still be able project is	
	Create a new pro Create REST comp create	ect. RICTED to trai eted OPUS Pri a new project.	ined project managers. If y ojects training, you are reg . All others, see the <mark>Traini</mark>	ou have istered and may ng Schedule.	
	Configure, edit, a Session Projec Session Your E Privacy	nd process indi t Identifier: [ n Keyword: [ mail: [ Act Statement	ividual network sessions.		
	Manage, edit, pro Manage Projec Manag	cess, and publ t Identifier: er Keyword:	ish the project.		
			2 80 92 99 9		

Figure 1-2: OPUS Projects Create, Session, and Manager access page

To create OP projects, the user must have completed the <u>OPUS Projects Manager Training</u>. Training options include both in-person classes and webinars. To see the availability of and register for a live workshop, go to the NGS <u>Calendar of Upcoming Classes</u>. To access online materials visit the web page for the <u>NGS Testing and Training Center</u>. To request additional training, contact <u>ngs.training@noaa.gov</u> or your <u>regional geodetic advisor</u>.

Upon project creation, a set of unique keywords is automatically created, which provides online access to the project. To add data to the project, a user uploads static GNSS, dual-frequency observation files to OPUS, providing the specific antenna type, the vertical height to the Antenna

Reference Point (**ARP**), and the project ID keyword referred to above. After uploading all static GNSS files, OP performs session baseline processing using the same software that has traditionally been used in the bluebooking process (**PAGES**).

Once the user moves on to the Network Adjustments phase, the workflow shown in the figure below depends on whether the user has previously associated a Project Tracking ID to the project. Without a Project Tracking ID, the software **GPSCOM** is used to compute any and all adjustments the user wishes to specify. Conversely, if a Project Tracking ID (either the ID assigned thru the Survey Project Proposal process, or the "dummy" ID "0000") has been associated with the project, then **GPSCOM** is used to compute a *Preliminary Adjustment* while a subsequent, sequential set of adjustments (*Horizontal Free, Horizontal Constrained, Vertical Free, Vertical Constrained*) is computed using **ADJUST**. Please refer to the Glossary for more information on these programs.



The user should decide at the outset which network adjustment process is required to meet project objectives (i.e. with NGS Project Tracking ID or without). Once a NGS project Tracking ID (or "dummy" ID) has been associated with the project, it cannot be un-associated with that project. An official NGS Project Tracking ID, however, can always replace the "dummy" ID (but not the other way around!).

The decision of whether to use ADJUST or GPSCOM will be primarily driven by whether or not the user intends on submitting the project to NGS. If that is the goal, then the project must have an official Project Tracking ID assigned. Users not interested in submitting to NGS may still want to ensure that their project remains aligned to the latest realization of the NSRS. In that case, the dummy tracking ID "0000" can be used. Note that GPSCOM may provide a better alignment to the International Terrestrial Reference Frame (ITRF) and can potentially solve for more sources of error in the GPS network solutions compared to ADJUST, although these solutions might not have an ideal alignment with the latest realization of the NSRS reference frame.

Regardless of the pathway chosen, the resulting solution reports contain coordinates for the observed user marks<sup>1</sup> as well as Continuously Operating GNSS Reference Stations, or CORSs<sup>2</sup>, included in the project's processing. These coordinates are reported in the current geometric (aka "horizontal") datum realization of the National Spatial Reference System (NSRS), as well as the ITRF.

Throughout the manual, "CORS" or the plural "CORSs" is meant to refer to continuously operating GNSS reference stations in the NOAA CORS Network (NCN) and/or the International GNSS Service (IGS) network.

Figure 1-3: Conceptual diagram of workflow in OPUS Projects

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Throughout the manual, the term "user mark" refers to a mark whose GNSS observations have been brought into the project by the user through the OPUS upload page. See Glossary for more information.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> OPUS Projects accesses active GNSS control from the NOAA CORS Network (NCN) in addition to certain IGS stations which are not part of the NCN. For simplicity, this manual refers to them both as "CORS" (singular)) or "CORSs" (plural).



Figure 1-3: Conceptual diagram of OPUS Projects workflow

OP was created to provide users with NSRS three-dimensional coordinate results for GNSS networks and a relatively easy route for submission to NGS. In the future, a much more expansive OPUS suite of tools will enable the simultaneous processing and adjustment of a variety of geodetic survey data, including additional types of GNSS data (e.g. real time kinematic vectors), leveling, distances and angles. This will fully support the new NSRS geospatial database and the new terrestrial reference frames and geopotential datum of 2022.

## **1.1 Intended Audience**

This manual is intended for the community of GNSS practitioners who are already highly skilled in running GNSS campaign-style surveys, are very familiar with **post-processing** GNSS observations, and who understand the theory of least squares adjustments as it pertains to GNSS data. However, one does not need a degree in geodesy or surveying science to successfully use this manual and OP. Although many geodetic and surveying terms are used throughout the document, a glossary is included to remove confusion on the use of terminology. NGS has also published a number of educational products which may be very useful in bringing the user up to speed on a number of these topics. Please see the NGS <u>educational videos</u> and <u>online lessons</u>.

## **1.2 Disclaimers**

OP is a web-based utility implying that access to the Internet and use of a web browser are required. JavaScript must be enabled in your browser and pop-up blocking may have to be turned off. There is no implied guarantee that your browser will be compatible with OP. If you have difficulty configuring your browser, try a different browser or contact your workshop (or webinar) instructor or the OPUS Projects team.

Your email address is registered with NGS when you attend an OPUS Projects for Managers Workshop. Registering your email address allows you to create projects in OP. This is similar to registering to **share** a solution result through OPUS. If your email address changes and you would like your new email address to be associated with your projects, then please contact the <u>OPUS Projects Team</u>.

Always follow your project's specifications. This 'User Guide for OP should not be considered an endorsement for any specific project **network design**, field technique, hardware or software. Nor does it represent specific NGS project guidelines. The following websites provide guidance for some project types:

http://www.fgdc.gov/ http://geodesy.noaa.gov/AERO/aero.html http://geodesy.noaa.gov/heightmod/

## **1.3 Helpful Resources**

**OPUS Projects Manager Training Videos** 

ADJUST guidelines - for background information on the least squares tool that is built in to OPUS Projects Input Formats and Specifications of the National Geodetic Survey Data Base (The NGS "Bluebook") WinDesc (download link) FAA AC-16 specifications NOAA Technical Memorandum NOS NGS 58 NOAA Technical Memorandum NOS NGS 59 GNSS Positioning: Survey Planning and Data Acquisition - online on-demand video lesson

# 2 NGS Survey Proposal

If the intention is to use OP to submit a GNSS survey project to NGS, the user is required to submit a survey proposal via the <u>NGS Survey Proposal form</u>. The form can be reached by clicking on the "Surveys" tab on the NGS home page, and selecting "Survey Project Proposal Form" at the bottom of the drop-down list. It is recommended to submit the proposal prior to data collection, in case any changes to the plan are recommended.

It is also recommended to contact your <u>regional geodetic advisor</u> to discuss the project requirements prior to submitting the proposal. The advisor can assist in the selection of the appropriate local control.



If the user is not interested in submitting the project to NGS, skip to Step 3, "Create your project in OP."

Figure 2-1: NGS home page showing how to access NGS Survey Project Proposal Form

The form requests general information about the scope of your project, including title, state, whether the project is GNSS or leveling (the proposal form supports both kinds of projects), and approximately how many stations and over what period of time the survey is to be conducted.

	Survey Project Proposal - version 3.5.3							
GS Home About NGS	National Geodetic Survey Data & Imagery Tools Surveys Science & Education Search							
	Describe your project below to receive helpful data files and advice about your project.							
<b>ANNA</b>	Read NGS Bluebook     NGS Bluebook Policy							
Irvey Proposal	(Fields marked with an asterisk (*) are required)							
uebook Project	PROJECT INFORMATION:							
ljust Guidelines	Project Title: *							
veling Project DS NG S-58	State: * Select One State *							
DS NG 5-59	Sun/ev/Tune: GPS							
A AC16	ouvey type.							
arted Info	GPS: N/A							
mple Project Report								
	Leveling: N/A							
	Beginning on or about : *							
	Ending on or about : *							
	CONTACT INFORMATION:							
	Adjusted by Agency:							
	Click here to register an agency. Problems with this link? Email ngs.helpdesk@noaa.gov to have your mailto client setup in your browser. Click here to search for agency code.							
	Email: *							
	Confirm Email: *							
	Phone:							
	ADDITIONAL COMMENTS: (500 characters remaining)							
	More info about my project							
	PHOTOS AND SKETCHES:							
	(Acceptable File Type: gif, jpg, png, pdf, txt) Choose Mark type, typical (<4mb) [Help]							
	Choose Network/Level line sketch: (<4mb) [Samples]							
	+ Choose Observation Schedule or Leveling Survey plan: (<4mb) [Sample1; Sample2;							
	Sample3]							
	I'm not a robot							
	<ul> <li>Submit Reset</li> </ul>							
	Website Owner: National Geodetic Survey / Last modified by NGS.projectproposa							

Figure 2-2: The NGS Survey Project Proposal Form

The form requires the uploading of a survey network sketch, an observation schedule, and a photo of the type of user marks included in the project.

Mark type is mainly reserved for photos or sketches identifying the kinds of *new* user marks set for the project. If no new user marks are being set, the photos or sketches can reflect the most typical kind of user mark included in the project. Examples of mark types are available from the [Help] link on the Survey Project Proposal page.

The Network sketch refers to the identification of the project's network baseline design, with baselines identified between the project's user marks and CORSs. Examples are available by clicking on the [Sample] link on the Survey Project Proposal page, and are also explored in Section 10 of this manual. The sketch should also inherently reflect processing decisions for which marks are to be held constrained (in which dimensions), and which are to be unconstrained.

Consider the quality of the coordinates and heights of any mark used as a constraint in the project, including known uncertainties

The observation schedule lists the days, times of day, and the corresponding marks observed with GNSS, which can provide an idea of the eventual GNSS observation sessions involved. The schedule also specifies how many times each user mark will be observed as part of this project, or otherwise provides information regarding the procedures to be followed for creating the GNSS observation sessions in the project. Two samples are available from the links on the <u>Survey Project Proposal</u> page [<u>Sample 1, Sample 2</u>].

The only absolute requirement to successfully use OP for submitting a project to NGS is to have at least two, independent,  $\geq$  2-hour GNSS occupations on each user mark included in the project. However, NGS recommends following procedures outlined in the technical documents <u>Zilkoski et al. (1997)</u> and <u>Zilkoski et al.</u> (2008). Similarly, if conducting work for the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA), please consult the reference document <u>AC-16</u>.



NGS requires at a minimum two, independent,  $\geq$  2-hour GNSS occupations on each survey mark to be included in the project.



There is a programmed limit of 99 project marks plus (including) CORS maximum per session



Disclaimer: this User Guide is a guide to using OPUS Projects for post-processing and adjusting campaign-style GNSS survey data. It is not a reference manual for policies and procedures relating to survey practices for conducting GNSS campaign-style surveys.

Once the form is submitted, the project information will be reviewed by NGS to ensure the project can meet the stated objectives (including desired accuracies). Once accepted, the project will be issued a unique Project Tracking ID.

Submit the proposal at least two weeks prior to the onset of the fieldwork. NGS will review the proposal and provide a NGS tracking ID if the project meets NGS standards, and may offer suggestions if/where appropriate.

# **3** Create Your Project in OP

Navigate to **OPUS Projects**:

DDRR	AF	OI	PUS:	<b>Online Posit</b>	ioning Us	er Service
					Nati	onal Geodetic Survey
NGS Home About NGS	Data & Imagery	Tools S	urveys	Science & Education		Search
OPUS menu	Upload y Solve your What is OP Choose F * data file o NONE antenna - o	our data fil GPS position PUS? FAQs File No fil of dual-frequent choosing wron	e. & tie it to e chos ncy GPS g may de	the National Spatial Refer en observations. <mark>sample</mark> egrade your accuracy.	ence System.	Note:       Note: <td< td=""></td<>
home / upload about OPUS projects shared solutions	0.000 r antenna he	neters above <mark>light</mark> of your a	<i>your mai</i> intenna's	rk. reference point.		
planned improvements support / feedback	* email add	i <mark>ress</mark> - your s	olution w	ill be sent here. Privacy A	ct Statement	
OPUS Today	Options to	customize y	our solut	lion.		
	Upload to I for data 15	Rapid-Static min 2 hrs.	Uploa for da	ad to Static ta 2 hrs 48 hrs.		
	* required fi We may use	elds e your data fo	r internal	evaluations of OPUS use,	accuracy, or relate	d research.
			Web	site Owner: National Geodetic S	Survey / Last modified	by NGS.OPUS V 2.6 Dec 15 2020
NOS Home	NGS Employees • Pr	ivacy Policy •	Disclaime	er • USA.gov • Ready.gov •	Site Map • Contac	t Webmaster

Figure 3-1: Access to OPUS Projects by way of the OPUS Front Page

## 3.1 Create Your New Project

	Create a new project. Create RESTRICTED to trained project managers. If you have completed OPUS Projects training, you are registered and may create a new project. All others, see the Training Schedule.
	Configure, edit, and process individual network sessions.          Session       Project Identifier:         Session Keyword:
	Manage, edit, process, and publish the project.          Manage       Project Identifier:         Manager       Manager Keyword:
NOS Home • NGS En	Website Owner: National Geodetic Survey / Last modified by OPUS Projects

Figure 3-2: Create New Project

When you create a new project in OP, there are a number of required fields to fill in, marked with an asterisk (\*). The fields are explained below:

NGS Home	About NGS	Data & Imagery	Tools	Surveys	Science & Education	Se
+		Create Provident Create	roject ddress			
- NORTH	TAMERICA	Privacy A NGS-su project Data co	ket Stateme opplied tracking I de	D AA	o Project Manager who must be re (if uncertain, leave as is):	gistered with OPUS-Projects
an	Leaflet   So	* Project	title type			Other
OPUS men upload	u	* Agency	location	NONE	NONE DEFINED	Vidimm Undate Man
about OPUS projects		* Anticip	ated start			
shared soluti	dback	* Approx	. size	Stations	0 + - and Duration: 0	) + - days
		* required fi	elds	Create	Reset	

Figure 3-1: \* Fields, Information to Enter

**Email address** (required): Enter the email address used when you registered for OPUS Projects for Managers training.

NGS-supplied Project Tracking ID (optional; required for submission for submission to NGS): If your intent is to submit your data to NGS, you will need to have an official NGS Project Tracking ID. Tracking IDs are issued through the <u>Survey Project Proposal</u> page (Section 2). It is recommended that you submit a survey proposal even if you are unsure whether you will submit the project to NGS, as this will result in a professional review of

your project plan. Note that the tracking ID can be entered into OP at any point. If you do not intend to submit your data to NGS, but you want to unlock the advanced features, "0000" may be entered as a dummy ID in the field upon creation of the project. The "dummy" ID enables all the same features as with an official NGS Project Tracking ID, minus the ability to submit the project to NGS.



If you do not include a Project Tracking ID (or dummy ID), the advanced features of OP4.0 will not become available

If you have not originally entered a valid NGS Project Tracking ID or the "dummy" ID, you can always add the ID to the project at a later date from the Manager's Page.

**Data code** (optional): This user-specified code can be used to identify different parts of a project that all fall under the same Project Tracking ID.

If a valid NGS Project Tracking ID has been associated with the project, the following fields will be automatically filled; otherwise, the user may complete the fields manually

Project title (required): Enter a short descriptive name for your project (e.g. West Side Densification Survey).

**Project type** (required): The options are: Height Mod, COMM\_MARKS, FAA, or "Other." This item is used only for internal tracking of Height Modernization, NGS Commemorative Marks, and the Federal Aviation Administration's Aeronautical Survey Program projects. No specific choice will have any impact on your project. For more information on these project types, see the <u>Survey Proposal Page</u>. Most users will simply accept the default choice of OTHER.

Agency (required): This identifies the category and name for the agency submitting the project. If you have already identified a NGS Project Tracking ID, the Agency field will be automatically filled with the agency identified in the project proposal. If no Project Tracking ID was identified, or you used the dummy tracking ID "0000," then this field must be filled out manually by selecting the appropriate registered agency. The easiest way to proceed is to begin typing the agency code in the text box: the appropriate code should appear from the drop-down menu. If you are an individual, or do not want your work to be associated with an agency, you can keep the default value "NONE | NONE DEFINED." If you would like to request an agency code, please contact ngs.annexc@noaa.gov to have an agency code assigned.

Approximate location (required): You can enter the approximate coordinates for the center of your project (to the nearest minute of latitude and longitude) or you can click on the map in the upper left-hand corner of the page to identify the approximate survey location. Clicking on the map will auto-fill the Latitude and Longitude fields on the page.

TOAN		AP	(	OPUS:	<b>Online</b> Posit	ioning User	Servi	ice
						Nation	al Geode	tic Survey
NGS Home	About NGS	Data & Imagery	Tools	Surveys	Science & Education		I	Search
+ - wast oPUS men upload about OPUS projects shared solut support / fee	Battim Anni Leaflet   U Cli ON Nons dback	Create P * Email a Privacy J NGS-su project Data co * Project * Project * Agency * Approv * Anticip	roject address Act Stateme upplied tracking i de title type c. location ated start c. size	nt Refers t D AA O HtMo NONE Latitude Stations Create	o Project Manager who mu (if uncertain, leave as is) (if uncertain, leave as is) (OCOMM_MARKS (NONE DEFINED (39.0940088) and Long (39.0940088) and Long (0) + - and Dura (Reset)	st be registered with C FAA  Other of the ot	DPUS-Projec	cts V Map
		* required f	ields	Web	osite Owner: National Geodetic S	Survey / Last modified by I	NGS.OPUS V	1.0 Dec 09 2020
NOSI	Home • NGS Em	ployees • Privacy Pol	icy • Take	Our Survey	Disclaimer • USA.gov • Re	eady.gov • Site Map • O	Contact Webr	master

Figure 3-2: Click Map

Anticipated start (required): Click in the box to open a calendar, and select the anticipated start date for your project.

Approximate size (required): Enter the estimated number of user marks to be observed in your project, as well as the estimated number of days your project will last.

For projects to be submitted to NGS, the project must contain at a minimum two-2 hours sessions for all stations.

IGS Home	About NGS	Data & Imagery	Tools	Surveys	Science & Education		Search	
+		Create Pr	roject					
- Frederic	Maryland	* Email a Privacy A	* Email address Privacy Act Statement NGS-supplied project tracking ID Data code * Project title		Jane.doe@surveyor.state         Refers to Project Manager who must be registered with OPUS-Projects         0000         AA       (if uncertain, leave as is):         Sample Project			
2 Ge	Colur rman.town	nbia NGS-su project						
22	XX	Data co						
D	Washing	ton * Project						
PIISman	Leaflet   So	vrces * Project	type	HtM	○ HtMod ○ COMM_MARKS ○ FAA			
pload		* Agency	1	NONE	NONE  NONE DEFINED			
bout OPUS		* Approx	. location	Latitude	and Lo	ongitude: -77.0223999(	Update Map	
rojects		* Anticip	ated start	03/08/	2021			
hared soluti	ons	* Approx	. size	Stations	: 9 +- and D	uration: 5 + - d	ays	
upport / feed	dback			Create	Reset			
		* required fi	elds	187-1	wite Ourses National Ocadatio	Superv / Last modified by N	00 000 V 1 0 Dec 10 0	

Figure 3-3: Create Project

When all required fields have been entered, the **Create** button will become active. When clicked, the project will be created.

## 3.2 Access to Your Project

Once created, an email will be sent to the address provided, giving you a unique Project Identifier, Manager Keyword, and Session Keyword. If you do not receive an email, check your spam folder, as this is an automatic response from OP.





All keywords are sent to the project manager. The keywords function to control access to the project, and allow the project manager to exert some influence/control on access and roles in processing the project:

- The **Project ID** may be shared thereby permitting other people (such as field crew members) to upload data to your project.
- The **Project ID** and the **Manager Keyword** give the project manager complete access to all parts of the project.
- The **Project ID** and **Session Keyword** give limited access to the project's mark pages and **session processing** pages. This is useful if other people will help with user mark metadata management and session processing who do not need full access to the manager's functions.
- The **Project ID** must be unique for each project but the manager and session keywords are allowed to be the same for more than one project.

• The **Project ID** and keywords can be challenging because they are randomly generated, but the project manager can replace them through the project's Preferences (see Section 4).

Under "project Preferences" (see below) change the Project ID and Keywords into codes that make sense to you. If the ID has already been assigned to another project, you will be prompted to choose another ID

Note that project roles will be assigned to users depending on how they interface with OP.

- Anyone who loads GNSS observation data into the project using the **Project ID** will have their emails listed as Field Members (so they can receive emails from the project manager or session processors this feature is explained in Section 7).
- Anyone who processes a session using the **Project ID** and **Session Keyword** will have their email included in the Processor list (see Section 7).
- Anyone can be added to a "cc list" (see Project Preferences, next section) to receive copies of adjustment reports and related emails from the project sent by the project manager.

It is recommended to create you project in OP4.0 *prior* to the field campaign to take advantage of quality assurance/quality control capabilities of the program.

# **4** Review and Edit Project Preferences

Before any data are uploaded into a project, open the project using the Project ID and Manager Keyword. Review the preferences to best leverage the capabilities of the software. If data are uploaded prior to modifying the preferences, the results may not be displayed correctly.



? 🗘		Save Changes and Clos	e	>
Project Title, ID and Keywords	Data & Solution Quality Thresholds	Data Processing Defaults	Session Definition	Mark Co-location Definition
NGS Tracking ID, D	ata Code, Organization and 1	Fitle		
An NGS tracking ID, added when the proj convenience and ca	data code, your organization's ect was created or when using n be modified using the "Add N	name and a project title are the "Add NGS Project Track GS Project Tracking ID" cont	required. These were defined ing ID" control. The values are rol.	when a tracking ID was e repeated here as a
NGS Tracking ID	: 0000			
Data Code:	AA			
Organization:	NATIONAL GEODETIC SUR	VEY		

Figure 4-2: Save Project Preferences

Note that the window contains five main tabs:

- 1) Project Title, ID and Keywords (opened by default)
- 2) Data & Solution Quality Thresholds
- 3) Data Processing Defaults
- 4) Session Definition
- 5) Mark Co-location Definition

These tabs and the preferences contained therein are explained below.

Click the "Save Changes and Close" to save your updated project preferences. Or click X to abandon changes without saving them.

## 4.1 Project Title, ID and Keywords

The Project Title, as well as the NGS Tracking ID, Data Code, and Organization were added to the project when the project was created (or when the "Add NGS Project Tracking ID" feature was selected). They cannot be changed, and are repeated here as a convenience.

Project ID and Keywords can be changed in the Preferences window. Choose names that make sense to you. Note the restrictions imposed on ID and Keywords (red arrow, below):



Figure 4-3: Project Title, ID and Keywords Report

Project IDs are unique among all projects currently in existence. The manager's email address is associated with the project at creation and the two are associated together for the life of the project. Manager and session keywords exist only inside the project and may be used in other projects. Lost or forgotten project IDs and keywords may be recovered using the "Project List" button on the Manager's Page, assuming you have access to another of your previous projects (see section 7.1). If you do not have access to previous projects, check your inbox for the original email from OPUS providing you the credentials. If the credentials were altered, you will need to contact the <u>OPUS Help Desk</u> for assistance.

## 4.2 Adding Emails to the Project Team

Session solutions, network adjustment results and other reports and notices will be sent to the project manager's email address. The manager can have copies of these emails *automatically* copied (CC) to others on the project team (Field Members or Processors) by adding their emails to the CC list. Emails can also be removed as needed. Add an email address in the text box to the right of the "Add To CC List" button (red arrow in figure below):

CC Manager Emails Copies of emails created by a	and sent to you from the project can be sent to others automatically.	Privacy Act Statement
CC Manager Emails To:	john.doe@email-domain.com	
Add To CC List	john.doe@email-domain.com	
Remove From CC List	AVAILABLE EMAILS	

Figure 4-4: CC'ing Team Members

Click on the Add To CC List button, and the address will now appear on the "CC Manager Emails To:" list. If you wish to remove an email address, select the address from the dropdown list of "AVAILABLE EMAILS" and lick on the Remove From CC List button.

### 4.3 Data and Solution Quality Thresholds

Data & Solution Quality Thresholds help identify blunders (e.g. an unrealistic antenna height) as well as poor quality data (too few observations used in the GNSS solution, or higher than expected uncertainties). Thresholds also define how processing results are displayed on the project's web pages. This includes the OPUS processing results produced when data files are uploaded to the project, as well as the results of session baseline processing and network adjustments. The thresholds will flag individual GNSS observation files and specific user marks/CORSs that do not meet the identified quality criteria. For more information on Quality Thresholds, see OPUS page (https://geodesy.noaa.gov/OPUS/about.jsp#accuracy). A notification is emailed to the person uploading a data file if its OPUS results fail any of these quality metrics (see Section 6.4). This gives OP a limited, near real-time problem detection capability if data files can be uploaded while teams are still in the field. For this reason, it is best to set these preferences prior to the field campaign for maximum utility.

The default values of the preference parameters are appropriate for most projects. A project manager might consider relaxing or tightening the thresholds as needed to support project specifications.

Project Title, ID and Keywords	Data 8 Quality	& Solution Thresholds	Data Processing Defaults	Session Definition	Mark Co-location Definition
fhresholds are used to	highlight soluti	ion results that do n	ot meet the quality prefere	nces for your project.	
Precise Ephemeris:		Best Available	~		
/inimum ARP Height (n	n):	0.000			
Maximum ARP Height (r	<b>m)</b> :	3.000			
Inimum Observations	Used (%):	80.0			
/linimum Ambiguities Fi	ixed (%):	80.0			
Maximum Solution RMS	S (m):	0.025			
Aaximum Height Uncerl	tainty (m):	0.040			
Aaximum Latitude Unce	ertainty (m):	0.020			
Aaximum Longitude Un	certainty (m):	0.020			

OP default Data & Solution Quality Thresholds:

Figure 4-5: Data & Solution Quality Thresholds

### Ephemeris:

If PRECISE is chosen but the "final precise" ephemerides are not yet available (see **ephemeris**, in Glossary), OP will warn that the manager's preference was not met. If BEST AVAILABLE is chosen, there is no relevant flag or warning to issue. If the user intends to submit the project to NGS, or otherwise wants to make sure that the very best ephemerides are used, it is recommended to (re)process the project's sessions after two or three weeks from the date of the last GNSS observation. By this time the "final precise" ephemerides should be available for OP to use.



The minimum and maximum Antenna Reference Point (ARP) heights are designed to catch blunders (e.g. typographical entry errors). NGS does not recommend antenna heights over three meters to ensure antenna stability.

### Minimum Observations Used / Minimum Ambiguities Fixed:

The minimum observations used and minimum ambiguities fixed relate to how noisy the data are, and if there were obstructions which impeded the efficient tracking of each satellite. *Higher values are better*.

### Maximum Solution RMS:

The solution's Root Mean Square (**RMS**) is an estimate of the three-dimensional error associated with the postprocessed solution. The definition of RMS differs slightly depending on the stage of processing within OP. In the case of an OPUS solution, the RMS is computed as the sum of squared residuals between observed and computed values of phase signal at each observation epoch, for each of the CORSs selected by OPUS. For session processing, the computation is similar, except that the differences are summed for the network of baselines in the session. *The lower the RMS, the better*.

### **Maximum Uncertainties:**

Height, Latitude and Longitude uncertainties relate to the disaggregation of three-dimensional error into each of the three one-dimensional components. The definition of these uncertainties depends on the stage of processing within OP. In the case of initial OPUS solutions, these errors are expressed as "**peak-to-peak**" errors which approximate 1.7 times the expected standard deviation among the different one-dimensional coordinate estimates (see <u>OPUS Accuracy</u> for more information). For session baseline processing these uncertainties refer to one standard deviation. As a rule of thumb, maximum latitude and longitude uncertainties should be around 4 cm, and maximum height uncertainty should be about 8 cm for individual OPUS solutions. *The lower the uncertainties, the better*.



Any recommended thresholds for uncertainties, residuals, differences, errors, etc. given in this document are provided as general guidelines, and are not to be interpreted as standards or project specifications. Refer to your project specifications for exact thresholds.

These thresholds have to be interpreted within the context of a GNSS project. If an observation file is very long, a lower percent observations used, or a lower percent ambiguities fixed may still result in an acceptable solution. In addition, after session processing, quality metrics relative to the initial OPUS solutions often

improve (often having to do with the manual selection of CORSs used to control the larger project). Refer to Section 6.4 for checking the quality of your solutions.

A particular GNSS data file may be flagged as not meeting the Data & Solution Quality Thresholds set of the project but still may process successfully.

## 4.4 Data Processing Defaults

Data processing preferences govern aspects of both session processing and network adjustments. The defaults will generally ensure good results and are consistent with NGS recommended best practices.

Although the defaults can be changed at any time, changes made *after* processing may not be reflected in the already completed processing results requiring one to reprocess some or all of the session solutions and network adjustments.

? 🖸		Save Changes and Clo	se		×
Project Title, ID and Keywords	Data & Solution Quality Thresholds	Data Processing Defaults	Session Definition	Mark Co-location Definition	
Data processing defaul Output Ref Frame: Output Geoid Model: GNSS: Tropo Model: Tropo Interval (s): Elevation Cutoff (deg): Constraint Weights:	ts are project-wide, but they can still I LET OPUS CHOOSE G (GPS-only) Piecewise Linear 7200 15.0 O LOOSE  NORMAL O TIGHT	be changed on a case-by-c	ase basis during processing setup		
		We	bsite Owner: National Geodetic Survey /	Last modified by OPUS team Nov	v 23 2020
NC	S Home • NGS Employees • Privacy P	olicy • Disclaimer • USA.go	v • Ready.gov • Site Map • Contac	t Webmaster	

Figure 4-6: Data Processing Defaults

### **Output Reference Frame:**

Coordinates in the current ITRF/IGS are always included in the Processing Reports, but the coordinates in an additional reference frame (user selected) will be reported if possible. The default is "LET OPUS CHOOSE." OPUS will choose the current realization of NAD 83 (required for submission to NGS), but other options are available.

### **Output** Geoid Model:

A pull-down menu is used for the Output Geoid Model, so GNSS-derived ellipsoid heights can be converted to orthometric heights. The default, 'LET OPUS CHOOSE," uses the latest NGS hybrid geoid model applicable to the project location (required for submission to NGS) though other models are available, including some gravimetric geoids.


The conversion from ellipsoid heights to orthometric heights is done as a purely algebraic removal of the geoid undulation from the ellipsoid height. Those users familiar with "Height Modernization" should not confuse this conversion with an actual least squares adjustment performed in the orthometric height domain.

#### **GNSS**:

Currently the only choice in the "GNSS" pull-down menu is "G" (GPS-only), but the capability to use other GNSS in the data processing may be added in the future. Note that you may upload data files (**RINEX**) containing GLONASS data and the NGS may archive it, but the GLONASS data is currently stripped out automatically when processed by OPUS.

#### Tropo Model and Tropo Interval:

OP provides limited user control over how the effects of water vapor on the satellite signals as they traverse the tropospheric portion of the atmosphere, commonly called the tropo corrections, are parameterized (or modeled) in order to remove them. For submission of your project to NGS, it is recommended to keep the **tropo model** at piecewise linear approximation, with a **tropo interval** of 7200 seconds (2 hours). For additional information, see "**Tropospheric Modeling**" in the Glossary.

#### **Elevation Cutoff:**

The default Elevation Cutoff mask, in degrees above the horizon, can be specified. Data from satellites below the specified mask will be ignored. The default for new projects is 15 degrees. You will be given the opportunity to adjust the Elevation Cutoff mask separately for each session you process. This is a good idea for sessions containing user marks with impaired sky visibility.

#### **Constraint Weights:**

Constraint weights are only applied to user marks or CORSs selected to be held as constrained points in the project processing. Weights can be individually set in the sessions, and they can also be set here as defaults for all session processing and network adjustments. There is no differentiation between the weights applied to horizontal and vertical constraints. Users can select the constraint weights of choice for session processing and network adjustments if a Project Tracking ID is used, constraint weights cannot be changed in the network adjustments; they are set to "NORMAL" for all network adjustments.

LOOSE -allows up to one meter of float for the constrained points in the processing.

**NORMAL** -allows up to one centimeter of float for the constrained points in the processing (this is the recommended choice).

**TIGHT** -allows up to one-tenth of a millimeter of float for the constrained points in the processing (effectively fixing and not allowing the constrained control points to move).

## 4.5 Session Definition

Field crews should attempt to simultaneously start and end observations on the user marks in the survey network in order to form GNSS sessions for processing in OP. The **Session Definition** provides some control over how OP groups near-simultaneous data files together for processing. See Appendix 2 for more details on how OP arranged observation files into sessions. Typically, the default values work well and do not need to be changed. However, if OP does not group the data files according to the survey plan, then these values can be changed prior to session processing. After processing begins, the values are disabled (grayed out). Session processing must be deleted to re-enable modifying these settings.

2 N		Save Changes and Clos	e	×
Project Title, ID	Data & Solution Quality Thresholds	Data Processing Defaults	Session Definition	Mark Co-location Definition
and Reywords				
A data file is assigned t assigned to a session. Changing these values	o a session based upon its overla	aps in time with other files. These on poleted may invalidate those p	e parameters control how muc rocessing results. You must de	h overlap is required for a file to be elete all existing session processing
A data file is assigned t assigned to a session. Changing these values and network adjustmen	o a session based upon its overla after any processing has been co t results to access these preferer	aps in time with other files. These ompleted may invalidate those p nces.	e parameters control how muc rocessing results. You must de	h overlap is required for a file to be elete all existing session processing

Figure 4-7: Session Definition

### **Minimum Data Duration:**

The Minimum Data Duration default setting is 1800 seconds (30 minutes). Since OP currently requires that all static data files are at least 7200 seconds (2 hours) in duration, then this default setting ensures that OP will in fact consider all uploaded static data as part of a session. Changing the Minimum Data Duration to something larger than 7200 seconds will instruct OP to filter data to meet that requirement. For example, if it were set to 10,800 seconds, then only static data files at least 3 hours in duration will be considered.

#### Minimum Session Overlap Multiplier

The Minimum Session Overlap Multiplier helps OP arrange observations into different sessions. The multiplier instructs OP on the least allowable overlap for any pair of simultaneous GNSS observations in a session. For a pair of GNSS observations to be considered in a session, the overlap in time must be more than the product of this multiplier and the duration of the shortest observation. For example, consider two observations where one starts at 10:00 and ends at 12:00 and another starts at 11:00 and ends at 13:10. If the multiplier was set to 0.5, and since the shortest occupation is two hours, then the minimum session overlap is one hour. These two observations overlap by one hour (from 11:00 to 12:00) so they would be grouped together in a session. Before considering changing the default values, verify whether or not OP has correctly binned your observations into sessions that make sense for your project. If sessions are changed using the multiplier after session processing has occurred, the sessions will be automatically deleted. For more information on how OP groups observation data into sessions is given in Appendix B.

## 4.6 Mark Co-location Definition

The Mark Co-location Definition defines how data files are associated with user marks. The definition can only be modified prior to session processing. Two options are available:

? 🗘		Save Changes and Clos	e	×
Project Title, ID and Keywords	Data & Solution Quality Thresholds	Data Processing Defaults	Session Definition	Mark Co-location Definition
Data files can be assoc	iated with marks by using the first	t four characters of the file name	e or how closely the positions con	nputed in the OPUS solutions
Data files can be assoc agree. Changing these values ind network adjustmen	iated with marks by using the first after any processing has been co t results to access these preferen	t four characters of the file name ompleted may invalidate those p ices.	e or how closely the positions con rocessing results. You must delet	nputed in the OPUS solutions te all existing session processing
Data files can be assoc agree. Changing these values and network adjustmen Group By: O Mark ID	iated with marks by using the first after any processing has been co t results to access these preferen Position	t four characters of the file name ompleted may invalidate those p ices.	e or how closely the positions con rocessing results. You must delet	nputed in the OPUS solutions le all existing session processing

Figure 4-8: Mark Co-location Definition Settings

**Mark ID**: if the first four characters of a RINEX file correctly identifies a unique user mark in your project (**see Section 5**), there should be no co-location problem: OP will group the RINEX files by their respective fourcharacter IDs. However, if the names of GNSS observation files subsequently uploaded to OPUS do not start with a four-character ID unique to each user mark, OP will group the observation files by their position.

Co-location by Mark ID is only meant to help organize files in OP. Ultimately, files are arranged by coordinates (positions), even if Mark ID was initially selected. In addition, observations can be manually associated to specific user marks after loading. See "Manage Data Files" in Section 7.3.10.

Position: this is the default setting for OP. GNSS observations files are grouped by the positions (latitude/longitude) given in their respective OPUS solutions. Data files whose OPUS solution positions fall within the Maximum Position Difference specified (1 m is the new project default, but this can be changed) will be grouped together. OP will attempt to name each user mark uniquely. If all the data files associated with a user mark, and only the data files associated with that mark, use the same first four characters in their file names, the user mark will be given that four-character name, even if the co-location definition is selected as "Position." Otherwise, a name will be automatically generated starting with "a001." If "a001" is already in use, the numeric portion will be incremented until a unique name is created (e.g. a002, a003, etc.).

Most GNSS receiver software will automatically name observation files starting with the serial number of the receiver (or at least its last four digits). If receivers are used on different marks throughout the project, this will result in OP assigning sequential codes to each mark name. To avoid this, make sure the RINEX file names start with the corresponding four-character mark ID.

## 4.7 Saving Your Preferences

After modifying any preferences, make sure you save your changes.



Figure 4-9: Saving Your Preferences

## **5** Naming Files Correctly for Best Results in OP

Processing a GNSS campaign for submission to NGS requires strict adherence to some file naming conventions. All naming conventions revolve around the assignment of unique four-character IDs to each user mark in your project. Ideally, this assignment is done at the onset of the project (and probably during the project planning stage of the project). That way, photos, GNSS observation logs, and GNSS observation files can be named and labeled according to these IDs. This will reduce confusion for both the user and the NGS project reviewers and will make everything consistent throughout the project. The user may want to check the four-character IDs with the IDs of surrounding CORSs: if the same IDs are used for both, the user may become confused between a user mark and a CORS. However, this will not cause any problems within OP. Note that GNSS observation files are uploaded into the project from the main OPUS home page, while the other file types need to be submitted from within OP.

## 5.1 RINEX Files Naming Convention for GNSS Observations

	2.10	0	C	BSERVA	LION D	ATA	G ((	GPS)		RINEX	VERSION / TYPE
teqc	200	05Nov4	N	IGS-D			2000	61026	19:36:22UT	CPGM /	RUN BY / DATE
Solar	cis S	5.8 01	traSpar	c IIi	cc SC5	.5 =+	*Spa	arc		COMMEN	T
BIT 2	2 OF	LLI F	LAGS DA	TA COL	LECTED	UNDE	R A/S	COND	ITION	COMMEN	T
H 179	9									MARKER	R NAME
2123										MARKER	R NUMBER
OPUS	PRO	JECTS	N	IGS						OBSERV	VER / AGENCY
46241	0158	34	I	RIMBLE	NETR5					REC #	/ TYPE / VERS
30212	2716		I	RM5597	1.00					ANT #	/ TYPE
	(	0.0000		0.000	)	0.	0000			APPRO	X POSITION XYZ
	2	2.0000		0.000	0	0.	0000			ANTENN	NA: DELTA H/E/N
	1	1								WAVELE	ENGTH FACT L1/2
	6	Ll	L2	C1	P2	P1	D1			# / TY	YPES OF OBSERV
1	15.00	000								INTERV	VAL
		LO	UISIANA	Height	t Mode	rniza	tion 2	2006		COMMEN	T
			Nat	ional (	Geodet	ic Su	rvey			COMMEN	T
		App	roximat	e Lat,	Lon :	30.5	90, -9	90.48	7	COMMEN	T
SNR	is r	napped	to RIN	EX snr	flag	value	[1-9]	]		COMMEN	T
L1	3 -	-> 1;	8 -> 5;	40 ->	9					COMMEN	T
L2	1 -	-> 1;	5 -> 5;	60 ->	9					COMMEN	T
200	06	10	2	20	23	30.00	00000		GPS	TIME (	OF FIRST OBS
										END OF	F HEADER

Figure 5-1: RINEX File Header

- When a GNSS observable file is uploaded, OPUS attempts to convert the file into RINEX ("Receiver INdependent EXchange" format, shown above), if it is not already in that format. In converting an observable file to RINEX, OPUS will rename the file using the standard naming conventions aaaadddb.yyo
  - aaaa is the unique four-character mark ID (alphanumeric) assigned to each user mark in the project. This comes from the first four characters of the file that is uploaded to OPUS. To easily associate observation files to specific user marks, make sure to start the observation file name with a fourcharacter ID for the mark. Otherwise, the user can still assign this Mark ID within OPUS-Projects by clicking on the "Change Mark ID" utility.

- o ddd is the day-of-year of the start of the day (numeric), this is sometimes called the Julian Day number
- b is a letter representing the starting hour of the data in UTC (a = 00, b = 01, c = 02, ..., x = 23 and special case 0 = 24 hr data set)

Start Time	RINEX						
	Hour		Hour		Hour		Hour
00:00	а	06:00	g	12:00	m	18:00	S
01:00	b	07:00	h	13:00	n	19:00	t
02:00	с	08:00	i	14:00	0	20:00	u
03:00	d	09:00	j	15:00	р	21:00	v
04:00	е	10:00	k	16:00	q	22:00	w
05:00	f	11:00	1	17:00	r	23:00	x

Figure 5-2 RINEX UTC hour naming convention

- yy is the two digit year (numeric)
- o o identifies the file as a GNSS observation file (as opposed to the n, the navigation file)
- The four-character mark ID is the first four characters of the uploaded file. OP will also assign each point observed with this same four-character ID. Therefore, each GNSS observable file should already be named starting with its respective four-character mark ID.



Make sure to name each GNSS data file so that the name begins with a four-character ID you wish to assign to each project mark in your survey. That will ensure consistency between data files and project marks in OP

- Using this naming convention, a sample RINEX file would be named g287009q.19o
  - o g287 would be the user mark's four-character ID
  - 009 would refer to an observation started on January 9
  - o q would refer to 16:00 UTC (observation file start time)
  - o 19 would refer to the calendar year 2019
  - o orefers to the GNSS observation file

If OPUS cannot convert the file to RINEX successfully, an error message will be displayed. You may have to convert the file yourself using software from your receiver vendor.

## **5.2 Description Files and Naming Conventions**

There are five different kinds of description files that need to be loaded for a project to be submitted to NGS. All files are created through the NGS software WinDesc. Please refer to Appendix A for step-by-step instructions for creating and checking description files using this software. The different file types include:

- .des this is the native WinDesc file format
- .dsc this is the ASCII version of the description file which is ultimately loaded into the NGS database
- .err this is the error report that is generated when checking the description file. No errors can appear if the project is to be published by NGS.

- .dis this is the "discrepancy" file which compares each mark's new descriptive information with any information on that mark already present in the NGS database. This file highlights any potential changes to be made to the description in the database
- .nbr this is the "neighbor" file which lists all marks already in the NGS database that may be found close to each particular user mark in the project. This ensures the correct mark has been identified.

## 5.3 Photos

For successful submission of the project to NGS, three (3) photos in \*.jpg format must be uploaded for each user mark observed (photo can be uploaded on the individual mark pages):

- 1. a close-up of the mark clearly showing the disk stamping and logo;
- 2. an eye-level photo looking down at the mark;
- 3. a horizon photo showing the mark in the background.



Figure 5-2: Example Photos: Close-up, Eye-level and the Horizon

For photo files to be uploaded correctly, they have to follow a strict naming convention. The photo file name is divided into four parts, each part separated by a dash ("-"):

1. The file name starts with the NGS six-character Permanent Identifier (PID) for the mark in question. If the PID is unknown (e.g. a new mark), then the file name will start with the second element, below:

- 2. The second element is the mark's designation, with underscores taking the place of any spaces in the designation name.
- 3. The third element describes the type of photo (1, 2, or 3). Note that a #3 photo should also include the azimuth of the photo (e.g. 3NW).
- 4. The last element is the date the photo was taken (yyyymmdd)

The filenames for the three example photos in Figure 5.3 would be:

PE0732-F\_130-1-20190806.JPG PE0732-F\_130-2-20190806.JPG PE0732-F\_130-3S-20190806.JPG

Other example filenames would be the following:

LQ0471-BANKS-1-20180111.jpg AH8939-WEST\_RIVER-2-20160907.jpg AS0240-872\_8690\_TIDAL\_1-3E-20110918.jpg

The three sample photos shown above show an optional caption. See the <u>NGS Photo Submission Guidelines</u> for more information. Additionally, the process of formatting and editing mark photos is briefly described in Appendix A using the WinDesc software utility.

## 5.4 GNSS Observation Logs Naming Convention

• GNSS observation logs provide important metadata for all GNSS observations taken in the field.



If continuous GNSS data files are uploaded into your project as observation files, you will not have corresponding field logs, but rather Site Info files, which will need to be uploaded in lieu of field logs.

- GNSS observation logs document exactly how the GNSS occupation was set up and taken down. These logs
  include information on equipment, antenna heights, start and stop times, and many other pieces of
  information critical to proper quality assurance and quality control of a GNSS project. For this reason, they
  are required for submission of a project to NGS. More information on GNSS observation Logs can be found
  here: <a href="https://www.ngs.noaa.gov/surveys/forms/">https://www.ngs.noaa.gov/surveys/forms/</a>. GNSS observation logs have to be in \*.pdf or \*txt or \*.doc
- GNSS observation log file name should generally match its corresponding RINEX file. As an example, say the RINEX file named g287009q.030 is stored in OP. Then:
- g287-009-q-2003.pdf should be used for corresponding GNSS observation log PDF file
  - **g287** = four-character Mark ID for the observed user mark. In this way, both the GNSS observation files and the GNSS observation logs will start with the same respective Mark ID.
  - $\circ$  **009** = calendar day of the year of the occupation in GNSS Time.
  - q = starting hour of the occupation in GNSS Time where a = 00:00 and x = 23:00 (this is meant to deal with multiple occupations on the same user mark per day; letters identical to how OPUS automatically assigns hours for uploaded RINEX file names).
  - **2003** = year (note that log files specify the year as yyyy).

## **5.5 Naming Problem Examples**

- OPUS takes the first four characters of the uploaded data file (proprietary data file or RINEX file) as the four-character mark ID
- GNSS receiver manufacturers often use different naming schemes
- Trimble files (for two different stations) *1A\_NBS9\_27342580.t01* and *1A\_NGP9\_47252580.t01* were converted to RINEX files *1A\_NBS9\_27342580.150* and *1A\_NGP9\_47252580.150*
- For **1A\_NBS9\_27342580.150** we have the following naming convention:
  - o **1** = day 1
  - **A** = session A
  - NBS9 = station
  - 2734 = last four digits of GNSS receiver serial number
  - **258** = calendar day of year
  - **0** = daily data file number (0, 1, 2, 3... consecutively for each GPS day)
- Attempt to upload two files whose names start with the same four-characters and whose data's starting hour is n (13) results in the following outcomes:
  - 1A\_NBS9\_27342580.150 is converted to the RINEX standard name 1a\_n258n.150
  - 1A\_NGP9\_47252580.150 is converted to the RINEX standard name 1a\_n258n.150
- Two different Trimble files were converted to the same RINEX standard name!
- If these two files are uploaded to OP, the first file would create a point marked "1a\_n," but the second file might end up with another user mark called "a001."
- If OPUS cannot convert the file to RINEX successfully, an error message will be displayed. You may have to convert the file yourself using software from your receiver vendor.

# **6** Loading GNSS Observation Files

Now that your project is created, parameters set, and files correctly named, you can begin uploading the observation files to the project through the main OPUS home page. Note that OPUS currently accepts only static observations (e.g.  $\ge 2$  hrs RINEX file).

### Section 5.1 covers helpful tips for naming RINEX files so project marks and OP data files are consistent

When uploading data ensure you are using the correct OP4.0 Project ID and Keywords. Having ready access to the field logs ensures the correct antenna type and height are entered correctly. We can not stress enough about naming your GNSS observations files correctly with meaningful 4-char IDs. Also please ensure that your profile is disabled or updated with your current project.

ROAN		<b>PUS</b> :	<b>Online Positi</b>	ioning Use	er Service
				Nati	onal Geodetic Survey
NGS Home About NGS Data	& Imagery Tools	Surveys	Science & Education		Search
OPUS menu home / upload about OPUS projects shared solutions planned improvements support / feedback OPUS Today	Upload your data Solve your GPS positi What is OPUS? FA Choose File No ff * data file of dual-freq NONE antenna - choosing w 0.000 meters abo antenna height of you * email address - you Options to customiz Upload to Rapid-Stati for data 15 min 2 hr * required fields We may use your data	file. Ion & tie it to AQS file chos Juency GPS rong may de we your mai ur antenna's Ir solution w te your solut ic Uploa s. for da a for internal Web	the National Spatial Refer en observations. sample egrade your accuracy. */. reference point. ill be sent here. Privacy Ad tion. ad to Static ta 2 hrs 48 hrs. evaluations of OPUS use,	rence System.	d research.
NOS Home - NOS E-					

Figure 5-3: OPUS processing customization options

## 6.1 How To Load GNSS Observations into OPUS

OPUS should be capable of ingesting the most common vendor-specific GNSS file formats. If the file format is not recognized, OPUS will show a file upload error. In that case, refer to your vendor for tools to convert your proprietary file format to the Receiver Independent EXchange format (RINEX).

The information required for successful uploading to your project includes:

- GNSS observation file name (either RINEX file or other file format supported by OPUS: see <a href="https://geodesy.noaa.gov/OPUS/about.jsp#rinex\_file">https://geodesy.noaa.gov/OPUS/about.jsp#rinex\_file</a> for more information on data files supported)
- Antenna type and model (to apply the correct antenna phase center offset; see NGS <u>Antenna</u> <u>Calibration</u> for more information)
- Antenna height (meters) -this is the vertical distance from the vertical point of reference of the user mark to the GNSS Antenna Reference Point (ARP).



OP will retain antenna heights to the fourth decimal place (0.0001 m) in its computations, but will only display antenna heights rounded to the nearest millimeter in output files and tables (0.001 m)

• Email address

To add the observation to your project, the user must click on the "Options" button and submit the project identifier that was assigned to the project upon its creation:

e' or har site IDs
zone
zone er
zone Ier
zone Ier IS
zone Ier Is
zone Jer 15
zone Jer Is
zone Jer 15

Figure 6–1: Project Identifier Option



If the user's profile is used, be careful that the correct antenna model and antenna height are selected. Using the profile can be a powerful tool, but it can also lead to unintended consequences if the user is not careful.

Delete My Profile before each new project is populated with observation data to make sure unintended errors are not introduced when data are uploaded into a new project

**ZIPPING FILES:** If all of your antennas are the same type and model (i.e. they all have the exact same antenna center offset per the antenna calibration) and were all set at the same height, you can bulk upload the observation files after first zipping them into one \*.zip file, and pointing to the zipped file at the time of upload.

## 6.2 Results of a Successful Load

Once you have successfully uploaded, a confirmation screen will appear:

TOR		AF	(	<b>OPUS</b> :	<b>Online Po</b>	sitioning U	ser Service
-	1 /-					Na	tional Geodetic Survey
NGS Home	About NGS	Data & Imagery	Tools	Surveys	Science & Educati	ion	Search
HOW HOW HOW HOW	CONTRA THEORY	1. u Vuplc You will re	choose choose oad suc	one: mark mark ccessful! an email v	2. identify your mark has a PID mark is has a PID? Search t when processing	3. describe NEW to NGS skip the NGS database to is complete.	4. share
		data file	371	22890.200		solution format	Extended
		converted to	371	2289m.20o	(RINEX format)	base sta. used	
		antenna	ASH	701945B_M	NONE	base sta. excluded	
		antenna hei	ght 2.0	00 meters		state plane zone	
		email addres	SS phi	lippe.hen	sel@yahoo.com		
		processor	Sta	tic		project ID	7kmr4sz2
NOS	Home • NGS Em	ployees • Privacy Polic	cy • Take	Webs	ite Owner: National Geode Disclaimer + USA.gov	etic Survey / Last modifier	d by NGS.OPUS V 2.5.2 Oct 17 2019

Figure 6-2: Options Customization Confirmation Report, "Skip Description" National Spatial Reference Network Inclusion or Not

Review all the data on the screen. For example, note the name of the data file uploaded, as well as the RINEX file it was converted to. This will help you track output options in OP. Double check the antenna type, antenna height, and project ID.

If the upload is successful, the screen will prompt you to provide descriptive information about the mark observed. If you are going to submit your project to NGS, there is no need to fill out this descriptive information here. Click on the button "*skip description*," to be taken back to the main OPUS upload page (or hit the <Back> button on your browser). If you are *not* going to submit your project to NGS, feel free to provide identification information here. You will also be prompted with the option to share your observation via the OPUS Share database.



If you plan on submitting your project to NGS for publication, there is no need to fill in the descriptive mark information within the OPUS upload pages. Mark descriptions will need to be created outside of OP, using WinDesc.

Note that OPUS cannot handle observation files that cross the UTC 2400-0000 hour boundary more than once. If your files cross the boundary more than once, you will have to edit the observation files, breaking it into smaller, shorter files. Data files of 24 hours are recommended. Your vendor software may offer that capability, as well as <u>teqc</u> and <u>WinTEQC</u>.

Successfully uploading a GNSS observation file to OPUS will result in a Solution Report being sent to both the user's email address and the Project itself.

**Successful Upload with a "Project Verification" Email**: OPUS may upload successfully, but the project preferences may not have been met. In such a case, the file *will* be uploaded to the project, and the user will receive an email advising of which parameters were not met.

The RINEX file listed below will be uploaded to Sample OPUS Project (g546sp83) but it will be flagged because its OPUS solution did not meet all the quality control preferences for this project. A summary is given below.

RINEX FILE: OK 0187096n.18o ANTENNA: OK CHCX90D-OPUS NONE ARP HGT: OK 2.000m

RMS: OK 0.020m EPHEMERIS: OK igr19955.eph (rapid) OBS USED: WARNING 55% > 80.0% preferred FIXED AMB: OK 83% LAT RANGE: OK 0.010m LON RANGE: OK 0.007m HGT RANGE: OK 0.014m

Figure 6-3: Data upload verification email indicating a project preference was not met

## 6.3 Results of an Unsuccessful Load

If OPUS aborts processing the data file for any reason and does not generate a solution report, the data file will not be uploaded to the project.



Figure 6-4: Rejection of an upload to OPUS providing an explanation of probably cause

There are a number of reasons an observation file may be rejected. The most common are listed below:

- 1. File is in an unrecognized file format that OPUS is unable to convert internally to RINEX (user needs to convert to RINEX first)
- 2. No baseline solutions to the CORS could be generated (typically a problem if not enough/good GNSS data was made available in the uploaded observation file)
- 3. Zeros as the estimated (a priori) coordinates (RINEX header)
- 4. Multiple coordinates in the RINEX header, indicative that the antenna was moved to another location)
- 5. Maximum duration exceeded (more than one 24h 0h UTC time crossing)

## 6.4 Checking Your OPUS Solution Results

Note that an observation file may be successfully processed in OPUS and loaded into the project despite not meeting the data **Quality Thresholds** defined in the Project Preferences (Section 4.3, above). If any of the Quality Thresholds are not met, OP will send a warning email message to the project member who is uploading the file. The warning message simply helps highlight potential issues. The icons used in OP to identify and display the user marks and their corresponding OPUS solutions will indicate whether the solutions met the Quality Thresholds (see Section 7). Prompt review of OPUS solutions will help ensure maximum efficiency in the field, so return trips to project sites won't have to be made if any solution was sub-optimal.



Anyone uploading GNSS observation files to the project should carefully review each project mark's OPUS solution as soon as possible to verify the quality of the observation

OPUS Solution results can be found in an email sent to the project manager, as well as to the email address used to upload the GNSS observation file. They can also be found within the project, by clicking on the "Show File" button on the Manager's Page:



*Figure 6-5: Show File button to access all solution reports* 

Select the appropriate user mark and session to view the available OPUS Solution:

			"Sample Pro	oject''			
? 🔃	IO]	PUS Solution	✓ bell ✓ be	II242p.17o ♥	Show File	×	
bell242p.17o.t	xt created: 2019-12-12 2	0:16 UTC downlo	aded: 2021-03-31 1 be	ll243m.17o 4	rd -		
	NGS	OPUS SOLUTION	REPORT			_	
	===						
All computed For addition	coordinate accuracie al information: https	s are listed a: ://www.ngs.noaa	s peak-to-peak value a.gov/OPUS/about.jsp	s. #accuracy			
USER: : RINEX FILE:	jay.howard@noaa.gov bell242p.17o		DATE: October 1 TIME: 14:22:54	8, 2017 UTC			
SOFTWARE: EPHEMERIS: NAV FILE: ANT NAME: ARP HEIGHT:	page5 1603.24 master igs19643.eph [precise brdc2420.17n TRM41249.00 NONE 1.9993	22.pl 160321 ] # 1 OVI	START: 2017/08/3 STOP: 2017/08/3 OBS USED: 48841 / 5 FIXED AMB: 243 / ERALL RMS: 0.015(m)	0 15:34:00 1 12:27:00 1933 : 94% 260 : 93%			
REF FRAME: I	NAD_83(2011)(EPOCH:20	10.0000)	IGS08 (EPOCH	:2017.6633)			
x:	1135664.805(m)	0.003(m)	1135663.932(m)	0.003(m)			
Y:	-4792046.130(m)	0.016(m)	-4792044.689(m)	0.016(m)			
Z:	4039585.557(m)	0.016(m)	4039585.502(m)	0.016(m)			
LAT:	39 32 57.82880	0.009(m)	39 32 57.86052	0.009(m)			
E LON:	283 19 57.10681	0.002(m)	283 19 57.08514	0.002(m)			
W LON:	76 40 2.89319 91 210(m)	0.002(m)	76 40 2.91486 79 929(m)	0.002(m)			
ORTHO HGT:	113.513(m)	0.042(m) [NAVI	D88 (Computed using	GEOID12B)]			
	11711 60000						
	UTM (Zon	e 18)	SPC (1900 MD )				
Northing (Y)	[meters] 4379074	.305	209051.359				
Easting (X)	[meters] 356730	.211	428582.234				
Point Scale	[uegrees] -1.0619 0.9998	5084	1.00001890				
Combined Fac	tor 0.9998	3998	1.00000616				
US NATIONAL	GRID DESIGNATOR: 1850	J5673079074(NA	D 83)				
	BAS	E STATIONS USE	D				
PID DE	SIGNATION	LA	TITUDE LONGITUDE	DISTANCE(m)			
DE8103 YORK	YORK CORS ARP	N390.	913.276 W0764424.537	48987.5			
DL3184 LOYR	LOYOLA R CORS ARP	N3934	408.726 W0755914.994	58477.9			
	NEAREST NGS DUDI	TSHED CONTROL	POTNT				
AJ7978	BELL	N393	257.828 W0764002.892	0.0			

Figure 6-6: OPUS Solution results

Things to check in an OPUS solution:

- The start and stop times are correct and in accordance with the survey plan.
- Solution results consistent with the project preferences

- If this observation is on a user mark already present in the NGS database, compare the OPUS result to
  the corresponding datasheet's coordinates. Do they match within the combined uncertainties of GNSS
  and the published coordinates? If they match, that validates the observation. If they don't match, is
  there anything else about the observation that may point to a blunder? Was an antenna extension
  used? Was the correct mark observed? Note that a discrepancy does not necessarily mean a bad
  observation, but a good check is always a good validation of one's procedures.
- Typically, the coordinates for the first OPUS solution for a user mark will be used as the **a priori coordinates** for the processing (refer to the Glossary for more information on a priori coordinates). In the rare occurrence that the project manager wishes to change the a priori coordinate for a user mark, it should be done now before any sessions are processed that contain the mark. This may be accomplished by navigating to the mark's web page and editing the a priori coordinate values (Section 7.3.12).

Quick checks can also be made by clicking the user mark icons on the Manager's Page map. This will cause an information "bubble" to appear displaying the list of data files associated with the user mark and related information such as antenna type and ARP height entered with the upload (see section 7 and figure below).



Figure 6-7: Manager's Page, showing information on data files associated with a user mark

A more thorough check can be made from the user mark web pages. To access these pages from the Manager's Page, make sure the "Occupation" from "ALL OPUS Results" table is shown (see red arrow in image below).



Figure 6-8: Manager's Page showing "Occupation" information from the "ALL OPUS Results" Report Table



Click on one of the MARKS to open web page for that mark:

Figure 6-9: Click on a user marks for access to the corresponding Mark page

|  
   
   | n   
  |   |  
  |  |  |  
   | 1  | 0  |  |  
   | N  | tional G  | eodeti   | C Survey  
  |
---
---
--
--|---
---	--	--
--	--	--
---	--	--
   
   | ome   
  | About   |  
  | ata & Imagen   | / Tools  | Sur  
   | vevs Scie  | nce & Educ   | cation   |  
   | 144  |   |  | Search  
  |
|  
   
   | ontrols   
  | • <b></b>   | RK fran 🗸  
  |  |  |  
   |  | Proje  | ect Marks  |  
   | Project C  | ORS   | Publis   | hed Marks,  
  |
|  
   
   | -   
  | G2  | an Sa  
  | tellite  | This Mark  | All Marks  
   | Marks&CORS   | -  |  |  
   |  |   |  |   
  |
|  
   
   | iger's P  
  | Page  | ap Sa  
  | tenite   |  | |
   |  |  |  |  
   |  |   |  |   
  |
| <complex-block></complex-block>  
   
   | now File  
  | •   |  
  |  |  | |
   |  |  |  |  
   |  |   |  |   
  |
| <complex-block></complex-block>  
   
   | nd Ema  
  | ail   |  
  |  |  | |
   |  | 8  |  |  
   |  |   |  |   
  |
| <complex-block></complex-block>  
   
   | ge Mar  
  | кю D  |  
  |  |  | |
   |  | -  |  |  
   |  |   |  |   
  |
| <complex-block></complex-block>  
   
   | nove M  
  | ark   |  
  |  |  | |
   |  |  |  |  
   |  |   |  |   
  |
| <complex-block></complex-block>  
   
   | NOTE IN   
  |   |  
  |  |  | |
   |  |  |  |  
   |  |   |  |   
  |
| <complex-block></complex-block>  
   
   |   
  | Goo   | gle  
  |  |  |  
   |  |  |  | Map data ©20   
   | 21 2 m L   | I Terr  | ms of Use  | Report a map erro   
  |
|  
   
   | fran  
  | ✓ Descript  | tion Summa   
  | iry  |  |  
   |  |  |  |  
   |  | Upload A Phot   | o Si   | ave Description   
  |
|  
   
   | iption  
  | JU7214  | This is a Heig   
  | ht Modernization S   | Survey Station   | 3  
   |  |  |  |  
   |  |   | Close-up   | o of mark   
  |
|  
   
   | ng*<br>ation*   
  | FRANKS 199<br>FRANKS  | 13   
  |  |  | |
   |  |  |  |  
   |  |   |  |   
  |
|  
   
   |   
  | D = Disk<br>DD = Surve  | y disk (ot)  
  | ter agency)  |  | |
   |  |  |  |  
   |  |   |  |   
  |
|  
   
   | 8   
  | 7 = Set in<br>specific sett   | ng no va   
  | norete monumen<br>alue   | •  |  
   |  |  |  |  
   |  |   | Mark fro   | m eve-level   
  |
|  
   
   | tion*   
  | RECOVERED   | AS DESCRI  
  | EBED.  |  |  
   |  |  |  |  
   |  |   |  | States -  
  |
|  
   
   | (max)   
  |   |  
  |  |  | |
   |  |  |  |  
   |  |   |  |   
  |
| <complex-block></complex-block>  
   
   |   
  |   |  
  |  |  | |
   |  |  |  |  
   |  |   |  |   
  |
| <complex-block></complex-block>  
   
   |   
  |   |  
  |  |  |  
   |  |  |  |  
   |  |   | Horizon  | View  
  |
|  
   
   |   
  |   |  
  |  |  |  
   |  |  |  |  
   |  | - //  |  | -   
  |
|  
   
   | ic  
  | no sel  | ection   
  | y subject to a   | gaound move  | ment   
   |  |  |  |  
   |  |   |  | 1   
  |
|  
   
   | uon<br>on   
  | Recovered   | in good cor  
  | dition   |  | |
   |  |  |  |  
   |  |   | 220  |   
  |
| Item       Decision       Dec  
   
   | ed field  
  | is .  |  
  |  |  |  |   
  |  |  |  |                                       
  |   | Descriptions   | 1.46 - 1996 - 1996 - 1996 - 1996 - 1996 - 1996 - 1996 - 1996 - 1996 - 1996 - 1996 - 1996 - 1996 - 1996 - 1996 -   
  |
|  
   
   | ILE   
  | SPAN  | ions   
  |  | HARDWA   | RE   
   |  |  |  |  
   | N  | lanage Data Hi  | les Sa   | ve Occupations  
  |
|  
   
   | m.17o   
  | Start 20<br>End 20  | 17-08-29T12:2<br>17-08-30T12:1   
  | 4:30 GPS   | Antenna<br>Receiver  | Model:<br>Model:   
   | TRM41249.00 NO<br>TRIMBLE R7   | NE   | ~  | S/N: 601<br>S/N: 022   
   | 20878<br>0375172   | Hei   | ight (m):<br>nware:  | 2.000   
  |
|  
   
   | n.17o   
  | Start 20  | 17-08-30T13:2  
  | 8:30 GPS   | Antenna  | Model:   
   | TRM41249.00 NO   | NE   | ~  | S/N: 601   
   | 20878  | Hei   | ght (m):   | 2.000   
  |
|  
   
   | q.17o   
  | Start 20  | 17-08-31T16:0  
  | 0.00 GPS   | Antenna  | Model:   
   | TRM41249.00 NO   | NE   | ~  | S/N: 601   
   | 20878  | Hei   | ght (m):   | 2.000   
  |
|  
   
   |   
  |   |  
  |  | 177000000  | incore.  
   |  |  |  | one pro-   
   |  |   |  | 10.00   
  |
| Attm: To         TEMA1240.00         NNNE         2000         presse         64.8         00.4         0.002         0.004         0.007         2017-101871512         py-howerd<br>2017-101871512   
   
   |   
  | 1   | 19:38:33505 ±0<br>73:996 ±0<br>081185:293 ±0<br>808284:736 ±0  
  | 0.002 m<br>0.003 m<br>0.002 m<br>0.002 m   | W077:19:38.<br>10811<br>-4808  | 31730 ±0.0<br>75.284 ±0.0<br>86.052 ±0.0<br>286.18 ±0.0  | 102 m CON<br>103 m POIN<br>102 m COM<br>102 m U.S.1   
  | VERGENCE:<br>IT SCALE:<br>BINED FACTOR<br>NATIONAL GRI   | R:<br>ID:  |  |   
  | -0.20544444°<br>1.00000891<br>0.99999710<br>18STJ998887   | 4723   | -1.48080556°<br>1.00009307<br>1.00008126   |
| Bits 1:0         THM4 (24:00.0)         NONE         2000         processing Results 10:00         2007         2007         2007         2007         Processing Results 10:00           (fmm ~)         Processing Results 10:00         3000         1000         0.004         0.004         0.004         0.0040         0.0040         0.0040         Processing Results 10:00         Processing Results 10:00         10000         10000         10000<  
   
   | HGT:  
  | 108.02 ±0.010   | 19:38.33505 ±0<br>73.996 ±0<br>081185.293 ±0<br>808284.736 ±0<br>035253.647 ±0<br>4 m (H = h - N )   
  | 0.002 m<br>0.003 m<br>0.002 m<br>0.002 m<br>0.002 m<br>WHERE N = GEOI<br>HEIGHT (m)  | W077:19:38<br>10811<br>-4808<br>40352<br>D12B HGT)<br>EPH TY   | 31730 ±0.0<br>75.264 ±0.0<br>86.052 ±0.0<br>286.18 ±0.0<br>53.729 ±0.0   
   | 102 m CON<br>103 m POIN<br>102 m COM<br>102 m U.S. 1<br>102 m<br>102 m<br>102 m  | VERGENCE:<br>IT SCALE:<br>BINED FACTO<br>NATIONAL GRI  | R:<br>ID:<br>LAT (m)   | LON (m)  
   | HGT (m)  | -0.20544444°<br>1.00000891<br>0.99999710<br>18STJ9988874  | 4723<br>d (UTC)  | -1.48080558*<br>1.00009307<br>1.00008126  
  |
| <figure></figure>  
   
   | 0 HGT:<br>A FILE<br>11m.17<br>12n.17  
  | 108.02 ±0.010<br>0 TRM412<br>0 TRM412   | 19:38:33505 ±0<br>73:996 ±0<br>08:1185:293 ±0<br>806284:736 ±0<br>035253:647 ±0<br>4 m (H = h - N 1<br>TTENNA<br>49:00 NONE<br>49:00 NONE  
  | 0.002 m<br>0.003 m<br>0.002 m<br>0.002 m<br>0.002 m<br>WHERE N = GEOI<br>HEIGHT (m)<br>2.000<br>2.000  | W077:19:38<br>108111<br>-4808:<br>40352<br>D12B HGT)<br>EPH TY<br>precis<br>precis   | 31730 ±0.0<br>75.284 ±0.0<br>38.052 ±0.0<br>288.18 ±0.0<br>53.729 ±0.0<br>PE OB<br>a 9<br>a 9  
   | 002 m CON<br>003 m POIN<br>002 m COM<br>002 m U.S. 1<br>002 m<br>15 (%) FIXED (%<br>14.9 93.4<br>15.8 95.6   | VERGENCE:<br>T SCALE:<br>BINED FACTO<br>NATIONAL GRI<br>0.014<br>0.014   | R:<br>ID:<br>LAT (m)<br>0.002<br>0.006   | LON (m)<br>0.004<br>0.006  
   | HGT (m)<br>0.017<br>0.003  | -0.20544444*<br>1.00000891<br>0.99999710<br>18STJ998887/<br>Uploade<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1   | 4723<br>d (UTC)<br>18T15:12<br>18T15:14  | -1.48080556*<br>1.00008307<br>1.00008128<br>OBSERVER<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard  
  |
| netratises by (1.02.(83.33) ) Show is preferences in which is passed in all heights are man and all opus solutions.<br>The point accordinates, Na2 20 50 5273121307144, W0771033.33093, 73.94 m el heights are man and all opus solutions.<br>The point accordinates, Na2 20 50 5273121307144, W0771033.33093, 73.94 m el heights are man and all opus solutions.<br>The point accordinates, Na2 20 50 5273121307144, W0771033.33093, 73.94 m el heights are man and all opus solutions.<br>The point accordinates, Na2 20 50 5273121307144, W0771033.33093, 73.94 m el heights are man and all opus solutions.<br>The point accordinates is a solution of the point accordinate   
   
   | 0 HGT:<br>A FILE<br>11m.17<br>42n.17<br>43q.17  
  | 108.02 ±0.010<br>0 TRM412<br>0 TRM412<br>0 TRM412<br>Pref   | 19:38:33505 ±0<br>73:996 ±0<br>08:1185:293 ±0<br>808284:736 ±0<br>035253:647 ±0<br>4 m (H = h - N \<br>ITENNA<br>49:00 NONE<br>49:00 NONE<br>erences   
  | 0.002 m<br>0.003 m<br>0.002 m<br>0.002 m<br>0.002 m<br>WHERE N = GEOI<br>HEIGHT (m)<br>2.000<br>2.000  | W077:19:38<br>108111<br>-4808<br>403521<br>D128 HGT)<br>EPH TY<br>precis<br>precis<br>Best Avai  | 31730 ±0.0<br>75.284 ±0.0<br>38.052 ±0.0<br>296.18 ±0.0<br>53.729 ±0.0<br>PE OB<br>a 9<br>a 9<br>a 9<br>a 9<br>a 9<br>a 9<br>a 9<br>a 9<br>a 9<br>a 9  | 002 m         CON           003 m         POIN           002 m         COM           002 m         U.S. I           002 m         U.S. I           102 m         State           155         90.8           80.0         >80.0  
  | VERGENCE:<br>T SCALE:<br>BINED FACTOR<br>NATIONAL GRI<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.017<br>±0.025   | R:<br>ID:<br>0.002<br>0.006<br>0.002<br>\$0.020  | LON (m)<br>0.004<br>0.006<br>0.004<br>\$0.020  | HGT (m)<br>0.017<br>0.003<br>0.018<br>\$0.040   
  | -0.20544444*<br>1.00000891<br>0.099909710<br>18STJ9088874<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1  | 4723<br>d (UTC)<br>18T15:12<br>18T15:14<br>18T15:15<br>Preferer  | -1.48080556*<br>1.00009307<br>1.00008128<br>OBSERVER<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard   |
| $\frac{1}{1000} \frac{1}{1000} \frac{1}{1000$  
  | 0 HGT:<br>A FILE<br>11m.17<br>42n.17<br>43q.17<br>fran   
   
   | 108.02 ±0.010     1     1     1     1     4     108.02 ±0.010     0     TRM412     0     TRM412     Pref     Pref     Process   | 19:38:33505 ±C<br>73:906 ±C<br>03:1155:293 ±C<br>806284:736 ±C<br>035253:647 ±C<br>4 m (H = h - N')<br>ITENNA<br>49:00 NONE<br>49:00 NONE<br>erences<br>ing Results   | 2.002 m<br>3.003 m<br>3.002 m<br>3.002 m<br>3.002 m<br>WHERE N = GEOI<br>HEIGHT (m)<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000  
  | W077:19:38.<br>108111<br>-4808:<br>40352:<br>D12B HGT)<br>Precis<br>precis<br>Best Avail   | 31730 ±0.0<br>75.284 ±0.0<br>88.052 ±0.0<br>53.729 ±0.0<br>9E OB<br>a 9<br>a 9<br>a 9<br>a 9<br>a 9<br>a 9<br>a 9<br>a 9<br>a 9<br>a 9   | 002 m         CON           003 m         POIN           002 m         COM           002 m         U.S. 1           002 m         U.S. 1           002 m         S.S. 9           102 m         S.S. 9           15.6         90.8           15.5         90.8           80.0         >80.0  
   | VERGENCE:<br>T SCALE:<br>BINED FACTON<br>NATIONAL GRI<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.017<br>40.025   | R:<br>ID:<br>0.002<br>0.006<br>0.002<br>×0.020   | LON (m)<br>0.004<br>0.006<br>0.004<br>≤0.020   | HGT (m)<br>0.017<br>0.003<br>0.018<br>≤0.040   
   | -0.20544444*<br>1.00000891<br>0.99999710<br>185TJ998887*<br>Uploade:<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1  | 4723<br>d (UTC)<br>18T15:12<br>18T15:14<br>18T15:15<br>Preferer  | -1.48080556*<br>1.00009307<br>1.00008128<br>OB SERVER<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>iay.howard  |
| $\frac{1}{1000} + \frac{1}{1000} + 1$  
  | A FILE<br>Im.17<br>42n.17<br>43q.17<br>43q.17<br>fran<br>oertain<br>o" point   
   
   | 108.02 ±0.010     1     1     108.02 ±0.010     1   | 19:38:33505 ±C<br>73:906 ±C<br>73:906 ±C<br>03:1185:293 ±C<br>03:52:53:847 ±C<br>03:52:53:847 ±C<br>03:52:53:847 ±C<br>11:118:118:118:118<br>11:118:118:118:118:1   | 002 m<br>003 m<br>002 m<br>002 m<br>002 m<br>WHERE N = GEOI<br>HEIGHT (m)<br>2 2000<br>2 2000<br>2 2000<br>Plots<br>Show (m) prefers<br>2139741844, WO  
  | W077:19:38<br>10811<br>-4808;<br>40352;<br>D128 HGT)<br>Precis<br>precis<br>precis<br>Best Avail<br>ances net<br>77:19:38.3300   | 31730 ±0.0<br>5.284 ±0.0<br>86.052 ±0.0<br>53.729 ±0.0<br>PE OB<br>a 9<br>a 9<br>a 9<br>a 9<br>a 9<br>a 9<br>a 9<br>a 9  | 002 m CON<br>003 m POIN<br>002 m COM<br>002 m U.S. 1<br>002 m<br>15 (%) FIXED (%<br>14.0 0.3.4<br>15.8 0.5.8<br>15.5 00.8<br>80.0 280.0<br>ession ◯ OPUS<br>n el. height, are the  
   | VERGENCE:<br>T SCALE:<br>BINED FACTOI<br>NATIONAL GRI<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.017<br>40.025<br>Apublished.<br>mean of all opu   | R:<br>ID:<br>0.002<br>0.008<br>0.002<br>40.020   | LON (m)<br>0.004<br>0.008<br>0.004<br>\$0.020  | HGT (m)<br>0.017<br>0.003<br>0.018<br>≼0.040   
   | -0.20544444*<br>1.0000391<br>0.00009710<br>18STJ9988874<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1   | 4723<br>d (UTC)<br>18T15:12<br>18T15:14<br>18T15:15<br>Preferer  | -1.48080556°<br>1.00009307<br>1.00008128<br>OBSERVER<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>coss   |
| $\frac{1}{1000} + \frac{1}{1000} + 1$  
  | FILE<br>FILE<br>FILE<br>FILE<br>FILE<br>FILE<br>FILE<br>FILE   
   
   | 108.02 ±0.010     108.02 ±0.010     108.02 ±0.010     108.02 ±0.010     108.02 ±0.010     108.02     108.02     108.02     108.02     108.02     108.02     108.02  | (9:38:33505 ±C<br>73:906 ±C<br>08:1185:293 ±C<br>8:06224:736 ±C<br>9:05253:847 ±C<br>4: m (H = h - N<br>17TENNA<br>49:00 NONE<br>49:00 NONE<br>arenoss<br>ing Results<br>88:336) ✔],<br>139:29:55.9273  | 0.002 m<br>0.003 m<br>0.002 m<br>0.002 m<br>0.002 m<br>HEIGHT (m)<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>Plots<br>Show prefer<br>Show prefer   
  | W077:19:38<br>108111<br>-4808:<br>403521<br>D12B HGT)<br>EPH TY<br>precis<br>precis<br>precis<br>precis<br>net<br>77:19:38.3305  | 31730 ±0.0<br>5.284 ±0.0<br>5.284 ±0.0<br>288.18 ±   | 002 m CON<br>003 m COM<br>002 m COM<br>002 m U.S.<br>1002 m<br>IS (%) FIXED (%<br>14.0 93.4<br>15.5 90.8<br>15.5 90.8<br>15.5 90.8<br>15.5 90.8<br>15.5 90.8<br>15.5 00.8<br>15.5 0  | VERGENCE:<br>T SCALE:<br>BINED FACTOINATIONAL GRI<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.017<br>40.025<br>Dublished.<br>mean of all opu  | R:<br>ID:<br>0.002<br>0.006<br>0.002<br>×0.020   
   | LON (m)<br>0.004<br>0.006<br>0.004<br>\$0.020  | HGT (m)<br>0.017<br>0.003<br>0.018<br>≤0.040   | -0.20544444<br>1.0000391<br>0.99999710<br>185TJ998887-<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1  | 4723<br>d (UTC)<br>18715:12<br>18715:14<br>18715:15<br>Preferer   
  | -1.4600556°<br>1.00009307<br>1.00008126<br>0BSERVEF<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard  |
| $\frac{1}{10^{-0}} \xrightarrow{0.0}_{0.5} \xrightarrow{0.01}_{0.5} \xrightarrow$  
  | A FILE<br>11m.17<br>42n.17<br>43q.17<br>43q.17<br>6<br>fran<br>0° point  
   
   | vit07::<br>108.02 ±0.010<br>108.02 ±0.010<br>107.02<br>TRM412<br>D TRM412<br>D  | 19:38:33505 ± €<br>73:996 ± €<br>081185:293 ± €<br>808224:738 ± €<br>808224:738 ± €<br>1035253:847 ± €<br>4 m (H = h - N Y<br>TTENNA<br>49:00 NONE<br>49:00 NONE<br>19:00   | 0.002 m<br>0.003 m<br>0.002 m<br>0.002 m<br>MHERE N = GEOI<br>HEIGHT (m)<br>2.000<br>1 2.000<br>1 2.000<br>1 2.000   | W077:19-38<br>108111<br>-4008;<br>40252;<br>D12B HGT)<br>Precis<br>precis<br>Best Avai<br>ances net<br>77:19-38.3305   
   | 31730 ±0.0<br>52.84 ±0.0<br>52.84 ±0.0<br>288.18 ±   | 002 m CON<br>003 m COM<br>002 m COM<br>002 m U.S. 1<br>002 m U.S. 1<br>003 m COM<br>0.5 0<br>0.5 0000000000 | VERGENCE:<br>T SCALE:<br>BINED FACTOINATIONAL GRI<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.017<br>40.025<br>A published.<br>mean of all opu  | R:<br>ID:<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>x0.020<br>x0.020  | LON (m)<br>0.004<br>0.006<br>40.020  | HGT (m)<br>0.017<br>0.003<br>0.018<br>\$0.040   
  | 0.20544444<br>1.0000091<br>1.000009710<br>185TJ0988874<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1  | 4723<br>d (UTC)<br>18T15:12<br>18T15:14<br>18T15:15<br>Preferer  | -1.4600556°<br>1.0009307<br>1.00093126<br>OBSERVER<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard   |
| $\frac{1}{1000} \underbrace{1}{1000} \underbrace{1}{1000}$   
  | HGT:<br>A FILE<br>11m.17<br>42n.17<br>43q.17<br>43q.17<br>(fran<br>o" point<br>o" point  
   
   | viti/::         11         108.02 ±0.010         AN         0         TRM412         D         TRM412         Pref         V Process ties by 1.0x(t         coordinates. N         1.0         0.5  | 19-38-33505 ±C<br>73-909 ±C<br>801185-203 ±C<br>802284-738 ±C<br>45 m (H = b - N)<br>17TENNA<br>40:00 NONE<br>40:00 NONE<br>40:00 NONE<br>1900 NONE<br>1  | 0.002 m<br>0.003 m<br>0.002 m<br>0.002 m<br>0.002 m<br>HEIGHT (m)<br>E 2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000  | W077:10-38<br>108111<br>-4000<br>403522<br>D12B HGT)<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0  
   | 31730 ±0.0<br>75.284 ±0.0<br>86.052 ±0.0<br>288.18 ±0.0<br>288.18 ±0.0<br>33.729 ±0.0<br>PE OB<br>a 6<br>a 6<br>a 6<br>a 6<br>a 6<br>a 6<br>a 6<br>a 6<br>a 6<br>a 6   | 002 m CON<br>003 m COM<br>002 m COM<br>002 m U.S.<br>102 m U.S.<br>15 (%) FIXED 02.4<br>44.9 02.4<br>45.6 06.8<br>05.5 00.8<br>80.0 ≥80.0<br>ession ○ OPUS<br>0.5  | VERGENCE:<br>BINED FACTO<br>BINED FACTO<br>NATIONAL GRI<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.017<br>#0.025<br>Dublished.<br>mean of all opu  | R:<br>ID:<br>0.002<br>0.006<br>0.002<br>×0.020   
   | LON (m)<br>0.004<br>0.006<br>0.004<br>#0.020   | HGT (m)<br>0.017<br>0.003<br>0.018<br>\$0.040  | 0.20544441<br>1.0000581<br>0.0000710<br>18STJ006887<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1  
   | 4723<br>d (UTC)<br>18715:12<br>18715:14<br>18716:15<br>Preferer  | -1.40005569<br>1.0000307<br>1.00003128<br>0BSERVER<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard   |
| $\frac{1}{10^{-1}} \frac{1}{10^{-1}} $   
   | A FILE<br>11m.17<br>42n.17<br>43q.17<br>fran<br>certain<br>certain<br>o" point  
   
  | VI07:     1     1     4     108.02 ±0.010     TRM412     O   | 10-38.33505 ±C<br>73.909 ±C<br>802187.203 ±C<br>802247.738 ±C<br>4 m (H = b - N)<br>17TENNA<br>40.00 NONE<br>40.00 NONE<br>878000 NONE<br>878000 NONE<br>878000 NONE<br>878000 NONE<br>878000 NONE<br>98000 NONE<br>980000  | 0.002 m<br>0.003 m<br>0.002 m<br>0.002 m<br>0.002 m<br>VHERE N = GEOI<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000   
  | W077:10-38<br>108111<br>+48082<br>102814GT<br>D128 HGT<br>Precis<br>precis<br>precis<br>precis<br>precis<br>precis<br>0 precis<br>0 precis   | 31730 ±0.0<br>75.284 ±0.0<br>86.052 ±0.0<br>288.18 ±0.0<br>33.729 ±0.0<br>PE OB<br>a 0<br>a 0<br>a 0<br>a 0<br>a 0<br>a 0<br>a 0<br>a 0<br>a 0<br>a 0  | 002 m CON<br>003 m COM<br>002 m COM<br>002 m U.S.<br>102 m U.S.<br>15 (%) FIXED (%)<br>15 (%) FIXED (%)<br>15 (%) 02.4<br>15 (%) 02.4<br>15 (%) 02.4<br>15 (%) 02.4<br>15 (%) 02.4<br>0.5<br>0.5<br>0.5<br>0.5<br>0.5<br>0.5<br>0.5<br>0.5   | VERGENCE:<br>1 SCALE:<br>BINED FACTOR<br>BINED FACTOR<br>BINED FACTOR<br>BINED FACTOR<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.017<br>\$0.025  | R:<br>ID:<br>0.002<br>0.006<br>0.002<br>\$0.020  
   | LON (m)<br>0.004<br>0.006<br>0.004<br>40.020   | HGT (m)<br>0.017<br>0.003<br>0.018<br>40.040   | 0.20544443<br>1.0000391<br>0.89898710<br>1.657 Jake887<br>Upleade<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1   | 4723<br>d (UTC)<br>18T15-12<br>18T15-14<br>18T15-15<br>Preferer   
  | <ul> <li>4.4800556°</li> <li>4.000930°</li> <li>1.00008128</li> <li>OBSERVEF</li> <li>jay.howard</li> <li>jay.howard</li> <li>jay.howard</li> <li>jay.howard</li> </ul>  |
| $\frac{1}{10} + \frac{1}{10} $   
   | 0 HGT:<br>A FILE<br>11m.17<br>42n.17<br>43q.17<br>43q.17<br>(fran<br>o" point   
   
  | vor/:   | 10-38.33505 ±C<br>73.000 ±C<br>061185.203 ±C<br>061285.203 ±C<br>062528.473 ±C<br>1075253.847 ±C<br>10752554.847 ±C<br>1075255554.847 ±C<br>107555555555555555555555555555555555555  | 0.002 m<br>0.003 m<br>0.002 m<br>0.002 m<br>0.002 m<br>1.002 m<br>FIEIGHT (N = GEO)<br>HEIGHT (  | W077:10-38<br>108111<br>-48082<br>40352<br>D12B HGT)<br>EPH
TY<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis   | 31730 ±0.0<br>75.284 ±0.0<br>86.052 ±0.0<br>288.18 ±0.0<br>33.729 ±0.0<br>PE OB<br>a 0<br>a 0<br>a 0<br>a 0<br>a 0<br>a 0<br>a 0<br>a 0<br>a 0<br>a 0  | 002 m CON<br>003 m COM<br>002 m COM<br>002 m COM<br>002 m COM<br>002 m COM<br>003 m  | VERGENCE:<br>I SCALE:<br>BINED FACTORAL GRI<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.025<br>Published.<br>mean of all opu  | R:<br>ID:<br>0.002<br>0.008<br>0.002<br>#0.020   
   | LON (m)<br>0.004<br>0.006<br>0.004<br>±0.020   | HGT (m)<br>0.017<br>0.003<br>0.018<br>\$0.040  | 0.20544443<br>1.0000391<br>0.20203710<br>1.857.J096887<br>Uploade<br>2017.10-1<br>2017.10-1   | 4723<br>d (UTC)<br>18T15:12<br>18T15:14<br>18T15:15<br>Preferen   
  | -1.48020566*     1.0000937*     1.00009128     OBSERVER     jay.howard     jay.howard     jay.howard     ios   |
| $\frac{1}{12} + \frac{1}{12} $   
   | D HGT:<br>Im.17<br>12n.17<br>13q.17<br>fran<br>certain<br>o" point  
   
  | vor/:   | 10-38.3360 ± 4<br>7.3.000 ± 203<br>081185.203 ± 4<br>08224.738 ± 203<br>08224.738 ± 4<br>101185.203 ± 5<br>08224.738 ± 4<br>101195 ± 101195<br>± 00 NONE<br>± 00   | 0.002 m<br>0.002 m<br>0.002 m<br>0.002 m<br>HEIGHT (m)<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>Plots<br>Plots  
  | W077:19-38.<br>108111<br>-46062<br>0128 HGT)<br>Epretion<br>Epretion<br>Eest Avail<br>ances net<br>77:10-38.3305   | 31730 400<br>57284 400<br>88052 400<br>88052 400<br>88052 400<br>88052 400<br>88052 400<br>88052 400<br>88052 400<br>88052 400<br>88052 400<br>8<br>9<br>9<br>9<br>9<br>9<br>9<br>9<br>9<br>9<br>9<br>9<br>9<br>9<br>9<br>9<br>9<br>9<br>9   | 02 m CON POINT<br>22 m CON POINT<br>22 m U.S. 1<br>25 (%) FIXED (%<br>44.9 09.4<br>45.5 00.6<br>15.5 00.6<br>15.5 00.6<br>15.5 00.6<br>15.0 0×0.0<br>15.0 0×0  | VERGENCE:<br>I SCALE:<br>BINED FACTORAL GRI<br>ONATIONAL GRI<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.015<br>exposition of all opun   | R:<br>ID:<br>0.002<br>0.006<br>0.002<br>×0.020   
   | LON (m)<br>0.004<br>0.008<br>0.004<br>40.020   | HGT (m)<br>0.017<br>0.003<br>0.018<br>±0.040   | 0.20544441<br>1.0000891<br>0.96969710<br>185TJ068677<br>201710-1<br>201710-1<br>201710-1  | 4723<br>4723<br>18716:12<br>18716:14<br>18715:15<br>Preferer  
  | -1.48000566*     1.0000937*     1.00009128     OBSERVER     jay.howard     jay.howard     jay.howard     jay.howard  |
| $\frac{1}{10} + \frac{1}{10} $   
   | D HGT:<br>IIm.17<br>42n.17(<br>43q.17(<br>fran<br>or point<br>or point  
   
  | vo/r:   | 10-38-33805 ± 4<br>73-000 ± 4<br>081185-203 ± 4<br>082284-738 ± 4<br>033253.847 ± 4<br>1011 ± 10-111<br>1111 ± 10-11<br>1111 ±  | 0.02 m<br>0.03 m<br>0.002 m<br>0.002 m<br>WHERE N =
GEOL<br>2.000<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.200<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.200000000  | W077:10-38.<br>108111<br>-46062<br>0128 HGT)<br>Epretia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Precia<br>Preci | 31730 ±0.0<br>75.294 ±0.0<br>88.052 ±0.0<br>88.052 ±0.0<br>88.052 ±0.0<br>88.052 ±0.0<br>88.052 ±0.0<br>89.052 ±0.052 ±   | 002 m COM<br>003 m POIND<br>002 m COM<br>002 m COM<br>002 m U.S.<br>002 m U.S.<br>002 m U.S.<br>002 m U.S.<br>002 m U.S.<br>002 m U.S.<br>003 m COM<br>003 m U.S.<br>003   | VERGENCE:<br>I SCALE:<br>BINED FACTO<br>NATIONAL GRI<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.0   
   | R:<br>ID:<br>0.002<br>0.008<br>0.002<br>x0.020<br>us solution  | LON (m)<br>0.004<br>0.000<br>0.004<br>±0.020   | HGT (m)<br>0.017<br>0.003<br>0.018<br>\$0.040  | 0.20544441<br>1.0000891<br>0.96969710<br>185TJ996867-<br>201710-1<br>201710-1<br>201710-1  
  | 4723<br>d (UTC)<br>18T15:12<br>18T15:14<br>18T15:15<br>Preferer  | -1.48080569*<br>1.00008125<br>0BSERVER<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>oces   |
| 1.1       0.5       0.0       0.5       1.0       0  
   
   | D HGT:<br>11m.17<br>12n.17/<br>13g.17/<br>(fran<br>o" point   
  | VOV ::   | 10-38-33505 #C<br>73-000 #C<br>081135-203 #C<br>082135-203 #C<br>032253-847 #C<br>032253-847 #C<br>032253-847 #C<br>032253-847 #C<br>032253-847 #C<br>032253-847 #C<br>032253-847 #C<br>03225-847 #C<br>1900 #C<br>19 | 0.002 m<br>0.002 m<br>0.002 m<br>0.002 m<br>MHERE H = SECI<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000  
  | V077:10-38.<br>108111<br>-46032<br>D128 HGT)<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Rest Avai<br>ances net   | 31730 40.0<br>5284 40.0<br>80.052 40.0<br>80.052 40.0<br>80.052 40.0<br>80.052 40.0<br>80.052 40.0<br>80.0<br>80.0<br>80.0<br>92 40.0<br>92 40   | 020 m         COM           020 m         COM           020 m         COM           020 m         U.3.           020 m         U.3.           15 (%)         FIXED (%           44.0         02.4           63.6         06.0           020 m         02.4           63.6         06.0           020 m         0.5           0.5         0.5   | VERGENCE:<br>I SCALE:<br>BINED FACTO<br>NATIONAL GRI<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.0   | R:<br>ID:<br>0.002<br>0.006<br>0.002<br>×0.020   
   | LON (m)<br>0.004<br>0.006<br>1.004<br>±0.020   | HGT (m)<br>0.017<br>0.003<br>0.018<br>±0.040   | 0.20544441<br>1.0000391<br>1.900039710<br>1957J9068877<br>20171-0-1<br>20171-0-1<br>2017-10-1   | 4723<br>d (UTC)<br>18T15:12<br>18T15:14<br>18T15:15<br>Preferer   
  | -1.48000569*     1.0000937*     1.00009128     OBSERVER     jay.howard     j  |
| 1-3-30       2-30       0-0       0.3       1.0       32110       20110  
   
   | D HGT:<br>A FILE<br>Im.17.<br>13q.17(<br>fran<br>oertain<br>o" point  
  | vo/ 2     vo/ 2    v  | 10-38-3300 ± 42<br>73-000 ± 42<br>001185-203 ± 42<br>002535-379 ± 42<br>002535-379 ± 42<br>1002535-379 ± 42<br>1002535-379 ± 42<br>1002535-379 ± 42<br>1002535-379 ± 42<br>1002535-379 ± 42<br>1002555-379 ± 42<br>100255-379 ± 42<br>10025-379 ± 42<br>10025-3   | 0.02 m<br>0.03 m<br>0.003 m<br>0.002 m<br>WHERE I =
GEOI<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>2.0000<br>2.0000<br>2.0000<br>2.0000<br>2.0000<br>2.0000<br>2.0000<br>2.00000<br>2.00000<br>2.00000000  | V077:10-38.<br>108111<br>400322<br>D128 HGT)<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis<br>Precis | 31730 ±0.0<br>75.284 ±0.0<br>80.052 ±0.0<br>80.052 ±0.0<br>80.052 ±0.0<br>80.18 ±0.0<br>95.18 ±0.0<br>9<br>9<br>9<br>9<br>9<br>9<br>9<br>9<br>9<br>9<br>9<br>9<br>9<br>9<br>9<br>9<br>9<br>9   | COM   
  | VERGENCE:<br>I SCALE:<br>BINED FACTO<br>MINITONAL GRI<br>0.014<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.   | R:<br>ID:<br>0.002<br>0.006<br>40.020<br>40.020  | LON (m)<br>0.004<br>0.006<br>1.004<br>±0.020   | HGT (m)<br>0.017<br>0.003<br>0.018<br>x0.040  
  | 0.20544441<br>1.0000891<br>1.90008911<br>1.957.J0688710<br>2.017.10<br>2.017.10<br>2.017.10<br>2.017.10   | 4723<br>d (UTC)<br>18715:12<br>18715:14<br>18715:15<br>Preferer  | -1.4802556*     -1.4802556*     1.00008128     OBSERVER     jay.howard     jay.howard     jay.howard     oca   |
| 200         2017   
   
   | D HGT:<br>A FILE<br>11m.17/<br>42n.17/<br>43g.17/<br>fran<br>certain<br>o" point  
  | vo/ ::  | 10-38-33005 ± C<br>73-000 ± C<br>001185 ± C  
  | 0.002 m<br>0.003 m<br>0.003 m<br>0.002 m<br>0.003 m<br>0.002 m<br>0.000 m<br>0.002 m<br>0.000 m<br>0.0000 m<br>0.00000 m<br>0.00000 m<br>0.00000 m<br>0.00000 m<br>0.0000000000  | VU077:10-38.<br>108111<br>46000<br>D128 H071<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis<br>Presis | 31730 ±0.0<br>75.284 ±0.0<br>88.052 ±0.0<br>88.052 ±0.0<br>33.729 ±0.0<br>9<br>9<br>9<br>9<br>9<br>9<br>9<br>9<br>9<br>9<br>9<br>9<br>9<br>9<br>9<br>9<br>9<br>9   | COM  | VERGENCE:<br>I SCALE:<br>BINED FACTO<br>MATTOMAL
GRI<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.0   | R:<br>ID:<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>40.020<br>us solution  | LON (m)<br>0.004<br>0.004<br>0.004<br>2.002  | HGT (m)<br>0.017<br>0.003<br>0.018<br><0.040   
   | 0.20544441<br>1.0000891<br>0.99969710<br>185TJ0688710<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1  | 4723<br>4(UTC)<br>18716:12<br>18716:14<br>18716:15<br>Preferen   | -1.4800556*     -1.4800556*     1.00008128     OBSERVER     jay.howard     jay.howard     jay.howard     oca   |
| 200         000 <td>D HGT:<br/>A FILE<br/>11m.17<br/>42n.17<br/>43q.17<br/>6<br/>fran<br/>certain<br/>of point</td> <td>voor =         voor =</td> <td>10-38-33605 ± C<br/>73-000 ± C<br/>00228-203 ± C<br/>00228-203 ± C<br/>00228-203 ± C<br/>00228-203 ± C<br/>00228-203 ± C<br/>10-10-10-10<br/>10-10-10-10<br/>10-10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-10-10<br/>10-</td> <td>002 m<br/>003 m<br/>0003 m<br/>0002 m<br/>0002 m<br/>10002 m<br/>100000 m<br/>10002 m<br/>10000 m<br/>100000 m<br/>10000 m<br/>10000000000</td> <td>0.5</td> <td>13773 - 140 57 264 40 00<br/>57 264 40 00<br/>58 00 52 + 10 00<br/>58 00 50 + 10 00<br/>58 00 50</td> <td>002 m COM<br/>000 m PCOM<br/>000 m PCOM<br/>000 m COM<br/>000 m COM</td> <td>VERGENCE::<br/>1 SCALE:<br/>BINED FACTO<br/>NATIONAL CBR<br/>0.014<br/>0.014<br/>0.014<br/>0.014<br/>0.017<br/>0.004<br/>0.017<br/>0.001<br/>0.017<br/>0.001<br/>0.017<br/>0.001<br/>0.001<br/>0.017<br/>0.002<br/>0.017<br/>0.002<br/>0.017<br/>0.002<br/>0.017<br/>0.002<br/>0.017<br/>0.002<br/>0.017<br/>0.002<br/>0.017<br/>0.002<br/>0.017<br/>0.002<br/>0.017<br/>0.002<br/>0.017<br/>0.002<br/>0.017<br/>0.002<br/>0.017<br/>0.002<br/>0.017<br/>0.002<br/>0.017<br/>0.002<br/>0.017<br/>0.002<br/>0.014<br/>0.017<br/>0.002<br/>0.014<br/>0.017<br/>0.002<br/>0.017<br/>0.002<br/>0.017<br/>0.002<br/>0.017<br/>0.002<br/>0.017<br/>0.002<br/>0.017<br/>0.002<br/>0.017<br/>0.002<br/>0.017<br/>0.002<br/>0.017<br/>0.002<br/>0.017<br/>0.002<br/>0.017<br/>0.002<br/>0.017<br/>0.002<br/>0.017<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.</td> <td>R:<br/>ID:<br/>0.002<br/>0.008<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002<br/>0.002</td> <td>LON (m)<br/>0.004<br/>0.006<br/>2.000<br/>1004<br/>10.000<br/>10<br/>10<br/>10<br/>10<br/>10<br/>10<br/>10<br/>10<br/>10<br/>10<br/>10<br/>10</td> <td>HGT (m)<br/>0.017<br/>0.003<br/>0.018<br/>20.040</td>
<td>2017-0-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2017-12<br/>2</td> <td>4723<br/>4 (UTC)<br/>18716:12<br/>18716:15<br/>Preferen</td> <td>-1.4800056*<br/>1.00008128<br/>085ERVEF<br/>jay.howard<br/>jay.howard<br/>jay.howard<br/>jay.howard<br/>jay.howard<br/>jay.howard</td>   | D HGT:<br>A FILE<br>11m.17<br>42n.17<br>43q.17<br>6<br>fran<br>certain<br>of point  
   
  | voor =         voor =   | 10-38-33605 ± C<br>73-000 ± C<br>00228-203 ± C<br>00228-203 ± C<br>00228-203 ± C<br>00228-203 ± C<br>00228-203 ± C<br>10-10-10-10<br>10-10-10-10<br>10-10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-10-10<br>10-  | 002 m<br>003 m<br>0003 m<br>0002 m<br>0002 m<br>10002 m<br>100000 m<br>10002 m<br>10000 m<br>100000 m<br>10000 m<br>10000000000   | 0.5  
   | 13773 - 140 57 264 40 00<br>57 264 40 00<br>58 00 52 + 10 00<br>58 00 50   | 002 m COM<br>000 m PCOM<br>000 m PCOM<br>000 m COM<br>000 m COM   | VERGENCE::<br>1 SCALE:<br>BINED FACTO<br>NATIONAL CBR<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.017<br>0.004<br>0.017<br>0.001<br>0.017<br>0.001<br>0.017<br>0.001<br>0.001<br>0.017<br>0.002<br>0.017<br>0.002<br>0.017<br>0.002<br>0.017<br>0.002<br>0.017<br>0.002<br>0.017<br>0.002<br>0.017<br>0.002<br>0.017<br>0.002<br>0.017<br>0.002<br>0.017<br>0.002<br>0.017<br>0.002<br>0.017<br>0.002<br>0.017<br>0.002<br>0.017<br>0.002<br>0.017<br>0.002<br>0.014<br>0.017<br>0.002<br>0.014<br>0.017<br>0.002<br>0.017<br>0.002<br>0.017<br>0.002<br>0.017<br>0.002<br>0.017<br>0.002<br>0.017<br>0.002<br>0.017<br>0.002<br>0.017<br>0.002<br>0.017<br>0.002<br>0.017<br>0.002<br>0.017<br>0.002<br>0.017<br>0.002<br>0.017<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.   | R:<br>ID:<br>0.002<br>0.008<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002  | LON (m)<br>0.004<br>0.006<br>2.000<br>1004<br>10.000<br>10<br>10<br>10<br>10<br>10<br>10<br>10<br>10<br>10<br>10<br>10<br>10   
   | HGT (m)<br>0.017<br>0.003<br>0.018<br>20.040   | 2017-0-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2017-12<br>2  | 4723<br>4 (UTC)<br>18716:12<br>18716:15<br>Preferen  | -1.4800056*<br>1.00008128<br>085ERVEF<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard   
  |
| 120       1  
   
   | D HGT:<br>A FILE<br>11m.17<br>12n.17r<br>(fran<br>certain<br>o" point   
  | vor 2     vor 2    v  | (0.38.3305 ± c     (0.3305 ± c     (0.330   | 0.002 m<br>0.003 m<br>0.002 m<br>0.002 m<br>MHERE N =
GEOL<br>2.000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.2000<br>2.20000<br>2.20000<br>2.20000<br>2.200000000  | 0.5  | 13/13/2 + 10.<br>15.264 + 10.0<br>18.052 + 10.0<br>18.052 + 10.0<br>19.052 + 10.0<br>19.052 + 10.0<br>PFC 084 18 + 10.0<br>PFC 084 18 + 10.0<br>PFC 084 18 + 10.0<br>PFC 084 18 + 10.0<br>Note: 10.0<br>1.0  | 020 m CON<br>030 m POINT<br>0200 m COM<br>0200 m COM   | VERGENCE:<br>I SCALE:<br>BINED FACTO<br>MATTOMAL
GRI<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.028<br>0.017<br>0.028<br>0.017<br>0.028<br>0.017<br>0.028<br>0.017<br>0.028<br>0.017<br>0.028<br>0.017<br>0.028<br>0.017<br>0.028<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.028<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.028<br>0.017<br>0.028<br>0.017<br>0.028<br>0.017<br>0.028<br>0.017<br>0.028<br>0.017<br>0.028<br>0.017<br>0.028<br>0.017<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.028<br>0.0   | R:<br>ID:<br>0.002<br>0.008<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002  | LON (m)<br>0.004<br>0.006<br>10.000<br>18.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>GF   | HGT (m)<br>0.017<br>0.003<br>0.018<br>0.040  
   | 20054444*<br>1.0000891<br>0.00008710<br>1857.00080710<br>1857.00080710<br>2017.10-1<br>2017.10-1<br>2017.10-1<br>2017.10-1<br>2017.10-1<br>2017.10-1  | 4723 41UTC) 1971512 1971512 1971512 1971514 197151 197151 197151 197151 197151 197151 197151 197151 197151 19715 19715 1971 1971   | -1.4802056*     -1.4802056*     1.00008178     1.00008128     1.0008128     1.0008     1.0008     1.00081     1.0008     1.0008     1.0008     1.0008  |
| 200<br>201<br>202<br>202<br>202<br>202<br>202<br>202   
   
   | D HGT:<br>A FILE<br>11m.17.<br>12a.17.<br>(fran<br>certain<br>or point<br>50  
  | VV0/2<br>   | 10-38.33005 #C 10-38.33005 #C 12.3005 #C 12.   
  | 002 m<br>003 m<br>0003 m<br>0002 m<br>WHERE N = GEOI<br>2 2000<br>2 20000<br>2 20000<br>2 2000<br>2 2000<br>2    | 0.5  | 13/13/2 + 10.<br>15.24 + 20.<br>16.05 + 20.<br>16.05 + 20.<br>17.24 + 20.<br>17.24 + 20.<br>17.24 + 20.<br>1.0   | COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM   | VERGENCE:<br>I SCALE:<br>BINED FACTO<br>NATIONAL
GRI<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014<br>0014     | R:<br>ID:<br>0.002<br>0.006<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002   | LON (m)<br>0.004<br>0.006<br>40.020<br>16  | HGT
(m)<br>0.017<br>0.008<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.018<br>0.017<br>0.018<br>0.017<br>0.018<br>0.017<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.0180000000000  | 2017-0-1<br>10000891<br>0.00008710<br>1657.00080710<br>1057.00080<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1   | 4723 41UTC) 18715-12 18715-14 18715-15 Preferen  | 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0  
   |
| 200            
   
   | 50 HGT:<br>A FILE<br>Im.17.<br>120.17.<br>120.17.<br>130.17.<br>130.17.<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.001<br>100.0  
  | voi/:         voi/:             voi/:   | 10-38.33005 #C<br>73.000 44<br>900294.738 #C<br>900294.738 #C<br>900294.738 #C<br>900294.738 #C<br>900294.738 #C<br>900295.947 #C<br>900295.947
#C<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>900095<br>90000<br>90000<br>90000<br>90000<br>90000<br>90000<br>90000<br>900000<br>900000<br>9000000  | 002 m<br>0003 m<br>0002 m<br>0002 m<br>4HEIDEH v GECI<br>2 2000<br>2 20000<br>2 2000<br>2 2000<br>2 2000<br>2    | 0.5  | 13730 ±0.0<br>80.055 ±0.0<br>80.055 ±0.0<br>90.055 ±0.0<br>80.055 ±0.0<br>90.055 ±0.0<br>90.055 ±0.0<br>90.055 ±0.0<br>90.055 ±0.0<br>90.055 ±0.0<br>90.055 ±0.0<br>90.055 ±0.0  | COM COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM  
  | VERGENCE:<br>1 SCALE:<br>BINED FACTO<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.017<br>2007<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017 | R:<br>ID:<br>0.002<br>0.006<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002  | LON (m)<br>0.004<br>0.006<br>40.020<br>hs<br>5077<br>6F  | 1407
(m)<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.008<br>0.00800000000 | 2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1  | 4723 4 (UTC) 181716:12 181716:14 191716:14 191716:14 191716:15 Preferen  | 2017.<br>24170  
  |
| 129         0  
   
   | 50 HGT:<br>A FILE<br>Im.17.<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.170<br>120.1  
  | voi/2   | 0:03.33005 #C<br>73.000 4:0<br>900294.73 #C<br>900294.73 #C<br>900294.73 #C<br>900294.73 #C<br>900294.73 #C<br>900294.73 #C<br>9002953.047 #C<br>9002953.047 #C<br>9000 NONE<br>9000 NONE<br>900   | 002 m<br>003 m<br>003 m<br>002 m<br>002 m<br>MHERE I = GEOI<br>1 2000<br>2 2000<br>1 2   | 0.5  
   | 13730 ±0.0<br>5284 ±0.0<br>80.055 ±0.0<br>80.055 ±0.0<br>90.055 ±0.0<br>90.055 ±0.0<br>90.055 ±0.0<br>90.055 ±0.0<br>90.055 ±0.0<br>90.055 ±0.0<br>90.055 ±0.0<br>90.055 ±0.0<br>90.055 ±0.055 ±0.0<br>90.055 ±0.0   | COM COM<br>COM COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM  | VERGENCE:<br>1 SCALE:<br>BINED FACTO<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.017<br>40.025<br>ADDITION<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017   | R: ID: 100 0000 0000 00000 00000000000000000   
   | LON (m)<br>0.004<br>0.004<br>20.004<br>20.004<br>18.000<br>18.<br>18.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>GF  | 1407 (m)<br>0017<br>0017<br>0018<br>10040  | 0.20544441<br>1.0000891<br>0.00008710<br>1857.10008710<br>2017.10-1<br>2017.10-1<br>2017.10-1<br>2017.10-1<br>2017.10-1<br>2017.10-1<br>2017.10-1   | 4723 4 (UTC) 18716-12 18716-14 18716-15 Preferen  
  | 2017<br>241700   |
| 300         *         2017         201  
   
   | 50 HGT:<br>A FILE<br>Im.17.<br>42n.17.<br>(fran<br>certain<br>of point<br>of point<br>so  
  | voi/2     voi/2     ····     ····     ····     ····     ····     ···     ···     ···     ···     ···  | 0:38.33005 #C<br>73.000 45<br>000282.03 #C<br>000282.03 #C<br>000282.03 #C<br>000282.03 #C<br>000282.03 #C<br>10 (10 + 0 - N)<br>10 (1   
   | 002 m<br>003 m<br>003 m<br>002 m<br>000 m<br>002 m<br>000 m<br>00   | 0.5  | 13730 ±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.0<br>15.04±0.000000000000000000000000000000000   | COM COM<br>COM PCON<br>COM COM<br>COM USA<br>COM USA<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM   | VERGENCE:<br>1 SCALE:<br>BINED FACTO<br>MATTOMAL
CBR<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.025<br>0.017<br>0.025<br>0.017<br>0.025<br>0.017<br>0.025<br>0.017<br>0.025<br>0.017<br>0.025<br>0.017<br>0.025<br>0.017<br>0.025<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.0   | R: ID: 100 0.002 0.0000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000  | 2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>GF  | HGT (m)<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.018<br>x0.040   
   | 2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1  | 4723 4 (UTC) 18716-12 18716-12 18716-12 2017 4 (UTC) 2017 | -1.4802056*<br>1.0000817<br>1.00008128<br>085ERVEF<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard   |
| 230         4  
   
   | 50 HGT:<br>A FILE<br>Itm.17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,17.<br>130,  
  | voor 2         voor 2   | 10-38.33505 #C 17.000 #C 10.3505 #C 17.000 #C 10.3505 #  
   | 002 m<br>003 m<br>0003 m<br>0002 m<br>0002 m<br>10002 m<br>100000 m<br>10002 m<br>10000 m<br>100000 m<br>10000 m<br>100000 m<br>10000 m<br>10000 m<br>10000000000   | 0.5  | 13730 ±0.0<br>15.24  | COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM   | VERGENCE:<br>I SCALE:<br>BINED FACTO<br>NATIONAL CRIT<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.024<br>0.017<br>0.024<br>0.017<br>0.024<br>0.017<br>0.024<br>0.017<br>0.025<br>0.017<br>0.025<br>0.017<br>0.025<br>0.017<br>0.025<br>0.017<br>0.025<br>0.017<br>0.025<br>0.017<br>0.025<br>0.017<br>0.025<br>0.017<br>0.025<br>0.017<br>0.025<br>0.017<br>0.025<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.025<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.025<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.025<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.025<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.027<br>0.017<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.   | R: ID: 100.000 0.000
0.000 0.0   | 2004 (m)<br>0.006<br>0.006<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.00000<br>1.0000<br>1.0000<br>1.00000<br>1.000000<br>1.00000<br>1.00000000  | HGT (m)<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.018<br>0.040  | 2017-10-1 2017-1   
  | 4723 41UTC) 109716-14 1097 | -1.48000569*<br>1.00008172<br>1.00008128<br>085ERVEF<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard   |
| 2017         2017 <t< td=""><td>50 HGT:<br/>A FILE<br/>Itm.17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>132,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,17.<br/>134,</td><td>Vol / 2</td><td>10-38-33505 ± C<br/>73-009 ± C<br/>802825-203 ± C<br/>802825-203 ± C<br/>802825-203 ± C<br/>802825-203 ± C<br/>802825-203 ± C<br/>10 (H = h - N )<br/>10 0 NONE<br/>10 0 N</td><td>002 m<br/>0003 m<br/>0003 m<br/>0002 m<br/>MHERE N = GECI<br/>2 2000<br/>2 20000<br/>2 20000<br/>2 2000<br/>2 2000<br/>2 20000</td><td>0.5</td><td>13730 ±0.0<br/>15.04 ±0.0<br/>15.04 ±0.0<br/>13.730 ±0.0<br/>13.7300 ±0.0<br/>13.7300 ±0.0<br/>13.7300 ±0.0<br/>13.7300 ±0.0<br/>13.7300 ±0.0<br/>13.7300 ±0.0<br/>13.7300 ±0.0<br/>1</td><td>COM COM COM<br/>COM POINT COM<br/>COM COM<br/>COM COM<br/>COM COM<br/>COM COM<br/>COM<br/>COM COM<br/>COM<br/>COM<br/>COM<br/>COM<br/>COM<br/>COM<br/>COM<br/>COM<br/>COM</td><td>VERGENCE:<br/>I SCALE:<br/>BINED FACTO<br/>MATTOMAL GRI<br/>0.014<br/>0.014<br/>0.014<br/>0.017<br/>4.025<br/>D.017<br/>0.017<br/>0.017<br/>0.017<br/>0.017<br/>0.017<br/>0.017<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.027<br/>0.0</td><td>R: LAT (m) 0.002 0.000
0</td><td>2007.<br/>0,004<br/>0,004<br/>20,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>10,000<br/>1</td><td>0017<br/>0017<br/>0018<br/>0018<br/>0018<br/>0018<br/>0018<br/>0018</td><td>2017-0-1<br/>10000891<br/>0.0000801<br/>10000801<br/>1057.000801<br/>2017-10-1<br/>2017-10-1<br/>2017-10-1<br/>2017-10-1<br/>2017-10-1<br/>2017-10-1</td><td>4723 41070) 1871512 1871512 Preferen</td><td>-1.48020569*<br/>1.00008175<br/>1.00008128<br/>085ERVEF<br/>jay.howard<br/>jay.howard<br/>jay.howard<br/>jay.howard<br/>jay.howard<br/>jay.howard<br/>jay.howard<br/>jay.howard</td></t<>  | 50 HGT:<br>A FILE<br>Itm.17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>132,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,17.<br>134,   
   | Vol / 2   
   | 10-38-33505 ± C<br>73-009 ± C<br>802825-203 ± C<br>802825-203 ± C<br>802825-203 ± C<br>802825-203 ± C<br>802825-203 ± C<br>10 (H = h - N )<br>10 0 NONE<br>10 0 N  | 002 m<br>0003 m<br>0003 m<br>0002 m<br>MHERE N = GECI<br>2 2000<br>2 20000<br>2 20000<br>2 2000<br>2 2000<br>2 20000       | 0.5  | 13730 ±0.0<br>15.04 ±0.0<br>15.04 ±0.0<br>13.730 ±0.0<br>13.7300 ±0.0<br>13.7300 ±0.0<br>13.7300 ±0.0<br>13.7300 ±0.0<br>13.7300 ±0.0<br>13.7300 ±0.0<br>13.7300 ±0.0<br>1   | COM COM COM<br>COM POINT COM<br>COM COM<br>COM COM<br>COM COM<br>COM COM<br>COM<br>COM COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM  | VERGENCE:<br>I SCALE:<br>BINED FACTO<br>MATTOMAL
GRI<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.017<br>4.025<br>D.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.017<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.027<br>0.0   | R: LAT (m) 0.002 0.000 0   | 2007.<br>0,004<br>0,004<br>20,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>10,000<br>1   | 0017<br>0017<br>0018<br>0018<br>0018<br>0018<br>0018<br>0018   
   | 2017-0-1<br>10000891<br>0.0000801<br>10000801<br>1057.000801<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1  | 4723 41070) 1871512 1871512 Preferen   | -1.48020569*<br>1.00008175<br>1.00008128<br>085ERVEF<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard   |
| 2017         2017 <t< td=""><td>D HGT:<br/>A FILE<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.1</td><td>VOV 2     VOV 2     V</td><td>10-38.33005 #C<br/>73.000 4/2<br/>900294.738 #C<br/>900294.738 #C<br/>900294.738 #C<br/>900294.738 #C<br/>900294.738 #C<br/>9002953.047 #C<br/>1000000000000000000000000000000000000</td><td>002 m<br/>000 m<br/>00</td><td>0.5</td><td>1:70 = 10.0<br/>8:00 = 0.0<br/>8:00 = 0.0<br/>9:00 = 0.0<br/>9:00</td><td>COM COM<br/>COM COM<br/>COM COM<br/>COM COM<br/>COM COM<br/>COM<br/>COM<br/>COM<br/>COM<br/>COM<br/>COM<br/>COM<br/>COM<br/>COM</td><td>VERGENCE:<br/>1 SCALE:<br/>BINED FACTO<br/>0.014<br/>0.014<br/>0.014<br/>0.017<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017</td><td>R: LAT (m) 0.002 0.005 10.000 0.0000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000
0.000</td><td>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>20</td><td>1407 (m)<br/>0.017<br/>0.018<br/>20040</td><td>2017-0-1<br/>2017-10-1<br/>2017-10-1<br/>2017-10-1<br/>2017-10-1<br/>2017-10-1<br/>2017-10-1<br/>2017-10-1<br/>2017-10-1<br/>2017-10-1<br/>2017-10-1</td><td>4723 41070) 18716-12</td><td>2017.<br/>241700</td></t<> | D HGT:<br>A FILE<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.1   
   
   | VOV 2     V   | 10-38.33005 #C<br>73.000 4/2<br>900294.738 #C<br>900294.738 #C<br>900294.738 #C<br>900294.738 #C<br>900294.738 #C<br>9002953.047 #C<br>1000000000000000000000000000000000000  | 002 m<br>000 m<br>00   | 0.5  | 1:70 = 10.0<br>8:00 = 0.0<br>8:00 = 0.0<br>9:00  | COM COM<br>COM COM<br>COM COM<br>COM COM<br>COM COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM   | VERGENCE:<br>1 SCALE:<br>BINED
FACTO<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.017<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017 | R: LAT (m) 0.002 0.005 10.000 0.0000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000   | 2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>20 | 1407 (m)<br>0.017<br>0.018<br>20040  
   | 2017-0-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1  | 4723 41070) 18716-12  | 2017.<br>241700  |
| 2017         2017 <t< td=""><td>D HGT:<br/>A FILE<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.17.<br/>IIm.1</td><td>voi/:         voi/:             voi/:</td><td>0:03.0300         #C           73.000         #C           73.000         #C           000244.731         #C           000224.731         #C           000224.731         #C           00024.731         #C           00024.731         #C           00024.731         #C           00024.731         #C           0000         NONE           00000         NONE           00000000         NONE           000000000000000000000000000000000000</td><td>0.002 m<br/>0.003 m<br/>0.003 m<br/>0.002 m<br/>MHERE H = GEOL<br/>2.000<br/>2.000<br/>Plots<br/>East (cm)<br/>East (cm)</td><td>0.5</td><td>13730 ± 0.0<br/>15.00± 0.0<br/>10.005 ± 0.00</td><td>COM COM<br/>COM COM<br/>COM<br/>COM<br/>COM<br/>COM<br/>COM<br/>COM<br/>COM</td><td>VERGENCE:<br/>1 SCALE:<br/>BINED FACTO<br/>0.014<br/>0.014<br/>0.014<br/>0.017<br/>20075<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>2017<br/>201</td><td>R: DD:</td><td>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>2017.<br/>GF</td><td>HGT (m)<br/>0017<br/>0018<br/>20040</td><td>2017-0-1<br/>2017-0-1<br/>2017-0-1<br/>2017-0-1<br/>2017-0-1<br/>2017-0-1<br/>2017-0-1<br/>2017-0-1<br/>2017-0-1<br/>2017-0-1<br/>2017-0-1</td><td>4723 41010 1871612 1971614
Preferen</td><td>2017-<br/>244700</td></t<>  
  | D HGT:<br>A FILE<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.17.<br>IIm.1   
   | voi/:         voi/:             voi/:   | 0:03.0300         #C           73.000         #C           73.000         #C           000244.731         #C           000224.731         #C           000224.731         #C           00024.731         #C           00024.731         #C           00024.731         #C           00024.731         #C           0000         NONE           00000         NONE           00000000         NONE           000000000000000000000000000000000000  
   | 0.002 m<br>0.003 m<br>0.003 m<br>0.002 m<br>MHERE H = GEOL<br>2.000<br>2.000<br>Plots<br>East (cm)<br>East (cm)  | 0.5  | 13730 ± 0.0<br>15.00± 0.0<br>10.005 ± 0.00   | COM COM<br>COM COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM  
   | VERGENCE:<br>1 SCALE:<br>BINED FACTO<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.017<br>20075<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>201 | R: DD:   | 2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>GF   
  | HGT (m)<br>0017<br>0018<br>20040   | 2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1  | 4723 41010 1871612 1971614 Preferen  | 2017-<br>244700  
   |
| GP5 Time         GP5 Time           (fam_w) Processing Results Table         Image: Control of the state o   
   
   | D HGT:           A FILE           IIm.17.           I   
  | voi/2   | 0:03.33005 ±C<br>73.000 ±C<br>80022±C<br>90022±C<br>90022±C<br>90022±C<br>90022±C<br>90022±C<br>90022±C<br>90022±C<br>90022±C<br>9002<br>9002<br>9002<br>9002<br>9002<br>9002<br>9002<br>900  | 002 m<br>003 m<br>003 m<br>002 m<br>002 m<br>002 m<br>102 m<br>10   |  
   | 13770 ±10.0<br>15.00± 10.0<br>10.005 ± 10.005<br>10.005 ± 10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.005<br>10.0   | COM COM<br>COM COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM  | VERGENCE:<br>1 SCALE:<br>BINED FACTO<br>NUTIONAL COR<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.0   | R: ID:   
   | 2004 (m) 0.004 (m) 0.004 (m) 0.004 (m) 0.004 (m) 0.008 (m) 0.004 (   | HGT (m)<br>0.017<br>0.018<br>40.040  | 2017-10-1 2017-1  | 4723 41070) 1071612 1071612 1071612 1071612 1071612 1071612 1071612 1071612 1071612 1071612 10716 1071 1071  | 2017<br>24170  
   |
| ▲ Processing Results Table           neartainets by         (1.02 (68.378) )         Show         ) preferences         ) network         () Go PUIS         () Deuts All published.           a PUBLISHED         NORTH (cm)         EAST (cm)         UP (cm)         REFERENCE FRAME         EPOCH (GPS)           J.V7214         0.4 e0.0         0.4 e0.0         1.1 e0.0         11.752014         2017.06.01101.02.024           o PUBS SOLUTIONS         NORTH (cm)         EAST (cm)         UP (cm)         REFERENCE FRAME         EPOCH (GPS)           fmod ant n170         0.4 e0.0         0.4 e0.0         1.1 e0.0         11.752014         2017.06.01101.02.024           fmod ant n170         0.0 e0.0         0.3 e10.0         1.1 e0.0         11752014         2017.06.01101.02.024           fmod ant n170         0.0 e0.0         0.3 e10.0         0.1 e10.0         11752014         2017.06.01101.02.024           fmod ant n170         0.0 e0.0         0.3 e10.0         0.0 e17.0         11752014         2017.06.01100.13.00           fmod ant n170         0.0 e0.0         0.3 e10.0         0.0 e1.0         0.0 e1.0         0.0 e1.0           fmod ant n170         0.0 e0.0         0.3 e10.0         0.0 e1.0         0.0 e1.0         0.0 e1.0   
   
   | D HGT:           A FILE           IIm.17.           IIIm.17.           IIIm.17.           IIm.17.           IIm.17.           IIm.17.           IIm.17.           IIm.17. <td< td=""><td>voor 2     voor 2     voor</td><td>01938.33805 #C 1073.000 #C 173.000 #C 1073.000 #C 1073.0000 #C 1073.000 #C 1073.0000 #C 1073.0000 #C 1073.0000 #C</td><td>002 m<br/>003 m<br/>003 m<br/>002 m<br/>002 m<br/>002 m<br/>1002 m<br/>1000 m<br/>10000 m<br/>1000 m<br/>1000 m<br/>1000 m<br/>1000 m<br/>100</td><td>0.5</td><td>7. 5 204 10.0 201 201 201 201 201 201 201 201 201 20</td><td>COM COM<br/>COM PCOM<br/>COM<br/>COM<br/>COM<br/>COM<br/>COM<br/>COM<br/>COM<br/>COM<br/>COM</td><td>VERGENCE:<br/>1 SCALE:<br/>BINED FACTO<br/>NATIONAL CRIT<br/>0.014<br/>0.014<br/>0.014<br/>0.014<br/>0.014<br/>0.014<br/>0.014<br/>0.014<br/>0.017<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>2007<br/>20</td><td>R: D: 1000</td><td>2007/<br/>2004<br/>2004<br/>20020<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>2007/<br/>200/<br/>200</td><td>2017<br/>22070</td><td>2007. 1 2017.10-</td><td>4723 41076) 4107612 4107612 4107612 4107612 4107612 41076 41076 41076 41076 4107 4107 4107 4107 410 410 410 410 410 410 410 410 410 410</td><td>2017<br/>244700</td></td<> | voor 2     voor  
  | 01938.33805 #C 1073.000 #C 173.000 #C 1073.000 #C 1073.0000 #C 1073.000 #C 1073.0000 #C 1073.0000 #C 1073.0000 #C   | 002 m<br>003 m<br>003 m<br>002 m<br>002 m<br>002 m<br>1002 m<br>1000 m<br>10000 m<br>1000 m<br>1000 m<br>1000 m<br>1000 m<br>100   | 0.5  | 7. 5 204 10.0 201 201 201 201 201 201 201 201 201 20   | COM COM<br>COM PCOM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM   | VERGENCE:<br>1 SCALE:<br>BINED FACTO<br>NATIONAL
CRIT<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.017<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>2007<br>20     | R: D: 1000   | 2007/<br>2004<br>2004<br>20020<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>2007/<br>200/<br>200  | 2017<br>22070  
   | 2007. 1 2017.10-  | 4723 41076) 4107612 4107612 4107612 4107612 4107612 41076 41076 41076 41076 4107 4107 4107 4107 410 410 410 410 410 410 410 410 410 410  | 2017<br>244700   |
| Operations by (1.02 (60.3%) ▼)         Show □         preferences: □         network: ○         pression         ○         PUS [△] published. <ul> <li>PUBLISHED</li> <li>VD2714</li> <li>VD28 S0LUTIONS</li> <li>VD2714</li> <li>VD28 S0LUTIONS</li> <li>VD2714</li> <li>VD2704017013:024</li> <li>VD2704017013:024</li> <li>VD2704017013:024</li> <li>VD2704017013:024</li> <li>VD2704017013:024</li> <li>VD2704017013:024</li> <li>VD2704017013:024</li> <li>VD2704017013:024</li> <li>VD2704017013:024</li></ul>   
   
   | 0 HGT:           A FILE           A FILE           Im.17, 133           Im.17, 133           Image: State of the  
   | 108.02 ±0.010<br>0 TRNA12<br>0 TRNA12<br>0 TRNA12<br>0 TRNA12<br>0 TRNA12<br>0 TRNA12<br>0 0 TRNA12<br>0 0 TRNA12<br>0 0 TRNA12<br>0 0 TRNA12<br>0 0 TRNA12<br>0 0 TRNA12<br>0 TRNA12 | 10-38.33005 #C      10-38.33005 #C      173.000 #C      173.000 #C      173.000 #C      173.000 #C      100 #C       100 #C       100 #C       100 #C       100 #C       100 #C       100 #C       100 #C       100 #C       100 #C       100 #C       100 #C       100 #C       100 #C       100 #C       100 #C       100 #C       100 #C   | 002 m<br>003 m<br>0003 m<br>0002 m<br>1002 m<br>1000 m<br>100000 m<br>1000 m<br>1000 m<br>10000 m<br>1000 m<br>1000 m<br>1000 m<br>1000 m<br>1000 m<br>1 | 0.5  | 7. 20<br>1.0<br>7. 20<br>1.0<br>7. 20<br>1.0  
  | COM COM<br>COM COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM  | 2017.  | R: D:  | 2017-<br>2017-<br>2017-<br>2017-<br>2017-<br>CFF<br>CFF<br>CFF  
  | 10017000000000000000000000000000000000   | 2017. 2<br>2017. 2<br>2<br>2017. 2<br>2<br>2017. 2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2  | 4723 41076) 1971612 1971612 1971612 1971612 1971612 1971612 1971612 1971612 1971612 1971612 19716 1971 1971  | 2017.<br>244700  
   |
| a         PUBLISHED         NORTH I cm/         EAST (cm)         UP (cm)         REFERENCE FRAME         EPOCH (3P6);           JV7214         0.4 40.0         0.4 30.0         1.1 4.00         TITR2014         207-06-011013024           0         OPUS SOLUTIONS         NORTH (cm)         EAST (cm)         UP (cm)         REFERENCE FRAME         EPOCH (3P6);           fm-241n176         0.2 4.0 2         0.1 4.0         0.5 4.1 7         TITR2014         207-06-0170 (3-40);           fm-241n176         0.2 4.0 2         0.1 4.0         0.5 4.1 7         TITR2014         207-08-0170 (3-40);           fm-241n176         0.2 4.0 2         0.1 4.0 4         0.5 4.1 7         TITR2014         207-08-0170 (3-40);           fm-242n176         0.2 4.0 2         0.3 4.0 5         -0.3 4.0 2         TITR2014         207-08-0170 (3-40);   
   
   | 2 HGT:<br>A FILE A<br>FILE A<br>File A<br>A FILE A<br>Firan<br>fran<br>cortain<br>or point<br>fran<br>cortain<br>or point<br>fran<br>cortain<br>or point<br>fran<br>cortain<br>fran<br>cortain<br>fran<br>cortain<br>fran<br>fran<br>cortain<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran<br>fran  
  | VU0/2     VU0/2     108.02±0010     0     108.02±0010     0     108.02±0010     0     108.02±0010       | 10-38.33005 #C<br>73.000 #C<br>73.000 #C<br>800224.738 #C<br>80024.738 #C<br>80024.738 #C<br>80024.738 #C<br>80024.738 #C<br>80024.738 #C<br>800   
  | 002 m<br>003 m<br>0002 m<br>0000 m<br>00000 m<br>0000 m<br>0000 m<br>0000 m<br>0000 m<br>0000 m<br>0000 m<br>0000 m<br>0000 m  | 0.5  | 7. 22<br>7. | COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM   | VERGENCE:<br>T SCALE:<br>BINED FACTO<br>NUTRONAL COR<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.017<br>2007<br>2007<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>0<br>242<br>242  | R: D:  
   | 2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>GF  | 0017<br>0017<br>0018<br>0018<br>0018<br>0018<br>0018<br>0018   | 2017. 2<br>2017. 2<br>2<br>2017. 2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2   | 44723 44723 44723 44723 44723 44724 4472 44724 4472 447 447   
   | -1.4800569*<br>1.0000937<br>1.00009129<br>085ERVEF<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>ja |
| O OPUS SOLUTIONS         NORTH (cm)         EAST (cm)         UP (cm)         REFERENCE TRAME         EPGO1 (GPS)           fmx241m.17p         -0.26.02         0.14.04         0.54.17         TIRP2014         2017-08-0700 13-00           fmx241m.17p         -0.26.02         0.34.06         -0.94.02         TIRP2014         2017-08-0700 13-00           fmx241m.17p         0.26.02         0.34.06         -0.94.02         TIRP2014         2017-08-031002.3228   
   
   | D HGT:<br>A FILE<br>A FILE<br>Im.17,<br>120,17,<br>130,17,<br>130,17,<br>130,17,<br>130,17,<br>130,17,<br>130,17,<br>130,17,<br>130,17,<br>130,17,<br>130,17,<br>130,17,<br>100,17,10,17,17,17,17,17,17,17,17,17,17,17,17,17,   
  | VOU /:     VOU /  | 10-38.33005 ≠C     173.000 ±C     173.0000 ±C     173.000 ±C     173.000 ±C     173.000 ±C     173.000 ±C  | 002 m<br>003 m<br>0003 m<br>0002 m<br>0002 m<br>HEIGHT (m<br>2 2000<br>2 2000<br>Plots<br>Show [n prefer<br>2 2000<br>2 2000<br>1 2 2000<br>1  | 0.5           0.5  
   | 7, 20<br>1.0<br>7, 20<br>1.0<br>7, 20<br>1.0<br>1.0<br>2.0<br>2.0<br>2.0<br>2.0<br>2.0<br>2.0<br>2.0<br>2  | COM COM<br>COM COM<br>COM COM<br>COM COM<br>COM COM<br>COM COM<br>COM COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM<br>COM   | VERGENCE::     T SCALE:     BINED FACTO     NUMTIONAL CORE     1     0.014     0.014     0.014     0.014     0.017     2005     0.017     0.014     0.017     0.014     0.017     0.014     0.017     0.014     0.014     0.017     0.014     0.017     0.014     0.014     0.017     0.014     0.0  |
R:<br>DD:<br>1002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0.002<br>0 | 2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>2017.<br>GF  | 2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017   |
2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0  | 4723 410701 19716:12 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7   | 2017-<br>244700  |
| Image: No.1         OL.2         OL.1         ITREDUP         2017/48/3100/13/340           frank4n.176         0.0.±0.6         0.3±0.6         -0.9±0.3         ITRE2014         2017-08-31702:30.28           frank4n.176         0.0.±0.2         0.2±0.4         -0.9±0.3         ITRE2014         2017-08-31702:30.28  
   
   | D HGT:<br>A FILE<br>A FILE<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,177<br>130,17  
  | voor 2     voor   | 0:03.33005 #C<br>73.000 4:0<br>900294.73 #C<br>900294.73 #C<br>900294.73 #C<br>900294.73 #C<br>900294.73 #C<br>900294.73 #C<br>9002953.047 #C<br>9000 NONE<br>9000 NONE<br>90000 NO   | 0.002 m<br>0.003 m<br>0.003 m<br>0.003 m<br>0.002 m<br>0.000 m<br>0.002 m<br>0.0   | 0.5   
  | 7:70         20           7:70         20           8:00         0.00           8:00         0.00           8:00         0.00           8:00         0.00           8:00         0.00           9:00         0.00           9:00         0.00           9:00         0.00           9:00         0.00           9:00         0.00           9:00         0.00           9:00         0.00           9:00         0.00           9:00         0.00           1:0         0.00           1:0         0.00           1:0         0.00   | CCM COM<br>CCM COM<br>CCM<br>CCM COM<br>CCM CO  | VERGENCE:<br>T SCALE:<br>BINED FACTOR<br>NUMTIONAL CORE<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT<br>OUT  |  | 2017 GF   
  | 2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017   | 2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2010-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>2017-0-1<br>200 | 41723 410701 1071612 1071612 1071612 1071612 1071612 1071612 1071612 1071612 10717 1071 10717 1071 1071 1071 1071 1071 1071 1071 1071 107 107  |
-1.4800569*<br>1.00008172<br>1.00008172<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard    |
| TOTAL TOTAL CONTRACT CONTRACT  
   
   | > HGT:           A FILE           A FILE           111           120.177           120.17   
  | voor 2     voor   | -0.5 2017<br>73.000 4:01<br>73.000 4:01<br>73.000 4:01<br>73.000 4:01<br>73.000 4:01<br>800282.30 4:72<br>800282.30 4:72<br>100 (100 - 1   
  | 2003 m<br>2003 m<br>2003 m<br>2003 m<br>2003 m<br>2003 m<br>2003 m<br>2000 m   | W077:19-38,           100  | 7: 0 20<br>7:  | 02 m         COM           02 m         COM           03 m         COM           15 (%)         FIXED (%)           15 (%)         FIXED (%)           15 (%)         FIXED (%)           16 (%)         FIXED (%)           03 d         6.5           00 d         0.3           00 d         0.5           00 d         0.5           01 d         0.5           02 d         0.0           02 d         0.0           02 d         0.0           03 d         0.5           04 d         0.25           05 d         0.20           04 d         0.25           02 d         0.25           04 d         0.25           05 d         0.20           04 d         0.20           05 d         0.25           06 d         0.25           070 d         0.25           08 d         0.275   | VERGENCE:<br>T SCALE:<br>BINED FACTOR<br>NATIONAL CRIT<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.014<br>0.017<br>2025<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027<br>2027   | R:<br>D:<br>10:<br>10:<br>10:<br>10:<br>10:<br>10:<br>10:<br>10  
   | 2017:<br>2017:<br>2017:<br>2017:<br>2017:<br>CF<br>FPAME<br>14<br>14<br>14<br>14<br>14<br>14<br>14<br>14<br>14<br>14   | 2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>2017<br>5 Time   | 2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1<br>2017-10-1  | 4723 41076) 4107612 4107612 4107612 4107612 4107612 4107612 41076 410762 41076 410762 41076 410762 41076 41076 41076 41076 41076 41076 41076 41076 41076 41076 41076 4107 4107 4107 4107 4107 4107 4107 4107  
  | -1.4800856*<br>1.0000812<br>1.00008128<br>085ERVEF<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>jay.howard<br>ja |

Figure 6-10: User Mark web page

On the individual mark pages, the data files are also listed along with related information, and some information can be changed (e.g. a MarkID, antenna type, antenna height). Additionally, data files can be reassigned to another user mark if OP made the original assignment incorrectly. See Section 7.3 for more information.



Ultimately, OP arranges observation files according to coordinates, not names. If a file was incorrectly names, you can correct the mark name from the project mark's web page



Note that some changes on a mark page may be superseded once the corresponding mark's description file has been loaded into the project

Rarely, other information associated with a user mark, such as the state plane coordinate zone, may need to be changed. This can be done through the 'Manage Coordinates' control on the user mark page (Section 7.3).

This is also a good time for the project manager to verify that the appropriate user mark IDs are correctly assigned. If the GNSS data files followed the recommended file naming convention (Section 5.1, above), the user's mark IDs should be correctly assigned (recall that the four-character user mark ID are normally taken from the first four characters of the vendor proprietary file type or RINEX file uploaded through OPUS to your project). If inconsistencies are found, mark ID's such as a001, a002, etc. will appear. These are "placeholder" names automatically generated by OP. It is recommended to change these names to keep project nomenclature as consistent as possible with GNSS observation logs, datasheets and other files associated with the project. A mark's ID can be changed on its individual mark page See Section 7.3.4.

Once you have opened a MARK page, you can easily navigate among other user marks by using the pull-down menu at the top of each data display field.

Finally, although session processing can begin before all data for the session are uploaded, this is not recommended. Processing before all data are available may be prudent if errors or inconsistencies are found and cannot be otherwise rectified, but should be avoided otherwise.

Please always bear in mind that if a session is processed before all of its data are uploaded, it is almost certain that the session will need to be reprocessed after all data has been uploaded. The user has the option to delete individual sessions or overwrite the session by reprocessing using the same session name or reprocessing the session but changing the session name thus keeping both sessions.

# 7 Walking Through OP Visualizations

This section introduces the user to some of the major OP visualizations, accessible from the Manager's Page and Mark Page(s). Many of the web page characteristics are shared among the different pages, so they are only presented once to avoid repetition.

## 7.1 The Project Manager's Web Page



Figure 7-1: The Project Manager's web page

Elements numbered in the figure above are explained in the corresponding subsections below:

## 7.1.1 Notices

Notices about OP and, very rarely, a message specific to a project (no other project will see these specific messages) may appear at the top of the Manager's, Session and Marks web pages. An email link to the OPUS Projects Team will appear with any notices and messages so that follow-up questions can be asked if needed.

norr		AF	S:	ample	Project				
						Nati	onal Geodetic	Survey	
NGS Home	About NGS	Data & Imagery	Tools	Surveys	Science & Educatio	n			Search
NGS Produ	n ALL OPUS	een posted on OPU	S Projects I	nome page	- CLICK HERE for m	ore details			
Contro	IS MAF COF Bas	RKS: O meet p RS: @ meet p elines:	oreferences oreferences	S do no do no	ot meet preferences ot meet preferences	<ul> <li>are not included</li> <li>are not included</li> </ul>	8 have error		MARKS bell
Preferen	ces	an Satellit	) <b>(</b>	Marks	Marks&CORS -		12 3	F 7 0	

Figure 7-2: The Notices banner on the OPUS Projects Manager's Page

## 7.1.2 Results Selection Menu

Below the web page's banner (and any notices) is a pull down menu to select from a list of the solution results available. Broadly, there are three categories: network adjustment, session solutions, and OPUS solutions. As work in a project progresses, displaying all types of results simultaneously becomes confusing. This menu provides a simple "filter" to help emphasize the results of most interest.



Figure 7-3: Drop-down menu location for displaying results on the Manger's Page

## 7.1.3 Project Map

The Manager's, Session and Marks web pages are built around a Google Map Services<sup>™</sup> interactive map to help orient users within the project and its geographic region. As project members upload observation data to the project through OPUS, icons representing the user marks will appear on the map. CORSs used by OPUS during its processing of the project data will be added to the project at upload or can be added to the project later. Different icons are used to reflect a user mark's status in the project.



All marks observed are displayed on the map, as well as all CORSs used in the individual OPUS solutions. This does not mean that all marks were observed in all sessions, nor that all CORSs were available or are automatically selected in all sessions.

Within the map display to the upper-left, there are typical zoom controls (+/-) and controls to zoom specifically to the project's 'Marks' or 'Marks & CORS.'



Figure 7-4: Map zooming toggles

At the upper-left corner of the map you may set the map background as either Terrain (digital elevation model), Satellite (satellite imagery if available), or Map (towns, streets & highways). You also have the option to click and drag (pan) the map to view nearby areas.



Figure 7-5: Map background options

Holding the cursor over a user mark icon will cause the icon to lighten in color and the mark's ID to appear.



Figure 7-6: Mark ID shown by hovering over mark

Clicking a mark icon on the map (or under the **MARKS** list) will cause information about the data files associated with that user mark to appear in an information 'bubble.'



Figure 7-7: Mark data information shown when clicking on a user mark icon

The mark ID is given at the top of the information bubble. If the mark is a user mark (not a CORS), the ID acts as a convenience link to navigate to the summary web page of that mark. A table listing all of the uploaded data files for a particular user mark is also shown in the bubble. More than one file for a mark means data observed at the mark is in multiple sessions. Note that the antenna type and ARP height associated with each file are also shown for the record. The project team member who uploaded the files is assigned as the 'OBSERVER.' Their name is a convenience link to send them an email message.

Similarly, hovering the cursor over a CORS icon will create a bubble containing the four-character CORS ID, its Permanent Identifier (PID), and designation.

Clicking on the CORS icon on the map (or under the **CORS** list) will cause information about the CORS data to appear in an information 'bubble.' Data availability for each of the sessions identified in the project will be displayed under "**STATUS**." Additional information such as antenna type, antenna height, data file, etc. are also given in the table.



Figure 7-8: CORS ID shown when hovering over a CORS

DORR		X	5	Sample	e Pro	oject				
-								Na	ational Geode	tic Survey
NGS Home Ab	out NGS Da	ata & Imagery	Tools	Surveys	Science	e & Educatio	on			Search
Results From AL	L OPUS RESU	JLTS 🗸								
Controls	MARKS:	O meet pre	ferences	🛛 🔕 do not mee	et prefer	ences 🛞 a	re not inc	luded 🛞 I	have error	MARKS
? ← ?	CORS: Baselines:	meet pre	ferences	o 🙆 do not mee	et prefer	ences 🏾 📽 a	re not inc	luded	SEND	o bell
Preferences			owsen+	Marks M	arks&CO	RS -	- 11	Townsend	14 2 2 2 2	brun
Project List	Мар	Satellite	1.87	KOV. N		61.19	TT		0	Calv
Solutions	11.20	Ba	ltimore	695	8			Sm	nyrna	• e087
Add Project	SCX 2	0	95	2.		antotom	2			fran
	Col	lumbia (295)	TRA			lestertown	301 3	00	1	gorf
Show File	151	Gler	Burnie		5-39	50.5	1115	308	Dover	n102
Send Email	e 200	mar and the second seco	2		182	S:/	(313)		Camden	o pond
Upload Description	•			50	10	Centreville		10		tane
Upload	iesda.	495 Bowie							×	
Field Logs	pehington		STATUS	494; HURN PUIN	HEIGHT	DATA FILE		OBSERVER	gton Milford	
Refresh PID	ashington			LEIAX1202GG NONE	0.000 m	hnpt2410.170	daily	ngs.cors		
Cature	overdrie	Upper		LEIAX1202GG NONE	0.000 m	hnpt2420.17o	daily	ngs.cors	3.1	
Adjustment	exallulia	Manboli	۲	LEIAX1202GG NONE	0.000 m	hnpt2430.17o	daily	ngs.cors	112	Add MARKS
Upload		1 Acres	۲	LEIAX1202GG NONE	0.000 m	hnpt2620.17o	daily	ngs.cors	lle (13)	CORS
Project Report	1-05	C AL		LEIAX1202GG NONE	0.000 m	hnpt2630.17o	daily	ngs.cors	George	🌰 algo 🔶
Review and Submit to NGS	(210) Wald	orf	1	· · ·			121			ded2
Delete Project	174	5	Prince		Su o	hbridge			Laurel	dene
Delete rioject	La Plata	Nor 4	Frederick		Church	Creek	50			gode
	[301]		(264)		В	lackwater		1 2 Ca.	Delmar	Anpt
			(204)		L.	Wildlife			-130 m	🅙 york 🗸
	Google			Lusby Map data	©2021 Go	Refuge ogle 10 km L		Ferms of Use	Report a map error	Add/Del CORS

*Figure 7-9: CORS data information shown when clicking on the CORS icon* 

## 7.1.4 Controls Bar

Controls for common manager tasks appear on the left side of the map.



### 7.1.4.1 Help, Back and Refresh



Help ( ), Back ( ), and Refresh ( ) buttons appear at the top of the controls. The Help button is under development and may ultimately provide the same resource as this document. The Back "moves back" to the previous web page in the browser's history. Its action is identical to the browser's back control. The Refresh button forces the project to be scanned and the current page reloaded. Use this OP refresh button rather than the one for the browser.

### 7.1.4.2 Preferences



Figure 7-12: Preferences button on the Controls bar

The **Preferences** button enables access to preferences, described in Section 4.

### 7.1.4.3 Project List



Figure 7-13: Project List button on the Controls bar

The **Project List** button sends an email to the project manager listing all projects created under the manager's email address. The provided information includes project IDs, keywords, and titles. This can come in very handy for recovering lost or forgotten project information.

### 7.1.4.4 Solutions



Figure 7-14: Solutions button on the Controls bar

The **Solutions** button opens a new window enabling the manager to rename Session Solutions and Network Adjustments, as well as delete the solutions and adjustments (allowing them to be re-computed). More on Session Solutions in Section 10, and Network Adjustments in Section 11.

2 ()	Changes and Close
A SOLUTION identifier must: be unique within this project. be 1 to 30 characters in length. A SOLUTION Contain a	DN identifier <i>must not</i> . a forward- or backward-slash, e.g. "/" or "\". • be as simp
SESSION SOLUTIONS	
Rename as 2017-241-A	Confirm: A
Rename as 2017-242-A	Confirm: A
Rename as 2017-243-A	Confirm: A
Rename as 2017-262-A	Confirm: A
Rename as 2017-263-A	Confirm: A
NETWORK ADJUSTMENTS Website Owner: NOS Home • NGS Employees • Privacy Policy	National Geodetic Survey / Last modified by OPUS team Nov 23 20 • Disclaimer • USA.gov • Ready.gov • Site Map • Contact Webmaster

Figure 7-15: Manage Solutions pop-up window

### 7.1.4.5 Add Project Tracking ID



Figure 7-16: Add Tracking ID button on the Controls bar

Clicking on the **Add Project Tracking ID** button will open a separate window in which the user can input the NGS-provided Project Tracking ID (an outcome of submitting a <u>survey project proposal</u> to NGS). Recall that a Project Tracking ID unlocks the advanced features of OP.

At	tach NGS-supplied Project Tracking ID to "Sample Proj	ect"
The NGS proj enter a valid tracking ID w OPUS-Project NGS-supplied project tracking ID: Data code (if uncertain, leave as is):	Attach NGS project tracking ID oject tracking ID, data code, your organization's name and a project title are required to submit for publication project tracking ID, the organization name and project title from the project proposal used to request a project vill be used and cannot be changed. The special tracking ID, 0000 (four zeros), will unlock all the enhancement tes except submitting for publication. A A A	on. If you ject ents of
organization's	NATIONAL GEODETIC SURVEY	~
Project title:	Sample Project	
The organizati If your organiz	tions listed have contributed (or are expected to contribute) data or results extending the National Spatial Reference zation is not listed, contact the FGCS Blue Book team at the National Geodetic Survey to have a your organization Website Owner: National Geodetic Survey / Last modified by OPUS team	e System. n added. n Nov 23 2020
1	NOS Home • NGS Employees • Privacy Policy • Disclaimer • USA.gov • Ready.gov • Site Map • Contact Webmaster	

Figure 7-17: Attach NGS Project Tracking ID pop-up window

### 7.1.4.6 Show File



Figure 7-18: Show File button on the Controls bar

The **Show File** button reveals a pop-up window for displaying all available solution reports.

Sess	ion Solution 🗸 🛛 2	017-241-/	A 🗸 🛛 Pr	ocessing Report (.txt) V	w File
017-241-A.txt created: 2	2021-01-26 20:57 UT	download	led: 2021-	01-28 15:52 UTC	
NGS BET	A OPUS-Projects 2	10 SESSIO	N SOLUTI	DN REPORT	
All coordinate accur uncertainties from t geodesy.noaa.gov/OPU	acies reported he he solution. For S/Using_OPUS-Proje	re are 1x additional ects.html#	the form informa accuracy	al :ion:	
These positions were Geodetic Survey rega	computed without rding the equipmen	any knowl nt or fiel	edge by d operat	he National ing procedures used.	
SUBMITTED BY:	philip	e.hensel			
SOLUTION FILE NAME:	2017-24	1-A.sum			
SOLUTION SOFTWARE:	page5(2	2008.25)			
SOLUTION DATE:	2021-0	-26T15:56	:53 UTC		
STANDARD ERROR OF UN	IT WEIGHT: 0.635				
TOTAL NUMBER OF OBSE	RVATIONS: 100150				
TOTAL NUMBER OF MARK	S: 8				
CONSTRAINED MARKS:	1 HORI	CONTAL, 0	VERTICAL		
gode N39:01:18.18974	W076:49:36.57470	15.784m		IAD_83(2011) @ 2010.0000	
gode 0.12cm	0.12cm	0.12cm		IEU SIGMAS	
OVERALL RMS:	1.2 cm				
START TIME:	2017-0	3-29T00:00	:00 GPS		
STOP TIME:	2017-0	3-30T12:19	:30 GPS		
PROGRAM OPERATION:	FULL RU	JN	and the second		
FREQUENCY:	L1-ONL	TO ION-F	REE [BY	BASELINE LENGTH]	
OBSERVATION INTERVAL	: 30 s				
ELEVATION CUTOFF:	15 deg				
TROPO INTERVAL:	7200 s	[PIECEWIS	E LINEAR	PARAMETERIZATION]	
DD CORRELATIONS:	ON				

Figure 7- 19: Pop-up window showing a sample solution from a processed session

Standard pop-up window controls appear at the top, and the window offers a choice of available reports:

- Individual OPUS solutions
- Session processing results
- Network adjustment results

Below the controls is a header providing the report's name, its creation and download (current) times. Then the report is displayed. Some browsers offer a print option by rightclicking (right mouse button) anywhere in the report. All browsers should allow the report's text to be copied and pasted into another file using the method typical of the operating system.



The output file names available via the "Show Files" menu can be somewhat different from the output file names received by the project manager via email. A table cross-walking the file names is provided in Section 11.

### 7.1.4.7 Send Email



Figure 7-20: Send Email button on the Controls bar

**Send Email** displays a pop-up window with basic controls permitting the project member viewing this page to send emails to members of the project team, including herself or himself, or the OPUS Projects team.

"Sample Project" Email
Send Email
To: Me All Processors V All Field Members V OPUS Projects Team
Subject: "Sample Project"
Attach:       Session Solution > 2017-241-A >         Summary       Summary (XML)         Processing Log       SINEX         Serfil       G-File
Message:
Website Owner: National Geodetic Survey / Last modified by OPUS team Nov 23 2020
NOS Home • NGS Employees • Privacy Policy • Disclaimer • USA.gov • Ready.gov • Site Map • Contact Webmaster

Figure 7-21: Send Email Message pop-up window

Pop-up window controls appear across the top. Below these controls, the email's recipients can be selected from the project team (either Processors or All Field Members). "Field Members" are the email addresses associated with individual OPUS uploads to the project so there will always be email addresses under the "All Field Members" selection. A subject line can be added in the next text box. The emails can include available OP reports as attachments. These can be selected by using the controls next to the "Attach" box. Finally, there is an entry field for a short text message.

### 7.1.4.8 Upload Description



Figure 7-22: Upload Description button on the Controls bar

Clicking on the **Upload Description** button opens a pop-up window providing information on the types of description files needed (5 in all). The user is able to navigate to the corresponding files and upload them to the project from this window. Appendix A provides a tutorial for building description files.

Upload Mark 1	Description Files to "Sample Pro	oject"
? 🞝	Upload Description	×
Mark descriptions, coupled with photos and other things, the type of mark, any identifyin much of this, but should document the mark description of how to find the mark again. B post or tree, or something even more intere Mark Descriptions provides more informat	d rubbings, create a history of a mark over its lifetime. A descripting text or markings, its setting and how to find it again. A recover k's condition, any significant changes in its immediate surround Be it a familiar brass disk or rod, chiselled mark in rock, a cairn of esting, a good description by the last visitor can save the next a tion with a link to download <b>WinDesc</b> .	tion includes, among ery note can forego ings and in the of rocks, a witness lot of grief. <b>Help for</b>
WinDesc Geodetic Control Descriptive Dat	ta File (*.dsc): Choose File No file chosen	
WinDesc Proprietary Format Descriptive D	Pata File (*.des): Choose File No file chosen	N
WinDesc Check Output (*.err):	Choose File No file chosen	63
WinDesc Discrep Output (*.dis):	Choose File No file chosen	
WinDesc Neighbor Output (*.nbr):	Choose File No file chosen	
For publication:		
<ul> <li>Descriptions can only be created using V</li> </ul>	WinDesc.	
<ul> <li>All five files (dsc, des, dis, err and nbr) m</li> </ul>	nust be included.	
<ul> <li>Descriptions must exist for all new and re</li> </ul>	ecovered marks.	
<ul> <li>Descriptions for CORS included in the pr CORS in which case descriptions for the</li> </ul>	roject are optional <u>unless</u> you intend to supersede published va ose CORS must also be included.	lues for one or more
	Website Owner: National Geodetic Survey / Last modified by	OPUS team Nov 23 2020
NOS Home • NGS Employees • Priva	acy Policy • Disclaimer • USA.gov • Ready.gov • Site Map • Cont	act Webmaster

Note that description files are only required for user marks observed in the project. Formal descriptions for CORSs are not needed unless the user intends to supersede published values for a particular CORS. In that case, a new description file for that CORS will need to be created and uploaded.

### 7.1.4.9 Upload GNSS Observation Field Logs



Figure 7-24: Upload Field Logs button on the Controls bar

Click on the **Upload Field Logs** button to select and upload your PDF, Microsoft Word, or ASCII text files (optionally as a single zip file). Field logs do not modify anything within the actual project, but they are required for all occupations if submitting to NGS.

	Upload FieldLogs for "Sample Project"
? 🗘	Upload Field Log
	Browse Field Log Files: Choose File No file chosen
	Website Owner: National Geodetic Survey / Last modified by OPUS team Nov 23 2020
NOS Home • NGS	Employees • Privacy Policy • Disclaimer • USA.gov • Ready.gov • Site Map • Contact Webmaster

Figure 7-25: Choose Field Log to upload pop-up window

Please refer to the following links for a sample GNSS observation field log and visibility diagram:

GNSS observation field log: <u>https://www.ngs.noaa.gov/RSD/forms/obslog.pdf</u> GNSS visibility diagram: <u>https://www.ngs.noaa.gov/surveys/forms/visibility.pdf</u> Additional field forms and information: <u>https://www.ngs.noaa.gov/surveys/forms/</u>



Although there is no mechanism for you to see that your log files have been loaded, you will only get a response if there is a problem with the load.

### 7.1.4.10 Refresh PID Information



Figure 7-26: Refresh PID Information button on the Controls bar

Permanent Identifiers, or PIDs uniquely identify marks in the NGS database. Clicking the **Refresh PID Information** button will retrieve the latest information from NGS on user marks with PIDs whose descriptions have already been entered into OP. If the button is pressed but there are no PIDs associated with any user marks, an error message will be displayed. If there is any differing information between the NGS database and OP (e.g. updated coordinates), the new information will replace what is in OP. This is recommended prior to session processing, to make sure you have the latest (correct) information for the PIDs in your project.



Figure 7-27: Confirmation or Cancel PID Refresh



Refresh PID Information will only overwrite any original information loaded directly from the datasheets. It will not overwrite information supplied either by the user or OPUS.



If PID information has changed in the NGS database after the user has conducted session processing and/or adjustments, and the user then refreshed PID information, prior session processing and/or adjustments will disappear.

### 7.1.4.11 Set up Adjustment



Figure 7-28: Setup Adjustment button on the Controls bar

From the Manager's Page, the **Set up Adjustment** button will be active if at least one session in the project has already been processed (more on session processing in Section 10). Clicking on the **Set up Adjustment** button opens an adjustment processing window. If an NGS Project Tracking ID has been associated with the project, five consecutive adjustment steps are identified (without the Tracking ID, this part of the window is blank):

- 1) Preliminary
- 2) Horizontal free
- 3) Horizontal constrained
- 4) Vertical free
- 5) Vertical constrained

The procedures for running these adjustments are covered in Sections 11 and 12. Note that the adjustments are meant to be sequential, so not all adjustments are available at any given time.

			Perform Adjustme	ent	×
NGS survey pro	oject tracking ID : 00	00			
Preliminary	O Horiza	ontal free	Horizontal constrained	O Vertical free	O Vertical constrained
Adjustment Na	me (30 char max): fi	nal			
	Included Sol	lutions		Available	Solutions
			2017 2017 2017 2017 2017	-242-A -243-A -262-A -263-A	
			2017 2017 = 2017 2017	-242-A -243-A -262-A -263-A	
MARK	CONSTRAINT	HEIGHT (m)	LATITUDE (*	-242-A -243-A -262-A -263-A	(* ' ") REF. FRAME
MARK CORS	CONSTRAINT	HEIGHT (m) HEIGHT (m)	2017 2017 ⇒ 2017 2017 ⇒ 2017 20	-242-A -243-A -262-A -263-A '''') LONGITUDE '''') LONGITUDE	(* ' ") REF. FRAME (* ' ") REF. FRAME
MARK CORS Processing Pro	CONSTRAINT CONSTRAINT eferences	HEIGHT (m) HEIGHT (m)	2017 2017 ⇒ 2017 2017 ⇒ 2017 20	-242-A -243-A -262-A -263-A ''") LONGITUDE ''") LONGITUDE	(° ' ") REF. FRAME (° ' ") REF. FRAME
MARK CORS Processing Pro Output Ref Fran Output Reoid M	CONSTRAINT CONSTRAINT eferences ne: LET OPUS CH odel: LET OPUS CH	HEIGHT (m) HEIGHT (m) HOOSE V	LATITUDE (*	-242-A -243-A -262-A -263-A '''') LONGITUDE '''') LONGITUDE	(* ' ") REF. FRAME (* ' ") REF. FRAME

Figure 7-29: Setup Adjustment Type, Include Available Solutions pop-up window

### 7.1.4.12 Upload Project Report



Figure 7-30: Upload Project Report button on the Controls bar

The **Upload Project Report** button allows the user to load a completed Project Report into the project. The report will not modify anything in the project, but it is a required input for submission to NGS.

#### 7.1.4.13 Review and Submit to IDB



Figure 7-31: Review and Submit to NGS button on the Controls bar

The **Review and Submit to IDB** button runs a set of programs to ensure that all required files are present and that there are no structural errors with the data files to be submitted to NGS. Specifically, the user will be provided a checklist showing the status of all required adjustment steps and uploaded files, and which of these may be missing. The programs CHKOBS and OBSCHK are run, and the output provided (see Section 11 and the Glossary for more information).

### 7.1.4.14 Delete Project



Figure 7-32: Delete Project button on the Controls bar

Clicking the **Delete Project** button will initiate a three-step process that, if completed, will delete the project from your own manager list of projects. First a confirmation message appears:



Figure 7-33: Delete Project confirmation pop-up window

Cancel will immediately end this process without the project having been deleted.

**OK** will send an email to the project manager. If the email is ignored, the process is canceled without the project having been deleted. A reply to the email implies consent and the project is deleted. A confirmation email is sent to the project manager.

## 7.1.5 Marks and Sessions Table

The Marks and Sessions table at the lower left of the Manager's Page shows the list of user marks associated with GNSS observation files that have been loaded into the Project through OPUS (Section 5). The default display includes which marks were observed in each of the project's sessions ("Occupations" and "All OPUS Results"), and whether the observations met the minimum quality metrics as defined in the user preferences.

OP assigns session names as follows: "yyyy-ddd-X," where "yyyy" is the four-digit year, "ddd" is the three-digit GPS day of year, and "X" is the individual session within that day. By default, the first session is named "A." If there are multiple sessions in the same GPS day, the next session will be named "B," and so on.

Clicking on the Session ID will open the Session Page for that session.

Occupation From ALL SESSIONS									
MARKS	2017-241 A	2017-242 A	2017-243 A	2017-262 A	2017-263 A	MARKS			
bell		0	0			bell			
brun				$\bigcirc$	0	brun			
calv	0	0	0			calv			
e087		0	0	0	0	e087			
fran	0	0	0			fran			
gorf				0	0	gorf			
n102				0	0	n102			
pond		0	0			pond			
tane	0	0	0			tane			
algo						algo			
ded2						ded2			
dene						dene			
gode						gode			
hnpt						hnpt			
york						york			

Figure 7-34: MARKS and Sessions Table showing summary occupation data for all sessions

In addition, the user can select from a number of different displays, including "Solution Statistics," shown below:

Solution	n Statistics	~	Fron	ALL SE	SSION	s v	•				
Occupa	ation						_				
Antenna	a			S	olution	& Statist	ics				
ARP Height (m)			tions	solutions	Obs	Obs	AMB	North	East	Up	MARKS
Epheme	eris		be	count	Used	Used(%)	Fixed(%)	P2P(cm)	P2P(cm)	P2P(cm)	
Obs (%	)			2	35269	98.3	93.0	0.2	0.1	0.4	bell
Obs Us	ed			2	39592	98.6	95.0	0.3	0.2	0.6	brun
Fixed (	%)			3	48146	99.5	87.7	0.4	0.3	2.7	calv
RMS (c	m)			4	66472	93.7	92.8	0.7	0.7	1.4	e087
Lat Uncertainty (cm)				3	41384	99.4	96.7	0.3	1.0	1.4	fran
Lon Un	Lon Uncertainty (cm)			2	39025	98.4	96.5	0.0	0.2	0.8	gorf
EI HGT	Uncertainty	(cm)		2	38039	99.2	96.2	0.2	0.2	1.4	n102
Solution	n Statistics	N		2	35522	97.9	93.1	0.2	0.2	0.6	pond
tane	3	15	3	3	45092	99.2	91.4	1.7	0.4	0.5	tane
algo	5		5	5	104788	99.8	99.4	0.44	0.58	1.23	algo
ded2	4	6	4	4	86889	93.5	96.3	0.22	0.48	1.08	ded2
dene	5		5	5	99652	99.5	92.2	0.36	0.93	1.53	dene
gode	5		5	5	902012	98.1	96.0	0.06	0.1	0.02	gode
hnpt	5		5	5	111563	99.6	98.7	0.33	0.14	0.8	hnpt
vork	5		5	5	110579	98.7	99.0	0.28	0.34	1.01	vork

Figure 7-35: Solution Statistics for All Sessions Table that can be displayed on the Manager's Page

The user can also toggle between displaying the table for all OPUS solutions, all sessions, or adjustment results (once sessions have been processed or an adjustment has been made).

## 7.1.6 Color Coding Marks, CORS and Baselines

The Manager's Page shows all user marks included in the project (upper right-hand corner) as well as all of the CORSs. The icons relate to how the Quality Thresholds were met for user marks. Icons also identify which CORSs were available for each user mark's solutions. As more data are loaded into the project, more marks, CORS, and sessions will appear.



Figure 7-36: Symbology for distinguishing between user marks, CORSs, and baselines

The user marks are also listed in the OPUS output table below the map, showing the different sessions OPUS generated based on the Session Definition metrics set in the Preferences.

Note that a user mark may meet the Data & Solution Quality Thresholds () immediately based on the particular OPUS solution included in the project. A mark that initially did not meet the thresholds () may eventually meet them based on subsequent session or network processing. Similarly, a CORS may not meet the project preferences () but still be included and used in the project.

Once a session solution completes, the baselines defined in the processing appear on the map. Each session processed will automatically be assigned a **different color** (e.g. blue, yellow, orange, red). This provides the Manager with an intuitive view of multiple sessions presented on the map display. Similarly, after a network adjustment, the baselines defined in the constituent session solutions of that adjustment will be shown as solid color lines on the map.

## 7.1.7 MARK and CORS Lists

To the right of the map are lists of user marks and included CORSs.



Figure 7-37 Add Marks and Add/Delete CORS buttons on the Manger's Page

Using the "Add CORS" feature while on the Manager's Page assures that the CORSs selected will be used in every session

Below the CORS list, at the bottom right of the map, is the Add/Del CORS button. Clicking this button opens a new popup window with controls to add additional CORS to **all sessions** in the project.

The map appearing in the **Add/Del CORS** window is similar to the map on the Manager's Page. You may zoom in and out and drag the map to other areas. Notice the icons are color coded to reflect how long they have existed as a CORS. As you zoom in to the map notice that the sites that have been operational for shorter periods of time begin to appear. In stable areas of the country, the longer a CORS has been in operation, the better estimate of its velocity, and the greater the expectation that the CORS data will overlap with your project. Guidelines for selecting CORSs are presented in Section 9.


Figure 7-39: The Add/Del CORS management pop-up window

Move the cursor over the CORS icon to see the CORS ID. Clicking on the icon gives you the option (within the information bubble) to check the CORS site log as well as the data availability. You can also add that particular station to a list on the left side of the window. When you have completed adding CORS to that list, click the Add/Del Cors button at the top of the web page to populate the project with those additional stations.



If you add CORSs after a given session has been processed (see "Session Processing," Section 7.2, below), you will have to re-process that session again.

#### 7.1.8 Email the OPUS Projects Team

At the bottom of the Manager's, Session and Marks web pages, an email link to the OPUS Projects Team always appears providing a convenient method to ask questions or make comments. The project manager may receive more than one reply from NGS staff depending on the subject of the email.



Figure 7-40: Submitting Comments to & Asking Questions of the OPUS team

## 7.2 Sessions and Solutions Page

Session processing is the processing of two or more GNSS data files whose contents were collected with substantial time (observation) overlap to estimate the coordinates of the marks at which the data were collected with respect to one or more marks chosen to act as reference stations. For more explanation of session processing, see Section 10.

The project manager can access a session web page from the project Manager's Page by clicking on the Session ID (see 7.1.5, above). Other project members can access the session pages by entering the Project ID and Session Keyword as well as their email address in the OP gateway page:

Create a new project. Create RESTRICTED to trained project managers. If you have completed OPUS Projects training, you are registered and may create a new project. All others, see the Training Schedule.	
Configure, edit, and process individual network sessions. Project Identifier: Session Keyword Your Email: Privacy Act Statement	
Manage, edit, process, and publish the project.          Manage       Project Identifier:         Manager       Keyword:	

Figure 7-41: Restricted access to session processing

The Session Page looks very similar to the Manager's Page, except that there is less functionality in the controls on the left panel and the table on the lower left. The Map features remain essentially the same as in the Manager's Page.

	NORA		XI	12	-	Sa	mp	le P	roje	ct		
	9										National	Geodetic Survey
NGS Hom	e About	NGS	Data & Im	agery	Tools	s Su	irveys	Scier	nce & E	ducation		Search
Session :	2017-241-	AV Res	ults From	: OPUS	S Solut	tions 🗸	]					
Cont		MARKS: CORS: Baselines	○ me ⊛ me :	et prefere et prefere	ences	S do do	not mee not mee	t prefer t prefer	ences ences	are no are no	t included 8 have error t included	Calv
Manage Show Send	r's Page v File Email	Map	Sate	ellite	( <b>+</b>	Mark	iettysbur	arks&COI g	RS - Hanover		Shrewsbury	
Set Proce	up essing	and the second s			E C	Emmitsk (15)	ourg	town			and the second	10
		William	lagerstov sport	vn	Thur	mont		We	stminste	er,		
	gest	rille 2	Boon	Isboro	í \	0	9	200	97	YL?	Bel	Air 24
	irtin	sburg			Frede	erick		1	12	Owings	s Mills Towson	
	36.5	Ha Charles To	arpers Ferr	y 340	3 .			Ø		TO	Middle River	\$ <b>`</b> }
	1	Cildres 10		1	S.					23	<b>Baldinore G</b>	Add MARKS CORS
	rryv	ille	-0	Leesburg		(	Gaithers	burg			Glen Burnie	🙆 algo 🎯 dene
	1			As	hburn		22		C			🙆 gode 🙆 hnpt
	2			5				Wach	ington	3	450 Annapolis Ste Ken	vensvill 🙆 york t Island
	G	oogle		Ξÿ	Chanti	illy Fairf	Map dat	a ©2021 (	Boogle 1	0 km 📖	Terms of Use Report a ma	ap error Add/Del CORS
Solution (	Quality Indica	tors										
MARKS	ANTEN	INA	HEIGHT (m)	EPH TYPE	OBS (%)	FIXED (%)	RMS (m)	LAT (m)	LON (m)	HGT (m)		
calv 🔘	TRM41249.00	NONE	2.001	precise	96.0	97.0	0.014	0.002	0.004	0.003		
fran 🔾	TRM41249.00	NONE	2.000	precise	94.9	93.4	0.014	0.003	0.006	0.028		
tane 🔾	TRM41249.00	NONE	1.802	precise	94.2	95.4	0.014	0.011	0.014	0.016		
	PREFERE	NCES:		Available	≥80.0	≥80.0	≤0.025	≤0.020	≤0.020	≤0.040		
Data Avail 2017-08-2 2017-08-2	lability 9T12:00:00 G 9T00:00:00 G	PST to 201 PST to 201	17-08-30T	14:00:00 G	PST in	n 30 min me wind	ute cells lowing fo	r sessio	n 2017-2	41-A		
MARKS		20	17-08-29						20	17-08-30		
INARKS	12 13 14	15 16	17 18 1	19 20 2	1 22	23 00	01 02	2 03 0	4 05 0	06 07 0	8 09 10 11 12 13	
fran	000949	9988	99999	A 8 7 7	898	8989	899	8999	9999	9498	877899878A0	
tane O	0 <mark>8 A A 9 9</mark>	9888	s 9 9 9 9	A 8 7 7	898	8989	899	8 9 9 9	9999	9 A 9 8	8 7 7 8 9 0 0 0 0 0 0	
						BETAC	OPUS-Proj	ects 2.12	/ Website	Owner: Nati	ional Geodetic Survey / Last Mod	ified: OPUS team Nov 23 2020
		NOS Home	<ul> <li>NGS Em</li> </ul>	ployees • I	Privacy	Policy •	Disclaim	er • USA	.gov • R	teady.gov •	Site Map   Contact Webmaste	f



#### 7.2.1 Solution Quality Indicators

Below the map, near the bottom of the web page is a table listing selected solution quality values for all user marks in this session.

Soluti	ion	Quality Indicato	rs								
MAR	ĸs	ANTENN	A	HEIGHT (m)	EPH TYPE	OBS (%)	FIXED (%)	RMS (m)	LAT (m)	LON (m)	HGT (m)
calv	$\bigcirc$	TRM41249.00	NONE	2.001	precise	96.0	97.0	0.014	0.002	0.004	0.003
fran	$\bigcirc$	TRM41249.00	NONE	2.000	precise	94.9	93.4	0.014	0.003	0.006	0.028
tane	$\bigcirc$	TRM41249.00	NONE	1.802	precise	94.2	95.4	0.014	0.011	0.014	0.016
		PREFEREN	CES:		Best Available	≥80.0	≥80.0	≤0.025	≤0.020	≤0.020	≤0.040

Figure 7-43: Solution Quality Indicators

The values are checked against the project's solution quality thresholds. If a value does not meet its preference threshold it is highlighted using an orange background color and border. In addition, the mark's icon is changed to reflect this condition. The **Solution Quality Indicators** in the example above shows that the processing results for this session meet the project's preferences with green open-circle icons and no highlighted cells. In the example below, one occupation did not meet the quality threshold for percent ambiguities fixed (threshold was 80%):

Soluti	on (	Quality Indicato	rs							
MAF	ĸs	ANTENNA	HEIGHT (m)	EPH TYPE	OBS (%)	FIXED (%)	RMS (m)	LAT (m)	LON (m)	HGT (m)
arno	0	CHCX90D- OPUS NONE	2.000	precise	93.9	97.8	0.015	0.004	0.004	0.005
broa	0	CHCX90D- OPUS NONE	2.000	precise	89.7	91.1	0.016	0.003	0.001	0.002
cov1	0	CHCX90D- OPUS NONE	2.000	precise	94.2	91.0	0.015	0.001	0.004	0.004
crof	0	CHCX90D- OPUS NONE	1.800	precise	87.3	91.8	0.017	0.003	0.001	0.007
lex1	8	CHCX90D- OPUS NONE	2.000	precise	86.0	76.5	0.017	0.003	0.003	0.009
ros1	0	CHCX90D- OPUS NONE	2.000	precise	85.2	91.9	0.017	0.008	0.003	0.003
wald	0	CHCX90D- OPUS NONE	2.000	precise	83.8	95.4	0.018	0.003	0.000	0.010
		PREFERENCES	1	Best Available	≥80.0	≥80.0	≤0.025	≤0.020	≤0.020	≤0.040

Figure 7-44: Session solution quality indicators showing a threshold exceeded

#### 7.2.2 Data Availability

At the bottom of the web page is the **Data Availability** table creating timeline-style graphics indicating data availability for each user mark's data file in that session.

I	Data /	4vai	ilal	bilit	у																																									
2	2017-	08-2	291	12:	00:	00	GF	PS	Τt	io 2	0	17-0	08-	30	T1	4:	00:	00	GF	PS1	T ir	n 30	m	nu	te	ce	lls																			
2	2017-	08-2	291	00:	00:	00	GF	PS	Τt	o 2	01	17-	08-	30	T1	2:	19:	30	GF	PS1	Γti	me	wir	ndo	wi	ng	for	se	ssi	on	20	)17	-24	1-/	٩											_
	MAD	K C									20	17	-08	-2	9																		201	7-(	)8.4	30										
	WIAR	NЭ	1	2	13	1	4	1	5	16	;	17	1	8	1	9	20	) :	21	2	2	23	0	0	01	1	02	0	)3	04	1	05	0	6	07		08	0	9	10	0	11	1	2	1	3
	calv	0	0	0 (	9	А	9	9	9	8	3	8 9	9	9	9	A	8	7 7	8	9	8	8 9	8	9	8	9	9 8	8	9	9	9 9	9 9	9	9	A S	8	8	7	7	8	9	9 8	7	8	A	0
	fran	0	0	8	۸	9	9	9	9	9	3	8 9	9	9	9	A	8	7 7	8	9	8	8 9	8	9	8	9	9 8	9	9	9	9 9	9 9	9	9	A S	8	8	7	7	8	9	9 8	0	0	0	0
	tane	0	0	8	A	9	9	9	8	8	3	8 9	9	9	9	A	8	7 7	8	9	8	8 9	8	9	8	9	9 8	9	9	9	9 9	9 9	9	9	A S	8	8	7	7	8	9	0 0	0	0	0	0

Figure 7-45: Satellite Data Availability

Each cell represents a time span (its length indicated in the text above the table) and the number therein is the most common number of satellites (mode or modal value) for that span. If the number of satellites is greater than 9 (10, 11, 12, ...) the cell will contain the hexadecimal representation (A, B, C,...). The cells in the table are color-coded. White background with gray characters symbolizes less than four satellites were tracked, indicating processing during that time span is not possible. Yellow through dark green background with black characters symbolizes four or more satellites respectively. White cells with characters of the same yellow-to-green color scheme indicate observations were available during the times represented by those cells, but those data are not included in the session. This is less common and only occurs because of time-adjacent sessions when there is not a "clean" start/stop time between the sessions *or when the user excludes a mark from Session Processing.* In this case, the optimal division between the sessions can cause data from one session to be considered to be part of the other.

#### 7.2.3 Add Marks and CORS

The Add MARKS button functions the same way as on the Manager's Page. The Add/Del CORS button acts as before, but only affects *that* particular session, not the entire project. If the user wishes to add or remove a CORS from all sessions, that is best done on the Manager's Page (see 7.1).

#### 7.2.4 Set Up Processing



Figure 7-46: The Set up Processing button on the Session page Controls bar

Clicking the **Set up Processing** button on the Session page Controls bar allows the user to set up the session's processing parameters. Session processing creates baseline solutions between the hub and each of the selected CORS, as well as between the hub and the user marks. Session processing enables the user to ensure that the project has the correct data for a successful set of network solutions (Section 11). For more information on Session Processing, see Section 10.

## 7.3 Mark Pages

Descriptions, photographs, occupation information (i.e. metadata) and processing results for individual user marks appear on dedicated web pages for those marks.

A project manager can navigate to these mark pages using the links provided in the **Sessions & Solutions** table; others can navigate to these pages using the links in the **Solution Quality Indicators** table or the **Data Availability** table. These tables always appear directly under the map on their respective web pages. In all cases, the mark IDs that serve as row labels in these tables are links to the corresponding user mark web page. Project members can also navigate to individual user mark web pages using the mark ID in the pop-up bubbles that appear when a mark icon on a map is clicked:



Figure 7-47: Accessing a mark page from the Manager's Page

The mark page has several sections and controls specific to each section. Furthermore, additional controls appear (or are enabled) if a mark's web page is accessed by the project manager.

DORA		6	Sar	mple Projec	t			
						Nationa	I Geodeti	c Survey
			-					e eurrey
GS Home	About NGS Data & Ima	gery Tools	Sur	veys Science & Edu	cation			Search
Controls	MARK fran 🗸			Pro	ject Marks	, 🔮 Project CORS	Publish	hed Marks,
? ←	C)		This	Mark All Marks Mark	s&CORS ·	-]		
– Manager's F	Page Map Sat	ellite						::
Show File	e							
Send Ema	ail			8				
Change Mar	rk ID							
Remove M	ark							
	Google			Man da	ta ©2021 2	m Terms	of Use Repo	ort a man error
				map da	18 02021 2	Terms	огозе перс	a map ento
MARK fran	<ul> <li>Description Summar</li> </ul>	y				Upload A Photo	Save I	Description
Description						C	lose-up of r	nark
PID	JV7214 This is a Height	Modernization :	Survey S	tation.				2218
stamping*	FRANKS 1993							100
designation*	FRANKS						A.	
type*	D = Disk							
	DD = Survey disk (othe:	agency)						1 1 C
setting*	7 = Set in top of conc:	cete monumen	t				CHIZE .	1/10
	specific setting no valu	1e					ark from ou	a laval
description* 23 chars (500 chars max)	RECOVERED AS DESCRIB	ED.						C-ICVCI
ada bilida a	C = May hold componing	subject to	around	workament.		/	orizon View	
stability	- may note, commonly	subject to	ground	movemento				a second
application	no selection							
application	Decovered in most cond	tion						
* required field	Recovered in good cond:							
required nelo	19							
MARK fran	Occupations					Manage Data Files	Save C	ccupations
DATA FILE	SPAN	HARDW	ARE			(		[a. a
fran241m.17o	Start 2017-08-29112:24:30 G	PS Antenna	Model:	TRM41249.00 NONE	✓ S/N:	60120878	Height (m):	2.000
	End 2017-08-30T12:13:30 G	PS Receiver	Model:	TRIMBLE R7	S/N:	0220375172	Firmware:	2.32
A CARLON MARK	Sample Popiet       National Geodetic Survey         Store       About NGS       Data & Imagery       Tots       Survey       Science & Education       Science / Education       Science / Education         Controle <ul> <li>Mag</li> <li>Stellite</li> <li>This Mark</li> <li>All Marks</li> <li>Markadocores</li> <li>Mag</li> <li>Stellite</li> <li>This Mark</li> <li>Markadocores</li> <li>Markadocores</li></ul>							

Figure 7-48: Example mark page



If submitting your project to NGS for publication, make sure the Mark Occupation Table is complete.

#### 7.3.1 Map of the User Mark Area

The map in the mark page is similar to the maps seen in the other OP web pages. The default zoom level of the map is very limited to the area near the mark. Zooming out a few levels will show the mark in the context of its surroundings. A slight difference is that the legend allows the user to toggle among the different mark pages. It also allows different elements (and spatial scales) to be viewed, including just the mark itself (**"This Mark"**), all user marks (**"All Marks"**), or all marks including the selected CORSs (**"Marks&CORS"**):



Figure 7-49: Mark page toggling from the map

Toggle among the different user mark web pages.

	_						
<b>MARK</b> fr	an 🗸				Project Marks,	Project CORS	Published Marks,
Мар	Satellite	+	This Mark	All Marks	Marks&CORS -		::



Select desired auto-zoom level or manually zoom in or out.

Four types of marks may appear on the map:

Indicates the location of the mark.

Indicates the locations of other marks in this project. (Initially, the map shows only a small area so other marks in the project may not appear until the map is shifted or "zoomed out.")



Identifies CORS used in the project.

Identifies nearby marks for which NSRS information exists in the NGS database, though not necessarily part of the project, but are shown because they help form the reference frame like the CORS.

A user mark which has a PID in the NGS database.

Clicking on one of these mark icons reveals a pop-up window displaying the mark's datasheet. Recall that a PID can be associated with a user mark when its data files were uploaded, when its description file is loaded, or by using the controls on the project's mark web page.

#### 7.3.2 Standard Datasheet Pop-up Window

Clicking on the icon for a mark with a triangle on the map opens the mark's datasheet in a separate window.



Figure 7-51: Datasheet Retrieval by way of a user mark with a PID in the NG database

The banner for this window provides the mark's **Permanent Identifier** or **PID** in the title (JV7214 in the title "Datasheet for JV7214" in the example above). Typical pop-up window controls are located just below the banner: '**Help'** and '**Refresh'** buttons on the left; a '**Close'** button on the right. Below the controls, the datasheet is given.

**Use Description** applies information from the datasheet to the description elements for this user mark. In other words, the published description can be applied to this mark, but it will not supplant/replace information previously entered at upload or by the project manager.

**Use Coordinates** allows the user to change the **a priori coordinates** for this user mark with the record mark's (published) datasheet coordinates. For more information on a priori coordinates see the Glossary.



If a user uploads a published mark's description file, which would include the official coordinates for the mark as published on the NGS datasheet, the a priori coordinates would also change to the published coordinates.



Caution! Changing the a priori coordinates for a project mark invalidates all existing project processing for that mark. For this reason, it is recommended to "use coordinates" or upload description files prior to any session processing and network adjustments.

**Use Description & Coordinates** is a simple convenience activating both of the other controls simultaneously.

#### 7.3.3 Controls

The web page's controls appear to the left of the map. Standard controls are always available, but additional controls are provided for the project manager (see 6.1, above).

The **Help**, **Back**, and **Refresh** buttons provide the same features as in other pages. The **Manager's Page** button returns to the Manager's Page. The **Show File** button operates in the same way as in the Manager's Page. It opens a pop-up window for displaying solution reports. As before, the availability of reports depends on the level of processing completed.



Figure 7-52: Show File button on the mark page Controls bar

		"San	nple Proj	ect''	
2 73	OPUS So	lution 🗸	fran 🗸 🛛 fran	241m.170 ✔ Show File	
network-final.tx	t created: 2021-04	-15 21:09 UT	C downloaded: 2	021-05-18 14:24 UTC	<b>_</b>
N	IGS BETA OPUS-Pr	ojects 2.12	NETWORK ADJUS	TMENT REPORT	
-					
All coordinat	e accuracies re from the solut	ported here ion. For ad	are 1x the fo ditional infor	rmal mation:	
geodesy.noaa	gov/OPUS/Using_	OPUS-Projec	ts.html#accura	cy	
These positio	ons were compute	d without a	ny knowledge b	y the National	
Geodetic Surv	vey regarding th	ne equipment	or field oper	ating procedures used.	
SUBMITTED BY:	1	philippe	.hensel		
SOLUTION FILE	: NAME: [WARE:	network- GPSCOM(2	final.sum 2008.25)		
SOLUTION DATE	:	2021-04-	15T17:09:10 UT	c	
TOTAL NUMBER	OF OBSERVATIONS	11: 0.749 5: 902012			
TOTAL NUMBER	OF MARKS:	15			
gode N39:01:1	18.18974 W076:49	1 HORIZO 36.57470	15.784m	NAD_83(2011) @ 2010.000	0
gode	0.12cm	0.12cm	0.12cm	NEU SIGMAS	
START TIME:		2017-08-	29T00:00:00 GP	5	
STOP TIME: FREQUENCY:		2017-09- L1-ONLY	21T23:59:30 GP TO ION-FREE [B	S Y BASELINE LENGTH]	
OBSERVATION 1	INTERVAL:	30 s	-		
TROPO INTERVA	AL:	7200 s [	PIECEWISE LINE	AR PARAMETERIZATION]	
DD CORRELATIO	NS:	ON			
INCLUDED	SOLUTION	RMS	SOFTWARE	RUN DATE	
1) 2017-241	Α	1.2 cm	page5(2008.25	) 2021-04-12T16:21 UTC	
2) 2017-242	A	1.3 cm	page5(2008.25	) 2021-04-09T14:51 UTC	
<ol> <li>3) 2017-243</li> <li>4) 2017-262</li> </ol>	А Δ	1.4 cm	page5(2008.25 page5(2008.25	) 2021-04-09T14:52 UTC ) 2021-04-09T14:52 UTC	
5) 2017-263	A	1.2 cm	page5(2008.25	) 2021-04-09T14:52 UTC	
BASELINE	LENGTH	RMS	OBS OMITTE	D FIXED IN SOLUTION(S)	
calv-gode	9.722 km	1.2 cm	48146 0.5	% 87.7% 1, 2, 3	
gorf-gode	22.726 km	1.1 cm	39025 1.6	% 96.5% 4, 5	
n102-gode	35./12 Km 44.833 km	1.2 cm	38039 0.9 66472 6.7	6 96.2% 4,5 K 92.8% 23.45	
bell-gode	60.175 km	1.4 cm	35269 1.7	6 93.0% 2, 3	
fran-gode	68.352 km	1.3 cm	41384 0.6	% 96.7% 1, 2, 3	+
•					•

Figure 7-53: OPUS Solution Report for a user mark

Some browsers offer a print option by right-clicking (right mouse button) anywhere in the report. All browsers should allow the report's text to be copied and pasted into another file using the method typical of the operating system.

#### 7.3.4 Change Mark ID



Figure 7-54: The Change Mark ID button on the Mark page Controls panel

The **Change Mark ID** button opens a pop-up window with controls to change this mark's four-character ID. Typical pop-up window controls appear across the top of the window. Below those controls are the rules for a mark ID, then two entry fields: an entry and confirmation field. When the new mark ID field is changed, the confirmation field is enabled (no longer grayed out). To 'Apply Change and Close,' the input and confirmation IDs must match.

In the example below, OP did not find a unique mark ID in the first four characters of the corresponding RINEX file (nor did it find another mark already loaded in the project that lies within the mark co-location preference), so it automatically assigned "a001" as the mark ID. The user may want to use the "Change MARK ID" capability to force OP to use the correct mark ID (in this case, "fran").



Figure 7-55: Change Mark ID pop-up window

#### 7.3.5 Remove Mark



Figure 7-56: The Remove Mark button on the Mark page Controls bar

The "Remove Mark" button will display a message requesting confirmation before removing the mark. If confirmed, the mark, its data files, all processing solutions and network adjustments that include the mark will be removed from the project and the updated Manager's Page will be displayed.

A user may want to remove a mark from a project for a variety of reasons:

- A wrong observation file (e.g. from another project) was loaded to the current project by mistake
- The wrong mark was observed by the field crew
- Only one observation exists for a mark in the project, so there is no redundancy ("no check" solution). If the project is designed to be submitted to NGS, at least two independent observations are required.
- Solution thresholds consistently bad for that mark

Avoid the temptation to remove a mark if its initial OPUS solution does not meet all Data & Solution Quality Thresholds. Reprocessing the data in Session Solutions can sometimes result in meeting the thresholds. Rather than removing a mark, a session can also be reprocessed by excluding the mark (or excluding the particular data file), thereby easily preserving the option of re-including it if needed.

ngs.noaa.gov says		
This will physically remove C solutions that included thos	CALV, its data and any e data from this project.	
Please confirm that you wan	t to remove CALV?	
	ок	Cancel

Figure 7-57: Confirmation pop-up window for removing a mark from the project

#### 7.3.6 Mark Description Summary

This part of the window displays descriptive information associated with the mark (Figure 7-56).

This information can be added or changed by the user, unless a description file has been loaded into the project (in which case these fields cannot be modified). It can also be updated with descriptive information from NGS datasheets if the mark has a PID, and the user selected to "Use Description" from the datasheet pop-up window (see 7.3.2, above). However, any descriptive information previously entered by the user will not be overwritten. Note that if a field is editable, any entry by the user replaces whatever OP had there before. The hierarchy used by OP is as follows: Description File>User Input>Datasheets>Descriptive info added after data upload>Nothing (Blank).

MARK fran	Description Summary	Upload A Photo	Save Description
Description		Close	-up of mark
PID	JV7214 This is a Height Modernization Survey Station.	lman	e Available No Image At
stamping*	FRANKS 1993	thie	No Image Available No
designation*	FRANKS	4m ag	e Available. No Image Av
type*	D = Disk	tmag	e Available No Image Av
	DD = Survey disk (other agency)	the.	No image Available No
setting*	7 = Set in top of concrete monument	imag	e Available No Image Av No Image Available No
	specific setting no value	Mark	from eve level
description* 23 chars (500 chars max)	RECOVERED AS DESCRIBED.	bite Imag bite Imag bite Imag bite Horiz bite	No tinage Available No e Available No Image Av no Image Available No e Available No Image Av No Image Available No e Available No Image Av No Image Available No on View No Image Available No e Available No Image Av
stability	C = May hold, commonly subject to ground movement	able	No Image Available No
magnetic	no selection	able	No Image Available No
application	no selection	timag	e Available No Image As
condition	Recovered in good condition	ible	No Image Available No a Available No Image Av
* required field	ls	the	No Image Available No

*Figure 7-58: Mark Description Summary* 

The list of identifying descriptors on the left column of the table refer to specific data fields within a description file (Appendix A). They are briefly explained below:

- PID: Permanent Identifier assigned when new project marks are observed and their data submitted to NGS.
- stamping: Typically this is the name assigned to the mark that the original mark-setter struck into the disk (brass or aluminum cap) when the mark was set and/or reset.
- **designation**: The name assigned to the mark, unique for the area and usually descriptive of the mark stamping or location.
- type: A physical description of the type of survey monument (e.g. a disk).
- setting: The structure to which a mark is affixed. There is a specific setting optional field to add comments about the setting.
- **description**: (for new project marks) A written statement giving distances and directions (swing ties) to local features (posts, trees, building corners, street centerlines, etc.) along with any other salient features (recommended approach, hazards, etc.). This will help future surveyors recover and assess the suitability of the mark for use in their project. The description may be updated.

stability: An estimate of the long-term stability of the mark.

magnetic: This field specifies any magnetic material in or alongside the setting to aid in mark recovery.

application: This is used to identify marks for specific special applications (e.g. tidal bench marks).

condition: A basic estimate of the mark's condition.

#### 7.3.7 Upload a Photo

Clicking on the Upload a Photo button on the right of the mark description summary opens a "Manage Photos for MARK [4-char ID]" window:



Figure 7-59: Upload A Photo button within the mark description summary

? 🖏	Upload Files	X
Close-up of mark:	Choose File No file chosen	
Mark from eye-level:	Choose File No file chosen	
Horizon View:	Choose File No file chosen	

*Figure 7-60: Upload photos pop-up window* 

The window allows the user to upload one each of three different photos: the closeup photo of the mark itself; an eye-level view of the mark in its setting; and a horizon view showing where the mark is located with respect to surrounding points of reference. Photos should adhere to the <u>NGS Photo Submission Guidelines</u>. There is no bulk-upload method available at this time, so all photos will need to be uploaded individually.

Once loaded, the photos will be displayed in the Mark Description Summary:

WARN Tran		Upload A Photo Save Description	
Description		Close-up of mark	
PID	JV7214 This is a Height Modernization Survey Station.		
stamping*	FRANKS 1993		-
designation*	FRANKS		
type*	D = Disk	No. 1	
	DD = Survey disk (other agency)		
setting*	7 = Set in top of concrete monument		
	specific setting no value	Mark from evelevel	
description* 23 chars (500 chars max)	RECOVERED AS DESCRIBED.	Horizon View	
stability	C = May hold, commonly subject to ground movement		
magnetic	no selection	and the second se	
application	no selection		
condition	Recovered in good condition		
* required field	ls		

Figure 7- 61: Example showing successfully loaded photos on a mark page

#### 7.3.8 Save Description

This button saves any changes made to the mark description summary, but only within OP. Any changes saved here will not affect the uploaded WinDesc description files.



Figure 7-62: Save Description button within the mark description summary

#### 7.3.9 Mark Occupations

This table provides critically important information on the GNSS data associated with the mark. This table needs to be reviewed carefully to ensure that the correct data are associated, such as RINEX files, dates and start/stop times for each occupation, antenna type, antenna serial number, and antenna heights (refer to field logs to confirm).

The antenna type, antenna serial number, and antenna height are all editable in the table. To change the observation file associated with the mark (which may change the data span), click on the "Manage Data Files" button (7.3.10, below).

MARK [fran V Occupations Manage Data Files									Save Occupations	
DATA FILE	SPA	N	HARDW	VARE						
fran244m 47a	Start	2017-08-29T12:24:30 GPS	Antenna	Model:	TRM41249.00 NONE 🗸	S/N	: 60120878	Height (m):	2.000	
iran24 im. 170	End	2017-08-30T12:13:30 GPS	Receiver	Model:	TRIMBLE R7	S/N	: 0220375172	Firmware:	2.32	
fran242n 47n	Start	2017-08-30T13:28:30 GPS	Antenna	Model:	TRM41249.00 NONE 🗸	S/N	: 60120878	Height (m):	2.000	
Iran2420.170	End	2017-08-31T15:35:30 GPS	Receiver	Model:	TRIMBLE R7	S/N	: 0220375172	Firmware:	2.32	
fran242n 47n	Start	2017-08-31T16:00:00 GPS	Antenna	Model:	TRM41249.00 NONE 🗸	S/N	: 60120878	Height (m):	2.000	
Iran243q.170	End	2017-09-01T10:24:30 GPS	Receiver	Model:	TRIMBLE R7	S/N	: 0220375172	Firmware:	2.32	

Figure 7-63: Occupation information on a mark page

#### 7.3.10 Manage Data Files

Clicking on the "Manage Data Files" button opens a pop-up window where the user can either remove an observation (RINEX file) or associate a given RINEX file with another mark:

	Manage Data Files	Save Occupations
✓ S/I	N: 60120878	Height (m): 2.000
S/I	N: 0220375172	Firmware: 2.32

Figure 7-64: Manage Data Files button on the mark occupations table



Figure 7-65: Manage a mark's data file pop-up window

#### 7.3.11 Save Occupations

To save any changes made to the Mark Occupation table, click on the "Save Occupations" button.

	Manage Data Files	Save Occupations							
✓ S/	N: 60120878	Height (m): 2.000							
S/	N: 0220375172	Firmware: 2.32							

Figure 7-66: Save Occupations button on the mark occupations table

#### 7.3.12 Manage Coordinates

Clicking on the "Manage Coordinates" button opens a pop-up window where the coordinates, reference frame, and datum associated with the mark are displayed.

MARK fran network-final	Processing Results Fr	om	<b>v</b>	Ma	nage Coordinates					
Scale uncertainties by 1.0x (68.3%) 🗸										
Coordinate S	ource: network-final									
REF FRAME:	ITRF2014 (2017.6636)	NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000)	COORDINATE SYSTEM:	SPC 1900 MD	UTM 18					
LAT:	N39:29:55.92729 ±0.001 m	N39:29:55.89589 ±0.001 m	NORTHING:	203438.809 sft	4374723.879 m					
EAST LON:	E282:40:21.66034 ±0.001 m	E282:40:21.68284 ±0.001 m	EASTING:	371846.270 sft	299886.263 m					
WEST LON:	W077:19:38.33966 ±0.001 m	W077:19:38.31716 ±0.001 m	CONVERGENCE:	-0.20543056°	-1.48080556°					
EL HGT:	73.964 ±0.001 m	75.232 ±0.001 m	POINT SCALE:	1.00000891	1.00009307					
X:	1081185.1767 ±0.001 m	1081186.051 ±0.001 m	COMBINED FACTOR:	0.99999711	1.00008127					
Y:	-4808284.7201 ±0.001 m	-4808286.158 ±0.001 m	U.S. NATIONAL GRID:	18STJ9988674723						
Z:	4035253.6456 ±0.001 m	4035253.705 ±0.001 m								
ORTHO HGT:	108.003 ±0.0163 m (H = h - N W	HERE N = GEOID18 HGT)								

Figure 7-67: Manage Coordinates button on the mark processing results table

Manage Coordinates for MARK fran										
Соо	Coordinates									
? 🖏	<u>_</u>	Apply Changes	Sigmas	×						
REF FRAME (EPOCH):	NAD_83(2011) (2010.000	10) 🗸								
ELLIP HGT (m):	75.264	± 0.0027	m							
LATITUDE (N/S ° ' "):	N39:29:55.89605	± 0.0021	m							
LONGITUDE (E/W ° ' "):	W077:19:38.31730	± 0.0016	m							
ORTHO HGT (m):	108.02 Third V Order N/A V	SOURCE: NAVD	88 🗸							
Geoid Model:	Use Project Preference (L	ET OPUS CHOOSE)	~							
SPCS Zone:	1900 MD		~							
SPCS Units:	usft (U.S. survey foot)	~								
		Website Owner: Nationa	al Geodetic Survey / Last modified by (	OPUS team Nov 23 2020						
NOS Home • N	GS Employees • Privacy Policy •	Disclaimer • USA.gov •	Ready.gov • Site Map • Contact W	/ebmaster						

Figure 7-68: Manage a mark's coordinate pop-up window showing coordinates, reference frame, and assumed errors (sigmas)

If the mark description has been imported from NGS datasheets (7.3.2, above), the coordinates will reflect official published values. Otherwise, the information will come from the first OPUS solution computed for that mark (details in Glossary under "**a priori**" entry). The data displayed in this window is important as it will be used in subsequent session processing and network adjustments. Not only are the coordinates important, but also the assumed errors (called "**sigmas**," to the right of the "±" sign), as well as the reference frames and

datums. If any changes are made, make sure to click on the Apply Changes button.

If the project lies outside the NSRS, the Manage Coordinates window is especially useful to make sure a priori coordinates correspond to their known/published values.

The Manage Coordinates tool is only available to user marks, not CORSs

## 8 Mark Descriptions

Once all the GNSS observation files are successfully loaded into the project, all of the survey marks which were observed as part of the project are now part of the project. The user may want to import mark descriptive information from the datasheets via the individual mark pages as described above in Section 7. However, if the user wishes to submit the project to NGS, a separate description file must be generated outside of OP, and then loaded into the project. For submitting a project to NGS, it is recommended to load the description files <u>prior</u> to any session processing. Now is a good time to do this. See Appendix A for guidance on creating WinDesc description files.



Figure 8-1: WinDesc program main screen

# 9 Selecting CORSs

Typically over 99% of ionospheric delays GNSS signals experience can be removed by using multi-frequency GNSS signals. Post-processing GNSS data using simultaneous observations at known control points (CORSs) removes additional atmospheric influence including tropospheric delays. Selecting the best CORSs for session processing and network adjustments is one of the most critical steps in ensuring a successful outcome, including submission of the project to NGS. Selecting high-quality CORSs is important, because the CORSs in your project will ultimately serve as the control for referencing your survey to the NSRS. Your OP project will have a number of stations already selected, based on the choices OPUS has made in post-processing each individual GNSS observation file (see <u>How Does OPUS Processing Work?</u>). However, the choices made through individual OPUS solutions are rarely the best choices for the entire project. This section steps you through a recommended selection process. Of course, you can develop your own processes for selecting CORSs. The most important takeaway from this section of the manual is to analyze the CORSs to determine the best set for your project.

## 9.1 Adding or Deleting CORSs

CORSs (including IGS stations) can be added or removed from either the Manager's Page or the Session Page.

Adding or Deleting a CORS from a Session Page will only add/delete the CORS for that session. Adding or deleting a CORS from the Manager's Page will add/delete the CORS to ALL sessions



Figure 9-1: Add/Delete CORS button on the project map

Clicking on the Add/Del CORS button opens a new window in which CORSs can be added or removed from the project:



Figure 9-2: Add/Delete CORS pop-up window

The CORSs are displayed according to the legend, which distinguishes the stations based on their cumulative time series. The map is sensitive to the scale: at a small scale, only those CORSs already selected by OPUS to be in the project, and those CORSs with more than 7 years of data are visible. These are the stations that are typically viewed as "candidate" CORSs for your project. As you zoom in (using the +/- toggles on the map, or the wheel of your mouse), CORSs with shorter time series will appear. These are to be used with caution, according to the legend.

The longer a CORS has been in operation, the greater the likelihood of the relative stability of its coordinates compared to younger stations, except in areas of known land movement, where age may track discrete coordinate shifts

Clicking on a CORS will provide additional information, including the four-character ID, cumulative time series, and links to the site log and data availability. The link to the data availability is particularly handy for determining if the CORS has data available for processing during the entire survey project.



Figure 9-3: CORS information bubble on the Add/Delete CORS window

The user can click the "add" or "delete" button in the window for the CORS you have selected. Alternatively, the user can type the four-character ID into the list for CORSs to be added or deleted. The graphic map interface can be used to help select the CORSs that will eventually be used for controlling the GNSS project

## 9.2 Selecting Appropriate CORSs for Successful Processing in OP

The following steps will ensure a set of the highest-quality CORS to control your GNSS project. This is especially important if your results are to be submitted to NGS:

#### 9.2.1 Candidate CORSs

Tabulate a list of approximately 6 to 15 "candidate" CORSs for potential use as control in the GNSS survey project. Typically, you should start with the CORSs that get automatically added to your project when you load GNSS observation files through the OPUS file upload portal. These are found on the Manager's Page, to the lower right of the Project Map:



Figure 9-4: List of all CORS included in the project as seen on the Manager's Page

It is also good practice to identify these candidates prior to the survey campaign. This can be done by entering the location of the centroid of your project on the <u>CORS map</u>. The map will automatically draw a 250 km radius around your identified location (city, ST or lat, long) and list the (up to 20) CORSs found within the circle:



Figure 9-5: Map of CORS stations on the CORS web page, showing a 250 km radius around a selected location

Planning and studying the CORSs prior to the survey will prevent the blind belief that particular stations are functioning properly or operational during the survey (which unfortunately is not always reality). Your regional geodetic advisor is also a great resource to help you select appropriate CORSs for your project.

# To help in the selection of CORSs, it may be useful to construct a spreadsheet to track the important characteristics of each CORS you are considering

It may be helpful to create a spreadsheet to track some of the important variables for each CORS that you are considering. An example of this kind of tracking system is shown in Figure 9.6, below:

	A	B C D E F		F	G H		1	J	K		
		Computed	Data								
1	CORSID	Velocity?	Available?	Mean_N	Std_N	RMS_N	Mean_E	Std_E	RMS_E	Mean_U	Std_U
2	wdc6	IGS*	yes	-0.24	0.15	0.28	-0.15	0.21	0.26	0.09	0.6
3	corb	yes	yes	0.59	0.13	0.6	-0.02	0.15	0.15	-0.03	0.47
4	anp5	yes	yes	0.17	0.19	0.26	-0.18	0.19	0.27	-0.43	0.66
5	anp6	yes	yes	0.22	0.16	0.27	0.17	0.17	0.24	-0.67	0.58
6	gode	pub. IGS*	yes	0.27	0.16	0.31	-0.21	0.23	0.31	-0.71	0.7
7	hnpt	yes	yes	0.5	0.14	0.52	-0.93	0.18	0.94	-0.04	0.6
8	loyk	yes	yes	0.65	0.15	0.67	0.2	0.18	0.27	-1.35	0.56
9	umbc	yes	yes	1.21	0.13	1.21	-1.24	0.17	1.25	-1.58	0.5
10	loyo	yes	yes	0.13	0.12	0.18	-1.74	0.15	1.75	-2.58	0.54
11	loyf	yes	yes	0.77	0.14	0.78	-0.76	0.21	0.79	-3.02	0.54
**	1	See 9.2.2	See 9.2.3	t	1	Se	ee 9.2.4	and 9.	2.6	1	

Figure 9-6: Example of a spreadsheet used to help select the best CORSs for a project

\* IGS/published IGS: IGS stations will have computed coordinates and velocities for the latest IGS reference frame.

Choose stations from your list that have data available during the entire survey project (click on the link in the information bubble for the CORS).



Figure 9-7: Data availability for the CORS "GODE" in early April 2021

Note that Data Availability will only be available for CORSs in the **NOAA CORS Network** ("NCN"). For IGS stations not in the NCN, you will be presented a pop-up window that suggests no data are available:



Figure 9-8: Data availability for a CORS not in the NOAA CORS network will appear blank

Please refer to the IGS for data availability: <u>http://www.igs.org/network</u>. Although perfectly continuous data is ideal, for a variety of reasons, you may end up selecting a CORS with some small data gaps.

Determine which CORSs have computed (i.e., measured) velocities rather than modeled velocities. CORS with computed velocities are tabulated in the "composite coordinate tables" available to download directly at: <a href="https://noaa-cors-pds.s3.amazonaws.com/coord/coord\_14/itrf2014\_geo.comp.txt">https://noaa-cors-pds.s3.amazonaws.com/coord/coord\_14/itrf2014\_geo.comp.txt</a>. The user can also see whether or not a CORS has computed velocities by visiting the Site Info page for the CORS and selecting "Coordinates," and then "Position and Velocity.:" For example, the Position and Velocity for the station LOY8 is given in the example below:

***ITRF2014*** LOYOLA 8 COOP (LOY8), VIRGINIA Retrieved from NGS DataBase on 06/16/20 at 12:12:10.	
Antenna Reference Point(ARP) LOYOLA 8 COOP CORS ARP	
PID = 00/954	
	1
ITRF2014 POSITION (EPOCH 2010.0)	
Computed in Jun 2019 using data through gpswk 1933.	
X = 1089062.797 m latitude = 38 16 58.72119 N	- i
Y = -4893297.923 m longitude = 077 27 09.48584 W	- i
7 = 3930143.942 m ellipsoid height = -6.214 m	1
TTREAD14 VELOCITY	
TRF2014 VELOCITY	1
Computed in Jun 2019 using data through gpswk 1933.	1
VX = -0.0152 m/yr northward = 0.0040 m/yr	
VY = 0.0005 m/yr eastward = -0.0147 m/yr	
VZ = 0.0021 m/yr upward = -0.0017 m/yr	- İ
	- i

Figure 9-9: Example coordinates page for the CORS LOY8 showing computed velocities

The yellow highlighted text above shows that the velocities are computed, not modeled. Computed CORS velocities are preferred because their velocities are measured from several years of continuous observations.

Modeled CORS have velocities estimated from the Horizontal Time-Dependent Positioning (HTDP) utility, which in most cases ignores vertical motion.

Note that the example above for LOY8 shows the position and velocity with respect to the Antenna Reference Point, or ARP (circled in red). Some CORS will also provide coordinates with respect to the "Monument," or "MON," which in all cases is closer to the ground than the ARP. Not all CORSs will have a MON, but all CORSs will have an ARP. OPUS Projects will always use the lowest reference point, so, in the case of the CORS GODE in the example below, OP will use the coordinates from the MON.



Figure 9-10: Example of a CORS coordinates page showing reference to the CORS monument

One way to tell which coordinates OPUS uses is to click on the CORS icon on the map (e.g. Manager's Page): the information bubble will reveal which is the reference point used. The example below shows information bubbles for two different CORSs in the project, one referencing the MON (GODE) and the other referencing the ARP (HNPT):



Figure 9-12: Example of a CORS position referencing the Antenna Reference Point (ARP)

The best CORSs have network accuracies estimated to be less than 3 cm in ellipsoid height and 1.5 cm horizontally (95% confidence). Network accuracies are given on the datasheet for the given CORS. Note: some CORSs have very poor network accuracies (on the order of several cm). Such CORSs should be *avoided* for use as control whenever possible.

```
PROGRAM = datasheet95, VERSION = 8.12.5.6
Starting Datasheet Retrieval...
      National Geodetic Survey, Retrieval Date = MARCH 16, 2020
1
DH7954 CORS

    This is a GPS Continuously Operating Reference Station.

DH7954 DESIGNATION - LOYOLA 8 COOP CORS ARP
DH7954 CORS ID - LOY8
DH7954 PID - DH7954
DH7954 STATE/COUNTY- VA/SPOTSYLVANIA
DH7954 COUNTRY - US
DH7954 USGS QUAD - FREDERICKSBURG (2019)
DH7954
DH7954
                         *CURRENT SURVEY CONTROL
DH7954
DH7954* NAD 83(2011) POSITION- 38 16 58.69166(N) 077 27 09.46858(W) ADJUSTED
DH7954* NAD 83(2011) ELLIP HT- -4.910 (meters) (06/??/19)
                                                        ADJUSTED
DH7954* NAD 83(2011) EPOCH - 2010.00
DH7954
DH7954 GEOID HEIGHT
                   -
                          -32.537 (meters)
                                                         GEOID18
DH7954 NAD 83(2011) X - 1,089,063.552 (meters)
                                                        COMP
DH7954 NAD 83(2011) Y - -4,893,299.381 (meters)
                                                        COMP
DH7954 NAD 83(2011) Z - 3,930,144.035 (meters)
                                                        COMP
DH7954
DH7954 Network accuracy estimates per FGDC Geospatial Positioning Accuracy
DH7954 Standards:
DH7954FGDC (95% conf, cm)Standard deviation (cm)CorrNEDH7954Horiz EllipSD_NSD_ESD_h(unitless)
DH7954
                                                   -----
DH7954 NETWORK 0.15 0.34 0.05 0.07 0.17 -0.26823100
DH7954 -----
DH7954
```

*Figure 9-13: CORS network accuracy shown on the station's datasheet* 

#### **9.2.2** Distance Considerations:

- a) Ideally, at least 4-5 CORSs will meet the above characteristics and all lie within 250 km of the center of the project area. These CORSs will be used to control the project.
- b) One of these CORS will also serve as the "hub," meaning that the CORS is preferentially selected for inclusion in baselines. In other words, all marks (user marks and CORSs) that are *not* hubs will have a direct baseline connection to the nearest hub. The hub should be centrally located, and lie no more than 100 km away from all user marks in a session. Often, a single station can serve as the hub for the entire project. However, if the project spans large distances such that the 100 km rule cannot be maintained, then multiple hubs will be needed. The same station(s) serving as hub(s) should be designated in each session (see Section 10).
- c) At a very minimum, there should be one hub and at least one other CORS controlling the project. If there are not enough stations meeting the criteria explained in the steps above, the user will have to look outside the 250 km radius.
- d) For tropospheric decorrelation, a distant CORS lying >250 km, but < 800 km is required. The same characteristics as above hold.



Figure 9-14: Example of CORSs plotted with respect to a 250 km radius from the centroid of the project



Figure 9-15: CORS map showing CORSs plotted with respect to a 250 km radius from the centroid of the project

Place X

- Draw a 250 km radius circle around the center of your project area using the button on the NGS CORS Map. Candidate CORSs within the circle could serve as project CORS including the hub during session processing. Plan which CORS will function as the hub for each session. Often, a single station can serve as the hub for the entire project. At a very minimum, there should be one hub and at least one other CORS controlling the project. If there are not enough stations meeting the criteria explained in the steps above, the user will have to look outside the 250 km radius. If the project spans a large area (e.g. more than 500 km), you may need to draw 250 km circles at opposite ends of the project area, and choose more than one hub.
- Stations outside the 250 km radius, up to 800 km. can serve as the "distant" CORS. Distant CORS should not be held as control; rather, they are used to de-correlate the wet component of the tropospheric delay modeling within OP. Consider choosing an IGS station within this zone.

Due to lack of CORS availability in remote locations, it may be necessary to choose a long distance CORS that exceeds the 800 km distance recommendation



OP will automatically suggest a CORS to be used as a hub. In most cases, this hub will meet the recommended selection criteria

#### 9.2.3 Data Quality Check

Once a list of candidates has been compiled, download and save their short-term time-series plots. NGS produces these plots for every CORS, but only provides to the public the most recent 90 days. It is best practice to download these plots about 45 days after the middle session of the survey project. In this way, the time-series plot is now "centered" over the time period of the survey project.



If using OP to process data more than 90 days old, the user will not have access to the corresponding CORS short term plots, and will have to use alternative methods to evaluate short term CORS behavior (e.g. download daily files from the CORS web page)

- Using the centered time-series plots, select the candidates with RMS (in northing, easting, and up) less than 2 cm. Candidates with large spikes, data gaps, or discontinuities should be rejected. Selecting candidates in this manner will provide some assurance that the published coordinates and velocities at the CORS are in agreement with the daily solutions for the CORS.
- The best CORSs should have "consistent" data depicted in 90-day short-term time-series plots. NGS processes each day of GNSS data collected at each CORS and plots the differences between the resulting coordinates and the published coordinates on short-term time-series plots (in terms of delta northing, easting, and up). These plots can be accessed for every CORS at: <a href="https://www.ngs.noaa.gov/CORS/coord\_info/plots.shtml">https://www.ngs.noaa.gov/CORS/coord\_info/plots.shtml</a>. CORS with plots that depict significant biases from the published coordinates (more than 2 cm in northing, easting, or up), spikes, or data gaps should be avoided.



Figure 9-16: Example of a CORS short-term plot showing both bias and random error

A 90-day short-term time-series plot for CORS MDO1 is shown in the figure above. The solid red horizontal line represents zero deviation from the published coordinates (northing, easting, up). The black dots (with error bars) represent the residual difference between the daily solution and the published coordinates at the CORS. In this example, scatter and residuals are negatively biased in the up direction, evidence that the published coordinates are somewhat higher than the daily solutions. It also shows some deviation in the easting around Julian day 200 (July 19), indicating this CORS would not be reliable as control during that time. The mean, standard deviation (STD), and root-mean-square error (RMS) of the daily residuals depicted in this figure (in northing, easting, and up) are also provided as text at the top of the figure; these statistics are helpful for summarizing the repeatability of the data for the CORS.

Below is an example of a short term CORS plot for MNBV which shows less bias and lower error, especially in the up direction:



Figure 9-17: Example of a short-term CORS plot exhibiting little bias and low error

#### 9.2.4 Select the Hub

From within the 250 km radius of the user marks, select one candidate to function as the hub for each session. In most cases, the same hub should be used for every session in a survey project. It must be within 250 km of all user marks in the session. Note that for large survey projects where the user marks cover an area greater than 500 km in diameter, it may be necessary to designate more than one CORS to function as a hub for a particular session.

If questions remain about the suitability of CORS/IGS stations in a given region, consider reaching out to your <u>NGS Regional Geodetic Advisor</u> for guidance

As part of the error-reducing post-processing of GNSS data using the CORS, the moisture content of the troposphere through which the GNSS signals traverse needs to be modeled. The tropospheric model is parameterized using information from the CORSs selected to control the project. If most CORSs are located close to the project, the GNSS signals are all altered/delayed by the same amount, since they all see essentially the same troposphere. This can cause biases in the tropospheric model. This bias can be removed by including a distant CORS in the project.

Therefore, the user must select one distant CORS for tropospheric decoupling (>250 km, but  $\leq$  800 km). Typically only one distant CORS is needed. Similar rules apply to selecting this CORS as with the other CORSs selected in the project. In addition, it is recommended to verify that there wasn't any extreme weather at this distant CORS (i.e., lightning storms, hurricanes) by checking weather data in that area coinciding with the dates and times of the survey. Extreme weather or passing weather fronts can adversely affect session baseline processing solutions.

In CORS-sparse areas, baselines may be longer by necessity, which may satisfy the tropospheric modelling without having to add an additional long-distance CORS. Likewise, if a network spans more than 250 km a long distance CORS may also be unnecessary.

The "distant CORS" can either be part of the NOAA CORS Network, or an IGS station available in OP

Once you have selected the CORSs for your project (typically about 4 or 5, plus the distant CORS), it is a good practice to remove the remaining (unwanted) CORSs from your project. That way, no one will be confused regarding which CORSs were intended for project control.

## 9.3 Add/Del CORS

After selecting the CORSs for your project, you will want to make them available to all sessions. You can do this by adding (and deleting) CORSs from the Manager's Page, as explained in Section 7.1.7.



Figure 9-18: Screen captures showing the steps used in adding a CORS from the Manager's Page (see 7.1.7)

# **10 Session Processing**

Session processing is the critical step in which the processor implements the GNSS survey network design. Session Processing calculates the baselines between the hub(s) and the user marks. In addition, a variancecovariance matrix is produced estimating the errors associated with the baselines, and their correlations. Finally, a minimally-constrained adjustment is applied to align the baselines to the NSRS at the hubs.

The Session Network Design default can be changed at processing and, to a limited extent, modified by selecting user marks to be excluded from the processing or to be assigned as hubs. You can only process baselines for marks or hubs that have been simultaneously occupied. The term "hub" means a mark that is preferentially selected for inclusion in baselines. In other words, all marks that are *not* hubs will have a direct baseline connection to the nearest hub.

Session processing leverages common satellite observations and error estimations. As a result, some marks that did not meet project preferences in the initial OPUS solution, may now meet project preferences under session processing. However, care should be taken in including poor observations, as they are likely to degrade the quality of the overall session processing. See Section 4.3 for more information on project preferences.

Session processing can be done as soon as all the data for a given session have been loaded. If additional data for a session come in after that session has already been processed, the session will have to be reprocessed with all of the data. You may want to process the first session and review the results before processing subsequent sessions. This can help avoid confusion regarding which session is being analyzed.

For publication, NGS required that the "final precise" ephemerides be used in processing

## **10.1 Session Processing Page**



The Session Processing Page is accessed from the individual session pages:



"2017-241-A" Session Processing											
	_										
	_										
21	Perform Processing										
SOLUTIO	N N	AME (	30 char max): [A								
SOLUTIO	0N S 29T0	PAN 0:00:0	0 GPS to 2017-	08-30T12:19:	30 GPS						
2011 001					T ()						
		HUB		FL HGT V	11 (m)	N39-02-59 49645	LONGITUDE (***)	REF. FRAME			
fran	ŏ			EL HGT V	75 264	N39-29-55 89605	W077-19-38 31730	NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) ¥			
tane	ŏ	<u> </u>		EL HGT V	111 828	N39:39:48.06504	W077:11:00.77708	NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) ¥			
CORS	<u> </u>	нив	CONSTRAINT	HEIGH	IT (m)	LATITUDE (° ' ")	LONGITUDE (° ' ")	REF. FRAME			
🗹 algo			NONE 🗸	EL HGT 🗸	201.984	N45:57:20.84721	W078:04:16.90638	NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) V			
🗹 dene	۲		NONE 🗸	EL HGT 🗸	6.545	N39:40:36.24965	W075:44:34.82897	NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) 🗸			
🗹 gode	۲	<	3-D 🗸	EL HGT 🗸	15.784	N39:01:18.18974	W076:49:36.57470	NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) V			
hnpt	۲		NONE 🗸	EL HGT 🗸	-26.671	N38:35:19.71005	W076:07:49.33197	NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) 🗸			
🗹 york	۲		NONE 🗸	EL HGT 🗸	99.617	N39:59:13.27662	W076:44:24.53719	NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) 🗸			
PROCES	SINC	G PRE	FERENCES								
Output Re	ef Fra	ame:	LET OPUS (	CHOOSE 🗸	<u>.</u>						
Output Ge	eoid	Model:	LET OPUS (	CHOOSE V							
GNSS: Tropo Mo	del·		G (GPS-only Diecewise Li	inear V	- -						
Tropo Inte	erval	(s):	7200	nour •	1						
Elevation	Cuto	off (dec	15.0		Í						
Constraint Weights: OLOOSE ONORMAL OTIGHT											
Network [	Desig	jn:	🔵 USER 🔘	CORS () MS	T						
						Website Owner:	National Geodetic Survey /	Last modified by OPUS team Nov 23 202			
		NOS	Home • NGS Emp	loyees • Priva	cy Policy ·	Disclaimer • USA.gov •	Ready.gov • Site Map •	Contact Webmaster			

Figure 10-2: Example Session processing page

The SOLUTION NAME is set by default to a letter corresponding to the numerical sequence of the session in a given GPS UTC day. The first session in the day will be assigned the letter "A," the second "B," and so on. The solution name can be changed, although that is not generally recommended (recall that the session name cannot be changed).

The SOLUTION SPAN provides the start and stop times for the session in UTC.

The MARK and CORS tables have the same elements:

- Four-character ID, and whether the mark or CORS has met project preferences
- Whether or not the mark/CORS is selected as a hub
- Whether or not the mark/CORS is selected as a constraint. This means that one or more of the coordinates are held fixed within the adjustment ("fixed" within the selected constraint weights provided in the project preferences). There are three options:
  - 3D: this is a full geometric constraint, holding latitude, longitude, and ellipsoid height fixed (within the selected type of constrained weights).
  - HOR-Only: only the latitude and longitude being constrained
  - VER-Only: only the vertical coordinate (height) is constrained.
- Where the height value is coming from:
  - EL HGT can come from the first session processed, or a published datasheet value

- GEOID refers to the orthometric height, regardless of the source of that orthometric height (GNSS-derived or leveling-derived).
- Latitude (degrees, minutes, seconds)
- Longitude (degrees, minutes, seconds)
- Processing Preferences: these correspond to the values selected in the Project Preferences (Section 4.4). Network Design is explained in the next section.

### **10.2 Selecting the Session Network Design**

The Network Design selection is identified at the bottom of the session processing page, and the expression of the design can be seen in the table listing the marks and CORSs (which are used as hubs, and which are constrained). There are three options available: "USER," "CORS," and "MST."

					"2017-	- <b>24</b> 1-A	A" Session F	Processing			
SOI	Perform Processing       SOLUTION NAME (30 char max): A										
SOI 201	LUTIC 7-08-	0 <mark>N S</mark> 29T0	PAN 0:00:0	0 GPS to 2017-	08-30T12:19:	30 GPS					
	MAR	(	HUB	CONSTRAINT	HEIGH	IT (m)	LATITUDE (° ' ")	LONGITUDE (° ' ")	REF. FRAME		
<	calv	0		NONE 🗸	EL HGT 🗸	27.832	N39:02:59.49645	W076:55:59.37895	NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) V		
<	fran	0		NONE V	EL HGT 🗸	75.264	N39:29:55.89605	W077:19:38.31730	NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) V		
<	tane	0		NONE V	EL HGT 🗸	111.828	N39:39:48.06504	W077:11:00.77708	NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) V		
	COR	5	HUB	CONSTRAINT	HEIGH	IT (m)	LATITUDE (° ' ")	LONGITUDE (° ' ")	REF. FRAME		
<ul> <li>Image: A set of the /li></ul>	Se	<b>W</b>		NONE 🗸	EL HGT 🗸	201.984	N45:57:20.84721	W078:04:16.90638	NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) 🗸		
<ul> <li>Image: A second s</li></ul>	dene			NONE 🗸	EL HGT 🗸	6.545	N39:40:36.24965	W075:44:34.82897	NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) 🗸		
<ul> <li>Image: A set of the /li></ul>	gode	۲	<	3-D 🗸	EL HGT 🗸	15.784	N39:01:18.18974	W076:49:36.57470	NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) V		
<ul> <li></li> </ul>	hnpt	۲		NONE V	EL HGT 🗸	-26.671	N38:35:19.71005	W076:07:49.33197	NAD 83(2011) (2010.0000) V		
<ul> <li>Image: A start of the start of</li></ul>	york	۲		NONE V	EL HGT 🗸	99.617	N39:59:13.27662	W076:44:24.53719	NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) V		
PRC Out Out GNS Trop Trop Elev Con	DCES put R put G SS: po Mo po Int vation vation strain work	SINC ef Fra eoid del: erval Cuto t We Desig	G PREI ame: Model: (s): off (deg ights: gn:	FERENCES LET OPUS ( G (GPS-only Piecewise Li 7200 ): 15.0 LOOSE ( USER )	CHOOSE CHOOSE CHOOSE Inear NORMAL ( CORS O MS	TIGHT					
							Website Owner: I	National Geodetic Survey /	Last modified by OPUS team Nov 23 202		
			NUSI	Home • NGS Emp	noyées • Priva	icy Policy •	Disclaimer • USA.gov •	Keady.gov • Site Map •	Contact Webmaster		

Figure 10-3: Example session processing page noting the one hub constrained 3D under "User" selected network design

**USER**: The default (and design recommended for submission to NGS) is "USER." OP attempts to choose the best hub from the list of CORSs selected for the project. This is typically the closest and/or most centrally located CORS with respect to the user marks. If OP does not select a hub, or if the user disagrees with the hub selection, a new hub will have to be chosen manually. As mentioned in Section 9, certain larger projects may
require multiple hubs if user marks are separated by 500 km or more. If multiple hubs are necessary, then each session's hub must connect to all other hubs. In other words, each hub should be present in all sessions. Note that a hub can also be an active (non-CORS) station if it has 24-hour data files.



Figure 10-4: Map showing an example of the "hub-and-spoke" network design



For submission to NGS for publication, NGS recommends a "hub" design that keeps baselines to a maximum of 250 km in length. For most projects, that will mean selecting one hub. For larger area projects, multiple hubs might be necessary

**CORS**: The CORS Network Design strategy automatically selects all included CORS as hubs. Note that this is not an acceptable design for submission to NGS.



Figure 10-5: Map showing an example of a "CORS" network design.

**MST**: A Minimal Spanning Tree (MST) connects all the user marks and CORS together seeking the fewest and shortest possible unique baselines. All user marks and CORS are designated as hubs. Note that this is not an acceptable design for submission to NGS.



Figure 10-6: Map showing an example of a "MST" network design

For any selected design, there is a limit of 99 marks including CORSs/IGS stations per session

# **10.3 Selecting the Constraints**

For session processing, NGS recommends <u>constraining only the hub</u> in all three dimensions ("3D" - latitude, longitude, and ellipsoid height). All other CORSs are unconstrained, as are all user marks. If a mark is selected as

a constraint, the coordinate fields in OP become editable, but note that NGS does not recommend altering any coordinate except under exceptional circumstances.



NGS does not recommend altering any coordinates during session processing

# **10.4 Processing Preferences and Performing the Processing**

Besides network design, other processing preferences need to be carefully considered prior to performing the processing. Please refer to Section 4.4 for more information. Briefly, the recommended preferences include:

Solution Name (30 char max): OP always identifies solutions according to the session name (e.g. "2020-123-A" see 7.1). A session can be processed multiple times, resulting in multiple solutions for any given session. However, if the solution name is not changed, each new solution will overwrite the previous one. To avoid confusion, it is recommended to append either a character/digit to the root of the session name, or a short ID like "test" or "final." For example, if the default session name is "2020-123-A," then the digits "1," "2,", "3," etc. can be added to differentiate the different re-processings. Final names would be "2020-123-A1," "2020-123-A2," "2020-123-A3," etc.).

Consider creating a session/adjustment log book to identify the choices/decisions made in each session/adjustment run



Only the first character of a solution name is retained in the output files needed for publication in the NGS database. Therefore, names like "A-test" and "B-test" will be differentiated as "A" and "B," but names like "Test-A" and "Test-B" will be treated as the same solution "T."



If the session default letter is changed, the "Occupations" table on the Manger's Page will show you BOTH the OPUS solution and the session solution, which can cause confusion.

- Output Reference Frame: LET OPUS CHOOSE (this will ensure the latest supported reference frames)
- Output Geoid Model: LET OPUS CHOOSE (this will ensure the latest geoid model)
- GNSS: G (GPS only)
- Tropo Model: Piecewise Linear
- Tropo Interval (s): 7200
- Elevation Cutoff (deg): 15
- Constrained Weights: NORMAL
- Network Design: USER

When the user is satisfied with the network design and the selection of constraint(s), click the "Perform Processing" button on the top banner.

"201	17-241-A" Session Processing	
? 🞝	Perform Processing	×
SOLUTION NAME (30 char max): A		

Figure 10-7: The "Perform Processing" button at the top of the Session Processing Page

A confirmation screen will be presented. Examine the confirmation screen to verify that it reflects your intended choices.

<b>OPUS-Projects Processing Queue Confirmation</b>
Session Processing "2017-241-A". Queued at 2021-04-12T20:18:51 UTC. Solution reports will be emailed to philippe.hensel@noaa.gov. There are 0 processing requests in queue before yours. Please be aware that this message was created when the request was queued and will not be updated by refreshing this page. The user data spans 2017-08-29T00:00:00 GPS to 2017-08-30T12:19:30 GPS. The data contains 7 unconstrained and 1 constrained marks making 8 marks in total.
Unconstrained marks: calv, fran, tane, algo, dene, hnpt, york Constrained marks: gode 3-D N39:01:18.18974 W076:49:36.57470 15.784 m EL HGT NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) USER network design. Hub marks: gode Desilement
calv-gode, hnpt-gode, york-gode, dene-gode, algo-gode, fran-gode, tane-gode
Processing options         Constraint Weight = NORMAL         Elevation Cutoff = 15.0 deg         Geoid Model = LET OPUS CHOOSE         GNSS = G (GPS-only)         Reference Frame = LET OPUS CHOOSE         Tropo Interval = 7200s         Tropo Model = Piecewise Linear         Close         Website Owner: National Geodetic Survey / Last modified by OPUS team Nov 23 2020
NOS Home • NGS Employees • Privacy Policy • Disclaimer • USA.gov • Ready.gov • Site Map • Contact Webmaster

Figure 10-8: The OP Session Processing confirmation window

A short time later (possibly a few minutes<sup>3</sup>, depending on the number of baselines to be processed and given the current traffic using OPUS and OP), baselines will appear on the Session and Manager's Pages:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> An analysis of over 10,000 files uploaded revealed that less than 0.03% of files uploaded took longer than an hour to process. If a solution has not arrived within an hour, contact the OPUS Projects Team.



Figure 10-9: Manager's Page showing six successfully processed sessions

# **10.5 Where to Look for Your Results**

OP provides a number of output files containing important information about the results of session processing. There are several ways to access these results.

## **10.5.1 Email Attachments**

Once the processing has been completed, an email with the solutions will automatically be sent to the email address of the person running session processing as well as the project manager.



Figure 10-10: The seven email attachments (sent to the project manager) resulting from session processing

For completeness, the seven different attachments provided as a result of session processing are given below:

- .txt file provides the Processing Report. Note that the coordinates are clearly labeled in both the NSRS reference frame and the global reference frame (ITRF). More on how to interpret the Processing Report can be found in Section 10.3.6.
- .gfile is the bluebook G-file, is an ASCII text file containing vector components, standard deviations, correlations, and processing information, in standard NGS "Bluebook" format
   (https://geodesy.noaa.gov/FGCS/BlueBook/pdf/Annex\_N.pdf)
- .vec file, showing vectors between user marks/CORS and the hub(s) (delta X, delta Y, delta Z and their associated uncertainties)
- .sum file provides all the details of session processing
- .snx file gives the GNSS solution in **SINEX** format (Solution INdependent EXchange format -an internationally accepted GNSS solution format)
- .xml gives the session processing results (like the .sum file) expressed in an XML format
- .serfil associates the Mark ID (or Station ID for CORS), SSN, and PID (if it exists) of each Mark/CORS

### 10.5.2 Show File

All output files can also be reviewed within OP by selecting the "Show File" button under the Controls menu in both the Manager's Page and in the individual mark pages (see Section 7).

See Section 10.4 for more information on reviewing the Processing Report.

### 10.5.3 Session Pages

Some session solution information is displayed on the individual session pages. Session pages can be accessed from the Manager's Page by showing "Results from"  $\rightarrow$  ALL SESSIONS (see below):



Figure 10-11: Select "ALL SESSIONS" from the Manger's Page to reveal the results of any/all session processing

Selecting "ALL SESSIONS" will refresh the Manager's Page showing the results of any/all session processing.



Figure 10-12: Clicking on the session of interest in the "Occupation" table showing "ALL SESSIONS" will open the session page

Click on the session of interest. In the example above, we have selected session "2017-241-A." This will cause the Session Page to refresh, showing the mark and observation information for that particular session:



Figure 10-13: Mark information displayed on at particular session page

The Solution Quality Indicators (upper arrow) provide some indications of the quality of the solution, and whether or not the Solution Preferences have been met. The Data Availability graphic (lower arrow) should confirm the session span, as well as satellite tracking.

Although these visualizations offer a quick and easy way to assess solution quality, they do not provide much detail on how the data actually fit together, and for larger projects, may be cumbersome to review.

## 10.5.4 Mark Pages

Solution visualizations are also given in plots and tables under the individual mark pages (mark pages can be accessed from either the Manager's Page or a Session Page). Make sure the correct session is displayed (see arrow in figure below):



Figure 10-14: Session results presented on a mark page

The Processing Results Plots and Processing Results Table show the **a priori coordinate shifts** which result from the session processing (see Glossary for more information on a priori coordinates). **The shifts should be small**.

The default uncertainties shown are one sigma (68.3%); the user can select up to  $5\sigma$ . The symbols in the plot refer to the different sources for the coordinates:

Orange shaded areas indicate where results that fail to meet project preferences will appear

Gray circles are used for OPUS solution results

Blue diamonds are used for session processing solution results

Green squares are used for network adjustment results

The plots are interactive and the axes scale automatically. Moving the cursor over a point causes the point to be accentuated and an information bubble to appear providing information about the point and identifying its source solution. The plots also interact with the Processing Results Table. Moving the cursor over a table row causes the corresponding point in the plots to be accentuated. For small projects, these visualizations may be sufficient, but for larger projects, the more detailed output files may be more efficient to assess solution quality.

## **10.5.5 Solution Statistics**

Finally, once multiple sessions are processed, the user can see a summary of how the sessions compare by selecting "Solution Statistics" in the table under the map on the Manager's Page.



Figure 10-15: Session Solution Statistics are available from the Manager's Page

Solution Statistics   From ALL SESSIONS										
	Solution & Statistics									
MARKS	occupations count	occupations used	solutions count	Obs Used	Obs Used(%)	AMB Fixed(%)	North P2P(cm)	East P2P(cm)	Up P2P(cm)	MARKS
bell	2	2	2	35269	98.3	93.0	0.2	0.1	0.4	bell
brun	2	2	2	39592	98.6	95.0	0.3	0.2	0.6	brun
calv	3	3	3	48146	99.5	87.7	0.4	0.3	2.7	calv
e087	4	4	4	66472	93.7	92.8	0.7	0.7	1.4	e087
fran	3	3	3	41384	99.4	96.7	0.3	1.0	1.4	fran
gorf	2	2	2	39025	98.4	96.5	0.0	0.2	0.8	gorf
n102	2	2	2	38039	99.2	96.2	0.2	0.2	1.4	n102
pond	2	2	2	35522	97.9	93.1	0.2	0.2	0.6	pond
tane	3	3	3	45092	99.2	91.4	1.7	0.4	0.5	tane
algo	5	5	5	104788	99.8	99.4	0.44	0.58	1.23	algo
ded2	4	4	4	86889	93.5	96.3	0.22	0.48	1.08	ded2
dene	5	5	5	99652	99.5	92.2	0.36	0.93	1.53	dene
gode	5	5	5	902012	98.1	96.0	0.06	0.1	0.02	gode
hnpt	5	5	5	111563	99.6	98.7	0.33	0.14	0.8	hnpt
york	5	5	5	110579	98.7	99.0	0.28	0.34	1.01	york

Figure 10-16: Example of session solution statistics

Users can copy and paste the Solution Statistics table into a spreadsheet and thence sort by columns to discover where the largest errors reside

For larger projects, it may be more efficient to analyze the output files instead of the visualizations provided within OP

# **10.6 Analyzing the Processing Report**

The most thorough approach to evaluating the results of session processing is to look at the Processing Report available through the "Show File" button on the left tool bar.





		"Sample Project"
2 62	Session Solution	✓ 2017-241-A ✓ Processing Report (.txt) ✓ Show File
017-241-A.tx	created: 2020-06-22	14:29 UTC downloaded: 2020-11-09 19:51 UTC
	NGS BETA OPUS-Pr	piects 2.02 SESSION SOLUTION REPORT
All coordin	ate accuracies rep	orted here are 1x the formal
uncertainti	es from the solution	on. For additional information:
geodesy.noa	a.gov/OPUS/Using_O	VS-Projects.html#accuracy
These posit	ions were computed	without any knowledge by the National
Geodetic Su	over regarding the	equipment or field operating procedures used.
		edathere a start the start B b
SUBMITTED B	Y:	philippe.hensel
SOLUTION FI	LE NAME:	2017-241-A.sum
SOLUTION SO	FTWARE:	page5(1801.18)
SOLUTION DA	TE:	2020-06-22T10:28:12 UTC
STANDARD ER	CR OF UNIT WEIGHT	100150
TOTAL NUMBE	COP OBSERVATIONS.	8
CONSTRAINED	MARKS:	1 HORIZONTAL. Ø VERTICAL
gode N39:01	:18.18974 W076:49:	36.57470 15.784m NAD_83(2011) @ 2010.0000
gode	0.12cm	0.12cm 0.12cm NEU SIGMAS
OVERALL RMS	1	1.2 cm
START TIME.		2017-08-29100:00:00 0F5 2017-08-30T12:10:30 GPS
PROGRAM OPE	RATION:	FULL RUN
FREQUENCY:		L1-ONLY TO ION-FREE [BY BASELINE LENGTH]
OBSERVATION	INTERVAL:	30 s
ELEVATION C	JTOFF :	15 deg
TROPO INTER	/AL:	7200 s [PIECEWISE LINEAR PARAMETERIZATION]
DD CORRELAT	LOWS:	UN
BASELINE	LENGTH	MS OBS OMITTED FIXED
calv-gode	9.722 km	0.9 cm 9804 0.7% 92.5%
fran-gode	68.352 km	1.1 cm 9669 0.6% 100.0%
hnpt-gode	77.201 Km	1.4 cm 18312 0.3% 98.7%
vork-gode	107 431 km	1.2 Cm 0090 0.00 90.10 1.3 cm 18180 1.1% 100.0%
dene-gode	118.388 km	1.4 cm 18271 0.4% 97,3%
algo-gode	776.525 km	1.0 cm 17219 0.2% 98.6%
and the second sec		
MARK ESTI	ATED - A PRIORI C	ORDINATE SHIFTS
algo N:	0.001 m (0.001 m	) E: -0.003 m (0.001 m) H: -0.002 m (0.001 m)
calv N:	0.037 m (0.001 m	) E:  -0.134 m (0.001 m) H:  -0.038 m (0.001 m)
dene N:	-0.001 m (0.001 m	) E:     -0.002 m (0.001 m) H:     -0.012 m (0.001 m)
fran N:	0.026 m (0.001 m	/ E: -0.110 m (0.001 m) H: -0.036 m (0.001 m)
gode N:	0.001 m (0.001 m	/E: -0.001 m (0.001 m) H: 0.000 m (0.001 m)
tane N:	-0.001 m (0.001 m	) F: -0.123 m (0.001 m) H: -0.017 m (0.001 m)
vock N:	0.000 m (0.001 m	E: -0.001 m (0.001 m) H: -0.005 m (0.001 m)
VUIN IN		

Figure 10-18: Example of a session solution processing report (\*.txt file)

Critical items to check are the following:

- The STANDARD ERROR OF UNIT WEIGHT should be near 1.0. The acceptable range is 0.1 to 1.1. Differences are tolerable, but be wary of order of magnitude differences: 0.725 is OK, but 7.25 and 0.072 are not!
- The TOTAL NUMBER OF MARKS should be what the project manager expects.
- Under session processing, only the hub(s) should be constrained (CONSTRAINED MARKS: 1).
- OVERALL RMS should be small and less than the project preference threshold (typically ≤ 3 cm).
- START TIME and STOP TIME should be as expected
- The **OBS** count (number of observations used) should be near the expected number, based on the duration of the observation.
- OMITTED (% observations omitted), and FIXED (% ambiguities fixed) should all reflect project specifications
- The A PRIORI COORDINATE SHIFTS should all be small (≤ 2 cm horizontal, ≤ 4 cm vertical).

The table of a priori coordinate shifts ("MARK ESTIMATED - A PRIORI COORDINATE SHIFTS") provides critical information on how the adjustment may have changed an assumed coordinate (on both survey marks and CORSs). Often, a large coordinate shift may result from poor a priori coordinates stemming from the first OPUS solution (see Glossary for more information on a priori coordinates, and Appendix C for coordinate shifts). A large shift might also be due to a bias at a CORS station. The user might want to remove that CORS from the list, and reprocess without that reference station. If there are no other large shifts remaining, that CORS should likely be excluded from all sessions. However, in some instances, the source of large shifts may remain elusive. Larger than recommended shifts may be fine if the peak-to-peak values (seen after multiple sessions are processed) are small (see 10.5.5).



In session processing, peak-to-peaks are a measure of repeatability among your replicate observations (how closely the session solutions match each other). Coordinate shifts indicate how those solutions compare to the a priori coordinates. For published stations, this could indicate a bias in your data, but also possibly a bias in the published coordinate. Only by running repeat session solutions (changing/removing CORSs, stations, or observations) can you attempt to locate the source of any disagreement

# **10.7 Analyzing the Solution Statistics for ALL SESSIONS**

When multiple sessions have been processed, the **Solution Statistics** (FOR ALL SESSIONS), available at the bottom of the Manager's Page, should also be analyzed (Figure 10.19). This same pull-down selector gives access to convenient information in a tabular form. These tables can be highlighted and copy/pasted into spreadsheets or documents.

Solution	Solution Statistics   From ALL SESSIONS									
	Solution & Statistics									
MARKS	occupations count	occupations used	solutions count	Obs Used	Obs Used(%)	AMB Fixed(%)	North P2P(cm)	East P2P(cm)	Up P2P(cm)	MARKS
bell	2	2	2	35269	98.3	93.0	0.2	0.1	0.4	bell
brun	2	2	2	39592	98.6	95.0	0.3	0.2	0.6	brun
calv	3	3	3	48146	99.5	87.7	0.4	0.3	2.7	calv
e087	4	4	4	66472	93.7	92.8	0.7	0.7	1.4	e087
fran	3	3	3	41384	99.4	96.7	0.3	1.0	1.4	fran
gorf	2	2	2	39025	98.4	96.5	0.0	0.2	0.8	gorf
n102	2	2	2	38039	99.2	96.2	0.2	0.2	1.4	n102
pond	2	2	2	35522	97.9	93.1	0.2	0.2	0.6	pond
tane	3	3	3	45092	99.2	91.4	1.7	0.4	0.5	tane
algo	5	5	5	104788	99.8	99.4	0.44	0.58	1.23	algo
ded2	4	4	4	86889	93.5	96.3	0.22	0.48	1.08	ded2
dene	5	5	5	99652	99.5	92.2	0.36	0.93	1.53	dene
gode	5	5	5	902012	98.1	96.0	0.06	0.1	0.02	gode
hnpt	5	5	5	111563	99.6	98.7	0.33	0.14	0.8	hnpt
york	5	5	5	110579	98.7	99.0	0.28	0.34	1.01	york

Figure 10-19: Example solution statistics for all sessions

- Review the "peak-to-peak" ("P2P") values in the table for both the marks observed (given in **red**) and for the CORS (given in **black**). **Smaller is better.** See Glossary for more information on P2P. Values higher than those established in the project preferences should be investigated.
- Use the Session Solution "Summary" page for each session that has a mark or CORS with a high P2P to further investigate the cause of the high P2P.
- If you have high P2P values, drill down to the corresponding Mark Page to see what happened with that particular observation.
- If the user finds a blunder or other easily rectified error, then either that particular observation, or just the corresponding session will have to be reprocessed (depending on where the error lies, and whether it can be fixed within the project itself). Examples of blunders include wrong antenna type or wrong antenna height, as well as wrong association of the observation with its corresponding mark. Check the field logs to verify that the correct information has been entered regarding the corresponding observation(s).
- If the user cannot isolate the error, the user may decide to remove the mark from the survey. In that case, the corresponding session(s) will have to be re-processed.



If removing an observation on a mark removes redundancy, NGS cannot accept only one solution on a mark (the user may want to re-observe)

#### **Repeat Vectors Check (optional)**

In smaller projects for which the single hub model is appropriate, the repeat vectors all emanate from that single hub. Therefore a simple cumulative tabulation of the \*.vec results from the sessions can be assembled for manual inspection looking for repeat vectors which fall outside the manager's expected tolerances. This can be done by importing the data into a spreadsheet, or using third-party software. For larger projects, this is

cumbersome and should probably be left to the COMPVECS results produced later in network solutions (see Section 12.1).

# 10.8 Next Steps

Once the results of all session processing are carefully reviewed, and any errors fixed and sessions reprocessed, the project is ready for network adjustment (Section 11).

Once satisfied with the results of session processing, it is a good idea to delete any sessions that will not be included in the net steps of network processing. Having multiple copies of session processing can also affect "P2P" uncertainty estimates in Solution Statistics and render them unrealistic.

# **11 Network Adjustments**

After completion of session processing, all sessions can be solved together in a Network Adjustment (available only from the Manager's Page), thus creating the final results from your project. Regardless of the final result intended, OP suggests the user begin with a minimally constrained adjustment, also called the "Preliminary Adjustment." This is an important Quality Assurance step for subsequent adjustments.

If the intent is to determine the best set of coordinates in alignment with the latest realization of the NSRS reference frame, including the option to submit to NGS, then a NGS Project Tracking ID must be entered. With a tracking ID, OP steps you through a series of sequential network adjustments using a combination of GPSCOM and ADJUST.

If the project's objectives do *not* include submission to NGS, then a project tracking ID is not required, and the user can run the final adjustment desired. As noted earlier, a dummy project tracking ID of 0000 can be used.



Figure 11-1: Conceptual work flow for running adjustments in OP

# 11.1 Recommended Network Adjustment Sequence for Alignment with the NSRS

A sequence of five (5) network adjustments ensures that your project is aligned with the NSRS both horizontally and vertically. These steps are automatically generated when a tracking ID is associated with the project and will enable the final coordinates to be consistent with the latest horizontal and vertical datums of the NSRS.



A user may perform a similar sequence of network adjustments without associating a Project Tracking ID, but the corresponding constraints will have to be selected manually, and all solutions will be provided by GPSCOM instead of ADJUST.



Although OP4.0 suggests the constraints to use in each adjustment, the user may select other constraints or modify the coordinates in accordance with the accepted Project Proposal. Deviations from the selections suggested by OP should be addressed in the final project report.

#### **Preliminary Adjustment**

To begin the network adjustment sequence, the software package GPSCOM is used to combine and adjust all selected sessions into a single network solution in the ITRF (and then transform it into the selected output reference frame; see Preferences Section 4.4). The output of this adjustment provides the necessary inputs for the ADJUST suite of programs in the following steps.

#### **Horizontal Free Adjustment**

This and the following three network adjustments use the program ADJUST, aligning the project with the NSRS. Although OP uses the term "horizontal" in reference to an adjustment, it is more correctly interpreted as "geometric," as all three geometric (lat/long/ellipsoid height) coordinates are involved. By constraining only one mark in 3-D, the adjustment allows the least squares solution the maximum freedom to help detect outliers and other problems.

#### **Horizontal Constrained Adjustment**

All marks with known geometric coordinates in the NSRS reference frame are constrained to those coordinates in 3-D. This forces alignment of the user marks in the project to the constrained marks. This is sometimes described as propagating the reference frame from the constrained to the unconstrained marks.

#### Vertical Free Adjustment

As with the horizontal free adjustment, the vertical free is a minimally constrained adjustment used for quality control. The adjustment aligns the marks to the vertical datum. Note that areas with little or no existing control in the appropriate vertical datum may be problematic, but can still be adjusted vertically. For such special situations, take the time to describe it in detail in your <u>Survey Project Proposal</u>.

#### **Vertical Constrained Adjustment**

This adjustment forces alignment of the constrained marks to the vertical datum and propagates the vertical datum to the vertical coordinates of the unconstrained marks.

# 11.2 Recommended Network Adjustment Sequence Without NGS Project Tracking ID

There are any number of reasons why a user may opt not to submit a campaign-style GNSS project to NGS. A project may lie outside the United States and its territories; a project may, for scientific reasons, prefer to be tied to the ITRF; alignment to the NSRS reference frame is not wanted; alignment to a local network/datum may be required, etc. Furthermore, GPSCOM attempts to resolve a larger number of error sources than ADJUST. To support the widest possible client base, OP allows users to remain entirely in GPSCOM. Since the project will *not* be submitted to NGS, there is no need to have users follow the same sequential processing steps as presented in Section 11.1. However, OP will suggest an initial minimally constrained adjustment which is exactly the same as the Preliminary Adjustment shown in 12.1. This will enable the user to evaluate how all sessions fit together without any confounding influence of multiple constraints which may end up being inconsistent. Refer to 12.1 for additional guidance on setting up and analyzing the results from this adjustment. After verifying the correctness of all sessions and observations, the user can then proceed to conduct another (or more) adjustment(s), if needed, with additional constraints.

# **11.3 Verifying Constraints Prior to an Adjustment**

Prior to running network adjustments, it is important to verify that the intended constraints are indeed offered as constraints in the adjustment. Additional scrutiny of the orthometric heights is recommended to ensure that the expected heights are being offered.



OP will only offer as constraints marks with published coordinates. If the user has altered the coordinates on a published mark (e.g. "Manage Coordinates" in the Individual Mark Page), OP will not offer it as a constraint.



In particular cases which must be detailed in the Project Proposal, a user may constrain vertically to a leveled height not yet published by selecting "LEVELING NOT PUBLISHED." The height tag will no longer read the published vertical datum (e.g. "NAVD 88").

# 11.4 Setting up a Network Adjustment

Setting up a network adjustment involves the same basic functions and screen for each of the adjustments. For simplicity, an overview of the steps involved is presented here.



button on the Manager's Page:



Figure 11-2: Set up Adjustment button on the Manager's Page controls bar

Note that the "Set up Adjustment" button will not be available (greyed out) until at least one session has been

processed:

Clicking on the "Set up Adjustment" button will open up a new browser window similar to the one seen in session processing. If a Tracking ID is present, the series of five sequential network adjustment steps is listed, with the first step being the Preliminary Adjustment (see highlighted area on the left panel of figure below). Without a Tracking ID, this section of the window is left blank (right panel of figure).

? 🗘		Perform Adjustment		×	? ?	2		Perform Adjustment		×
NGS survey project	tracking ID : 0000				NGS surve	v project tracking ID	: NONE			
Preliminary	O Horizontal free	O Horizontal O constrained	Vertical free Over cons	ertical strained	Adjustmen	t Name (30 char max	): final			
Adjustment Name (3	30 char max): final					Included So	utions	B	Available Solutions	i
[add]	ncluded Solutions	2017-241-A 2017-242-A 2017-243-A 2017-263-A	Available Solutions	*	[add]	CONSTRAINT	HEIGHT (m)	▲ 2017-241-A 2017-242-A 2017-243-A 2017-263-A 2017-263-A 2017-263-A	LONGITUDE (° ' '')	× REF. FRAME
MARK CONS CORS CONS Processing Preferer Output Ref Frame: Output Geoid Model: Constraint Weights:	ITRAINT HEIGHT (m) ITRAINT HEIGHT (m) Inces LET OPUS CHOOSE ↓ LET OPUS CHOOSE ↓ LOOSE ● NORMAL	LATITUDE (° ' ") LATITUDE (° ' ") TIGHT	LONGITUDE (° ' '') LONGITUDE (° ' '')	REF. FRAME REF. FRAME	CORS Processing Output Ref Output Geo Constraint	CONSTRAINT Preferences Frame: LET OPU Id Model: LET OPU Veights: 0L00SE	HEIGHT (m)	LATITUDE (* ' ")	LONGITUDE (° ' '')	REF. FRAME
ç	Set up Adjus	stment with	Tracking I	þ		Set up	Adjustm	ent withou	ıt Tracking	ID

Figure 11-3: Network adjustment windows with NGS Tracking ID and without

To perform an adjustment, the user selects the desired sessions (or solutions) and clicks on the left arrow

button button button (s) from the "Available" table to the "Included" table.

If multiple solutions were performed on a particular session, only one of the solutions for that session should be chosen to take part in the adjustment (see explanation of Session vs Solution in Section 10.4 and in the Glossary). Note that the Preliminary Adjustment is the only step that has all the session processing as available solutions, subsequent adjustments will only show the previous adjustment as possible input.

The user may want to run several alternative preliminary adjustments by varying the combinations of included session solutions and constraints. Each such attempt should be named so that it can be identified later.

#### Solution Naming Conventions in the adjustment sequence:

In the Preliminary Adjustment, OPUS by default assigns a two-part solution name, starting with the word "network" and ending in the word "final." The two part name is therefore "network-final." The first part of the name ("network") cannot be altered by the user, but the second part can be changed using the "SOLUTIONS" button on the Manager's Page.

Manage Solutions for "Sample Project"						
Apply Changes and Close       Apply Changes and Close         A SOLUTION identifier must.       A SOLUTION identifier must not.         • be unique within this project.       • contain a forward- or backward-slash, e.g. "/" or "\".         • be 1 to 30 characters in length.       • contain a forward- or backward-slash, e.g. "/" or "\".						
SESSION SOLUTIONS						
Rename as 2017-241-A	Confirm:	A	Delete:			
Rename as 2017-242-A	Confirm:	A	Delete:			
Rename as 2017-243-A	Confirm:	A	Delete:			
Rename as 2017-262-A	Confirm:	A	Delete:			
Rename as 2017-263-A	Confirm:	A	Delete:			
NETWORK ADJUSTMENTS Website Owner: National Geodetic Survey / Last modified by OPUS Projects team Dec 15 2020						
NOS Home • NGS Employ	ees • Privacy Policy • Disclaimer • 1	JSA.gov • Ready.gov • Site Map • Cont	act Webmaster			

Figure 11-4: The Manage Solutions window, enabling the user to rename or delete any solution in the project

The second part of the name can be considered the "root" or "family" name for all the subsequent adjustments, as the two-part name is then carried forward (and cannot be changed). Recall that, although a session solution name can be changed, the session itself cannot.



Figure 11-5: Conceptual diagram of the relationships between session solutions and network solutions in OP

Based on the results of the first preliminary adjustment, the user may feel inclined to run more than one of these adjustments. For this reason, it is recommended to change the family name of the first preliminary adjustment to something like "test1," as shown in Figure 11-5. In this way, it will be clear that this adjustment is run using the output of that initial, trial adjustment.

When the user has decided on the final preliminary adjustment, it is recommended to call it "final" *before* proceeding to the subsequent adjustments. The names of the solutions can be altered using the **Solutions** button on the Manager's Page.

If multiple preliminary solutions are computed, it is recommended to delete all versions except the one to be carried forward to the next step (Horizontal Free Adjustment).

Example List of Preliminary Adjustments:

network-test1 network-test2 network-test3 network-final



"Final" and "Preliminary" are relative terms. This adjustment represents a "final" step within GPSCOM, but simultaneously, a preliminary step required to enter the ADJUST domain.

#### Selecting constraints and performing the adjustment

Once the desired content has been moved from the "available" window to the "included" window, a table will be generated with suggested constraints:

Perform Adjustment								
GS survey	project tracking ID :	0000						
Drolimina		orizontal from	Uni	vontal constrained	al frag	Loopstrained		
Premima	iy On	Unzontarinee				rconsuameu		
Adjustment	Name (30 char max)	: final						
	In	cluded Solution	S		Availat	ble Solutions		
2017-243-A 2017-262-A 2017-263-A								
MARK	CONSTRAINT	HEIC	GHT (m)	LATITUDE (° ' '')	LONGITUDE (° ' '')	REF. FRAME		
bell 🔘	NONE 🗸	EL HGT 🛩	81.236	N39:32:57.82855	W076:40:02.89291	NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) 🗸		
bell 🔘 brun 🔵	NONE V	EL HGT V	81.236 106.519	N39:32:57.82855 N39:19:02.99928	W076:40:02.89291 W077:36:40.44276	NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) V NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) V		
bell O brun O calv O	NONE     NONE     NONE	EL HGT ¥ EL HGT ¥	81.236 106.519 27.832	N39:32:57.82855 N39:19:02.99928 N39:02:59.49645	W076:40:02.89291 W077:36:40.44276 W076:55:59.37895	NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) ✓           NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) ✓           NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) ✓		
bell O brun O calv O e087 O	NONE     V       NONE     V       NONE     V	EL HGT V EL HGT V EL HGT V	81.236 106.519 27.832 215.852	N39:32:57.82855 N39:19:02.99928 N39:02:59.49645 N39:20:02.71879	W076:40:02.89291 W077:36:40.44276 W076:55:59.37895 W077:09:20.33993	NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) ♥           NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) ♥           NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) ♥           NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) ♥		
bell Orun Orun Orun Orun Orun Orun Orun Orun	NONE       NONE       NONE       NONE       NONE	EL HGT V EL HGT V EL HGT V EL HGT V	81.236 106.519 27.832 215.852 75.264	N39:32:57.82855 N39:19:02.99928 N39:02:59.49645 N39:20:02.71879 N39:29:55.89605	W076:40:02.89291           W077:36:40.44276           W076:55:59.37895           W077:09:20.33993           W077:19:38.31730	NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) ♥		
bell brun brun brun brun brun brun brun brun	NONE     V       NONE     V       NONE     V       NONE     V       NONE     V       NONE     V	EL HGT V EL HGT V EL HGT V EL HGT V EL HGT V	81.236 106.519 27.832 215.852 75.264 124.640	N39:32:57.82855 N39:19:02.99928 N39:02:59.49645 N39:20:02.71879 N39:29:55.89605 N39:13:34.24165	W076:40:02.89291           W077:36:40.44276           W076:55:59.37895           W077:09:20.33993           W077:19:38.31730           W076:48:50.46351	NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) ♥		
bell brun calv calv calv calv calv calv calv calv	NONE     V	EL HGT V EL HGT V EL HGT V EL HGT V EL HGT V EL HGT V EL HGT V	81.236 106.519 27.832 215.852 75.264 124.640 105.807	N39:32:57.82855 N39:19:02.99928 N39:02:59.49645 N39:20:02.71879 N39:29:55.89605 N39:13:34.24165 N39:07:51.97927	W076:40:02.89291           W077:36:40.44276           W076:55:59.37895           W077:09:20.33993           W077:19:38.31730           W076:48:50.46351           W077:12:53.73476	NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) ♥		
bell brun calv e087 fran gorf n102 pond	NONE     V	EL HGT V EL HGT V	81.236 106.519 27.832 215.852 75.264 124.640 105.807 231.990	N39:32:57.82855 N39:19:02.99928 N39:02:59.49645 N39:20:02.71879 N39:29:55.89605 N39:13:34.24165 N39:07:51.97927 N39:38:26.70394	W076:40:02.89291           W077:36:40.44276           W076:55:59.37895           W077:09:20.33993           W077:19:38.31730           W076:48:50.46351           W077:12:53.73476           W076:52:06.82195	NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) ♥		
bell brun calv e087 fran gorf pond tane	NONE     V	EL HGT V EL HGT V	81.236 106.519 27.832 215.852 75.264 124.640 105.807 231.990 111.828	N39:32:57.82855 N39:19:02.99928 N39:02:59.49645 N39:20:02.71879 N39:29:55.89605 N39:13:34.24165 N39:07:51.97927 N39:38:26.70394 N39:39:48.06504	W076:40:02.89291           W077:36:40.44276           W076:55:59.37895           W077:09:20.33993           W077:19:38.31730           W076:48:50.46351           W077:12:53.73476           W076:52:06.82195           W077:11:00.77708	NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) ♥		
bell brun calv e087 fran gorf pond tane CORS	NONE       ONNE       ONNE       ONNE       ONNE       ONNE	EL HGT V EL HGT V	81.236 106.519 27.832 215.852 75.264 124.640 105.807 231.990 111.828 HT (m)	N39:32:57.82855 N39:19:02.99928 N39:02:59.49645 N39:20:02.71879 N39:29:55.89605 N39:13:34.24165 N39:07:51.97927 N39:38:26.70394 N39:39:48.06504 LATITUDE (* '')	W076:40:02.89291           W077:36:40.44276           W076:55:59.37895           W077:09:20.33993           W077:19:38.31730           W076:48:50.46351           W076:52:06.82195           W077:11:00.77708           LONGITUDE (*'")	NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) ♥         REF. FRAME		
bell brun calv calv calv calv calv calv calv calv	NONE	EL HGT V EL HGT V	81.236 106.519 27.832 215.852 75.264 124.640 105.807 231.990 111.828 <b>3HT (m)</b> 201.984	N39:32:57.82855         N39:19:02.99928         N39:02:59.49645         N39:20:02.71879         N39:29:55.89605         N39:13:34.24165         N39:07:51.97927         N39:38:26.70394         N39:39:48.06504         LATITUDE (° ' ")         N45:57:20.84721	W076:40:02.89291           W077:36:40.44276           W077:36:40.44276           W076:55:59.37895           W077:09:20.33993           W077:19:38.31730           W076:48:50.46351           W076:52:06.82195           W077:11:00.77708           LONGITUDE (****)           W078:04:16.90638	NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) ♥         REF. FRAME         NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) ♥		
bell brun brun brun brun brun brun brun brun	NONE	EL HGT V EL HGT V	81.236           106.519           27.832           215.852           75.264           124.640           105.807           231.990           111.828 <b>HT (m)</b> 201.984           -13.569	N39:32:57.82855         N39:19:02.99928         N39:02:59.49645         N39:29:55.89605         N39:13:34.24165         N39:07:51.97927         N39:38:26.70394         N39:39:48.06504         LATITUDE (° ''')         N45:57:20.84721         N45:39:52.28240	W076:40:02.89291           W077:36:40.44276           W077:36:40.44276           W076:55:59.37895           W077:09:20.33993           W077:19:38.31730           W076:48:50.46351           W077:12:53.73476           W076:52:06.82195           W077:11:00.77708           LONGITUDE (° '')           W078:04:16.90638           W075:22:38.76229	NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) ♥         REF. FRAME         NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) ♥		
bell brun brun brun brun brun brun brun brun	NONE	EL HGT V EL HGT V	81.236           106.519           27.832           215.852           75.264           124.640           105.807           231.990           111.828 <b>HT (m)</b> 201.984           -13.569           6.545	N39:32:57.82855         N39:19:02.99928         N39:02:59.49645         N39:29:55.89605         N39:13:34.24165         N39:07:51.97927         N39:38:26.70394         N39:39:48.06504         LATITUDE (° '')         N45:57:20.84721         N38:39:52.28240         N39:40:36.24965	W076:40:02.89291           W077:36:40.44276           W077:36:40.44276           W076:55:59.37895           W077:09:20.33993           W077:19:38.31730           W076:48:50.46351           W077:12:53.73476           W076:52:06.82195           W077:11:00.77708           LONGITUDE (° '')           W078:04:16.90638           W075:42:38.76229           W075:44:34.82897	NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) ♥         REF. FRAME         NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) ♥         NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) ♥		
bell brun brun brun brun brun brun brun brun	NONE       S-D	EL HGT v	81.236           106.519           27.832           215.852           75.264           124.640           105.807           231.990           111.828           SHT (m)           201.984           -13.569           6.545           15.784	N39:32:57.82855         N39:19:02.99928         N39:02:59.49645         N39:20:02.71879         N39:29:55.89605         N39:13:34.24165         N39:07:51.97927         N39:38:26.70394         N39:39:48.06504         LATIFUDE (° * ")         N45:57:20.84721         N38:39:52.28240         N39:40:36.24965         N39:01:18.18974	W076:40:02.89291           W077:36:40.44276           W077:36:40.44276           W076:55:59.37895           W077:09:20.33993           W077:19:38.31730           W076:48:50.46351           W077:12:53.73476           W076:52:06.82195           W077:11:00.77708           LONGITUDE (° '')           W078:04:16.90638           W075:22:38.76229           W075:44:34.82897           W076:49:36.57470	NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) ♥         NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) ♥		
bell brun brun brun brun brun brun brun brun	NONE       NONE	EL HGT v         EL HGT v	81.236           106.519           27.832           215.852           75.264           124.640           105.807           231.990           111.828           SHT (m)           201.984           -13.569           6.545           15.784           -26.671	N39:32:57.82855         N39:19:02.99928         N39:02:59.49645         N39:20:02.71879         N39:29:55.89605         N39:13:34.24165         N39:07:51.97927         N39:38:26.70394         N39:39:48.06504         LATIFUDE (° * ")         N45:57:20.84721         N39:40:36.24965         N39:01:18.18974         N38:35:19.71005	W076:40:02.89291           W077:36:40.44276           W077:36:40.44276           W076:55:59.37895           W077:09:20.33993           W077:19:38.31730           W076:48:50.46351           W076:52:06.82195           W076:52:06.82195           W077:11:00.77708           LONGITUDE (° '')           W078:04:16.90638           W075:22:38.76229           W075:44:34.82897           W076:07:49.33197	NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) ♥         NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) ♥		

Figure 11-6: Sample Network Adjustment window showing the OP recommended selections for a Preliminary Adjustment

OP suggests constraints for each adjustment step. The CONSTRAINT column identifies the type of constraint (NONE, 3-D, VERT) applied to a MARK or CORS. All other stations are grayed out. The user should review the constraints to ensure they are as expected. To add a constraint, choose from the CONSTRAINT drop down menu. To remove a constraint, simply change the box to NONE. Once a mark is selected as a constraint, its latitude, longitude, and height are able to be edited (not recommended). For more information on constraints specific to each of the sequential adjustments intended for submission to NGS, please see Section 12.

In running the adjustment, OP assigns uncertainties to individual marks. For user marks that do not already have published coordinates, the uncertainties come from the OPUS solution used for the mark's a priori coordinates (typically the first observation file for the mark seen in the project). For user marks with published coordinates, the uncertainties are taken from the datasheets. CORS are an exception. While they can be constrained to their NCN coordinates, the coordinates' uncertainties are the RMS values computed from network monitoring results around the time of the project. For examples of the most recent RMS values, find the CORS short-term plots for a station via the <u>NGS CORS page</u>.



Estimated uncertainties (sigmas) vary according to the source of the coordinates. You can modify the sigmas by changing the source under "Manage Coordinates" on the individual mark pages. However, for submitting to NGS, any changes must be addressed in the final project report.

Make sure that the "Processing Preferences" below the MARK and CORS tables are correctly set (Output Reference Frame and Output Geoid Model are set to "LET OPUS CHOOSE" and the constraint weights is set to "NORMAL).

Review the entire window to ensure all selections are as you intended them and click the "Perform Adjustment" button at the top:

"Sample Project" Network Adjustment						
? 4	Perform Adjustment					
NGS survey project t	racking ID : 0000					
Preliminary	O Horizontal free	O Horizontal constrained O Vertical free	O Vertical constrained			
	11 D C A 12 A					

Figure 11-7: The "Perform Adjustment" button on the network adjustment page

A screen acknowledging the submission will appear. Review the screen as it confirms what has been submitted for processing.



Figure 11-8: Sample network adjustment confirmation pop-up window

## **11.5 Network Adjustment Results**

Once the processing is completed, output files will be available in a manner similar to session processing (email attachments and output files in OP under "Show File").

The body of the email sent to the project manager will have an abbreviated summary of the solution. Note that this summary lists coordinate shifts (shown in the yellow highlight in the sample output below; the shifts will be discussed in more detail in Section 11.7).

#### Sample Network Adjustment Email

NGS OPUS-Projects 2.11 NETWORK ADJUSTMENT REPORT FOR network-final FROM PROJECT Sample Project. SELECTED REPORTS ARE ATTACHED TO THIS EMAIL. ALL REPORTS ARE AVAILABLE THROUGH THE PROJECT'S WEB PAGE FOR THIS SOLUTION. ABBREVIATED SUMMARY SUBMITTED BY: jane.doe SOLUTION FILE NAME: network-final.sum GPSCOM(2008.25) SOLUTION SOFTWARE: SOLUTION DATE: 2021-03-29T15:41:12 UTC STANDARD ERROR OF UNIT WEIGHT: 0.578 TOTAL NUMBER OF OBSERVATIONS: 264815 TOTAL NUMBER OF MARKS: 9 CONSTRAINED MARKS: 1 HORIZONTAL, 0 VERTICAL loyf N38:58:28.07428 W076:31:19.88533 -14.498m NAD\_83(2011) @ 2010.0000 NEU SIGMAS 0.12cm 0.10cm 0.13cm lovf START TIME: 2020-10-05T00:00:00 GPS STOP TIME: 2020-10-06T23:59:30 GPS FREQUENCY: L1-ONLY TO ION-FREE [BY BASELINE LENGTH] OBSERVATION INTERVAL: 30 s ELEVATION CUTOFF: 15 deg 7200 s [PIECEWISE LINEAR PARAMETERIZATION] TROPO INTERVAL: DD CORRELATIONS: ON INCLUDED SOLUTION RMS SOFTWARE RUN DATE \_\_\_\_\_ 1.2 cm page5(2008.25) 2021-03-26T15:43 UTC 1.2 cm page5(2008.25) 2021-03-26T15:44 UTC 1) 2020-279 A 2) 2020-280 A OBS OMITTED FIXED IN SOLUTION(S) BASELINE LENGTH RMS \_\_\_\_\_ gode-loyf26.907 km1.1 cm359870.4%94.0%1, 2godz-loyf26.907 km1.2 cm357191.0%96.0%1, 2pip1-loyf26.964 km1.2 cm278770.9%100.0%1, 284tb-loyf32.559 km1.2 cm250221.4%99.4%1, 2umbc-loyf35.360 km1.4 cm359340.8%97.5%1, 2wdc6-loyf47.548 km1.0 cm349570.5%95.7%1, 2baco-loyf47.745 km1.2 cm354392.1%97.0%1, 2leba-loyf671.783 km1.1 cm338800.3%99.7%1, 2 MARK ESTIMATED - A PRIORI COORDINATE SHIFTS \_\_\_\_\_ 84tb N: -0.004 m (0.001 m) E: -0.003 m (0.001 m) H: -0.001 m (0.001 m) 0.003 m (0.001 m) E: 0.000 m (0.001 m) H: -0.002 m (0.001 m) baco N: 0.003 m (0.001 m) E: -0.001 m (0.001 m) H: 0.005 m (0.001 m) gode N:

godz N: 0.004 m (0.001 m) E: 0.000 m (0.001 m) H: 0.003 m (0.001 m)

leba	N:	-0.001 n	n (0.001	m)	Е:	0.002 m	(0.001 )	m) H:	-0.004	m	(0.001	m)
loyf	N:	0.001 n	n (0.001	m)	Ε:	-0.001 m	(0.001 )	m) H:	0.000	m	(0.001	m)
pip1	N:	-0.006 n	n (0.001	m)	Ε:	-0.012 m	(0.001 )	m) H:	-0.025	m	(0.001	m)
umbc	N:	0.003 n	n (0.001	m)	Е:	-0.001 m	(0.001 )	m) H:	0.002	m	(0.001	m)
wdc6	N:	0.004 n	n (0.001	m)	E:	-0.001 m	(0.001 )	m) H:	-0.001	m	(0.001	m)

ATTACHMENT INVENTORY:

```
Processing Report (.txt) : network-final.txt
B-file (.bfile) : network-final.bfile
G-file (.gfile) : network-final.gfile
Processing Log (.sum) : network-final.sum
SINEX Output (.snx) : network-final.snx
Processing Report (.xml) : network-final.xml
Serfil (.serfil) : consolidated.serfil
```

There are eleven (11) possible output files generated by OP, depending on the type of adjustment run (Table 12-1). The file names vary slightly between the "Show File" window and the email attachments. In the table below, the output file names are given depending on whether they are accessed within OP's "Show File" window, or whether they are viewed from the email attachments. Not every output is provided in each adjustment step: under "Included in" in the table below, P = Preliminary, HF = Horizontal Free, HC = Horizontal Constrained, VF = Vertical Free, and VC = Vertical Constrained. Submission = when the "Review and Submit to IDB" button is clicked.

OP_Show File	Email Attachment	Included in	Description
Processing Report	Network x x.txt	P, HF, HC, VF, VC	The overall summary of the solution. The report provides a priori shifts (see Section 11.5), coordinates in both the NSRS reference frame (e.g. NAD 83(2011) and the global reference frame (ITRF2014), variance of unit weight, list of no check stations (see Section 7.3.5).
Processing Report	Network x x.xml	P, HF, HC, VF, VC,	The same output as the .sum file, but
(XIVIL)		Submission	expressed in an XIVIL document.
Processing Log	Network x x.sum	P, HF,HC, VF, VC, Submission	For Session Solutions this is the PAGES output. For <i>Preliminary</i> Network Solutions and network solutions without a Project Tracking ID, this is the GPSCOM output. For <i>all subsequent</i> Network Solutions using a Project Tracking ID, this is the ADJUST output.
SINEX	Network x.snx	P Only	The Solution Independent Exchange file is commonly used in academic applications. It contains enough information to derive the solution or combine the results with others to create new solutions.
B-file	Network x x.bfile	P, HF, HC, VF, VC, Submission	The FGCS standard (formerly known as the bluebook) format of project and occupation data.

#### Table 12-1: Adjustment Results and File Names

OP_Show File	Email Attachment	Included in	Description
G-file	Network x x.gfile	P, HF, HC, VF, VC,	The FGCS standard (formerly known as the
		Submission	bluebook) format of relative vectors.
Preplt	Network x	HF, HC, VF, VC	Uses the output of ADJUST to provide a
	x.preplt2		summary of the residuals
COMPVECS	Network x x.cvecs	HF only	Lists a comparison of repeat vectors and
			their differences, as compared to the first
			(initial) vector. This is used to find outliers
			among replicate vectors.
Chkobs	Network x	HF, Submission	Checks the observation dataset (B-file) for
	x.chkobs		correct structure and syntax. Errors in the
			file should be checked and addressed in the
			appropriate place such as the Individual
			User Mark Pages
Obschk (short)	Network x	HF, Submission	Checks the integrity of the B-file and G-file
	x.obschk.short		and provides a summary of issues found.
			Errors in the file must be checked and
			resolved if submitting the project to NGS:
			describe all issues in the project report.
Obschk (long)	Network x	HF, Submission	Provides the same output as the short
	x.obschk.long		version with the addition of listing station
			occupations and groupings from the B-file
			and G-file.

Table 12-1: Adjustment Results and File Names (continued)

The results of a network solution can also be viewed from within the individual user mark pages by selecting the solution name (in the example below, the preliminary network adjustment named "B"):



*Figure 11-9: Sample network solution selected from the individual user mark page* 

# **11.6 Analyzing Network Adjustment Results**

Analyzing the results depends somewhat where one is in the adjustment process. It is helpful to understand that the Processing Report, Processing Log, and individual user mark pages are all providing the same adjustment results, but displayed in various ways to give the user multiple options for analysis.

## 11.6.1 Processing Report (\*.txt file)

The Processing Report provides a summary of the adjustment. It is included for all network adjustments. Near the top of the report, verify that the standard error of unit weight and the number of marks constrained are correct:

```
NGS OPUS-Projects 2.11 NETWORK ADJUSTMENT REPORT
FOR network-final-horizontal-free
FROM PROJECT Sample Project.
SELECTED REPORTS ARE ATTACHED TO THIS EMAIL. ALL REPORTS ARE
AVAILABLE THROUGH THE PROJECT'S WEB PAGE FOR THIS SOLUTION.
                 ABBREVIATED SUMMARY
SUBMITTED BY:
                              jane.doe
SOLUTION FILE NAME:
                              network-final-horizontal-free.sum
SOLUTION SOFTWARE:
                              ADJUST(6.4.3)
SOLUTION DATE:
                              2021-03-29T15:46:56 UTC
STANDARD ERROR OF UNIT WEIGHT: 1.000
TOTAL NUMBER OF OBSERVATIONS: 264815
TOTAL NUMBER OF MARKS:
                              9
                             1 HORIZONTAL, 0 VERTICAL
CONSTRAINED MARKS:
loyf N38:58:28.07428 W076:31:19.88533 -14.498m NAD 83(2011) @ 2010.0000
           0.13cm
loyf
                            0.38cm
                                        1.97cm
                                                      NEU SIGMAS
START TIME:
                              2020-10-05T00:00:00 GPS
STOP TIME:
                              2020-10-06T23:59:30 GPS
FREQUENCY:
                             L1-ONLY TO ION-FREE [BY BASELINE LENGTH]
OBSERVATION INTERVAL:
                              30 s
ELEVATION CUTOFF:
                              15 deg
TROPO INTERVAL:
                              7200 s [PIECEWISE LINEAR PARAMETERIZATION]
DD CORRELATIONS:
                              ON
```

The report will also show if there are any marks with only one set of observations (typically called a "no check" mark, when the mark does not appear in more than one session; Figure 11.10).

network-Preliminary-horizontal-free	.txt created: 2020-05-05 13:	56 UTC downloaded: 2020-05-26 18:19 UTC
NGS BETA OPUS-Proj	ects 1.52 NETWORK ADJUST	MENT REPORT
All coordinate accuracies repo	rted here are 1x the for	mal
uncertainties from the solution	n. For additional inform	lation:
geodesy.noaa.gov/oros/osing_or	us-Projects.ntmi#accurat	y
These positions were computed	without any knowledge by	the National
Geodetic Survey regarding the	equipment or field opera	ting procedures used.
, , , ,		
SUBMITTED BY:	kevin.jordan	
SOLUTION FILE NAME:	network-Preliminary-hor	rizontal-free.sum
SOLUTION SOFTWARE:	ADJUST(6.4.2)	
SOLUTION DATE:	2020-05-05T09:56:11 UTC	
TOTAL NUMBER OF ORSERVATIONS:	1.000	
TOTAL NUMBER OF OBSERVATIONS.	13	
NO-CHECK MARKS:	d871	
CONSTRAINED MARKS:	1 HORIZONTAL, Ø VERTICA	IL .
chb6 N45:39:13.28056 W084:27:5	7.01569 145.877m	NAD_83(2011) @ 2010.0000
chb6 0.25cm	0.17cm 0.42cm	NEU SIGMAS
START TIME:	2018-06-2/100:00:00 GPS	
EREQUENCY:	11-0NLY TO TON-EREE [B)	, RASELTNE LENGTH]
OBSERVATION INTERVAL:	30 s	biseene eenonig
ELEVATION CUTOFF:	15 deg	
TROPO INTERVAL:	7200 S [PIECEWISE LINEA	R PARAMETERIZATION]
DD CORRELATIONS:	ON	

Figure 11-10: Sample network solution processing report showing a "no check" mark

Further down in the Processing Report are tables listing coordinate shifts (Figure 11.11). The shifts compare coordinates from the current adjustment to one of the following, according to the particular adjustment being run:

- 1) A priori coordinate: Preliminary Adjustment
- 2) Coordinates from previous adjustment: HF, HC, VF, VC
- 3) Published coordinates: HC, VC

The table name describes the shift being shown. The values in parentheses are the uncertainties of the adjusted coordinates. Although these uncertainties are likely optimistic, they are still useful for assessing consistency and overall quality. The shifts themselves are related to the constraint weights set in the user preferences: "loose" constraint weights will allow larger shifts than "tight" constraints weights.

The table itself looks similar across each of the sequential adjustments, regardless of which shifts are being computed. Note that coordinate shifts are given in other adjustment output, and sometimes they refer to separate comparisons. Explanations of what all the shifts represent are given in their respective subsections below.

Regardless of which adjustment the user is running, a well-fitting adjustment results in relatively small shifts, typically 2 cm horizontal, and 4 cm vertical.

MARK	ESTI	MATED -	A	PRIORI	CO	ORDIN	IATE SHIF	:TS	5						
algo	N:	-0.005	m	(0.001	m)	E:	-0.003	m	(0.001	m)	H:	-0.006	m	(0.001	m)
bell	N:	0.035	m	(0.001	m)	E:	-0.122	m	(0.001	m)	H:	-0.035	m	(0.001	m)
brun	N:	0.032	m	(0.001	m)	E:	-0.122	m	(0.001	m)	H:	-0.038	m	(0.001	m)
calv	N:	0.037	m	(0.001	m)	E:	-0.137	m	(0.001	m)	H:	-0.026	m	(0.001	m)
ded2	N:	-0.003	m	(0.001	m)	E:	-0.001	m	(0.001	m)	H:	-0.018	m	(0.001	m)
dene	N:	-0.005	m	(0.001	m)	E:	-0.002	m	(0.001	m)	H:	-0.009	m	(0.001	m)
e087	N:	0.038	m	(0.001	m)	E:	-0.138	m	(0.001	m)	H:	-0.028	m	(0.001	m)
fran	N:	0.025	m	(0.001	m)	E:	-0.110	m	(0.001	m)	H:	-0.033	m	(0.001	m)
gode	N:	-0.003	m	(0.001	m)	E:	-0.004	m	(0.001	m)	H:	0.000	m	(0.001	m)
gorf	N:	0.028	m	(0.001	m)	E:	-0.124	m	(0.001	m)	H:	-0.031	m	(0.001	m)
hnpt	N:	-0.004	m	(0.001	m)	E:	-0.004	m	(0.001	m)	H:	-0.005	m	(0.001	m)
n102	N:	0.025	m	(0.001	m)	E:	-0.128	m	(0.001	m)	H:	-0.019	m	(0.001	m)
pond	N:	0.027	m	(0.001	m)	E:	-0.119	m	(0.001	m)	H:	-0.031	m	(0.001	m)
tane	N:	0.030	m	(0.001	m)	E:	-0.123	m	(0.001	m)	H:	-0.017	m	(0.001	m)
york	N:	-0.004	m	(0.001	m)	E:	-0.004	m	(0.001	m)	Н:	-0.007	m	(0.001	m)
		1	_	<u> </u>			1		<u> </u>	_				r r	_
A O O O	Agin 75, 02, 03, 03, 03, 03, 03, 03, 03, 03, 03, 03	W Sted Coloringto	, Se	tuit	00°	Adi tast dinate Shin	(E) <sup>ucst</sup> Colorinots	Jun	Control Control	ont de Ship	Adji, Adji,	(r) <sup>-3fey</sup> Cordinar	, S 2,	Aulie Colland	

Figure 11-11: The explanation of a solution processing report showing "MARK ESTIMATED - A PRIORI COORDINATE SHIFTS"

-0.004 m (0.001 m) E: -0.004 m (0.001 m) H: -0.007 m (0.001 m) york N: UNCONSTRAINED MARKS algo (algo a 5) MARK: REF FRAME: NAD\_83(2011) @ 2010.0000 ITRF2014 @ 2017.6885 918129.168 m 0.001 m 918130.075 m 0.001 m X: -4346071.314 m 4561977.895 m -4346072.651 m 0.001 m 
 20.84707
 0.001 m
 4561977.895 m

 43.09341
 0.001 m
 281 55 43.06502

 16.90659
 0.001 m
 78 04 16.93498

 201.975 m
 0.001 m
 200 500
 0.001 m Υ: 4561977.886 m 0.001 m 0.001 m Z: 45 57 20.84707 0.001 m LAT: E LON: 281 55 43.09341 0.001 m 78 04 16.90659 W LON: 0.001 m EL HGT: 200.942 m 0.001 m 237.476 m 0.031 m (= EL HGT - -35.501 GEOID18 HGT) ORTHO HGT: UTM COORDINATES UTM (Zone 17) 5093306.546 m NORTHING (Y) EASTING (X) 726948.500 m CONVERGENCE 2.10601111 deg POINT SCALE 1.00023323 COMBINED FACTOR 1.00020156 MARK: bell (0108; bell 1) REF FRAME: NAD 83(2011) @ 2010.0000 ITRF2014 @ 2017.6651 1135663.926 m 0.001 m Х: 1135664.801 m 0.001 m -4792046.127 m 0.001 m Y: -4792044.686 m 0.001 m 0.001 m 4039585.493 m 0.001 m 39 32 57.86037 0.001 m 283 19 57.08494 4039585.549 m 0.001 m Ζ: 4039585.493 m 0.001 m 39 32 57.82868 LAT: 0.001 m E LON: 283 19 57.10668 0.001 m 2.89332 0.001 m 76 40 02.91506 81.201 m 0.001 m 79.929 m 76 40 02.89332 0.001 m W LON: EL HGT: 79.929 m 0.001 m ORTHO HGT: 113.504 m 0.015 m (= EL HGT - -32.303 GEOID18 HGT) UTM COORDINATES STATE PLANE COORDINATES UTM (Zone 18) SPC (1900 MD) NORTHING (Y) 4379074.301 m 685862.654 ft US EASTING (X) 356730.208 m 1406106.870 ft US CONVERGENCE -1.06193056 deg 0.20870833 deg POINT SCALE 0.99985272 1.00001890 COMBINED FACTOR 0.99983998 1.00000616 US NATIONAL GRID DESIGNATOR: 18SUJ5673079074 (NAD 83) 

Below the coordinate shifts, the unconstrained marks are then shown in an OPUS-like solution report format:

Figure 11-12: Network solution processing report showing the coordinates of unconstrained marks

The constrained marks are shown in a similar format, with the addition of shifts between the output adjustment and the input adjustment.



Figure 11-13: Network solution processing report showing coordinates of a constrained mark and the coordinate shifts between computed and published coordinates

## 11.6.2 Processing Log (\*.sum file)

The contents of the Processing Log will differ somewhat between the Preliminary (GPSCOM) and the subsequent network adjustments (ADJUST). With GPSCOM, the Processing Log and the Processing Report contain similar information (so there is no need to review both). However, for adjustments run with ADJUST (HF, HC, VF, VC), the Processing Log contains important information not contained in the Processing Report (historically referred to as "ADJUST Output):"

- List of constraints and options for the adjustment (known as the adjustment option file for ADJUST, called the "AFILE")
- Options chosen in the ADJUST program are explained
- List of constraints used in the adjustment
- Observational Summary shows the number of vectors per mark and whether the station is fully constrained
- Commencing Adjustment shows the start of the iterative adjustment
- Adjustment Converged shows the final statistics including variance factors
- Blue-Book Statistics give statistics of the input files
- Normalized Residuals
- Residual Statistics
- Adjusted Positions

- Coordinate shifts: Comparison Of Adjusted and Constrained Coordinates and Heights (mostly applies to HC Adjustment). For adjustments with multiple constraints, this is the only location to review the shifts between adjusted and published coordinates.
- Local and Network Accuracies

RESIDUAL STATISTICS is a section of the output that provides multiple listings of the 20 greatest residuals listed by observation number. Additionally, it provides tables which provide a quick glimpse into the quality of the adjustment by providing a max/min list of residuals written in scientific notation for dX, dY, dZ (**Earth-Centered**, **Earth-Fixed** coordinates), dN (north), dE (east), dL (horizontal length), and dU (up, or vertical), with the corresponding observation number given to the right of each residual.

Large residuals are indicative of a problem. Particularly if they involve stations that also had large shifts as noted in the Processing Report.

	MAX V	OBS #	MIN V	OBS #
DX	3.4D-02	169	-5.1D-02	139
DY	2.5D-02	401	-1.6D-02	257
DZ	1.9D-02	387	-4.1D-02	63
DN	1.4D-02	217	-3.5D-02	61
DE	1.9D-02	137	-2.4D-02	401
DL	3.5D-02	63	1.1D-04	18
DU	5.1D-02	141	-3.7D-02	387

In the example shown above, the largest residual in the project is in the absolute value in the "up" component at 5.1 cm on the observation number 141. Going to that observation in the NORMALIZED RESIDUALS section of the Processing Log, you will find the session number (see below):

COMPUTED         OBSERVED         V=C-O         SDV         MDE         RN         FROM ST.           SEC         METER         3-SIGMA         SESSION I           139 DX         -20033.1057         -20033.0551         -0.0506         0.0305         -1.6605         0.0841         (         19) TU           140 DX         128948.4336         128948.4423         -0.0087         0.0150         -0.5775         0.0460         (         1) ASP	
SEC         METER         3-SIGMA         SESSION 1           139 DX         -20033.1057         -20033.0551         -0.0506         0.0305         -1.6605         0.0841         (19) TU           140 DX         128948 4336         128948 4423         -0.0087         0.0150         -0.5775         0.0460         (1) ASP	ATION
139 DX -20033.1057 -20033.0551 -0.0506 0.0305 -1.6605 0.0841 (19) TU 140 DX 128948 4336 128948 4423 -0.0087 0.0150 -0.5775 0.0460 (1) ASP	D
140 DX 128948 4336 128948 4423 -0.0087 0.0150 -0.5775 0.0460 ( 1) ASP	ET
140 DT 120540.4550 120540.4425 0.0007 0.0150 -0.5775 0.0400 ( 1) AST	A
141 DZ -9495.4586 -9495.4540 -0.0046 0.0154 -0.2977 0.0467 0987A	
DN -9792.7320 -9792.7402 0.0082 0.0114	
DE -130473.3288 -130473.3286 -0.0002 0.0121 Vector 4 Solution 10	
DL 0.0082 0.0166 Project ID =	
DU 21.8149 21.7640 0.0509 0.0334	

More information about which observation may have caused a large residual (above) may be confirmed with COMPVECS and PrepIt (see below).

### 11.6.3 COMPVECS Output

COMPVECS output, available from the Horizontal Free adjustment, lists all replicate vectors in the project. Differences are computed against the first (initial) vector. If large residuals are found in the free adjustment Processing Log, this output can help isolate the errant vector. Specifics on how to read and interpret the output is provided in Section 12.2.2.

### 11.6.4 PREPLT2

PrePlt2, available as an output of ADJUST (HF, HC, VF, VC), is another tool that provides a list of residuals (DN, DE, DU) and baseline lengths pulled from the Processing Log. The output can be easily imported into a spreadsheet or other file type to enable sorting on the size of the residuals in the north, east, and up components. Look for any residuals larger than +/- 0.020m horizontally or +/- 0.040m vertically.

					-		<b>T</b> 0	
	Kesidu	al Compon	ents(m)	Kej Baseline	FROM:		10:	
Obs#	DN	DE	DU	(m)	SSN	Designation	SSN	Designation
4	-0.0027	-0.0018	-0.0024	9722.3946	( 0101)	CALVERTON	( 0003)	GODDARD SFC CORS MONUMENT
7	-0.0025	-0.0010	-0.0003	68351.5899	(0106)	FRANKS	( 0003)	GODDARD SFC CORS MONUMENT
10	-0.0019	-0.0048	-0.0003	77589.8247	( 0109)	TANEY	( 0003)	GODDARD SFC CORS MONUMENT
13	0.0004	-0.0019	0.0029	776524.7562	(0004)	ALGONQUIN CORS MONUMENT	( 0003)	GODDARD SFC CORS MONUMENT
16	-0.0013	-0.0014	-0.0009	102681.1338	(0005)	CORBIN CORS ARP	( 0003)	GODDARD SFC CORS MONUMENT
19	0.0007	-0.0024	-0.0054	118387.9046	( 0006)	UNIV OF DELAWARE CORS ARP	( 0003)	GODDARD SFC CORS MONUMENT
22	-0.0021	-0.0023	-0.0016	266616.3216	(0007)	UNIONTOWN CORS ARP	( 0003)	GODDARD SFC CORS MONUMENT
25	-0.0007	-0.0011	0.0010	188478.1136	( 0008)	SCHUYLKILL HAVEN CORS ARP	( 0003)	GODDARD SFC CORS MONUMENT
28	0.0001	0.0000	0.0002	107431.4508	( 0001)	YORK CORS ARP	( 0003)	GODDARD SFC CORS MONUMENT
31	0.0004	0.0008	-0.0002	62594.5194	( 0002)	DC WAAS 1 CORS ARP	( 0003)	GODDARD SFC CORS MONUMENT
34	-0.0014	-0.0026	-0.0007	60175.1989	( 0108)	BELL	( 0003)	GODDARD SFC CORS MONUMENT
37	-0.0007	-0.0021	0.0023	9722.3946	( 0101)	CALVERTON	( 0003)	GODDARD SFC CORS MONUMENT
40	-0.0012	-0.0013	0.0070	44833.4935	( 0105)	E 87	( 0003)	GODDARD SFC CORS MONUMENT

Figure 11-14L Sample output from the PREPLT2 file

### 11.6.5 CHKOBS

CHKOBS is a program that checks for structural issues with the project data - required for submitting your project to NGS (only available with Project Tracking ID), and can be ignored if you have no intent to publish. The program is run with the Horizontal Free adjustment, as well as at the final step of submitting the project to NGS. Errors and warnings listed in the CHKOBS output file need to be reviewed. If missing data are reported, use the user mark pages to find and fill in the missing data. Any remaining errors or warnings must be written up and explained in the project report.

### 11.6.6 OBSCHK

The OBSCHK program checks the occupation and the vector data -also required for submitting your project to NGS (only available with Project Tracking ID). The program is run with the Horizontal Free adjustment and upon submission to NGS. Any errors or warnings listed in the OBSCHK output file **must be reconciled**. If errors exist of which you are unsure how to fix please contact the <u>Bluebook Team</u>.

# **11.7 Sequential Adjustments with Tracking ID**

This section of the manual steps the user through each sequential network adjustment required for submission to NGS.

## 11.7.1 Preliminary Adjustment

Recall that the Preliminary Adjustment is a minimally constrained geometric (3D) adjustment that combines the baseline vectors from the session solutions into one network and creates the files needed as input for the subsequent adjustments. This is a good opportunity to gauge how well the overall network adjustments will be, as the solutions should not change very much in the subsequent steps. In other words, this is a good opportunity to quality assure the overall project.

#### 11.7.1.1 Setting up the Preliminary Adjustment

In the Network Adjustment window, select the available solutions from session processing that you want to include in the adjustment. Do not include more than one solution for a given session (see explanation of Session vs Solution in Section 10.3 and in the Glossary).



Although all sessions are typically included in the Preliminary Adjustment (and subsequent adjustments), this is not always the case. In rare instances, one or more sessions may be excluded due to poor fit, or unresolved errors in the corresponding observations

OP 4.0 will offer what it believes to be the best constraint: usually a CORS, used as a hub during session processing, close to the center of the project which it believes will provide the best solution. The user can easily change the constraint. If another CORS or mark is preferred, make sure to return the originally selected CORS to CONSTRAINT = NONE. Select only *one* mark/CORS in this preliminary adjustment, even if you have more than one hub.

NGS survey p					-	
	roject tracking	J ID : 0000				
Preliminary	1	O Horizontal f	ree	O Horizontal constrai	ned Overtical free	O Vertical constrain
Adjustment N	lame (30 char i	max): final				
	Incl	luded Solution	s	84	Availab	le Solutions
2017-241-A 2017-242-A 2017-243-A 2017-262-A 2017-263-A						
MARK (	CONSTRAINT	HEIGI	HT (m)	LATITUDE (° ' '')	LONGITUDE (° ' '')	REF. FRAME
bell 🔘 N	IONE 🗸	EL HGT 🗸	81.236	N39:32:57.82855	W076:40:02.89291	NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000)
brun 🔘 N	ONE 🗸	EL HGT 🗸	106.519	N39:19:02.99928	W077:36:40.44276	NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000)
calv 🔘 N	ONE 🗸	EL HGT 🗸	27.832	N39:02:59.49645	W076:55:59.37895	NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000)
e087 🔘 N	ONE 🗸	EL HGT 🗸	215.852	N39:20:02.71879	₩077:09:20.33993	NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000)
fran 🔘 N	ONE 🗸	EL HGT 🗸	75.264	N39:29:55.89605	W077:19:38.31730	NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000)
gorf 🔘 N	ONE 🗸	EL HGT 🗸	124.640	N39:13:34.24165	W076:48:50.46351	NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000)
n102 🔘 N	ONE 🗸	EL HGT 🗸	105.807	N39:07:51.97927	W077:12:53.73476	NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000)
pond 🔘 N	ONE 🗸	EL HGT 🗸	231.990	N39:38:26.70394	W076:52:06.82195	NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000)
tane 🔘 N	ONE 🗸	EL HGT 🗸	111.828	N39:39:48.06504	W077:11:00.77708	NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000)
CORS C	CONSTRAINT	HEIGH	HT (m)	LATITUDE (° ' ")	LONGITUDE (° ' '')	REF. FRAME
algo 🕘 N	ONE 🗸	EL HGT 🗸	201.984	N45:57:20.84721	W078:04:16,90638	NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000)
ded2 🕘 N	ONE V	EL HGT 🗸	-13.569	N38:39:52.28240	W075:22:38.76229	NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000)
dene 🙆 N	IONE 🗸	EL HGT 🗸	6.545	N39:40:36.24965	W075:44:34,82897	NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000)
gode 🌰 3-	-D 🗸	EL HGT 🗸	15.784	N39:01:18.18974	W076:49:36.57470	NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000)
hnpt 🙆 N	IONE 🗸	EL HGT 🗸	-26.671	N38:35:19.71005	W076:07:49.33197	NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000)
york 🙆 N	ONE 🗸	EL HGT 🗸	99.617	N39:59:13.27662	W076:44:24.53719	NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000)

*Figure 11-15: Preliminary Network Adjustment window showing OP recommendation for a single hub 3D constraint*


## 11.7.1.2 Analyzing the Preliminary Adjustment

Review the Processing Report (\*.txt). Check to make sure the standard error of unit weight is near 1.0. Verify the total number of marks and that only one mark was constrained horizontally.

The MARK ESTIMATED - A PRIORI COORDINATE SHIFTS represent the shifts from the original a priori coordinate to the new session-adjusted coordinate. The a priori coordinates either come from published datasheets (CORSs and user marks with published coordinates) or from the first OPUS solution seen by the project (user marks that do not have published datasheets). Shifts should be small (smaller than ±2 cm horizontal and ±4 cm vertical). If poor results are indicated (a priori shifts are large, e.g. larger than ±2 cm horizontally and ±4 cm vertically), go back to session processing to see if you can find the offending observation (and exclude it). Refer to Solution Statistics (Section 10.5) to compare among sessions. Also consider collecting the .VEC results into a single text file or spreadsheet and compare among repeat vectors for consistency. See Appendix C, Coordinate Shifts, for more details on shifts and their interpretation. Be careful to ensure at least two occupations remain. If everything looks good, move to the horizontal free adjustment.



If all the (a priori) coordinate shifts are similar in magnitude and direction, it is possible that the constraint is biased. Verify the position of the CORS used as the hub. You may try rerunning the adjustment with a different constraint.

## 11.7.2 Horizontal Free Adjustment

This step aligns the project to the NSRS reference frame. The overall goal is to verify that the field observations and satellite data have produced a set of baseline vectors that agree with each other and which can be aligned to published control in a horizontal constrained adjustment.

## 11.7.2.1 Setting up the Horizontal Free Adjustment

From the Network Adjustment window, select the Preliminary Network Solution and use the arrow key to transfer it to the left window. OP will suggest the same constraint that was used in the Preliminary Adjustment. If any changes were made to the suggested constraint, it should be mirrored here as well.

## 11.7.2.2 Analyzing the Horizontal Free Adjustment

Review the summary file provided in the body of the email, which is also given in the Processing Report (.txt). Verify that the standard error of unit weight is equal to 1.0. Check the total number of marks and make sure that only one mark was constrained horizontally. Review the MARK ESTIMATED - A PRIORI COORDINATE SHIFTS table. In this instance, the shifts are from the Preliminary to the Horizontal Free adjustments. A well fitting Horizontal Free adjustment will result in small coordinate shifts and low residuals on all observations, ideally  $\leq$  2 cm horizontal and  $\leq$  4 cm vertical for both. If this is not the case, then the user should review the Processing Log (below).

#### Processing Log (.sum):

Review the 20 greatest residuals: residuals exceeding  $\pm 2$  cm horizontal and  $\pm 4$  cm vertical indicate poorly fitting observations or a poorly fitting mark. For stations with more than two occupations, it is usually obvious which is the outlier. If an outlier is found, try to resolve the issue by checking field logs, setup photos, or conferring with the observer to rule out blunders in the field procedures. If there is no obvious cause, you will have to decide whether to remove the observation(s) or mark(s) from the project, or live with a large residual. Care should be taken to prevent a user mark from becoming no-check as explained earlier. It may be a good idea to obtain an additional observation on the mark in question. If this is not possible, it may be necessary to remove the user mark from the project.

#### **COMPVECS Output:**

Look for large differences among replicate vectors.



Figure 11-16: Sample COMPVECS output showing: (1) a rejected vector; (2) a session (0987A) with large residuals; and (3) the large residual in the "Up" direction

The first two columns indicate the vector "from" and "to" marks as described by the four-character IDs assigned to the marks and CORSs in the project. The third and fourth columns identify the marks and CORSs by their Station Serial Numbers (SSNs). The fifth column indicates whether the direction of the vector is reversed. The sixth column gives the session number (three-digit GPS day followed by the last digit of the calendar year, followed by the session ID for that day).

Although the COMPVECS file itself is not easily sorted, it can be searched for particular values (e.g. 0.05). If one session appears to result in consistently large differences, take a closer look at that session to see if you can

pinpoint an offending observation. If no errors can be found, you may have to remove that occupation from the analysis and re-process (remember - for submission to NGS, you will need *at least two* observations per mark!).

The example above gives an example of a rejected vector: the letter "R" to the right of the s/R column for vector SSN 0001-0002, session 1037A (#1 in the figure above). Note that the residuals for this vector are uniformly large.

The example also shows where the large residual in the "Up" coordinate in Session 0987A came from (seen previously in the \*.sum output in Section 11.7.2): vector 0001-0019, session 0987A (#2 and 3, above).

At this point, if you have isolated an offending observation, or an offending user mark, you will have to decide whether to reprocess, remove the observation or user mark from the project, or

accept the large residual. In the example shown in the COMPVECS table, there are only two observations for the user mark 0019 ("TUET"), so it would be only a guess at which is the bad one. Furthermore, there must be multiple occupations on each user mark so removing one is not an option in this example. Try to resolve the issue. Double check field logs to ensure no blunder exists.

For stations with more than two occupations, it is usually obvious which is the outlier. Inspect the computed minus observed (C-O) residuals in the ADJUST output (see Processing Log or \*.sum file). List any outliers in the project report. Attempt to reduce large residuals (e.g. exceeding 2 cm horizontal and 4 cm vertical) by resolving any errors or removing offending observations. Note that these values are guidelines, not rules: refer to your project specifications for specific tolerances.

Below the table of comparisons is a histogram plotting the unadjusted vector differences from the COMPVECS output. The distribution should approximate a bell-shaped curve. Large outliers should be visible, and help the user identify the corresponding residual(s) back in the Processing Log. An example given below is for a histogram in the East component:

EAST Cor	nponents	5								
0 907	5 (mm)	R	esidua	al Mean						
17 32/9	2 (mm) 5	200	idual	Std Doviation (1 sigma)						
17.5240	17.5240 (mm) Restadut Sea Beviación (1 Signa)									
Scale: *	Scale: * = ( 1) millimeters									
->	-50.00	(	1)	*						
-50.00->	-45.00	(	0)							
-45.00->	-40.00	(	0)							
-40.00->	-35.00	(	0)							
-35.00->	-30.00	(	0)							
-30.00->	-25.00	(	0)							
-25.00->	-20.00	(	1)	*						
-20.00->	-15.00	(	3)	***						
-15.00->	-10.00	(	5)	*****						
-10.00->	-5.00	(	14)	***********						
-5.00->	0.00	(	25)	******************						
0.00->	5.00	(	33)	****************						
5.00->	10.00	(	25)	******************************						
10.00->	15.00	(	7)	******************						
15.00->	20.00	(	4)	******						
20.00->	25.00	(	3)	****						
25.00->	30.00	(	1)	***						
30.00->	35.00	(	1)	*						
35.00->	40.00	(	1)	*						
40.00->	45.00	(	0)	*						
45.00->	50.00	(	0)							
50.00->		(	0)							
1										

Figure 11-17: Example of a histogram plotting the unadjusted vector differences from the COMPVECS output

If any observations are changed or removed, the corresponding session will be nullified and must therefore be reprocessed. Rerun the preliminary adjustment, and then the horizontal free adjustment. Repeat this process as necessary until you are satisfied with the results of the free adjustment. See <a href="https://www.ngs.noaa.gov/PC">https://www.ngs.noaa.gov/PC</a> PROD/ADJUST/COMPVECS.txt for more information on COMPVECS.

#### PrePlt2:

PrePlt can be used to import residuals into a spreadsheet for sorting and identification of observations with large (positive or negative) residuals (see Section 11.7.4).

### Final thoughts on the Horizontal Free Adjustment

After the completion of the free adjustment analysis, if large residuals remain, they should be listed in the project report, if the project is submitted to NGS. Likewise, all research on the cause of the residuals should be noted/explained in the report.

If any observations are changed or removed, the corresponding session will be nullified and must be reprocessed. If you wish to submit the project to NGS, you will need to rerun the preliminary adjustment, and then the horizontal free adjustment. Repeat this process as necessary until you are satisfied with the results of the free adjustment.

Finally, this is a good time to review the **CHKOBS** and **OBSCHK** output (11.7.5 and 11.7.6). If there are any errors at this stage, they will most likely not go away after any subsequent adjustments. Take the time now to see if they can be resolved. Contact the <u>NGS Bluebook team</u>, if needed, for help in resolving any errors.

## **11.7.3 Horizontal Constrained Adjustment**

The function of this adjustment is to align the observed network with the previously-determined (published) coordinates of passive marks and CORS. The analysis focuses on absolute and relative measures of such an alignment. The results tell you how well your project fits within the existing NSRS.

## 11.7.3.1 Setting up the Horizontal Constrained Adjustment

On the Network Adjustment page, select the Horizontal Free solution from the "Available Solutions," and bring it to the "Included Solutions." OP will offer all CORSs and user marks with published, geometrically ("3D") adjusted coordinates as constraints in this adjustment step.

GS surv	ey project tracki	ng ID : 0000								
Prelim	inary	O Horizontal	free	Horizontal constrained	O Vertical free	O Vertical constrained				
djustme	ent Name (30 cha	ır max): final								
	Inc	luded Solution	IS		Availabl	e Solutions				
etwork-fi	inal-horizontal-fre	e		Inone	]					
MARK	CONSTRAINT	HEIGH	IT (m)	LATITUDE (° ' '')	LONGITUDE (° ' ")	REF. FRAME				
oell 🔘	) 3-D 🗸	EL HGT 🗸	81.236	N39:32:57.82855	W076:40:02.89291	NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) 🗸				
orun 🔘	NONE 🗸	EL HGT 🗸	106.519	N39:19:02.99928	W077:36:40.44276	NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) 🗸				
calv 🔘	NONE 🗸	EL HGT 🗸	27.832	N39:02:59.49645	W076:55:59.37895	NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) 🗸				
e087 🔘	) 3-D 🗸	EL HGT 🗸	215.852	N39:20:02.71879	W077:09:20.33993	NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) V				
	NONE 🗸	EL HGT 🗸	75.264	N39:29:55.89605	W077:19:38.31730	NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) V				
fran 🔘	W manufacture	EL HGT V	124.640	N39:13:34.24165	W076:48:50.46351	NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) V				
gorf C	) 3-D 🗸	EE HOT V				NAD 83(2011) (2010 0000) V				
gorf C n102 C	NONE ✓	EL HGT 🗸	105.807	N39:07:51.97927	W077:12:53.73476	10/10_00(2011) (2010.0000) 1				
gorf C 1102 C bond C	3-D         ~           NONE         ~           NONE         ~	EL HGT V	105.807 231.990	N39:07:51.97927 N39:38:26.70394	W077:12:53.73476 W076:52:06.82195	NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) ~				
oran Cond Cond Cond Cond Cond Cond Cond Con	3-D         ~           NONE         ~           NONE         ~           NONE         ~           NONE         ~	EL HGT V EL HGT V EL HGT V	105.807 231.990 111.828	N39:07:51.97927 N39:38:26.70394 N39:39:48.06504	W077:12:53.73476 W076:52:06.82195 W077:11:00.77708	NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) ✓ NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) ✓				
orf Cors	3-D     Image: Constraint       NONE     Image: Constraint	EL HGT V EL HGT V EL HGT V HEIGH	105.807 231.990 111.828 IT (m)	N39:07:51.97927 N39:38:26.70394 N39:39:48.06504 LATITUDE (°''')	W077:12:53.73476 W076:52:06.82195 W077:11:00.77708 LONGITUDE (°'')	NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) ✓ NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) ✓ REF. FRAME				
rran ( gorf ( n102 ( pond ( tane ( CORS algo (	3-D     V       NONE     V       NONE     V       NONE     V       CONSTRAINT       NONE	EL HGT V EL HGT V EL HGT V HEIGH EL HGT V	105.807 231.990 111.828 <b>IT (m)</b> 201.984	N39:07:51.97927           N39:38:26.70394           N39:39:48.06504           LATITUDE (° ' ')           V45:57:20.84721	W077:12:53.73476 W076:52:06.82195 W077:11:00.77708 LONGITUDE (°'") W078:04:16.90638	NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) ✓           NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) ✓           REF. FRAME           NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) ✓				
rran ( gorf ( n102 ( pond ( cons algo ( ded2 (	3-D        NONE        NONE        NONE        CONSTRAINT       NONE       3-D	EL HGT V EL HGT V EL HGT V EL HGT V EL HGT V	105.807 231.990 111.828 <b>IT (m)</b> 201.984 -13.569	N39:07:51.97927           N39:38:26.70394           N39:39:48.06504           LATITUDE (° ' '')           N45:57:20.84721           N38:39:52.28240	W077:12:53.73476 W076:52:06.82195 W077:11:00.77708 LONGITUDE (°'') W078:04:16.90638 W075:22:38.76229	NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) ✓           NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) ✓           REF. FRAME           NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) ✓           NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) ✓				
rran C gorf C h102 C bond C tane C CORS algo C ded2 C dene C	3-D        NONE        NONE        NONE        CONSTRAINT       NONE       3-D       3-D	EL HGT V EL HGT V EL HGT V EL HGT V EL HGT V EL HGT V	105.807 231.990 111.828 <b>IT (m)</b> 201.984 -13.569 6.545	N39:07:51.97927 N39:38:26.70394 N39:39:48.06504 LATITUDE (° ' '') N45:57:20.84721 N38:39:52.28240 N39:40:36.24965	W077:12:53.73476 W076:52:06.82195 W077:11:00.77708 LONGITUDE (°'') W078:04:16.90638 W075:22:38.76229 W075:44:34.82897	NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) ∨         NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) ∨         REF. FRAME         NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) ∨         NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) ∨         NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) ∨				
gorf () n102 () n102 () n102 () n102 () n102 () dane () dane () dene () gode ()	3-D        NONE        NONE        NONE        CONSTRAINT       NONE       3-D       3-D       3-D	EL HGT V EL HGT V EL HGT V EL HGT V EL HGT V EL HGT V EL HGT V	105.807 231.990 111.828 <b>T (m)</b> 201.984 -13.569 6.545 15.784	N39:07:51.97927         N39:38:26.70394         N39:39:48.06504         LATITUDE (° ' '')         N45:57:20.84721         N38:39:52.28240         N39:40:36.24965         N39:01:18.18974	W077:12:53.73476 W076:52:06.82195 W077:11:00.77708 LONGITUDE (°'") W078:04:16.90638 W075:22:38.76229 W075:44:34.82897 W076:49:36.57470	NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) ∨         NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) ∨         REF. FRAME         NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) ∨         NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) ∨         NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) ∨         NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) ∨				
gorf () n102 () n102 () n102 () cond () con	3-D        NONE        NONE        NONE        ONONE        CONSTRAINT       NONE       3-D       3-D       3-D       3-D       3-D	EL HGT V EL HGT V EL HGT V EL HGT V EL HGT V EL HGT V EL HGT V	105.807 231.990 111.828 <b>IT (m)</b> 201.984 -13.569 6.545 15.784 -26.671	N39:07:51.97927         N39:38:26.70394         N39:39:48.06504         LATITUDE (°'')         N45:57:20.84721         N38:39:52.28240         N39:40:36.24965         N39:01:18.18974         N38:35:19.71005	W077:12:53.73476 W076:52:06.82195 W077:11:00.77708 LONGITUDE (°'") W078:04:16.90638 W075:22:38.76229 W075:44:34.82897 W076:49:36.57470 W076:07:49.33197	NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) ✓         NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) ✓         REF. FRAME         NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) ✓         NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) ✓				

Figure 11-18: Sample Horizontal Constrained Adjustment window showing 3-D constraints

Change the distant CORS to "NONE" (recall that this CORS is for tropospheric modelling). As before, verify all elements of the window prior to processing. Perform the adjustment.

#### 11.7.3.2 Analyzing the Horizontal Constrained Adjustment

There are several, if not many, factors to consider in the analysis of a constrained adjustment. The same output files and tools available in the free adjustment are produced in this adjustment with the exception of COMPVECS, OBSCHK, and CHKOBS checking programs. Although we still analyze vector residuals, we focus on the effects that the constraints have had within the network.

Finding an optimum alignment between an observed network and published control is an iterative process and users may find more than one satisfactory solution

#### **Coordinate Shifts**

Best reviewed in the Processing Report (\*.txt) or in the body of the email, there are two tables of shifts given. The first one represents the difference between where the Horizontal Constrained adjustment versus the Horizontal Free adjustment want the station to be ("MARK ESTIMATED - HORIZONTAL FREE ADJUSTMENT COORDINATE SHIFTS").

MARK	ESTIMATED -	HORIZONTAL-FREE	ADJUSTMENT COORDINATE SHIFT	S
algo	N: -0.004	m (0.002 m) E:	0.002 m (0.001 m) H: 0	0.016 m (0.004 m)
bell	N: -0.003	m (0.002 m) E:	0.003 m (0.002 m) H: 0	.019 m (0.004 m)
brun	N: -0.001	m (0.002 m) E:	0.002 m (0.002 m) H: 0	.016 m (0.005 m)
calv	N: -0.001	m (0.002 m) E:	0.002 m (0.002 m) H: 0	.016 m (0.005 m)
ded2	N: -0.002	m (0.002 m) E:	0.001 m (0.001 m) H: 0	.017 m (0.004 m)
dene	N: -0.001	m (0.001 m) E:	0.001 m (0.001 m) H: 0	.015 m (0.004 m)
e087	N: -0.002	m (0.002 m) E:	0.002 m (0.001 m) H: 0	.016 m (0.004 m)
fran	N: -0.001	m (0.002 m) E:	0.002 m (0.002 m) H: 0	.015 m (0.005 m)
gode	N: -0.001	m (0.001 m) E:	0.001 m (0.001 m) H: 0	.015 m (0.003 m)
gorf	N: -0.001	m (0.001 m) E:	0.004 m (0.001 m) H: 0	.017 m (0.003 m)
hnpt	N: -0.001	m (0.001 m) E:	0.001 m (0.001 m) H: 0	.015 m (0.003 m)
n102	N: -0.001	m (0.002 m) E:	0.002 m (0.002 m) H: 0	.015 m (0.005 m)
pond	N: -0.001	m (0.002 m) E:	0.002 m (0.002 m) H: 0	.015 m (0.005 m)
tane	N: -0.002	m (0.002 m) E:	0.002 m (0.002 m) H: 0	.015 m (0.005 m)
york	N: -0.002	m (0.001 m) E:	0.000 m (0.001 m) H: 0	.015 m (0.004 m)

Figure 11-19: Network solution processing report from the Horizontal Constrained Adjustment showing "MARK ESTIMATED - HORIZONTAL-FREE ADJUSTMENT COORDINATE SHIFTS"

Large shifts (> 2 cm horizontal and > 4 cm vertical) are an indicator that one or more constraints may not fit the current network. Note that all marks in the project are listed in the table.

The second table represents the shifts between the Horizontal Constrained Adjustment and the marks with published (3D) coordinates ("MARK ESTIMATED - PUBLISHED HORIZONTAL COORDINATE SHIFTS"). Note that only the marks which were constrained 3D are given I the table (these were the marks with adjusted/published 3D coordinates).

MARK ESTIMATED -	PUBLISHED HORIZONTAL	COORDINATE SHIFTS	
algo N: -0.007 m	(0.002 m) E: 0.001 m	(0.001 m) U: 0.044 m	(0.004 m) CORS
bell N: 0.003 m	(0.002 m) E: -0.002 m	(0.002 m) U: -0.006 m	(0.004 m) OPUS
ded2 N: 0.006 m	(0.002 m) E: 0.002 m	(0.001 m) U: -0.010 m	(0.004 m) CORS
dene N: -0.001 m	(0.001 m) E: 0.003 m	(0.001 m) U: 0.009 m	(0.004 m) CORS
e087 N: 0.008 m	(0.002 m) E: -0.018 m	(0.001 m) U: -0.001 m	(0.004 m) OPUS
gode N: -0.001 m	(0.001 m) E: 0.001 m	(0.001 m) U: 0.015 m	(0.003 m) CORS
gorf N: -0.001 m	(0.001 m) E: -0.002 m	(0.001 m) U: -0.002 m	(0.003 m) OPUS
hnpt N: -0.000 m	(0.001 m) E: -0.001 m	(0.001 m) U: 0.003 m	(0.003 m) CORS
york N: -0.000 m	(0.001 m) E: 0.004 m	(0.001 m) U: 0.012 m	(0.004 m) CORS

Figure 11-20: Network solution processing report from the Horizontal Constrained Adjustment showing "MARK ESTIMATED – PUBLISHED HORIZONTAL COORDINATE SHIFTS"

If there are a couple large shifts compared to published coordinates (> 2 cm horizontal and > 4 cm vertical), that may suggest that the published coordinates may no longer match the marks' positions. Many large shifts may be indicative of a bias in the hub (which should be very rare): this would require re-processing the sessions with another hub selected.

#### Residuals

The residuals (computed - observed or C-O values) are found in the main body of the Processing Log (.sum). Residuals are summed up in the min/max V values and 20 greatest residuals as described earlier in the Horizontal Free output (also see Section 11.7.2). Often you can see that the largest residuals will also appear problematic in the COMPARISON OF ADJUSTED AND CONSTRAINED COORDINATES AND HEIGHTS table which shows shifts between the constrained and the adjusted values of a mark. Large shifts in this table should be analyzed and addressed in the project report.

COMPA ADJUS CURRE	COMPARISON OF ADJUSTED AND CONSTRAINED COORDINATES AND HEIGHTS ADJUSTED MINUS CONSTRAINED COORDINATE SHIFTS (METERS) CURRENTLY NO VALUES ARE PRINTED FOR VERTICAL CONSTRAINTS										
ISN 1	SSN 0108	STATION DESIGNATION BELL	DELTA NORTH 0.0036	DELTA EAST -0.0021	DELTA HORIZ 0.0042	T BELTA UP -0.0064					
4	0105	E 87	0.0084	-0.0185	0.0203	-0.0014					
6	0104	GORF N	-0.0006	-0.0027	0.0028	-0.0025					
11	9	DELDOT SOUTH 2 CORS ARP	0.0061	0.0018	0.0064	-0.0099					
12	0006	UNIV OF DELAWARE CORS ARP	-0.0008	0.0033	0.0034	0.0089					
13	0003	GODDARD SFC CORS MONUMENT	-0.0008	0.0014	0.0016	0.0146					
14	10	HORN POINT ENVIRO CORS ARP	-0.0002	-0.0005	0.0006	0.0035					
15	0001	YORK CORS ARP	0.0000	0.0038	0.0038	0.0123					

Figure 11-21: Computed - Observed residual values shown in the processing log output for the Horizontal Constrained Adjustment

#### F-test

In the main body of the email (Processing Report), the user will note the presence of an F-test ("F STATISTIC TEST" shown in the example below):



Figure 11-22: Processing Report from the Horizontal Constrained Adjustment showing the results of the F-Test

Once the adjustment has been deemed acceptable i.e. all shifts and residuals are reasonable, the F-test should pass. The F-test is a statistical test which helps determine if the variance (variance of unit weight) from a fully constrained adjustment is significantly different from the variance (variance of unit weight) of a minimally constrained adjustment. The variance of unit weight is a critical statistic and should be looked at carefully when evaluating adjustment results. If the fully constrained adjustment fits well with all selected control (the constraints), the value of the variance of unit weight should be close to 1.0. The F-test is performed using a 99% confidence level.

If the F-test fails, it is due either to the errors (sigmas) of the constraints being overly optimistic (too small) or the constrained coordinates not agreeing with the observations (causing excessively large shifts of the constrained coordinates). Failure of the F-test does not automatically mean the constrained adjustment is bad. It is a flag that indicates there may be a problem with the constraints, and that they should be investigated. In addition, the F-test is based on the assumption of a normal ("bell-shaped") probability distribution of the residuals. Networks with a distribution that is significantly non-normal may fail for that reason, even when a constrained adjustment is acceptable.

Since the F-test only gives information about the entire network, if it fails, it is necessary to inspect the network for specific stations that may be causing the failure. A convenient way to do that is provided in the next item (see Constraint Ratio).

#### **Constraint Ratio**

If the F-test fails, it is possible that some constraints need to be freed up. It might be the case where some of the shifts are too large. The Constraint Ratio (CR) test provides a way of identifying where the bad shift might be. The CR is essentially a Student's T Test, with the absolute value of the shift between the adjusted, constrained coordinates and the published coordinates, divided by the sigma ( $\sigma$ , or standard deviation) used to constrain the station. It is computed for each component (north, east, and height):

 $CR = |Adjusted \ coordinate - published \ coordinate|/\sigma$ 

OP provides the CR for all marks in the final table in the output summary given in the body of the email:

I MARK CONSTRAINT RATIOS											
ncet	Ν:	<mark>6.279</mark>	E:	1.497	υ:	1.630	2D:	6.455	3D:	<mark>6.657</mark>	CORS
nclu	N:	0.331	Ε:	0.615	υ:	0.099	2D:	0.699	3D:	0.706	CORS
<mark>ncsl</mark>	N:	<mark>3.134</mark>	Ε:	0.750	υ:	0.719	2D:	3.222	3D:	<mark>3.301</mark>	CORS
ncwh	N:	0.592	Ε:	0.706	υ:	1.223	2D:	0.921	3D:	1.531	CORS
<mark>schy</mark>	N:	0.938	E:	0.789	υ:	<mark>3.490</mark>	2D:	1.226	3D:	<mark>3.699</mark>	CORS

Figure 11-23: Constraint Ratio Test as seen in the Processing Report of the Horizontal Constrained Adjustment

The computed CR's are compared to the critical value or 3.0, corresponding to a T-statistic at a 99% confidence level. If the value of CR is greater than 3.0 for any of the three components, that indicates that there *may* be a problem with the constrained station.

If a constraint is deemed problematic, then all three components (lat, lon, ellipsoid height) should be unconstrained in a new Horizontal Constrained adjustment. However, failure of the F-test or CR > 3 does not necessarily require removal of constraints. Both tests are analysis tools that only indicate potential problems;

they are not substitutes for professional judgment. However, the reason for either failure occurring in the final constrained adjustment should be explained in the report.



A high constraint ratio could be simply due to a very low sigma

Unrealistically small sigma values could result in a warping of the network to fit constrained marks. For this reason, it may be better to free up (release) constraints with CR > 3 for any of the three components. It may be a good idea to review the values for sigmas under Section 7.3.12 "Manage Coordinates," but it is not advised to change them unless they are known to be inaccurate. Freeing an offending constraint is typically the best strategy.

Note your findings in the project report. It may be that a station needs to be freed for the sake of the adjustment, but the newly computed position may not necessarily be updated in the NGS database.

If any constraints are freed, the F-test results should improve. However, users should review the newly adjusted coordinates on user marks to decide if they recommend the user mark be re-determined (re-published). Typically, this would happen if the coordinates have shifted by more than 2 centimeters horizontally or 4 cm vertically from the published coordinates.

#### Other important results to verify:

Review the network accuracies in the Processing Log (\*.sum file) for any indication that some user marks or CORSs might be problematic. Although network accuracies should be less than 2-4 cm, high variability among the accuracies may be more of a problem. Consistently large numbers (e.g. greater than 2 cm) would be less problematic than some values less than 1 cm and others greater than 4 cm. Note that horizontal network accuracies should always be less than vertical accuracies, and that network accuracies for CORSs are usually less than for user marks.

NETWORK & LOCAL ACCURACIES (95% CONFIDENCE LEVEL)										
COMPUT	TED US	SING A POSTERIORI STANDARD DEVIATION OF UNIT	WEIGHT							
NETWORK ACCURACIES (CENTIMETERS)										
ISN	SSN	STATION DESIGNATION	HORIZ	UP						
1	0108	BELL	0.43	0.84 CM						
2	0103	BRUNSWICK 2	0.48	0.97 CM						
3	0101	CALVERTON	0.47	0.92 CM						
4	0105	E 87	0.39	0.80 CM						
5	0106	FRANKS	0.47	0.95 CM						
6	0104	GORF N	0.33	0.64 CM						
7	0102	NBS 102	0.48	0.97 CM						
8	0107	POND	0.54	1.06 CM						
9	0109	TANEY	0.47	0.94 CM						
10	0004	ALGONQUIN CORS MONUMENT	0.51	0.76 CM						
11	9	DELDOT SOUTH 2 CORS ARP	0.34	0.74 CM						
12	0006	UNIV OF DELAWARE CORS ARP	0.29	0.71 CM						
13	0003	GODDARD SFC CORS MONUMENT	0.28	0.68 CM						
14	10	HORN POINT ENVIRO CORS ARP	0.28	0.67 CM						
15	0001	YORK CORS ARP	0.27	0.71 CM						

Figure 11-24: Network accuracies as shown in the Processing Log

If the adjustment is still unable to produce a passing F-test, the user may find it helpful to re-run the Horizontal Constrained adjustment constraining only CORS as constraints (except for the distant CORS). This helps isolate possible problems with the passive control (user marks). The user would then compare the resulting position differences between the fully constrained and the CORS-only constrained adjustments. Looking at the user mark shifts between the two adjustments can help identify published user marks that no longer fit the NSRS.

#### Unconstraining and re-adjusting

To re-determine a user mark, the user will have to re-run the Horizontal Constrained adjustment. Accessing the Network Adjustment window, OP will be expecting the next adjustment in the sequence ("Vertical free"). However, the user can re-select "Horizontal Constrained," and proceed.

When you are satisfied with the constrained adjustment results, proceed to the next step to run the Vertical Free adjustment.



If the dummy Project Tracking ID "0000" is used and alignment to a vertical datum (e.g. NAVD 88 in the continental USA) is not required, or marks with published heights in a separate vertical datum were not observed, the analysis is complete (no project submission to NGS).



If you want to submit your project to NGS for publication, all five (5) adjustment steps need to be run, regardless of whether or not you have observed marks with published vertical control

## **11.7.4 Vertical Free Adjustment**

The vertical free adjustment is similar in philosophy to the horizontal free adjustment as it is now aligning the adjustment to the vertical datum.

## 11.7.4.1 Setting up the Vertical Free Adjustment

In the Network Adjustment window, "Vertical Free" should be identified, and the user should select the Horizontal Constrained solution and bring it to "Included solutions."

O Prelimi	nary		O Horizontal free	O Horizontal const	raine	d 🔍 V	ertical free	O Vertical const	rained	
Adjustme	nt Name (30	char	max): final							
			Included Solutions					Available Solution	ns	
network-fi	nal-horizontal-	-con:	strained		+	[none]				*
MARK	CONSTRAIL	NT		HEIGHT (m)			LATITUDE (° ' '')	LONGITUDE (° ' '')	REF. F	RAME
2ref O	NONE	~	NAVD 88 (FGCS LEVELIN	IG IN NGSIDB) 🗸		1.154	N38:26:45.1760	W076:07:09.8439	4 NAD_83(2011)	(2010.0000) 🗸
crsf 🔘	3-D	~	NAVD 88 (FGCS LEVELIN	G IN NGSIDB) 🗸		1.147	N37:58:28.3222	W075:51:34.1661	NAD_83(2011)	(2010.0000) 🗸
sbyf 🔵	NONE	~	EL HGT - GEOID18	~		13.73	N38:20:19.5907	W075:30:32.3337	NAD_83(2011)	(2010.0000) 🗸
CORS	CONSTRAIL	NT		HEIGHT (m)			LATITUDE (° ' ")	LONGITUDE (° ' ")	REF. F	RAME
ded2 🙆	NONE	~	NAVD 88 (GPS HEIGHTS:	2CM/5CM STANDARDS	$) \sim$	22.07	N38:39:52.28240	W075:22:38.7622	9 NAD_83(2011)	(2010.0000) 🗸
dedo 🙆	NONE	~	NAVD 88 (GPS HEIGHTS:	2CM/5CM STANDARDS	s) 🗸	31.08	N39:11:12.2803	W075:32:19.7113	NAD_83(2011)	(2010.0000) 🗸
dnrc 🙆	NONE	~	NAVD 88 (GPS HEIGHTS:	2CM/5CM STANDARDS	) ~	20.49	N39:09:36.2852	W075:31:24.9448	NAD_83(2011)	(2010.0000) 🗸
hnpt 🕚	HOR-ONLY	~	EL HGT - GEOID18	~		8.23	N38:35:19.7100	W076:07:49.3319	7 NAD_83(2011)	(2010.0000) 🗸
leba 🙆	NONE	~	NAVD 88 (FGCS LEVELIN	G IN NGSIDB) 🗸		259.13	N39:25:49.7884	W084:16:59.2838	1 NAD_83(2011)	(2010.0000) 🗸
loyf 🙆	NONE	~	NAVD 88 (GPS HEIGHTS:	2CM/5CM STANDARDS	) ~	18.80	N38:58:28.07428	W076:31:19.8853	NAD_83(2011)	(2010.0000) 🗸
loyw 🙆	NONE	~	EL HGT - GEOID18	~		14.21	N37:31:40.9950	W075:50:52.6630	NAD_83(2011)	(2010.0000) 🗸
Processin Output Re Output Ge Constraint	ng Preference f Frame: L oid Model: L Weights:	es LET LET	OPUS CHOOSE V OPUS CHOOSE V OSE O NORMAL TIG	нт						

Figure 11-25: Sample Vertical Free Adjustment constraint selection

OPUS will typically constrain horizontally the same mark that was used in the Horizontal Free adjustment (constraint now reads "HOR-ONLY"). It will also select what it believes to be the best orthometric height to constrain ("VER-ONLY," typically a user mark with a high accuracy orthometric height published in the vertical datum, located centrally to the project). Note that there may be more than one "best" height to constrain, and the user may override the selection made by OP. Whichever constraint is used, make sure the height is correct.

If there are no published orthometric heights in the project area, OP will offer an orthometric height computed from the ellipsoid height and the geoid height: OH = EH - GH

## 11.7.4.2 Analyzing the Vertical Free Adjustment

The results of the Vertical Free Adjustment are similar to that of the Horizontal Free adjustment. The summary information in the body of the email is the best place to verify:

- Make sure there is only one horizontal constraint, and that the vertical constraint is the one that was intended.
- Ensure that the Standard Error of Unit Weight is 1.0.
- Ensure the coordinate shifts are small (VF vs. HC; there should be no surprises at this stage, if the prior adjustments fit well).

For completeness, the user may want to examine the differences between adjusted orthometric heights and published orthometric heights for all user marks which will be constrained in the next step (Vertical Constrained adjustment). Any large differences (e.g. > 4 cm) should be scrutinized prior to the VC adjustment. If

there is any perceived systematic (vertical) bias, the user may want to select a different vertical constraint and re-run the vertical free adjustment.

If the results look good, the user will move to the final adjustment, the Vertical Constrained Adjustment.

## **11.7.5 Vertical Constrained Adjustment**

As with the horizontal constrained adjustment the project is now being aligned with the local vertical datum. Heights used as control (constrained heights) will greatly affect the heights being determined. It is important that control has no adverse effects on the adjustment.

## 11.7.5.1 Setting up the Vertical Constrained Adjustment

In a similar manner as before, select the Vertical Free solution from the "Available Solutions." OP will suggest the appropriate 2D ("HOR-ONLY") constraint (or 3D, if the station has a published orthometric height), typically the same CORS or user mark used for horizontal control in the Vertical Free adjustment. OP will also suggest for constraint all user marks in the project that have appropriate published orthometric heights.

Included Solutions Available Solutions											
etwork-fir	nal-vertical-free		[none	1							
MARK	CONSTRAINT	HEIGHT (m)		LATITUDE (° ' '')	LONGITUDE (° ' '')	REF. FRAME					
2ref 🔘	VER-ONLY V	NAVD 88 (FGCS LEVELING IN NGSIDB) 🗸	1.154	N38:26:45.17600	W076:07:09.84394	NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000					
crsf 🔘	VER-ONLY V	NAVD 88 (FGCS LEVELING IN NGSIDB) 🗸	1.147	N37:58:28.32227	W075:51:34.16610	NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000					
sbyf 🔘	NONE 🗸	EL HGT - GEOID18 🗸	13.66	N38:20:19.59063	W075:30:32.33399	NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000					
CORS	CONSTRAINT	HEIGHT (m)		LATITUDE (° ' '')	LONGITUDE (° ' ")	REF. FRAME					
led2 🙆	VER-ONLY 🗸	NAVD 88 (GPS HEIGHTS: 2CM/5CM STANDARDS) V	22.07	N38:39:52.28240	W075:22:38.76229	NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000					
ledo 🙆	VER-ONLY V	NAVD 88 (GPS HEIGHTS: 2CM/5CM STANDARDS) V	31.08	N39:11:12.28037	W075:32:19.71137	NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000					
nrc 🙆	VER-ONLY V	NAVD 88 (GPS HEIGHTS: 2CM/5CM STANDARDS) V	20.49	N39:09:36.28526	W075:31:24.94488	NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000					
npt 🌰	HOR-ONLY V	EL HGT - GEOID18 🗸	8.23	N38:35:19.71005	W076:07:49.33197	NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000					
eba 🙆	NONE ~	NAVD 88 (FGCS LEVELING IN NGSIDB) V	259.136	N39:25:49.78844	W084:16:59.28381	NAD_83(2011) (2010.000					
oyf 🌰	VER-ONLY V	NAVD 88 (GPS HEIGHTS: 2CM/5CM STANDARDS) V	18.80	N38:58:28.07428	W076:31:19.88533	NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000					
yw 🙆	NONE 🗸	EL HGT - GEOID18 🗸	14.21	N37:31:40.99507	W075:50:52.66305	NAD_83(2011) (2010.000					
rocessin utput Ref	ng Preferences f Frame: LET poid Model: LET	OPUS CHOOSE ✓ OPUS CHOOSE ✓									

Figure 11-26: Sample Vertical Constrained Adjustment constraint selection

Depending on the types of heights available in your area, there may be a number of possible types of vertical constraints in OP. The possible constraints are listed below.

Note that the blank space "\_\_\_\_\_" in the options below represents an official vertical datum published for the given mark/CORS. Examples include NAVD 88, PRVD02, GUVD02, etc. (see the NGS <u>Vertical Datums table</u>)

#### **OP Vertical Constraint Options:**

- 1. \_\_\_\_\_ (FGCS LEVELING IN NGSIDB): These are leveled heights that have been adjusted by NGS and are included in the datum network.
- 2. \_\_\_\_\_ (GPS HEIGHTS: 2CM/5CM STANDARDS): These are GPS derived heights that meet height modernization standards according to NGS 59 (see Glossary for more information).
- 3. \_\_\_\_\_ (FGCS LEVELING POSTED): These are orthometric heights established using FGCS leveling specifications and procedures, adjusted height is POSTED (pre-1991 precise leveling forced to fit the NAVD 88 data; excluded for various reasons from the NAVD 88 general adjustment).
- 4. \_\_\_\_\_ (LEVELING RESET): OP uses this term to describe two similar height sources:
  - a. LEVELING RESET: heights determined by differential leveling for classical horizontal observation reduction; reset procedures were used to establish the elevation, or
  - b. RESET: Third Order reset heights following reset specifications and procedures.
- 5. \_\_\_\_\_ (GPS HEIGHTS: DECIMETER ACCURACY): These are GPS derived heights that **do not meet** height modernization standards according to **NGS 59** (see Glossary for more information). Use with caution.

Any of these five options (above) will meet the requirements of vertical constraints for submission to NGS. Two additional options exist, which are always available to the user in OP (but never offered as a constraint by default). They should be used with caution. If submitting the project to NGS, their selection needs to be explained in the project report. Prior approval by <u>NGS</u> is recommended.

- 6. LEVELING NOT PUBLISHED: These are leveled orthometric heights that have been submitted to NGS which have not yet been loaded into the NGS database (aka "field heights").
- 7. EL HGT GEOID\_: Where GEOID\_ is the current NGS geoid model published in your area. This may be the only option where orthometric heights are not available. Choose all stations used as control in the horizontal adjustment. OP will use the published Ellipsoid Height and subtract the geoid. The resulting heights will be published to the nearest cm. This option is not to be used as control in height modernization projects<sup>4</sup>. Use with caution.

Once you have verified that all the constraints are correct, run the adjustment.

## 11.7.5.2 Analyzing the Vertical Constrained Adjustment

The analysis of the Vertical Constrained adjustment is similar to the one conducted after the Horizontal Constrained adjustment.

Finding an optimum alignment between an observed network and published control is an iterative process and users may find more than one satisfactory solution

#### Residuals

The residuals (computed - observed or C-O values) are summed up in the min/max V table found near the end of the Processing Log (.sum) as described earlier, along with the 20 greatest residuals. The DU values are representative of the vertical adjustment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Although not a formal constraint, this selection allows the user to determine an orthometric height by subtracting the Geoid Height from the Ellipsoid Height. Note that this will have important implications for vertical sigmas, and may lead to unintended adjustment statistics.



Note that some large residuals may be due to differences in the geoid models used to determine heights. If enough control exists it may be worth taking the opportunity to update the height on a mark

#### **Coordinate Shifts**

There are three sources of heights to consider in this final step in the adjustments:

- 1. Adjusted orthometric heights that were constrained in the final adjustment
- 2. Adjusted orthometric heights from the vertical free adjustment
- 3. Published orthometric heights



Figure 11-27: Conceptual diagram showing relationship between adjusted heights from three different sources within OPUS Projects: the Horizontal Free Adjustment, the Horizontal Constrained Adjustment, and the published orthometric heights

In the interpretation of the results, keep in mind the estimated **vertical sigmas** that OP may have assigned to the vertical constraints. A larger vertical sigma may allow for larger shifts; see Appendix D for more information.

The first set of vertical coordinates to compare is between the VC and VF adjustments (A, above). The coordinate shifts will be presented in the first table under "MARK ESTIMATED - VERTICAL FREE ADJUSTMENT COORDINATE SHIFTS." Large shifts are indicative of poorly fitting vertical control.

If the vertical shifts are small, the next step is to compare the vertical coordinate shifts between the vertically

constrained/adjusted heights and the published heights (<sup>1</sup>, above). This is presented in the second table under "MARK ESTIMATED - PUBLISHED VERTICAL COORDINATE SHIFTS." Large shifts may indicate poor control that may have to be freed up for the best-fitting adjustment.

Once the adjustment output looks good, confirm it has passed the F-test to ensure that the vertical constrained adjustment fits well with the identified vertical control. The Standard Error of Unit Weight should be close to 1.0. Review the constraint ratio analysis if the F-test fails.

If all the results look good, you are ready to submit your project to NGS!

If the user wishes to download/copy the results of the final adjustment, they should be found in an output called "[adjustment name]-FINAL." which is only available under the "Show File" button on the Manager's Page (it is not included in any email attachments)

## 11.7.6 Final Steps

Prior to submission of the project to NGS, two final steps remain: uploading the final project report, and running the final checks.

## 11.7.6.1 Final Project Report

Upon completion of the adjustments, the project report should be finalized. A good report builds on the original proposal, providing the purpose and rationale for the survey. The report identifies who was responsible for the field work as well as the processing and adjustments. Most importantly, the report provides details of the analyses, including the identification of any published coordinates that were freed up in the adjustment, and providing explanations for any preferences that were not met. Below is a listing of the major elements to be included in the final project report:

Cover Page:

Project name and tracking ID Geographic location Reference Frame/Datums to which the project was aligned Submitting agency name and 6-char agency ID If applicable: On whose behalf the survey was performed for Agency that performed the observations Agency that performed the adjustment Point of contact (name, physical address, telephone number, email address) Date of report Version of OPUS Projects

Report:

The purpose of the survey A brief chronology of field work including reconnaissance, mark-setting, and observations Sketch Project Specifications Table of user marks: both those marks used as control in the project w/ PIDs and new marks w/o PIDs Table of equipment used (model numbers and serial numbers) Procedures (timing of planned sessions and duration) Conditions affecting progress Descriptions, including any ilssues noted in WinDesc's checking programs: Neighbor, Discrep, Checkdesc, Obsdes Vector processing and any issues (specify hub(s)) Solution statistics table

Adjustments and any issues

Preliminary

Horizontal free

List any issues, resolved or otherwise, such as large residuals and exclusion of observations, etc. List all control and its source

Provide adjustment statistics such as Variance Unit Weight and degrees of freedom Horizontal constrained

- List any issues, resolved or otherwise, such as large shifts and residuals, etc.
- List all control and its sources
- List any control that did not fit the network and if it is to be redetermined
- Provide adjustment statistics such as Variance Unit Weight and degrees of freedom Provide results of the F-test
- Provide results o

Vertical free

List all control and its source

Provide adjustment statistics such as Variance Unit Weight and degrees of freedom Vertical constrained

List any issues, large shifts and residuals, etc.

- List all control and its sources
- List any control that did not fit the network and if it is to be redetermined
- Provide adjustment statistics such as Variance Unit Weight and degrees of freedom
- Provide results of the F-test

Comments and Recommendations

The report does not have to follow any particular naming convention, but should be in PDF format. The user

	Upload	
can upload the file via the	Project Report	button on the Manager's page.



Figure 11-28: Upload Project Report button on the Controls Bar on the Manager's Page

## 11.7.6.2 Project Submission Checklist

Upon completion of the fifth adjustment, the button labeled "Review and Submit to IDB" on the Manager's Page becomes active:



Figure 11-29: The Review and Submit to NGS button on the Controls Bar on the Manager's Page

Review and

When the Submit to NGS button is clicked, OP runs a series of checks, including CHKOBS and OBSCHK (see 11.7.5 and 11.7.6). In the unlikely event errors are reported by the checking programs please contact the NGS Bluebook team for instructions before hitting the final submit button. If the user has any questions about how to resolve an error, or what is implied by an error message, feel free to contact the NGS Bluebook team as well.

OP also produces a checklist at this stage, showing any missing files. A successful submission will include the following items:

- 1. An NGS Project Tracking ID has been assigned to the project
- 2. All five (5) required Description files:
- a. \*.des
- b. \*.dscngs.bluebook@noaa.gov
- c. \*.nbr
- d. \*.dis
- e. \*.err
- 3. Mark photos
- 4. Field logs (pdf format preferred)
- 5. Project report (pdf format required)
- 6. All five network adjustments run, checked, and verified for tolerance to project specifications

Make sure all required files have been successfully loaded into the project prior to submitting the project to NGS. If any items are missing, OP will indicate any missing items.

Once all the checks are completed and files verified, the project can be submitted to NGS by clicking on the "Submit" button. Thank you for using OP to submit your GNSS project to NGS!

Validate Required Items For Submission To IDB									
? 🗘				Submit For Publication					
SURVEY PROPOSAL TRACKING NUMBER: SUBMITTING ORGANIZATION: CONTACT: DATE:	0000 NATIONAL GEODETIC SURVEY PHILIPPE.HENSEL@NOAA.GOV 2021-05-26T19:14:19 Z	( (NGS) /							
OPUS-PROJECTS ID: OPUS-PROJECTS MANAGER KEYWORD: OPUS-PROJECTS TITLE: OPUS-PROJECTS ADJUSTMENT NAME: OPUS-PROJECTS ADJUSTMENT DATE: OPUS-PROJECTS F-TEST SUMMARY: HORIZONTAL-CONSTRAINED: FALED VERTICAL-CONSTRAINED: PASSED	e 99% e 99%	CONFIDENCE)							
SURVEY START - END: NUMBER OF OCCUPIED MARKS: NUMBER OF CORS: DATUM: MARKS LATITUDE MIN - MAX: MARKS LATITUDE MIN - MAX: MARK+CORS LATITUDE MIN - MAX: MARK+CORS LONGITUDE MIN - MAX:	2019-10-08 - 2019-10-10 3 7 NAD &3(2011) @ 2010.0004 N37:58:28.32222 - N38: W075:30:23.3375 - W08: N37:31:40.99524 - N39; W075:22:38.76195 - W084;	26:45. 07:09. 25:49. 16:59.	17651 84376 78849 28348						
Item		Status	Notes						
NGS Survey Proposal Tracking Num	nber	×	This projec	t is not for p	publication.				
WinDesc Geodetic Control Descrip	ptive Data File (*.dsc)	1	ок						
WinDesc Proprietary Format Descr	riptive Data File (*.des)	1	ок						
WinDesc Check Output (*.err)		1	ок	_					
WinDesc Discrp Output (*.dis)		1	ок						
WinDesc Neighbor Output (*.nbr)		1	ок						
Project Report		×	Upload						
Chkobs Output		1	ок						
Obschk Short Output		1	ок						
Obschk Long Output		1	ок						
Obsdes Output		1	ок						
Final B-file		1	ок						
Final G-file		1	ок						
HTDP Transformed G-file		1	ок						
Original G-file		1	ок						
Vertical-constrained Adjustment		1	ок						
Vertical-free Adjustment		1	ок						
Horizontal-constrained Adjustmen	nt	1	ок						
Horizontal-free Adjustment		1	ок						
Preliminary Adjustment		1	ок						
Mark		Status	Description	RINEX file(s)	OPUS Report(s)	Field Log(s)	Close-up Photo	Eye-level Photo	Horizontal Photo
2REF : 0001 : HV8917		1	ок	ОК	ок	ОК	ок	ок	ок
CRSF : 0003 : FW1986		1	ок	OK	ок	ОК	ок	ок	ОК
SBYF : 0002 :		1	ок	OK	ок	ОК	ок	ок	ок
CORS		Status	Notes						
DED2		1	ок						
DEDO		1	ок						
DNRC		1	ок						
HNPT		1	ок						
LEBA		1	ок						
LOYF		1	ок						
LOYW		✓	ОК						
						Website Owner: I	National Geodetic Sur	vey / Last modified by	y OPUS team Nov 23 2020

NOS Home • NGS Employees • Privacy Policy • Disclaimer • USA.gov • Ready.gov • Site Map • Contact Webmaster

*Figure 11-30: Example of the result of a project check where two items are missing or incomplete* 

# **Acronyms and Glossary**

- A Priori Coordinates: the initial coordinates assigned to survey marks by OP. This effectively gives a positional starting point for the subsequent least squares adjustment. In the absence of any other information, a priori coordinates come directly from the OPUS solutions for individual user marks. If all observations for a given user mark are loaded prior to accessing the project, OP will sort the solutions according to the dates and times of observations, and will use the first solution as the a priori. If only one observation is loaded prior to accessing the project, OP will use that solution as the a priori, regardless of when the observation was taken. Once the project has been accessed/opened, uploading subsequent observation files and obtaining additional OPUS solutions will not change the a priori coordinate. The user can always verify which RINEX file was used for the ap priori coordinates in the Marks page Processing Results drop-down menu. If the user selects "Use Coordinates" on the mark's datasheet, the published coordinates will automatically replace the a priori coordinates from OPUS. This means that the coordinates from the datasheet are believed to be better than the ones created from your GNSS project. This should occur rarely.
- A Priori Coordinate Shifts: These numbers (given either in centimeters or meters) show by how much the a priori coordinates changed as a result of the least squares adjustment during session processing or network solutions. Note that even positions held fixed (constraints) will still show small coordinate shifts, especially if the "normal" or "loose" constraint preferences are selected. These preferences allow for small shifts to minimize overall least squares error in the adjustment.
- ADJUST: An NGS computer program for the least squares adjustment of horizontal, vertical angle, and GNSS survey networks. For GNSS networks, the input (reduced) observations are Earth-Centered, Earth-Fixed (ECEF) Cartesian vectors and their uncertainties, obtained from a GNSS baseline processing engine (such as PAGES). ADJUST is used in OP for horizontal and vertical network adjustments, after initial adjustments using the NGS program GPSCOM. ADJUST is also available as a separate PC executable.

#### Ambiguities: See Integer Ambiguities

- Antenna Reference Point: The antenna reference point (ARP) is the physical point on the antenna to which antenna calibration values are referenced. ARP is preferably an easily accessible point on the lowest non-removable horizontal surface of the antenna. Typically, the ARP coincides with the axis of attachment of the antenna to a monument or surveying instrument. To identify the ARP for a given antenna, visit the NGS Antenna Calibrations page. (https://www.ngs.noaa.gov/ANTCAL/)
- ARP: See "Antenna Reference Point"
- **B-file**: An ASCII text file generated as an output of network adjustment that contains mark coordinates, network and local accuracies, and mark occupation information, in standard "Bluebook" format (<u>https://geodesy.noaa.gov/FGCS/BlueBook/pdf/Chapter%204.pdf</u>).
- **Baseline Processing**: In GNSS-based positioning, baseline processing is the computation of vectors (distance and direction in  $\Delta X$ ,  $\Delta Y$ ,  $\Delta Z$ ) between points observed at the same time with GNSS. A vector can be considered as a measurement of a baseline.
- **Bluebook** or **Bluebooking**: This term refers to a collection of defined procedures by which a user could submit observations to NGS for possible inclusion in the authoritative NGS database of survey control (the Integrated Database or "IDB"). Originally, the procedures were published in blue 3 ring binders, and came to be called the bluebooks, which explains the origination of the action term "bluebooking." See "Bluebook" format at: (https://geodesy.noaa.gov/FGCS/BlueBook/pdf/Chapter%204.pdf).
- **Constraints**: OP allows the user to select which marks or CORS have their coordinates held fixed ("constrained") in a least-squares adjustment of all of the GNSS data. Three levels of constraints are available. The

NORMAL constraint weights instruct the program to limit the adjustment to less than about 1 cm, but if it "wants" to be greater than 1 cm, it will, although the constraint will increasingly hinder taking on larger and larger values. Think of it as a rubber band. For adjustments less than a couple cm, the rubber band is not stretched tightly and the adjustment can "easily" reach (take on) any of those values if the solution demands. Beyond that, the rubber band is stretched tighter and tighter. The adjustment can reach (take on) larger values, but it must work harder to do so. Be aware that the rubber band is never slack. It is always "pulling" towards the specified constraint value to some extent. The LOOSE constraint weights instructs the program to limit the adjustment to less than about one meter of float for the constrained points. The TIGHT constraint weights forces the adjustment to less than one-tenth of a millimeter of float for the constrained points in the adjustment (effectively fixing and not allowing the constrained control points to move).

- **Datasheet**: See NGS Datasheet a report containing the published NSRS time dependent coordinates on a survey mark, as well as subsidiary information and metadata such as superseded coordinates, descriptions and recovery history of the survey mark.
- **Double-differencing**: The mathematical process of solving for unknown positional errors inherent in GNSS positioning. The technique applies the *difference* between a GNSS-derived position with its known coordinates at a known point (often called the "base") to the difference between a simultaneously derived GNSS-derived position and its true position at an unknown point (the "rover").
- **Earth-Centered, Earth-Fixed (ECEF)**: A geographic and Cartesian coordinate system. It represents positions as X, Y, and Z coordinates, with the origin at the center of mass of Earth. Its axes are aligned with the international reference pole (IRP) and international reference meridian (IRM) that are fixed with respect to Earth's surface. The z-axis extends through true north, which does not coincide with the instantaneous Earth rotational axis. The slight "wobbling" of the rotational axis is known as polar motion. The x-axis intersects the sphere of the earth at 0° latitude (the equator) and 0° longitude (prime meridian in Greenwich).
- **Ephemeris**: An electronic data file containing information about the position of a satellite with respect to time. Typically, each satellite retains the latest copy of its ephemeris onboard the satellite, that it broadcasts to the receivers to provide information about its position relative to Earth. This is called the "broadcast ephemeris," and for GPS satellites, the ephemeris files maintained by the US Space Force are uploaded to the satellites from the Master Control Station every 2 hours. The International GNSS Service (IGS) computes additional ephemerides based on both collected and modeled data. Ultra-rapid ephemerides are very similar to the broadcast ones, and include predicted positions in real time. Rapid ephemerides are considered the best available, and are available with a typical 12-18-day latency. The IGS considers all of its ephemerides "precise."
- **Elevation Cutoff**: This number, expressed in degrees above the horizon, specifies the angle below which data from satellites will be ignored. The default for new projects is a conservative but common value of 15 degrees. By eliminating low elevation satellites, some of the problematic effects of the troposphere and ionospheric delays may be avoided. Pre-planning the GNSS observations on each user mark by preparing a 'mark obstruction diagram' will produce a cleaner data set for each observation. Trees, buildings, hilly topography, etc. reduce satellite visibility, and may cause cycle slips because of temporary losses of signal from a satellite. Most survey grade receivers allow the elevation cutoff to be specified for an individual observation. A common strategy is to set the receiver's elevation cutoff mask at a lower value, such as 10 degrees, then apply a higher elevation cutoff mask for individual session processing.
- **G-file**: An ASCII text file generated as an output of network adjustment that contains vector components, standard deviations, correlations, and processing information, in standard NGS "Bluebook" format (https://geodesy.noaa.gov/FGCS/BlueBook/pdf/Annex\_N.pdf).

- **Geometric Reference Point (GRP)**: The physical point on an antenna mount that defines the placement of the antenna's reference point, or ARP. Like the ARP, the GRP coincides with the axis of attachment of the antenna to a monument or surveying instrument. When a GNSS antenna is properly installed, the GRP and ARP are coincident in space. See "Antenna Reference Point" for more information on the ARP and how it relates to antenna calibrations.
- **Geoid**: Equipotential surface of Earth's gravity field which best fits mean sea level and the continuation of that same surface onto land. It is typically used as the zero reference surface for orthometric heights.
- **GNSS**: Global Navigation Satellite System uses satellites to provide autonomous geo-spatial positioning. It allows electronic receivers to determine their location (longitude, latitude, and altitude (elevation) to high precision (within a few centimeters to metres) using time signals transmitted along a line of sight by radio from satellites.
- **GPS**: Global Position System is a satellite-based radionavigation system owned by the United States government. It is one of the Global Navigation Satellite Systems (GNSS) that provides geolocation and time information to a GPS receiver anywhere on or near the Earth where there is an unobstructed line of sight to four or more GPS satellites.
- **GPSCOM**: This is a program for the combined adjustment of multiple GPS data sets initially processed by the program PAGES. GPSCOM is a simple Helmert Blocking, normal equation processor which combines multiple GPS data sets that have initially been processed by the program PAGES to form and partially reduce normal equations, eliminating numerous nuisance parameters which are not generally of interest in a large global adjustment.

**GRP**: See "Geometric Reference Point"

- Hub: In GNSS network survey design, the hub is a point observed with GNSS which is preferentially selected for inclusion in baseline processing. In other words, an included user mark that is a "hub" is more likely to be connected to other user marks.
- **Integer Ambiguities:** The unknown number of wavelengths spanning the distance between a GNSS satellite when a signal is emitted and a GNSS receiver on the surface of Earth.
- Mark: The term OP uses to describe a point observed with GNSS and whose GNSS observations are brought into the project via the OPUS upload page. See also "User Mark."
- Multi-Year CORS Solution (MYCS): Periodically, new coordinates and velocities are computed for all CORS that are part of the NOAA CORS Network (NCN). This massive computation effort combines data from prior solutions with new CORS data available since then. This processing/reprocessing is made to coincide with the adoption of a new realization of the International Terrestrial Reference Frame (ITRF).
- **Network Design**: A reflection of the choices made in selecting baselines to compute in GNSS-based session processing and network adjustment.
- **NGS 59**: The abbreviated name commonly used to refer to <u>NOAA Technical Memorandum NOS NGS 59</u>, which outlines procedures to obtain orthometric height network accuracies of 5 cm and orthometric height local accuracies of 2 cm or 5 cm using GNSS.
- NGS Datasheets ("Datasheets"): The expression of the authoritative geodetic control from the NGS database (the Integrated Database, or "IDB") in the form a report containing the published NSRS time dependent, coordinates on a survey mark, as well as subsidiary information and metadata such as superseded coordinates, descriptions and recovery history of the survey mark.
- **NGS IDB**: The NOAA National Geodetic Survey's "Integrated database" containing authoritative, high accuracy positioning on survey marks throughout the nation and its territories. Access to these authoritative information is through <u>datasheets</u>, available online.
- **NOAA CORS Network**: The NOAA CORS Network (**NCN**) is a multi-purpose cooperative network of GNSS stations from over 200 government, academic, and private organizations. Its primary objective is to

enable GNSS users by providing precise positioning relative to the U.S. National Spatial Reference System (NSRS).

**PAGE-NT**: A Microsoft Windows Graphic User Interface (GUI) that facilitates the running of the PAGES program.

- **PAGES**: An NGS-developed GNSS baseline processing engine that uses double-differencing to solve for geodetic coordinates and uncertainties of unknown marks relative to marks with known coordinates. PAGES can perform simultaneous baseline processing, allowing for determination of correlations between all GNSS receivers during a session. In determining the solutions, PAGES solves for integer ambiguities and determines tropospheric parameters. Output is provided in *S*olution *IN*dependent *EX*change (SINEX) format and as GNSS vectors (used in the ADJUST program). PAGES currently only uses GPS observables, but other GNSS constellations will be added in a future version.
- Peak-to-Peak ("P2P"): An expression of the range among the different positional solutions coming from OPUS post-processed results. For single OPUS (static) solutions, these numbers express the range among the different positional solutions as a result of post-processing GNSS observations through OPUS (expressing the variability among the different baselines to the CORSs). For OPUS Projects, these numbers express the range among multiple least squares adjustments (e.g. comparisons among the different session processing).
- **Post-processing:** The geodetic computations applied to static GNSS observation data, after the observation files are taken, which take advantage of simultaneous GNSS observations at known reference stations to resolve errors that degrade the precision and accuracy of GNSS-derived positions. OPUS and OPUS Projects are examples of post-processing software.
- Project Tracking ID: To gain access to certain capabilities of OP, an NGS-supplied Project Tracking ID must be entered. This ID is provided to you by NGS after we have reviewed the information submitted via the NGS Survey Project Proposal page. For any project you intend to submit to NGS, you must submit the Project Proposal to receive an assigned ID. If you intend to use OP for your own purposes you can utilize the trial ID of "0000" (four zeros). Note that if you initially enter the trial ID with the intent to later enter an assigned ID, you will need to enter your assigned ID before performing any Network Adjustments or you will experience problems with resultant files generated by OP. The most typical reason a user would choose to enter the trial ID is to access the integrated ADJUST software.
- Publish: The action of NGS providing to the public the official, National Spatial Reference System (NSRS) timedependent geodetic coordinates set on a survey mark.
- **RINEX**: The Receiver-INdependent EXchange format is an internationally accepted, ASCII-based GNSS observation file format which enables observations files from many different receiver types to be shared, uploaded, and post-processed.
- **RMS**: Root Mean Square is a computation of error derived on the square root of the sums of squared difference terms.
- Serfil: A text file which associates each user mark with both its OPUS 4-character ID and the sequential serial number (SSN) used in the WinDesc description file associated with the project
- Session: A group of files associated with nearly simultaneous observations of a group of marks. OP automatically creates sessions based on the start/stop times in the submitted files and the limits selected in Manager's Preferences. A session by itself is not the same as a solution.
- **Session processing**: The post-processing of two or more GNSS data files whose contents were collected with substantial time (observation) overlap to estimate the coordinates of the marks at which the data were collected with respect to one or more marks chosen to act as reference stations.
- Share: The act of releasing to NGS the observations (via OPUS), metadata and results of geodetic surveys tied to the NSRS for public dissemination.
- **Shift**: The amount by which a coordinate of a given mark has changed or is different compared to some other coordinate for the same mark. This is a common term when comparing the input coordinates to the output coordinates in an adjustment, or the published coordinates to the adjusted output coordinates.

- Sigma: An expression error defined as the sum of squared differences, typically between observations and either the mean of a sample or a (known) parametric value. Sigmas are identified by the greek letter o.
- SINEX: Solution INdependent EXchange format: an internationally recognized data file containing the solutions of GNSS baseline processing. The NGS software PAGES produces SINEX files. For more information, see https://www.iers.org/IERS/EN/Organization/AnalysisCoordinator/SinexFormat/sinex.html
- **Solution**: A solution is the result of a computation based on the observation files in a given session and the processing choices selected by the user. Such user choices include which marks to include or exclude, hub selections, constraints (loose/normal/tight), etc. Therefore, many solutions can be computed from a single session. Each solution can be named. Users should include only one solution per session in a network adjustment.
- **SSN**: Station Serial Number: For the purpose of identifying the station on the observation records in a concise manner, each survey point is assigned a project specific station serial number (SSN) in the range 0001 to 9999.
- Submission to NGS: The act of a user releasing to NGS the observations, metadata and results of geodetic surveys tied to the NSRS for the express purpose of NGS evaluating the survey and, if appropriate, including the descriptions and observations in the authoritative national database of survey control, and making the information available through NGS datasheets.
- **Tropospheric Modeling**: Water vapor and the gas components of the dry air cause a delay in the GNSS signals arriving at the receiver. To correct for this delay, tropospheric models are computed, based on a number of tropospheric parameters. Models used by OPUS include a global climatological model (Boehm et al. 2007), a global mapping function for mapping the "dry" component of the tropospheric model (Boehm et al. 2006) and another global mapping function to model the "wet" component of the troposphere (Boehn et al. 2006). Finally, OPUS uses a correction to the "wet" component of the tropospheric model using the GNSS data itself. The estimation of the correction relies on the tropospheric interval.
- **Tropospheric Parameters**: A number of variables are required to model tropospheric delays affecting GNSS signals. Variables include latitude, longitude, height, day-of-year, relative humidity, air temperature, and air pressure.
- **Tropospheric Interval**: The time interval over which tropospheric parameters are interpolated and corrected from model output. OP allows the user to specify not only the time interval, but also the manner in which the interpolation occurs (piecewise linear vs. step-offset.
- **User Mark**: This is the term used throughout this OP user manual to refer to a point observed with GNSS, and whose GNSS observations have been uploaded into the project by the user through the OPUS upload page. Typically, this means a point which was directly observed by the user with GNSS, but it could also refer to a reference point with continuous GNSS observations whose data the user has brought into the project via the OPUS upload page. Within OP, user marks are referred to more simply as "Marks" and are differentiated from "CORS," whose data are brought into the project automatically by OP through CORS selection.
- Vertical Sigmas: Vertical uncertainties (sigmas) for vertically constrained marks or CORSs in OP are based on values and relationships established by NGS, according to the source of the height on the datasheet. For an explanation of these values, please see Appendix D.

# **Appendix A: WinDesc Module for OPUS Projects**

## A.1 Introduction

Accurate and complete description information is required for geodetic observations to be correctly associated with survey marks in the National Geodetic Survey's authoritative database of survey control – the Integrated Database, or "IDB." This appendix explains how to use the PC executable program, WinDesc, to create, manage, and quality control survey mark descriptions prior to loading into OPUS Projects (OP).

Entering mark descriptive information within the OPUS Projects "Mark Description Summary" will NOT create the description files necessary for submitting the project to NGS. Only WinDesc currently supports this functionality.



Figure A-1: For submitting a GNSS project to NGS for publication, a complete set of description files are needed. Mark descriptive summary as shown on the Mark Page is not sufficient.

WinDesc enables the creation, editing, and formatting of geodetic control description information in compliance with the National Geodetic Survey's Bluebook Annex P. WinDesc uses scripts that query the NGS database, to ensure consistency.

The software is designed for Microsoft Windows Operating Systems, and has been tested on Windows 7, 8 and 10. Note: The spelling check routine will only work if Microsoft Word is loaded on the PC.

WinDesc is available from the NGS website: <u>www.ngs.noaa.gov/PC\_PROD/pc\_prod.shtml</u>. Check the website periodically to check for new versions of the program, or navigate to the WebTools  $\rightarrow$  Update  $\rightarrow$  Program menu. Be sure to uninstall the old version before installing the new one. The program will prompt for intermediate updates periodically. Access to the internet is required to download updates.

Photos are critical pieces of corroborating evidence in mark descriptions, and need to be loaded into OP. Users are directed to the <u>NGS Photo Submission Guidelines</u> for more information. We recommend using the photo editing features within WinDesc, and then uploading photos to OP after all observation files have been loaded.

## A.2 Creating a new description file

Select: 'File>New' from the menu or press Ctrl N. Type in the name of the file to be created.



Figure A-2: Home screen WinDesc version 5.03.03, showing the initiation of a new description file

This will create a new \*.des file in the directory that you have selected.

☐   ☑ ☐ 〒   GPS1234 File Home Share View				—		× ~ ?
$\leftarrow$ $\rightarrow$ $\checkmark$ $\uparrow$ $\square$ $\rightarrow$ This PC $\rightarrow$ Shared (S:) $\rightarrow$ OPUS-Projects $\rightarrow$ OP						
1 Orithmure	Name	Date modified	Туре	Size		
Documents	GPS1234.des	7/15/2019 4:04 PM	DES File		13 KB	
Pictures *						

Figure A-3: Sample description file for a fictitious project "GPS1234"

Name your description file with the accession code and number assigned to your project. See below for more information on accession numbers.

## A.3 Editing Project Data

To access the project data form, select 'Edit>Project Data' from the main menu.



Figure A-4: Accessing Project Data in WinDesc

Data Set Information - S:\OPUS-Projects\OP4.0 User Guide\GPS1234\GPS1234.des	×
Job Code: 🗚 Country: 🗵 🗸 State: MD 🗸 Agcy Cat. 🗛	Agency: NGS ~
Agency Name: NATIONAL GEODETIC SURVEY	
Accession Code: GPS V No.: Obj0 Line/Part	
C.O.P. Name: JOHN DOE	Initials: JD
Proj Title:	0
Com	^
	~
email: john.doe@noaa.gov	
Photo Directory: C:\Users\john.doe\GPS_projects\GPS1234\Photos	<b>2</b>
Horizontal Ellipsoid:	GRS-80 ~
Datum 83 V Order: V Class: V Semi-Major	6378137000
Vertical	2982572221
Datum: 88 V Order. V Class: V Semi-Minor	
Project Limits     Minumum     Maximum:     Plotting Shift (Se	Proj Start 20210615
Latitude: N V N V	GPS Start:
Lonaitude: W V W V	GPS Comp:
Elevation: Compute Compute	Proj Comp: 20210831
OK Cancel	

Figure A-5: Sample WinDesc Project Data screen

Job Code: User-defined, but recommended to always use "AA."

Country: Select appropriate country for project from the drop-down menu

**State**: Select appropriate state for project from the drop-down menu.

Agcy Cat Code: Drop-down menu; select the appropriate category for you/your agency. The category codes help organize and identify the "agency" assigned to the user for the purpose of submitting information and data to the National Geodetic Survey. Note that a private individual, or "none" as codes can be found under "M - Non-Specific Designators."

Α		National Agencies					
в	-	Inter-state or Inter-province Agencies					
C	-	State, Province, Commonwealth, and Territorial Agencies					
D	-	County Agencies					
E	-	Municipal Agencies					
F	-	Inter-city or Inter-county Agencies					
G	-	Railroads					
H	-	Utility and Natural Resource Companies					
I	-	Surveying, Engineering, and Construction Industry					
J	-	Educational Agencies					
K	-	Professional And Amateur Associations					
L	-	Miscellaneous Commercial Or Private Firms					
М	-	Non-Specific Designators					

Figure A-6: NGS Agency categories drop-down menu

Agcy symb: When the Agency Category Code is selected, the corresponding available Agency Codes are available in the drop-down menu. You can type the Agency Code or scroll to the correct code. Once the code field is entered, the Agency Name will fill in automatically.

If a user is not sure whether their agency has a code they can look it up in the Contrib.dat file (found in the PC's WinDesc folder), or look it up online: (<u>https://www.ngs.noaa.gov/cgi-bin/get\_contrib.prl</u>).

If a user cannot find the corresponding agency and would like to register the agency, the user can send an email request to <u>ngs.annexc@noaa.gov</u>.

Accession Code: For any GPS project, accession code is "GPS."

[Accession] No.: Accession numbers are assigned by NGS after a survey project proposal has been reviewed and approved. Please submit your proposal on the <u>Project Proposal website</u>. If not using an accession number, this can be lest blank.

Line/Part: Typically blank for most GPS projects in OP

C.O.P. Name: Enter the Chief of Party name

Initials: Enter the Chief of Party initials

Proj. Title: Enter the name of the project. This should be the same name as the one assigned to the project.

**Com.**: Comments are optional.

**Email**: Sharing an email address will allow NGS to contact you if there are any issues or questions about your description files.

**Photo Directory**: Processing mark descriptions in WinDesc allows the user to correctly format, edit, label, and submit all the required photos for the project. Identifying the directory containing all of the photos simplifies the identification and processing of the photos.

Horizontal/Datum/Order/Class: The default horizontal datum is 83; leave as-is.

Vertical/Datum/Order/Class: The default vertical datum is [NAVD] 88; leave as-is for projects in the Continental USA ("CONUS") and Alaska. For projects outside CONUS, please choose the appropriate datum in the drop-down list (e.g. International Great Lakes Datum, Puerto Rico Vertical Datum, "other," etc.).

Ellipsoid: Leave blank or select GRS-80.

#### Project Limits: Leave blank

**Proj Start** and **GPS Start**: Enter the date (yyyymmdd) that the project and GPS observations started.

*GPS Comp* and **Proj Comp**: Enter the date (yyyymmdd) on which the GPS observations were completed and the project was completed.

Click OK to save the project data.

## A.4 Editing Descriptive Data

Open the Descriptive Data window by selecting it under the Edit tab:



Figure A-7: Accessing the mark Descriptive Data in WinDesc

* Modification to Desc of A Mark in NGSIDB - 🗆 🗙					
SSN < 0109 V > DNR R V Rec M V Desig TANEY					
PID JV6665 Dsdata Dsdata Aerial Alias					
Country US 🗸 State MD 🗸 County CARROLL 🗸 🗸 Load					
Quad TANEYTOWN App. V GPS Y V ID					
VM					
Recovery Information         Agency       A       NGS       V       Date       20170731       C.O.P.       GS       Cond       G					
Surface Marker Information Cat D v Type DH v Mag v Stability C v FI/Proj/Rec F v v Setting 07 v / Setting Phrase:					
Logo A V NGS V Stamp TANEY 1990					
Underground Marker Setting Information Type Vag Stability Setting Onte Date					
Rod/Pipe Information       Depth       Sleeve					
UID: 11479397					
Position       Text       1       2       3       V       W       G       Q       Carry       D-Sht       Delete       Save       Clear					
Spelling Checked: YES Neighbor Run: YES Discrep Run: YES Text: RAD					

Figure A-8: Sample mark description for a published mark (information uploaded from the NGS IDB)

**SSN** (Station Serial Number): Each survey mark is assigned a job-specific station serial number (SSN) in the range 0001 to 9999. Each SSN needs to be unique to each mark observed in the project (NOT including CORS - no descriptions are required for CORS).



**DNR**: Describe a new mark (D) or Recover and existing mark (R); N would be used for mark recoveries, if the mark were not found (not typically used for the purposes of building a description file for a survey project)

* Description Entry Form	_	×
SSN < 0109 > DNR > Rec > Desig		
PID Dsdata D - Describe a newly set mark N - Non-recovery of a mark		
Country US V State MD Country Country		oad

Figure A-9: Describe, Non-recover, or Recovery a mark options

## A.4.1 Recovering an Existing Mark in the NGS IDB

If the mark already exists in the NGS IDB, the user will typically modify (add to) the existing description of a mark in the description file. In rare cases, the user may wish to totally re-describe a mark, if the original description is deemed incorrect.

**Rec** (Recovery): If an existing mark is recovered (R code, above), then the user can select from the following:

- F: Fully describe a mark not already present in the NGS database (not applicable here, as the mark already exists in the NGS IDB)
- M: Modify (add to) the description of an existing mark in the NGS database
- T: Totally re-describe a mark in the NGS database

If the mark is not in the NGS database, or the user selects the non-recovery of a mark, then the "Rec" option disappears.

* Description Entry Form	_		×
SSN < 0109 V > DNR R V Rec V Desig			
PID Dsdata Dsdata F-Fully describe a mark no M-Modify (add to) the described by the describ	ot in t c of a	he NGS: mark i	IDB n the
Country US V State MD V County	ark in	the NG:	SIDB Uau

Figure A-10: Fully describe, Modify, or Totally re-describe a mark options

**Desig** (Designation): This is typically a number, an alphanumeric symbol, or a concise, intelligible name which is usually stamped on the disk or access cover of the mark. If the mark already exists in the NGS database, the user should skip this entry and first enter the PID (Permanent Identifier - next entry), and the designation (and other attributes) will automatically be loaded.

**PID** (Permanent Identifier): This is the unique, six-character code identifying the mark within the NGS IDB. The first two characters are alphabetic, followed by four numeric characters (e.g. "AB1234").



If the description file will be loaded into OPUS Projects, the PIDs in the WinDesc file must match the PIDs assigned to the marks in the project. Not all marks may have PIDs assigned, but if they do, they must match those in OPUS Projects.

After the PID is entered on the second row of the description entry window, the user can click on the

**Dsdata** button to retrieve mark descriptive information already loaded in the NGS IDB. The information will be retrieved from the internet, assuming there is an internet connection; if there is no internet, the user will have to have previously downloaded a datasheet file for each mark in the NGS database.

<b>Undification to Desc of</b> A	* Modification to Desc of A Mark in NGSIDB - 🗆 🗙						
SSN < 0109 > 0 PID JV6665 Dsd	DNR R → Rec M → Desig						
Country US - State	e MD 🗸 County 🗸 🗸 Load	1					
Quad	App. V GPS V ID						
[	* Download Options × VM						
Recovery Information Agency A V NGS	What do you want to import?	-					
Surface Marker Informa	<ul> <li>✓ Ortho Ht</li> <li>✓ Heading</li> <li>Kec ✓</li> </ul>	-					
Setting V / Se V Text Logo V Okay Cancel							
Underground Marker Setting Information Type V Mag V Stability V Setting Date Date							
Rod/Pipe Information       Depth       Sleeve							
UID: Position Text 1	2 3 V W G O Carry D-Sht Delete Save Exit						

Figure A-11: Pop-up window prompting user to import mark descriptive data from an existing mark in the NGS IDB (using the mark's PID)

Once the description file incorporates the relevant metadata from the NGS database, Windesc adds additional information to the right of the SSN drop-down menu (see below): the first column gives the horizontal order assigned to the mark (all zero-order in the example below); the middle column gives the vertical order (a mixture of First and Second Order in the example); and the right-most column identifies whether the heights are adjusted ("A") or GPS-derived ("G").

The user should verify that the information loaded onto the description pages is correct (including the "Position" and "Text" buttons, explained below).

Modification to Desc of A Mark in NGSIDB	– 🗆 X
SSN < 2 A > DNR R > Rec M > Desig TANEY	
PID THE 0101 CALVERTON	02A
0102 NBS 102	0 1 A
Country 0103 BRUNSWICK 2	0 2 A
0104 GORF N	0 2 A DLOAD
Ouad T 0105 E 87	0 2 A
0106 FRANKS	0 G
0107 POND	0 2 A
0108 BELL	0 2 A
0109 TANEY	0 2 A

Figure A-12: Additional mark attributes imported from the NGS IDB

**Country/State/County/Quad**: Check these attributes (Quad refers to the corresponding USGS 7-minute quadrangle map). These should be correctly imported from the NGS IDB, but it is always prudent to check.

Load: Make sure this is checked so the description file can eventually be loaded into the NGS DIB.

VM: If the mark is a NOAA tidal bench mark, make sure the VM number is listed (available from the <u>Tides &</u> <u>Currents bench mark datasheet pages</u>).

**GPS**: This describes whether the mark is suitable for GPS observations. For OP, this must be "Y" (Yes, mark is suitable for GPS use).

**ID**: This is a four-character ID assigned to each observed mark in your GNSS project. The recommendation is to define unique four-character ID's for each mark to be observed in the project, <u>prior</u> to running the survey. In that way, field log sheets can correctly identify the four-character IDs specific to each mark, so there is less chance of confusion when running quality assurance and quality control.

In order for the marks in OP to match the descriptions, the four character ID in the WinDesc file much match the four character IDs for the respective marks in OP

**Recovery Information**: if the mark is an existing mark, the description file needs information on the agency, date, and Chief of Party associated with the recovery. As before, agency information starts with the agency type code, followed by the specific agency name code (See <u>Bluebook Annex C</u> for more information). The user may also consult the <u>Agency Table</u>, and email <u>ngs.annexc@noaa.gov</u> if a new agency code is required.

Modification to Desc of A Mark in NGSIDB -	- 🗆 X
SSN < 0109 > DNR V Rec M > Desig TANEY	
PID JV6665 Dsdata Dsdata Alias	
Country US -> State MD -> County CARROLL	✓ ✓ Load
Quad TANEYTOWN App. V GPS Y V	ID
Recovery Information	
Agency A VIGS V Date 20170731 C.O.P. GS	Cond G 🗸

Figure A-13: Mark recovery information

#### **Surface Marker Information**

For a mark already in the NGS IDB, the surface marker information will have been imported from the database. Occasionally, some information may be missing which the use may be able to provide. It is always recommended to check to make sure all of the information is correct. Any user-changed fields will be reviewed at NGS prior to loading.

Surface Marker Information Cat D v Type DH v Mag v Stability C v Fl/Proj/Rec F v v
Setting 07 V / Setting Phrase:
Logo A V NGS V Stamp TANEY 1990

Figure A-14: Surface Marker Information

Cat: This is the category of the mark, whether it be a disk, rod mark, landmark, or other.

**Type**: This is the specific attribute for the mark category. For survey disks, there are a number of types including generic survey disks, tide station disks, vertical control disks, etc. For rod marks, options include flange-encased rod or simply metal rod.

Mag: If the mark is known to have magnetic properties (it can be located with a metal detector), please indicate it here.

**Stability**: This is the presumed stability (combined horizontal and vertical) of the survey mark. Is the mark subject to disturbance or movement? Please refer to the table below for an explanation of the stability codes.

#### Table A-1: NGS vertical stability codes

Vertical Stability Code	Definition	Exa mple
A	Marks of the most reliable nature which are expected to hold their position/elevation well	Marks set on outcrops, on foundations of huge structures, or deep rod marks inserted to refusal
В	Marks which probably hold their positions/elevations well	Marks set on foundations of large structures, or deep rod marks
С	Marks which may hold their positions/elevations well, but which are commonly subject to surface ground movements	Marks set in medium structures, including concrete post marks
D	Marks of questionable or unknown reliability	Marks set in light structures (e.g. sidewalks, curbs, etc.)

If a stability code has already been assigned to the mark in the NGS database, only change the stability code if there is proof positive that the original stability is mis-characterized (please provide evidence, such as a photograph).

**Fl/Proj/Rec** (Flush/Projecting/Recessed): this refers to where the mark is found relative to the surrounding ground. If the mark is not flush with the ground, please provide a measurement of the distance that it is either projecting (P) or recessed (R). Note that either centimeters, inches, or feet are allowed.

**Setting**: This refers to the structure to which the survey mark is attached. Review for accuracy. If the current setting is currently different than what is indicated in the database, there is either an error in the database, or the mark has been reset. In either case, a note in the text would be warranted.

**Setting Phrase**: This is a concise (one or several-word) description of the specific setting of the mark. Examples might include "bridge," "abutment," "pier," etc. Review as above, and correct if necessary, adding explanatory text.

**Logo**: This part of the description relates to the agency that set the mark. Typically a survey mark will have the agency logo stamped onto the disk or mark access cover. Review for accuracy.

**Stamp**: this refers to the exact stamping seen on the disk or mark access cover. Typically this includes the designation as well as the year the mark was set. Note that the agency logo information is NOT included in the definition of the stamping - only the designation, year, and possibly other text stamped into that particular mark. If there are more than one year stamped on the disk, that is most likely an indication that the original mark has been reset. Review the descriptive information for reference to the mark being a reset.

## **Underground Marker Setting Information**

Traditional horizontal marks set in the 19<sup>th</sup> and 20<sup>th</sup> Centuries involved burying the reference mark underground to ensure its preservation. The brass disk or other survey marker on the surface was merely an indicator of where the underground marker lay. In cases where the surface marker may have been damaged or destroyed, survey parties may attempt to recover the original underground marker (which is itself not to be disturbed). Existing data on the original underground mark description can be found or modified here. Any modifications should also be described in the text portion of the recovery.

Underground Marker Setting Information									
Туре	~	Мад	~	Stability	L ~	Setting	~	Date	

Figure A-15: Underground marker information

**Type**: This is similar to the mark type seen earlier, and actually has more entries for historical reasons.

Mag: If the mark is known to have magnetic properties (it can be located with a metal detector), this should be indicated here.

Stability: This is assumed stability (combined horizontal and vertical) of the underground survey mark.

Setting: This refers to the structure to which the underground survey mark is attached.

Date: this should be the same as the setting date, if known.

**Position:** By clicking on the **Position** button on the main description data page, a pop-up window will appear which will display positional information for marks already in the NGS database.

	The Original Mark is Now Destroyed
Position Text 1 2 3 V W G Q	Carry D-Sht Delete Save Exit
2	

Figure A-16: Location of the "Position" button on the Description Entry Form
Positional Data
Horizontal Data
Lat: 391902.99928 N Source A V Epoch: Order 0 V Class V
Lon: 0773640.44276 W Datum 83 ~ Adj Dt: Technique: G ~
GPS Data
StdN:         0.18         StdE:         0.15         Stdh:         0.88         CorrN         + 0.05662239
Orthometric Height Data
Height:     139.538     Source     A     Y     Epoch:     Order:     2     Y     Class     1     Y
Obs Dt.: Datum 88 ~ Adj Date: Tech: N ~ Code: A ~
Gravity: 980072.1 Grav Sigma: 3.5 Dynamic Ht: 139.461
Ellipsoid Height Data
Height:     106.519     Source     A     Y     Epoch:     Order     0     Y     Class     0     Y
Datum 83 V Adj Date: Technique: G V
Geoid Height Data Legacy
Height -33.019 Source S V Model: 6 V Trans Code: C V
SPCS Zones Pack Time:
MD V V V V V Clear All Close

Figure A-17: Mark Position data page

A Position page contains the positional information for the mark as stored in the NGS IDB. An explanation of the data fields is provided below. Review the information presented for completeness.

Lat: Input the latitude for the mark, in the DDMMSS.sssss format.

Lon: Input the longitude for the mark, in the DDMMSS.sssss format.

**Source**: if the source is already defined from the NGS database, leave as-is. Otherwise, the code would be "O" for "Other."

Datum: select "83" from the list.

Epoch: Do not define or change

Adj. Dt.: Do not define or change

**Order**: A single OPUS solution is considered Fourth Order.

Class: not required (leave blank)

**Technique**: Coordinates derived from a single OPUS solution are considered "Hand Held 1" (differential GPS), which means that the horizontal coordinates will be truncated to two decimal places.

Note that these fields (Source, Order, Class, Technique) relate to the implied precision and accuracy of the horizontal coordinates, which dictates under which conditions a horizontal position in the NGS database can be superseded. Essentially, if a position in the NGS database is adjusted, anything changed regarding a mark's position in the description file cannot change what is in the database. Any scaled coordinate can be superseded by a position obtained from GNSS. HH1 is a position based on post-processed differential positioning (e.g. an OPUS solution), which will be published to the nearest two decimal places. HH2 is a position based on an autonomous GNSS-based position, either from a hand-held GNSS unit (or smart phone!) or a real-time receiver in autonomous mode. A HH2 position will be published to only one decimal place.

If the precision and accuracy of the horizontal position of a mark is poor (e.g. "scaled"), it is recommended to insert the higher precision Lat/Lon's from an OPUS solution for the corresponding mark. For this reason, it is best to first upload the GPS observation files to your OPUS Project (but not process the session) before creating the description file.

GPS Data/Orthometric Height Data/Ellipsoid Height Data/Geoid Height Data/SPCS Zones/Legacy: not needed in OP - leave as-is or blank.



Make sure any preliminary coordinates (on new marks) are accurate in the descriptions, otherwise, this will cause problems in OP

**Close**: Click on this button to bring you back to the Description Entry Form page.

Save: click on this button on the Description Entry Form page to save your Position data.

UID:	The Original Mark is Now Destroyed
Position Text 1 2 3 V W G Q	Carry D-Sht Delete Save Exit

Figure A-18: Click on the [Save] button to save all mark descriptive information

**Text**: If the mark is recovered as described and in good condition, there is no need to add any text. However, if there is any important new information to share about a mark's condition or location, then it is recommended to add a description of these changes in the "text" portion of the mark recovery. Examples would include the absence of one or more reference objects, any changes to the mark's projection status, and changes in the area surrounding the mark which may affect the mark's stability or ability to obtain good GNSS signals.

By clicking on the "Text" button on the main Description Entry Form, a pop-up window will appear in which both historical descriptive text (if available) will appear, as well as a new empty screen for new descriptive text (opened by default).

	The Original Mark is Now Destroyed
Position Text 1 2 3 V W G Q	Carry D-Sht Delete Save Exit

Figure A-19: Click on the [Text] button to add descriptive text to a mark

📲 Recovery Tex	t of a Mark in t	the NGS ID	В			-	_		×
Edit Insert	Template (	Options	Close	Help					
Historical	Descriptiv	7e Text	New	Descri	ptive	Text			
THE NATIONA INSTITUTE O WHERE THE M CONSTRUCTIO	L BUREAU ( F STANDARI ARK IS LOO N IN THE A	DF STANI DS AND C CATED I: AREA.	DARDS TECHN( S A S	IS NO DLOGY. TAGING	W CALI THE AREA	LED TH GENER FOR	E NA AL A	TIONAL REA	~
Class		Format		0			Γ	Class	~
Clear		Format		Sp	elling			Close	
Caps	Num Lock	Cha	r: 0 of 1	190 Fr	ee: 471	0	Sel:0	)	

Figure A-20: New descriptive text associated with a mark recovery

Note that the text is entered automatically in ALL CAPS. After entering any new text, click on the **Format** button, which should help format the text appropriately for the datasheet.

For any new text to be loaded successfully, the spell checker will have to be run. Access the spell-checking

utility by clicking on the Spelling button. This will open the Spell Check window. Click on the Start button to begin spell checking.

Spell Check	
THE NATIONAL BUREAU OF STANDARDS IS NOW CALLED THE NATIONAL INSTITUTE OF STANDARDS AND TECNOLOGY. THE GENERAL AREA WHERE THE MARK IS LOCATED IS A STAGING AREA FOR CONSTRUCTION IN THE AREA.	Not In Dictionary
	Change To
	Suggestions
Format Start Change Add Ign	ore Cancel

Figure A-21: The WinDesc Spell Check utility

If any misspelled words are found, or there are words not found in the Spell Check library, the user will be prompted to change, add, or ignore the word.

Spell Check	
THE NATIONAL BUREAU OF STANDARDS IS NOW CALLED THE NATIONAL	Not In Dictionary
INSTITUTE OF STANDARDS AND TECNOLOGY. THE GENERAL AREA WHERE THE	TECNOLOGY
MARK IS LOCATED IS A STAGING AREA FOR CONSTRUCTION IN THE AREA.	Change Ta
T	TECHNOLOGI
L	Suggestions
	TECHNOLOGY
Format Start Change Add I	gnore Cancel

Figure A-22: Example of a misspelled word identified by the WinDesc Spell Check

Once the entire body of the new text is checked, a pop-up window will alert the user that the checking is complete. The Spell Check utility will unload, and the user can then close the window.

📲 Recovery Text of	f a Mark in the NGS IDE	В		Ν	_		×
Edit Insert Te	mplate Options	Close Help		3			
Historical De	scriptive Text	New Descripti	ve Text				
THE NATIONAL	BUREAU OF STAND	DARDS IS NOW C	ALLED THE NATI	ONAL	INSTIT	UTE OF	$\sim$
A STAGING ARE	A FOR CONSTRUCT	TION IN THE AR	EA.		20011	122 10	
							$\sim$
Clea	ar F	Format	Spelling		Close		
Caps	Num Lock	Char: 1 of 190	Free: 4710	:	Sel:0		

Figure A-23: Closing the WinDesc Spell Check

Since changes have been made to the mark's description, you will need to save your changes before proceeding to the next mark.

UID:	The Original Mark is Now Destroyed
Position Text 1 2 3 V W G O	Carry D-Sht Delete Save Exit

Figure A-24: Save any changes made to the mark description

#### A.4.2 Describing a New Mark

A new mark is not necessarily a mark that has recently been set. By "new," we mean that it has not yet been described in the NGS IDB. Whereas recovering a mark entails mostly reviewing existing information, describing a new mark means adding all new information. There are some slight changes to the main description entry form described below.

Crig Desc of a Newly Set Mark	-		×
SSN < 1001 > DNR D > Desig			
Dsdata Alias			
Country US - State MD - County	~		bad
Quad App. V GPS	~ 1		
Monumentation InformationAgencyANotVDate20210528C.O.P.JD	VM		
Surface Marker Information Cat D V Type DV V Mag N V Stability C V FI/Proj/Red Setting 07 V / Setting Phrase: Logo A V NGS V Stamp	:		~
Underground Marker Setting Information Type V Mag V Stability V Setting V	Date		
Rod/Pipe Information     Reset Info       Depth     Sleeve     PID       UID:     The Original Mark is N	low Destr	oyed	
Position     Text     1     2     3     V     W     G     Q     Carry     D-Sht     Delete	Save	E	xit

Figure A-25: Original description of a newly set mark in WinDesc

Note that there is no qualifier for the kind of recovery, and the PID field has disappeared.

**Desig**: This is typically a number, an alphanumeric symbol, or a concise, intelligible name which is usually stamped on the disk or access cover of the mark. Guidelines recommend that the designation be unique to the survey mark at least within the same county, if not the same state, to avoid the probability of misidentification. Please see Annex D of the Bluebook for additional guidance on designations, especially when dealing with legacy marks. The designation must not exceed 30 alphanumeric characters, including all embedded blanks. When necessary, abbreviate the designation to conform to the 30-character rule.

Alias: This is an optional field to enable the user to add a second name associated with the mark.

**Country/State/County/Quad**: Enter these attributes. Quad refers to the corresponding USGS 7-minute quadrangle map, and will be automatically entered by WinDesc once the Position information is entered (see below).

Load: Make sure this is checked so the description file can eventually be loaded into the NGS DIB.

**App** (Application): Identify any special application assigned to the mark from the pull-down menu. This is an optional field that only needs to be specified if there is a special application required. Otherwise leave blank.



Figure A-26: Special application options for a new survey mark

**GPS**: This describes whether the mark is suitable for GNSS observations. For OP, this must be "Y" (Yes, mark is suitable for GNSS use).

**ID**: This is a four-character ID assigned to each observed mark in your GPS project. The recommendation is to define unique four-character ID's for each mark to be observed in the project, <u>prior</u> to running the survey. In that way, field log sheets can correctly identify the four-character IDs specific to each mark, so there is less chance of confusion when running quality assurance and quality control.

In order for the new marks in OP to match the descriptions, the four character ID in the WinDesc file must match the four character IDs for the respective marks in OP

VM: If the mark is a NOAA tidal bench mark, make sure the VM number is listed (available from the <u>Tides &</u> <u>Currents bench mark datasheet pages</u>).

**Monumentation Information**: if the mark is a not yet in the NGS IDB, the description file needs information specific to the installation of the mark, including the setting agency information, the date the mark was installed, the Chief of Party ("C.O.P."). As before, agency information starts with the agency type code, followed by the specific agency name code (See <u>Bluebook Annex C</u> for more information). The user may also consult the <u>Agency Table</u>, and email <u>ngs.annexc@noaa.gov</u> if a new agency code is required.

📲 Orig Desc of a Newly Set Mark	_	
SSN < 1001 > DNR D >	Desig SAMPLE SURVEY MARK	
Dsdata Aerial	Alias	
Country US V State MD V County MON	TGOMERY	✓ ∠ Load
Quad	vpp. V GPS Y V	ID SMPL
Monumentation Information	27 C.O.P. JD VM	

Figure A-27: Monumentation information for a newly described mark

#### **Surface Marker Information**

Cat: This is the category of the mark, whether it be a disk, rod mark, landmark, or other.

**Type**: This is the specific attribute for the mark category. For survey disks, there are a number of types including generic survey disks, tide station disks, vertical control disks, etc. For rod marks, options include flange-encased rod or simply metal rod.

Mag: If the mark is known to have magnetic properties (it can be located with a metal detector), please indicate it here.

**Stability**: This is assumed (combined horizontal and vertical) stability of the survey mark. Is the mark subject to disturbance or movement? See table A-1.

**FI/Proj/Rec** (Flush/Projecting/Recessed): this refers to where the mark is found relative to the surrounding ground. If the mark is not flush with the ground, please provide a measurement of the distance that it is either projecting (P) or recessed (R). Note that either centimeters, inches, or feet are allowed.

**Setting**: This refers to the structure to which the survey mark is attached. Please select the appropriate setting code from the available options. If selecting "00" for "Other," it is recommended to explain the setting in the text portion of the mark description (see below).

**Setting Phrase**: This is a concise (one or several-word) description of the specific setting of the mark. Examples might include "bridge," "abutment," "pier," etc. Note that the setting phrase is not a repetition of the words used to describe the setting code. By selecting the setting code, the user has already identified the language associated with the code. The Setting Phrase provides the opportunity to add additional explanatory text.

**Logo**: This part of the description relates to the agency that set the mark. Typically a survey mark will have the agency logo stamped onto the disk or mark access cover. As before, select the agency type, and agency code (See <u>Bluebook Annex C</u> for more information). The user may also consult the <u>Agency Table</u>, and email <u>ngs.annexc@noaa.gov</u> if a new agency code is required.

**Stamp**: this refers to the exact stamping seen on the disk or mark access cover. Typically this includes the designation as well as the year the mark was set. Note that the agency logo information is NOT included in the definition of the stamping - only the designation, year, and possibly other text stamped into that particular mark.

**Underground Marker Setting Information**: Newly set marks are surface marks. If describing an underground mark not in the NGS IDB, the Type, Mag, Stability, and Setting fields should be entered. They are similar to those seen in the Surface Marker Information. The Type has more options, however, due to historical reasons.

**Rod/Pipe Information:** If the surface marker is attached to a pipe or rod, the depth needs to be entered in the description, as well as whether or not the rod also has a sleeve (to isolate it from potential movement of the soil surrounding the rod).

**Reset Info**: If the mark is a reset of an original mark in the NGS IDB, the user can refer to the parent mark here, noting both its PID and designation. Whether the original mark is destroyed or not can also be included.

Rod/Pipe Information					Reset Info					
Depth		~	Sleeve		~		PID		Desig	
UID:								The Ori	ginal Marl	k is Now Destroyed

Figure A-28: Rod/Pipe and Reset information

**Position:** By clicking on the **Position** button on the main description data page, a pop-up window will appear which allow positional information to the entered. Note that if the description file is loaded into OPUS Projects, the positions indicated will not affect the a priori or computed coordinates from any adjustment.

UID:		The Original Mark is Now Destroyed
Position Text	1 2 3 V <u>W G O</u>	Carry D-Sht Delete Save Exit
2		

Positional Data
Horizontal Data
Lat:         391902.99928         N         Source         A         Y         Epoch:         Order         0         Y         Class         Y
Lon: 0773640.44276 W Datum 83 ~ Adj Dt: Technique: G ~
GPS Data
StdN:         0.18         StdE:         0.15         Stdh:         0.88         CorrN         + 0.05662239
Orthometric Height Data
Height:     139.538     Source     A     Epoch:     Order:     2     Class     1
Obs Dt.:     Datum     88 ~     Adj Date:     Tech:     N ~     Code:     A ~
Gravity: 980072.1 Grav Sigma: 3.5 Dynamic Ht: 139.461
Ellipsoid Height Data
Height:     106.519     Source     A     Epoch:     Order     0     Class     0
Datum 83 V Adj Date: Technique: G V
Geoid Height Data Legacy
Height         -33.019         Source         S         Model:         6         Trans Code:         C
SPCS Zones Pack Time:
MD V V V V Clear All Close

Figure A-29: Location of the "Position" button on the Description Entry Form

Figure A-30: Mark Position data page

For a new mark which part of an OPUS Projects project, it is recommended to enter the position from one of the processed OPUS solutions.

Lat: Input the latitude for the mark, in the DDMMSS.sssss format.

Lon: Input the longitude for the mark, in the DDMMSS.sssss format.

Source: If entering the position from an OPUS solution, this would be "O" for "Other".

Datum: select "83" from the list.

Epoch: not required (leave blank)

Adj. Dt.: not required (leave blank)

**Order**: A single OPUS solution (or hand-held coordinate) is considered Fourth Order.

Class: not required (leave blank)

**Technique**: Coordinates derived from a single OPUS solution are considered "Hand Held 1" (differential GPS), which means that the horizontal coordinates will be truncated to two decimal places.

**GPS Data/Orthometric Height Data/Ellipsoid Height Data/Geoid Height Data/SPCS Zones/Legacy**: this information is not needed to generate a complete description file, so it can be left as-is.



**Close**: Click on this button to bring you back to the Description Entry Form page.

Save: click on this button on the Description Entry Form page to save your Position data.

UID:	The Original Mark is Now Destroyed	
Position Text 1 2 3 V W G Q	Carry D-Sht Delete Save Exit	

Figure A-31: Click on the [Save} button to save all mark descriptive information

New Descriptive Text: A new mark will need a complete descriptive text indicating where the mark is located

and how to reach it. A separate text window is accessed by clicking on the Text button at the bottom of the Description Entry Form.

	The Original Mark is Now Destroyed
Position Text 1 2 3 V W G Q	Carry D-Sht Delete Save Exit

Figure A-32: Click on the [Text] button to add descriptive text to a mark

📲 Description for BRU	JNSWICK			_		×	
Edit Insert Temp	olate Options Cl	ose Help					
Historical Desc	riptive Text N	lew Descriptive	Text				
				$\square$			
THE MARK IS LOC: MI (4.51 KM) EA BRUNSWICK ON TO POOL.	ATED ABOUT 5.4 ST-SOUTHEAST O WN OF BRUNSWIC	MI (8.69 KM) : F KNOXVILLE ANI K PROPERTY NEAN	SOUTH OF BURKITT D 0.9 MI (1.45 K R THE MUNICIPAL :	SVILLE, M) EAST SWIMMIN	2.8 OF G	^	
TO REACH FROM TH SOUTHEAST ON MD MD ROUTE 464. ( THE INTERSECTION THE INTERSECTION	HE INTERSECTIO ROUTE 17 FOR GO SOUTHEAST O N OF CUMMINGS N.	N OF US HIGHWA 1.22 MI (1.96 ) N MD ROUTE 464 DRIVE AND THE )	Y 340 AND MD ROU KM) TO THE INTER FOR 1.01 MI (1. MARK IN THE EAST	TE 17, SECTION 63 KM) ANGLE	GO OF IO OF		
IT IS 103.7 FT (31.6 M) NORTHEAST OF THE CENTER OF CUMMINGS DRIVE, 84.9 FT (25.9 M) EAST-NORTHEAST OF A FIRE HYDRANT, 59.3 FT (18.1 M) SOUTHEAST OF THE CENTER OF MD ROUTE 464, 55.5 FT (158.3 M) SOUTHWEST OF THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF A CHAIN-LINK FENCE, 2.0 FT (0.6 M) NORTH OF A WITNESS POST, SET IN THE TOP OF A 12-INCH (30 CM) ROUND CONCRETE POST FLUSH WITH THE GROUND.							
Clear	Fo	rmat	Spelling	Close	]	~	
Caps N	Num Lock	Char: 0 of 899	Free: 4001	Sel:0			

Figure A-33: Example of new descriptive text in the recommended three-paragraph form

A complete, new descriptive text is typically given in a three-paragraph form shown above. The first paragraph identifies where the mark site is located within a general area. Distances to the nearest town center or references to major landmarks are given. The second paragraph describes how to reach the mark site from the nearest road intersections. The third paragraph explains how to find the mark once the site is reached. Measured distances (to the nearest decimal meter) are given to five reference objects, to ensure that the mark can be recovered even if several reference objects disappear over time.

Note that the text is entered automatically in ALL CAPS. After entering new text, click on the **Format** button, which should help format the text appropriately for the datasheet.

					~
	Clear	Format	Spelling	Close	
Caps		Char: 887 of	886 Free: 4014	Sel:0	

Figure A-34: The [Format] button on the mark descriptive text page

For any new text to be loaded successfully, the spell checker will have to be run. Access the spell-checking

utility by clicking on the **Spelling** button. This will open the Spell Check window. Click on the **Start** button to begin spell checking.

Spell Check	
THE MARK IS LOCATED ABOUT 5.4 MI (8.7 KM) SOUTH OF BURKITTSVILLE, 2.8 MI (4.5 KM) EAST-SOUTHEAST OF KNOXVILLE AND 0.9 MI (1.4 KM) EAST OF BRINNSWICK ON TOWN OF BRINSWICK PROPERTY NEAR THE MINICIPAL	Not In Dictionary
SWIMMING FOOL.	Change To
TO REACH FROM THE INTERSECTION OF US HIGHWAY 340 AND MD ROUTE 17, GO SOUTHEAST ON MD ROUTE 17 FOR 1.22 MI (1.96 KM) TO THE INTERSECTION OF MD ROUTE 464. GO SOUTHEAST ON MD ROUTE 464 FOR 1.01 MI (1.63 KM) TO THE INTERSECTION OF CUMMINGS DRIVE AND THE	Suggestions
MARK IN THE EAST ANGLE OF THE INTERSECTION. IT IS 103.7 FT (31.6 M) NORTHEAST OF THE CENTER OF CUMMINGS DRIVE, 84.9 FT (25.9 M) EAST-NORTHEAST OF A FIRE HYDRANT, 59.3 FT (18.1 M) SOUTHEAST OF THE CENTER OF MD ROUTE 464, 55.5 FT (16.9 M) SOUTHWEST OF THE SOUTHWEST CORNER COF A CHAIN-LINK FENCE, 2.0 FT (0.6 M) NORTH OF A WITNESS POST, SET IN THE TOP OF A 12-INCH (30 CM) ROUND CONCRETE POST FLUSH WITH THE GROUND.	
Format Start Change Add Ignor	re Cancel

Figure A-35: The WinDesc Spell Check utility

If any misspelled words are found, or there are words not found in the Spell Check library, the user will be prompted to change, add, or ignore the word.

Spell Check		
THE MARK IS LOCATED ABOUT 5.4 MI (8.7 KM) SOUTH OF BURKITTSVILLE, 2.8 MI (4.5 KM) EAST-SOUTHEAST OF KNOXVILLE AND 0.9 MI (1.4 KM) EAST OF BRUNSWICK ON TOWN OF BRUNSWICK PROPERTY NEAR THE MUNICIPAL SWIMMING POOL. TO REACH FROM THE INTERSECTION OF US HIGHWAY 340 AND MD ROUTE 17, GO SOUTHEAST ON MD ROUTE 17 FOR 1.22 MI (1.96 KM) TO THE	Not In Dictionary BURKITTSVILLE Change To BURKITTSVILLE Suggestions	
INTERSECTION OF MD ROUTE 464. GO SOUTHEAST ON MD ROUTE 464 FOR 1.01 MI (1.63 KM) TO THE INTERSECTION OF CUMMINGS DRIVE AND THE MARK IN THE EAST ANGLE OF THE INTERSECTION. IT IS 103.7 FT (31.6 M) NORTHEAST OF THE CENTER OF CUMMINGS DRIVE, 84.9 FT (25.9 M) EAST-NORTHEAST OF A FIRE HYDRANT, 59.3 FT (18.1 M) SOUTHEAST OF THE CENTER OF MD ROUTE 464, 55.5 FT (16.9 M) SOUTHWEST OF THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF A CHAIN-LINK FENCE, 2.0 FT (0.6 M) NORTH OF A WIINESS POST, SET IN THE TOP OF A 12-INCH (30 CM) ROUND CONCRETE POST FLUSH WITH THE GROUND.	(No Suggestion)	
Format Start Change Add Igno	ore Cancel	

Figure A-36: Example of a misspelled word identified by the WinDesc Spell Check

Once the entire body of the new text is checked, a pop-up window will alert the user that the checking is complete. The Spell Check utility will unload, and the user can then close the window.

Description for BRUNSWICK	_		Х
Edit Insert Template Options Close Help			
Historical Descriptive Text New Descriptive Text			
THE MARK IS LOCATED ABOUT 5.4 MI (8.7 KM) SOUTH OF BURKITTSV (4.5 KM) EAST-SOUTHEAST OF KNOXVILLE AND 0.9 MI (1.4 KM) EAST	T OF	2.8 MI	$\sim$
BRUNSWICK ON TOWN OF BRUNSWICK PROPERTY NEAR THE MUNICIPAL S	WIMMIN	IG POOL	
TO REACH FROM THE INTERSECTION OF US HIGHWAY 340 AND MD ROUT	E 17,	GO	
SOUTHEAST ON MD ROUTE 17 FOR 1.22 MI (1.96 KM) TO THE INTERS ROUTE 464. GO SOUTHEAST ON MD ROUTE 464 FOR 1.01 MI (1.63 R	ECTION M) TO	I OF MD THE	
INTERSECTION OF CUMMINGS DRIVE AND THE MARK IN THE EAST ANGI	EOFI	THE	
INTERSECTION.			
IT IS 103.7 FT (31.6 M) NORTHEAST OF THE CENTER OF CUMMINGS FT (25.9 M) EAST-NORTHEAST OF A FIRE HYDRANT, 59.3 FT (18.1	DRIVE, M) SOU	84.9 THEAST	
OF THE CENTER OF MD ROUTE 464, 55.5 FT (16.9 M) SOUTHWEST OF	THE		
POST, SET IN THE TOP OF A 12-INCH (30 CM) ROUND CONCRETE POS	T FLUS	H WITNES	5
THE GROUND.			
			~
Clear Format Spelling	Close	2	
Caps Num Lock Char: 0 of 883 Free: 4017	Sel:0		

Figure A-37: Closing the WinDesc Spell Check

Since changes have been made to the mark's description, you will need to save your changes before proceeding to the next mark.

UID:	The Original Mark is Now Destroyed
Position Text 1 2 3 V W G Q C	Carry D-Sht Delete Save Exit

Figure A-38: Save any changes made to the mark description

#### A.4.3 Photo Editing

Photos are an important part of the mark description, as they provide evidence of the mark itself, as well as its condition. Regardless of whether a mark is newly described, or already exists in the NGS IDB, a set of three photographs are required for submitting a GNSS project to NGS. WinDesc provides easy access to a photo editor which can simplify the process of implementing the <u>NGS Photo Submission Guidelines</u>. If the photo directory has been properly identified under Project Data (Figure A-5), clicking on the <1><2> and <3> buttons will enable you to select the correct close-up of the mark (Photo #1), eye-level photo of the mark (Photo #2), or horizon view (Photo #3), respectively (see Figure A-39).

UID:		The Original Mark is Now Destroyed			
Position Text	1 2 3 V <u>W G O</u>	Carry D-Sht	Delete Save Exit		

Figure A-39: Three buttons at the bottom of the Description Entry Form enable you to properly edit the three required photos for each mark in the project

The WinDesc photo editing features include resizing, cropping the image, rotating, placing a standard (or custom) label on the image, and more.



Figure A-40: Example showing the creation of a standard label for a survey mark close-up photograph

With typical high resolution digital cameras, mark photographs are often larger than needed and may also be too large to display properly on a computer terminal. For that reason, NGS recommends a square 400 x 400 pixel size closeup photo (#1) and a 1024 x 768 pixel photo size for photo #2 and #3. WinDesc offers an easy way to resize a photo.

Once the photo has been correctly edited, the user can save and exit the photo editing window to return to the main descriptive entry window.

Once photos have been formatted, edited, and named correctly using WinDesc, they can be loaded into OP. There is no bulk-upload method available at this time, so all photos will need to be uploaded individually. We recommend that photographs be uploaded within OP from within the user mark pages after all RINEX observations have been uploaded (see Section 7.3.7 of the OP User Guide).



Figure A-41: Using WinDesc to resize a survey mark photo



Figure A-42: Saving and exiting the WinDesc photo editing window

#### It is recommended to use WinDesc to properly format photos prior to loading into your project

#### A.4.4 Additional features

WinDesc provides additional features, accessible from the buttons along the bottom of the Description Entry Form. Most of these are typically not required in OP, but are explained below for thoroughness:

V: Use this button to ensure the correct naming of any associated visibility diagram for the mark. Although OP does not support the inclusion of visibility diagrams within the project, certain surveys may require visibility diagrams be submitted (separately) for the project to be accepted by NGS. Please refer to your project instructions regarding whether or not to submit visibility diagrams.

W: Use this button to view the photos previously loaded into the NGS database for this mark.

<u>G</u>: Use this button to check the geocaching website for additional photographic evidence of the mark (note that copyright laws may prohibit you from using geocachers' photos)

<u>O</u>: Use this button to view photos from the OPUS Share database, if available.

**Carry**: Enables you to carry descriptive information to another mark in your project (may be useful if you are building a large description file of new marks which are similar in numerous mark attributes)

**D-SHT**: Creates a preliminary datasheet for the mark given the information you have provided.

Delete: deletes this particular description (for the SSN shown at the top of the form) from the description file.

When you have completed your mark description, click on <Save> before proceeding to the next mark in your project.

UID:		The Original Mark is Now Destroyed			
Position Text	1 2 3 V <u>W G O</u>	Carry D-Sht Delete	Save Exit		

Figure A-43: The [Save] button at the bottom of the Description Entry Form

## A.5 Checking the Description File

Once descriptions have been completed for all of the marks in the project, the final step is to run the required checks to ensure successful loading into the NGS database.

#### A.5.1 Neighbor for all Marks

This check is accessed from the Web Tools tab (see above). Running "neighbors" identifies and lists all marks currently in the NGS database that are within a specified distance from each mark in the description file (based on the position data in each mark's description).



Figure A-44: Accessing the "Neighbor for all Marks" check in WinDesc

Accept the defaults (400 m radius, and do not include temporary bench marks, or TBMs).

w 🛔 W	INDESC	V 5.03.03	3 - Z:\GPS	OPUS_4	_0\OP4_0 Des	criptions\gold	lenpoint_c	<u> (111</u>	×
File	Edit	View	Check	Tools	NGS Tools	WebTools	Help		
		TE ST			<b></b>	12 martin James	and the second		
	M. Series		The com		Neighbor	For All			×
					Enter the	maximum radius	s (mts) or 0 for m	aximum:	OK Cancel
			のである						

Figure A-45: Default maximum radius for checking neighboring marks in WinDesc



Figure A-46: Option to include TBMs (Temporary Bench Marks) in the WinDesc neighor analysis

The output is a text file (\*.nbr) that lists all marks within the specified distance, sorted from nearest to farthest. If the mark already exists in the NGS database, the mark should appear at the top of the list. Note that there can be a slight discrepancy in the distance if the new position is of higher accuracy and precision than what is in the database. This is especially true for marks with scaled coordinates in the database.

" Z:\GPS\OPUS_4_0\OP4_0 Descriptions\goldenpoint_corrected.nbr		- 🗆 ×
File Search Tools Wrap Text		
Neighbor - Search radius: 400 Include TBMs: No Report Date: 15:57:59	u 27 May 2021	^
Neighbors of ssn: 0101		
PID   KM  DIRECTION DESIGNATION	ET BY DATE SET M  S  C REC_BY DATE REC ST CNT	STAMPING
AJ7981     CALVERTON	DD 07 G NGS  20170810 MD 033	CALVERTON 1992
AJ798110.0001000-00-001CALVERTON	DSHA 11992 IDD17 IGINGS 1201708101MD1033	CALVERTON 1992
JV1468 0.047 168-49-48 Z 15	GS  1951  DB 31 X MDDT  19680101 MD 033	Z 15 1951
JV1469 0.047 168-49-48 Z 15 RESET	IDSRC  1968   DB 7  N MDSHA  20020130 MD 033	Z 15 RESET 1968
JV7166 0.258 021-13-06 20432	ISI  1993  DD 7  G NGS  20091128 MD 033	T.S. 20432 PG
CB1595 0.262 359-09-14 PAINE RM 2	GS  1957      S     MD 033	
JV5960 0.284 356-02-21 PAINE	GS  1957  DS 7  S     MD 033	PAINE 1957
CB1594 0.299 358-47-54 PAINE RM 1	GS  1957      S     MD 033	
CB1593 0.307 063-05-16 PAINE AZ MK	GS  1957      S     MD 033	
JV1470 0.395 069-24-53 1942	SSC  1942  Z  36 N MDSHA  20020130 MD 033	WSSC BM 1942
Neighbors of ssn: 0102 PID   KM  DIRECTION DESIGNATION	ET BY DATE SET M  S  C REC_BY DATE REC ST CNT	STAMPING
JV2194     NBS 102	DD 07 G NGS  20170810 MD 031	NO 102 EL 451.90
JV7048 0.000 000-00-00 B101	G   19920609 MD 031	
JV2194 0.000 000-00-00 NBS 102	BS  1966  DD 7  G NGS  20170810 MD 031	NO 102 EL 451.90
JV6383 0.048 016-10-55 KIN C	GS  1989  I  59 G NGS  19970912 MD 031	KIN C 1989
JV6382 0.064 314-24-13 KIN D	GS  1989  F  59 G NGS  19970912 MD 031	KIN D 1989
JV6439 0.112 184-41-32 NBS 5	IGS  1980  DH 7  G NGS  19980708 MD 031	NBS-5 1980
JV6384 0.113 065-45-52 KIN B	GS  1989  I  59 G NGS  19970912 MD 031	KIN B 1989
JV7284 0.118 104-52-17 MAYOR	GS  1993  I  59 G NGS  19980708 MD 031	MAYOR 1993
JV6385 0.126 074-51-26 KIN A	GS  1989  I  59 G NGS  19980708 MD 031	KIN A 1989
AC7589 0.130 161-14-43 NORTH	IGS  1996  DD 17 G NGS  19980708 MD 031	NORTH 1996
JV6386 0.135 114-10-24 KIN E	IGS  1989  I  59 G NGS  19980708 MD 031	KIN E 1989
AC7588 0.155 173-26-37 WEST	IGS  1996  DD 17 G NGS  19980708 MD 031	WEST 1996
AC7587 0.159 164-49-05 SOUTH	GS  1996  DD 17 G NGS  19980708 MD 031	SOUTH 1996
AC7586 0.167 156-50-24 EAST	IGS  1996  DD 17 G NGS  19980708 MD 031	EAST 1996
JV6425 0.167 156-50-24 Q 113	GS  1969  DB 66 G NGS  19900620 MD 031	Q 113 1969
JV6393 0.195 112-41-09 CENTER A	GS  1989  I  59 G NGS  19940419 MD 031	CENTER A 1989
JV6387 0.197 140-55-23 KIN F	GS  1989  F  59 G NGS  19970912 MD 031	KIN F 1989
JV4088 0.208 063-22-07 NB5 AZ MK	GS  1966  DZ 31 G NGS  19970912 MD 031	NBS AZ MK
JV6424 0.210 089-49-29 RV 6	GS  1969  R 32 G NGS  19970912 MD 031	
JV4087 0.219 073-27-22 L 113	GS  1968  DB 7  G NGS  19970912 MD 031	L 113 1968 🗸 🗸
<		>
Num Lock Insert DOS	0	

*Figure A-47: The result of a neighbor analysis in WinDesc* 

Running neighbors is required to make sure that the user has correctly identified the mark. This is especially important if the mark is part of a set of classical horizontal marks, which may include the horizontal mark itself, as well as reference marks and azimuth marks: all marks in the set may share much of the same designation, which can easily cause confusion and mis-identification (e.g. confusing a reference mark for the horizontal mark itself). Review the information to make sure the correct mark has been included in the description file. The output table is sorted by distance from the input mark's position to the position of nearby marks in the NGS database. The \*.nbr file is saved to the same directory as the description file itself.

#### A.5.2 Discrep for all PIDs

This utility identifies and flags all discrepancies between information in the NGS database and the description file. This ensures that the user is made aware of how the new description file may differ from published datasheets. Common causes for discrepancies include newly identifying the mark as good for satellite observations, or a better source for the horizontal data.



Figure A-48: Accessing the Discrepancy analysis in WinDesc

The output of Discrep is a text file (\*.dis) with only those attributes listed that are at variance with the NGS database. The left column is for the new description, the right column is for information currently in the database. In the example, no discrepancies are found for CALVERTON, NBS 102, or BRUNSWICK 2. However, GORF N shows a discrepancy in the designation. Since it's a published mark with a PID, the database designation is correct and the Windesc file's designation is in error and must be corrected. All discrepancies must be considered. Re-run Discrep after all changes, if any, are made.

Remember, a discrepancy is not necessarily an error, but a warning. Your report should indicate that you have run, checked, and verified all discrepancies in the (\*.dis) file.

<sup>™</sup> Z:\GPS\0	DPUS_4_0\OP4_0 Descr	iptions\goldenpoint_c	orrect	ed.dis			_	-	×
File Sear	ch Tools Wrap T	ext							
Data Item	u File	Discrepancies	for	0101	AJ7981 Datak	CALVERTON base			 _
Data Item	ı File	Discrepancies	for	0102	JV2194 Datak	NBS 102 base			
Data Item	ı File	Discrepancies	for	0103	DJ2602 Datak	BRUNSWICK : base	2		
Data Item DESIGNATI	N File ON GORF N	Discrepancies	for	0104	JV6895 Datak GORF	GORF N Dase GPS N			_
Data Item REC DATE FPR_DIST	n File 201708) 20	Discrepancies	for	0105	JV2551 Datak 20180 15	E 87 base 0409			 =
Data Item	u File	Discrepancies	for	0106	JV7214 Datak	FRANKS base			 -
Data Item	ı File	Discrepancies	for	0107	JV6666 Datak	POND base			 -
		Discrepancies	for	0108	AJ7978	BELL			_

Figure A-49: Sample Discrepancy report showing differences between the description file and information in the NGS IDB

The \*.dis file is saved to the same directory as the description file itself.



Discrepancies do not necessarily mean errors. Verify to make sure any discrepancy is indeed correct.

#### A.5.3 Recovery Dates for All Marks

Although not required by OP, this is a recommended check to verify that a recovery has not already been loaded for your project, or for another project within the same calendar year. NGS will not publish multiple recoveries within a given calendar year, unless the status of the mark has changed (e.g. from good to poor condition, or from "mark not found" to "found in good condition").



Figure A-50: Checking recovery dates for all marks in the description file

#### A.5.4 Exporting the Description File and Error Checking

The final steps in preparing the description file involves converting it into a format required for loading into the NGS database, and running a final error check. The export functionality will convert the native WinDesc (\*.des) file format into a somewhat reduced file format readable in Linux, so the file can be loaded into the NGS IDB.



Figure A-51: Exporting the description file



In executing the export script, WinDesc will prompt the user to run a final error check.

Figure A-52: WinDesc prompts the user to run a final error check after exporting the description file

In the error checking process a \*.err file will be created, which lists all the errors found. Typical errors include required stamping information, special characters or other errors in the designation, or additional information required for certain mark setting types. The error checking can detect logical or inconsistency errors in the mark description fields, but it cannot always pinpoint exactly what is wrong. There may therefore be several warnings or errors flagged for a particular mark (identified by its SSN). For submitting the description file to NGS (as part of the OPUS Projects GNSS project), all errors must be resolves (it is permissible to have some warnings, as shown in the example below).

Z:\GPS\OPUS\_4\_0\OP4\_0 Descriptions\goldenpoint\_corrected.err Х File Search Tools Wrap Text WINDESC CHECK (Version 5.03.03) LISTING FILE for: z:\gps\opus\_4\_0\op4\_0 descriptions\goldenpoint\_corrected.dsc TYPE OF USER: IN-HOUSE NGS STARTED: 16:46:18 Mon 31 May 2021 ACCESSION: GPS9056 PROJECT: GOLDEN POINT TEST SURVEY --(WARNING) Enter FPR code and data if they are available. SSN: 0101 -(WARNING) Enter FPR code and data if they are available. SSN: 0108 END OF WINDESC CHECK LISTING DESCRIPTIONS PROCESSED:9 NUMBER OF HEADER (D) RECORDS FOUND: 1 ALLOWED: 1 ALLOWED: 1 ALLOWED: 0-1 NUMBER OF PROJ TITLE (A) RECORDS FOUND: 1 NUMBER OF PROJ COMMENT (B) RECORDS FOUND: 1 ALLOWED: 0-1 NUMBER OF DESC HEADER (@) RECORDS FOUND: 9 ALLOWED: 1-9999 NUMBER OF UNDERGROUND MK (G) RECORDS FOUND: 0 ALLOWED: 0-9999 NUMBER OF RESET (H) RECORDS FOUND: 0 ALLOWED: 0-9999 NUMBER OF BOX SCORE (J) RECORDS FOUND: 0 ALLOWED: 0 NUMBER OF RECOVERY HISTORY (K) RECORDS FOUND: 0 ALLOWED: 0 NUMBER OF POSITION (L) RECORDS FOUND: 9 ALLOWED: 1-9999 NUMBER OF ORTHOMETRIC HEIGHT (M) RECORDS FOUND: 9 ALLOWED: 0-9999 NUMBER OF DESCRIPTIVE TEXT (T) RECORDS FOUND: 8 ALLOWED: 1-9999 NUMBER OF VERTICAL MARK (V) RECORDS FOUND: 0 ALLOWED: 0-9999 ERRORS:0 WARNINGS:2 THE FOLLOWING DESCRIPTIONS ARE MARKED FOR LOADING: 0101 0102 0103 0104 0105 0106 0107 0108 0109 THE FOLLOWING DESCRIPTIONS WILL NOT BE LOADED: LOAD STATUS: READY COMPLETED: 16:46:36 Mon 31 May 2021 DOS Num Lock 0 Insert

Figure A-53: Sample error (\*.err) file

Warnings often request additional information pertaining to whether the mark is flush with the ground, projecting, or recessed (FPR in the example above). Other warnings might pertain to mark setting codes expecting additional information. Review the warnings to make sure you have provided correct, relevant information.



## A.6 Organizing Files to Upload to OP

As a result of creating, building, checking, and exporting a full description file for your project, you will have five separate files ready to upload to OP:

- 1) The description file in its native WinDesc format (e.g. GPS9056.des)
- 2) The description file in a Linux-uploadable, condensed format (e.g. GPS9056.dsc)
- 3) A listing of neighbors (e.g. GPS9056.nbr)
- 4) A listing of discrepancies with the NGS database (e.g. GPS9056.dis)
- 5) The final error checking file (e.g. GPS9056.err)

All five (5) files are required for successfully submitting your OP to NGS for bluebooking.

## A.7 Checking Coordinates Prior to Network Adjustments in OP

Prior to running network adjustments in OP, it is important to verify that the geometric coordinates (lat, long, ellipsoid heights), the geometric reference frame, and the height in corresponding vertical datum are correct. This information can be verified using the "Index" file view.



Figure A-54: How to create the WinDesc index file

* <b>i</b> X	\photos\P	hilippe\GPS1753\final_27.inx				_		×
File	Search	Tools Wrap Text						
			MARK LISTING FOR: final 27 31 May 2021					^
ľ								
			S CHHHVVV	v v	P	S	DL	
			DR T OSOTSOC	тс	GΗ	ΡN	ΙΟ	
				ΕO	PO	EB	SA	
SSN	PID	DESIGNATION	LATITUDE LONGITUDE ELEVATION R C SC B RPT DATE COP D C D C C D S	СD	ST	LR	СD	
2000	FC1360	S 37	N351807.65041 W0855230.84725 313.609 R T 07 C 20031010 G A 0 G A 2 0	NА	Y	ΥN	Y	
2001	GB1987	PROCTOR RM 2	N363448.94445 W0853347.35116 272.773 R T 07 C 20031010 G A 0 G A 2 0	ΝA	Y	ΥN	Y	
2002	FD0204	Q 178	N350832.54910 W0861112.00525 319.016 R T 07 C 20031010 G A 0 G A 1 2	ΝA	Y	ΥN	Y	
2003	FC1478	Z 25	N354504.55766 W0855738.08019 340.382 R M 07 C 20031010 G A 0 G A 2 0	ΝA	Y	ΥN	Y	
2004	FC1057	SELLS AZ MK	N355927.68622 W0850213.23519 548.808 R T 07 C 20031010 G A 0 G A 2 0	ΝA	Y	ΥN	Y	
2005	FC1967	MARIPORT	N350336.31840 W0853507.94935 194.6 R T 49 B 20031010 G A 0 G	GG	Y	Y N	Y	
2006	FD1677	WINCPORT	N351042.35125 W0860357.30059 295.9 R T 49 B 20031010 G A 0 G	GG	Y	N N	Y	
2007	FC1960	CLEVPORT	N351311.65496 W0844955.56327 258.0 R T 49 B 20031010 G A 0 G	GG	Y	N N	Y	
2008	GB1633	K 231	N360605.81759 W0851409.17716 614.963 R T 66 A 20031010 G A 0 G A 2 0	ΝA	Y	ΥN	Y	
2009	GB2689	SPARPORT	N360325.72110 W0853145.36924 311.01 R T 49 B 20031010 G A 0 G	GG	Y	Y N	Y	
2010	FC1176	ARP	N350211.27952 W0851212.31170 201.971 R T 00 D 20031010 G A 0 G A 2 0	ΝA	Y	ΥN	Y	
2011	FC1655	R 294	N350929.46469 W0845306.37296 253.182 R T 49 B 20031010 G A 0 G A 1 2	ΝA	Y	ΥN	Y	
2012	GA0589	E 116	N361501.16327 W0822833.11542 527.987 R T 07 C 20031010 G A 0 G A 2 0	ΝA	Y	ΥN	Y	
2013	GA1802	F 129	N361123.16936 W0832118.00347 387.317 R T 07 C 20031010 G A 0 G A 1 1	ΝA	Y	Y N	Y	
2014	GA1813	G 247	N361014.92955 W0832412.52836 407.521 R T 56 B 20031010 G A 0 G A 1 1	ΝA	Y	ΥN	Y	
2015	GA0939	G 97	N362258.68558 W0823701.03311 543.935 R T 07 C 20031010 G A 0 G A 2 0	ΝA	Y	ΥN	Y	
2016	GA3654	GPS 18 AZ MK	N361129.49525 W0824859.76859 486.59 R T 15 C 20031010 G A 0 G	GG	Y	N N	Y	
2017	FB2138	HODGE	N355901.61876 W0833453.98133 278.579 R T 66 A 20031010 G A 0 G A 2 0	ΝA	Y	Y N	Y	
2018	GA0902	P 114	N360326.10910 W0825819.96172 375.525 R T 07 C 20031010 G A 0 G A 2 0	ΝA	Y	ΥN	Y	
2019	GA1042	U 240	N361637.07856 W0825448.21485 346.871 R T 07 C 20031010 G A 0 G A 2 0	ΑN	Y	ΥN	Y	
2020	GA0276	Y 108	N363531.30935 W0822159.82273 546.786 R T 66 A 20031010 G A 0 G A 2 0	ΝA	Y	ΥN	Y	
2021	FD1351	B 301	N350106 96531 W0873504 51796 197 681 RT 49 B 20031010 G & 0 G & 1 2	NΣ	Y	Y N	v	~
		Num Lock	Insert DOS 0					

Figure A-55: An example of a WinDesc index file showing the SSNs, PIDs, Designations,, coordinates, elevations, and other descriptive information

This can be very helpful for larger projects, so one does not have to manually review each individual user mark page. The index file can be saved and imported into a spreadsheet or other software to assist in validation/verification.

WinDesc also provides a utility to display the network *accuracies* of the coordinates if they were based on GNSS. These values are found on the NGS datasheets under "Network accuracy estimates." WinDesc provides an easy way to view them all in tabular form. First, the user must download the data from the NGS IDB using Web Tools  $\rightarrow$  Get  $\rightarrow$  Pos & Acc for GPS PIDs.



Figure A-56: How to download network accuracies for all marks whose coordinates in the NGS IDB were based on GNSS observations

ile Edit	View Check Tools NGS Tools	WebTools	Help			
	Accuracies			and the second	-andre	1999
	Discrepancy File					
	Dsdata File	A CONTRACTOR				
	Error File		and the second	Steni act	and the	
	Index File	and the second second	1 Alert			The second
	Mark Listing					
	Neighbor File					
	Ortho, Dynam, Grav, Geoid					
	Photo •			a starte	2 miles	a t
ALL THE	Record Index		- fit	- And	and the	
	Tevt ( tvt) File		-57 . H			
Charles H	iere fiere) i ne	-A-	-			1.4.25
	the second se	and the second second	The seal	A RANGE		- And

Next, the user can view the Accuracies file from the View menu.

Figure A-57: How to view position accuracies on marks in WinDesc

📲 Ac	curacies													_	×
File	Search	Tools Wr	ap Text												
SSN	PID	NRA (N)	NRA (E)	NRA (e)	NRA(h)	NRA (H)	NRA (D)	Corr(NE)		LRA (N)	(E)	(e)	(H)	(D)	^
2000	FC1360	0.32	0.24		0.82			-0.13615132	2						
2001	GB1987	0.35	0.29		0.94			-0.02564632	2						
2002	FD0204	0.30	0.24		0.30			-0.15436998	3						
2003	FC1478	0.33	0.28		0.93			-0.29167856	5						
2004	FC1057	0.42	0.36		1.07			+0.00826322	2						
2005	FC1967	0.38	0.32		0.97			+0.00103629	9						
2006	FD1677	0.39	0.30		0.95			+0.02522525	5						
2007	FC1960	0.39	0.33		0.97			-0.007803 <mark>0</mark> 6	5						
2008	GB1633	0.35	0.28		0.79			-0.05360595	5						
2009	GB2689	0.18	0.16		0.38			-0.02035486	5						
2010	FC1176	0.40	0.31		1.00			+0.01655178	3						
2011	FC1655	0.43	0.31		1.29			-0.11070435	5						
2012	GA0589	0.19	0.18		0.53			-0.05935214	ł						
2013	GA1802	0.32	0.24		0.80			-0.14794428	3						
2014	GA1813	0.18	0.15		0.22			-0.19437024	ł						
2015	127.0939	0 42	0 34		1 06			_0 19102115							×
Line	35	Col 77	Num	Lock		In	sert	DOS		0					.::

Figure A-58: Network accuracies and correlations for marks in the description file whose positions in the NGS IDB were determined from GNSS observations

Accuracies can be compared to those given in OP (a priori coordinates and sigmas). The WinDesc Accuracies file can also be saved and imported into a spreadsheet program if desired.

# Appendix B: How OP arranges GNSS observations into sessions

OP always attempts to arrange GNSS observations into discrete, repeated sessions. In this appendix, three scenarios are explored as a means to help explain how OP might arrange a user's sessions.

## B.1 Scenario 1

In the first scenario, three marks observed twice in one day, and a fourth mark is observed all day long (Figure B-1).



Figure B-1: Scenario 1: Three marks observed twice in one day, one mark observed all day long

Marks A, B, and C are observed twice on a given day, in repeated 4-hour sessions: 8 am to 12 noon and then again from 12 noon to 4 pm. However, mark D is observed all day long. To prevent duplication of data/results in the network adjustments and to fulfill the requirements of bluebook, OP will attempt to create two sequential sessions on Day 1. Session A will extend from 6 am to 12:00 noon; Session B will extend from 12:00 noon to 6 pm.

						Hours	;						
6	7	8	9	10	11	12	1	2	3	4	5	6	Marks
													А, В, С
													D

Figure B-2: Session A, from 6 am to 12:00 noon

						Hours	5						
6	7	8	9	10	11	12	1	2	3	4	5	6	Marks
													А, В, С
													D

Figure B-3: Session B, from 12:00 noon to 6 pm

The reason OP does not group all of the observations for mark D in, say, Session A is precisely because OP is designed to allow users to deploy temporary GNSS reference stations ("temporary CORS") to serve as local hubs in session and network processing. When OP brings CORS data into the project, it always tries to use the maximum possible data from a CORS in a 1 day (or 2 day) period without re-using observations. The figures below show the same data of Scenario 1, but with the addition of CORS data:

											Но	urs												
1 2	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	1 0	1 1	1 2	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	1 0	1 1	Marks
																								А, В, С
																								А, В, С
																								D
																								CORS

Figure B-4: Visualization of GNSS occupations with respect to CORSs 24-hour continuous data

		Hours		
1 1 2 3 4 5 6	6 7 8 9 1 0	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	4 5 6 7 8 9 1 1 0 1	Marks
				А, В, С
				D
				CORS
				1

Figure B-5: Session A: 6 am to 12:00 noon

											Но	urs												
1 2	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	1 0	1 1	1 2	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	1 0	1 1	Marks
																								А, В, С
																								D
																								CORS

Figure B-6: Session B: from 12:00 noon to 6 pm

## B.2 Scenario 2

Three marks observed twice in one day, three additional marks observed only once, one last mark observed once all day long.



Figure B-7: Scenario 2: Three marks observed twice in one day, three other marks observed once later in the day, and one mark observed all day

In this scenario, marks E, F and G are different marks (no reoccupation of A, B, C or D). Although the user may attempt to fit marks E, F, and G into their own session, OP will consider them as part of the second session, along with the repeat observations on A, B, and C. Effectively, they are all just observations in the time span of a second session. To put E, F and G in their own session would require either:

1) "splitting" D if it is serving as a temporary CORS and omitting data from E, F and G because of the requirement for mutual visibility from mark - HUB or

2) splitting the CORS data between the B and C sessions which weakens the CORS estimate.

											Но	urs												
1 2	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	1 0	1 1	1 2	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	1 0	1 1	Marks
																								А, В, С
																								D
																								CORS

											Но	urs												
1 2	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	1 0	1 1	1 2	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	1 0	1 1	Marks
																								А, В, С
																								E, F, G
																								D
																								CORS

Figure B-9: Session B from Scenario 2

## **B.3 Scenario 3**

One mark observed four different times in one day:

In this example, we'll see how OP splits up the CORS data to match each individual observation session.



Figure B-10: Scenario 3: One mark observed at four different times in one day

Since there are four independent sessions, OP will correctly identify the sessions, and use as much independent CORS data as possible for each session. This means that sessions A and D will have more CORS data available compared to sessions B and C.

											Но	urs												
1 2	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	1 0	1 1	1 2	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	1 0	1 1	Marks
																								А
																								CORS

Figure	B-11:	Scenario	3	Session A	
--------	-------	----------	---	-----------	--

											Но	urs												
1 2	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	1 0	1 1	1 2	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	1 0	1 1	Marks
																								А
																								CORS

Figure B-12: Scenario 3 Session B

											Но	urs												
1 2	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	1 0	1 1	1 2	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	1 0	1 1	Marks
																								A
																								CORS

Figure B-13 Scenario 3 Session C

											Но	urs												
1 2	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	1 0	1 1	1 2	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	1 0	1 1	Marks
																								А
																								CORS

Figure B-14: Scenario 3 Session D

# **Appendix C: Coordinate Shifts**

There are many places in the various output results of OP where the words SHIFT or COORDINATE SHIFT will appear. In each case the word SHIFT implies from one value to another value. Typically, the "from" value is the output of the prior adjustment, and the "to" value is the output of the current adjustment. If the user is following the sequential adjustment process outlined in Section 12, the coordinate shifts reported in different parts of the output will differ accordingly.

In general, there are 6 major steps in OP where one can expect to see the words "shift" or "coordinate shift:"

- 1. Session Processing Results
- 2. Preliminary Adjustment
- 3. Horizontal Free Adjustment
- 4. Horizontal Constrained Adjustment
- 5. Vertical Free Adjustment
- 6. Vertical Constrained Adjustment

#### **C.1 Session Processing Results**

The coordinate shifts from session processing are found in the several places. It is most easily found in the summary results provided within the body of the email sent to the project manager. It is also in the Processing

Report. This file can be accessed clicking on the Show File button on the Manager's Page and selecting the Processing Report:

?	3	Session Solution ~	2017-241-A ¥	Processing Report (.txt)  Show File	X

Figure C-1: The Show File selection bar providing access to all processing output

It is also the \*.txt email attachment. There are two places to examine in the output. The first and most useful is the table of shifts near the top of the output file, called "MARK ESTIMATED - A PRIORI COORDINATE SHIFTS:"

MARK	ESTI	IMATED -	A PRIOR	t co	ORDI	INATE SHI	T?	;			
algo	N:	0.001	m (0.00	1 m)	E:	-0.003	m	(0.001	m) H:	-0.002 m	(0.001 m)
calv	N:	0.037	m (0.00	1 m)	E:	-0.134	m	(0.001	m) H:	-0.038 m	(0.001 m)
dene	N:	-0.001	m (0.00	lm)	E:	-0.002	m	(0.001	m) H:	-0.012 m	(0.001 m)
fran	N:	0.026	m (0.00	1 m)	E:	-0.110	m	(0.001	m) H:	-0.036 m	(0.001 m)
gode	N:	0.001	m (0.00	1 m)	E:	-0.001	m	(0.001	m) H:	0.000 m	(0.001 m)
hnpt	N:	-0.001	m (0.00	1 m)	E:	-0.001	m	(0.001	m) H:	0.000 m	(0.001 m)
tane	N:	0.030	m (0.00	1 m)	E:	-0.123	m	(0.001	m) H:	-0.017 m	(0.002 m)
york	N:	0.000	m (0.00	1 m)	E:	-0.001	m	(0.001	m) H:	-0.005 m	(0.001 m)

Figure C-2: Table of coordinate shifts resulting from session processing

**The shift is between the estimated (adjusted) coordinate and the a priori coordinate.** At this stage in the project, the a priori coordinates can arise from two sources. A priori coordinates for CORS are their published coordinates. The same is true for user marks with published coordinates. User marks that do not have published coordinates will take their a priori coordinates from the first OPUS solution seen by OP once the user

has opened the project. OP automatically sorts all observations sequentially by time, so if all observations are loaded *prior to* opening the project, the a priori coordinates for new marks will effectively come from the first observation. If the user uploads a first observation file for a given user mark (it could be from the very last occupation), and thereupon opens up the project in OP, the a priori coordinates for that mark will come from that very same OPUS solution, regardless of its order in time. Check the Marks page to confirm which OPUS solution has been designated the a-priori.

Note that the mark selected as a constraint should have minimal shift (or as much as is allowed by the constraint preferences). The remaining marks should exhibit small shifts. A larger shift for a given mark can typically arise from three causes, a flawed occupation, a flawed data file, or a flawed a-priori coordinate. The table does not tell which flaw, if any, is present. Another possibility is where most of the shifts are larger than expected. Consider a constrained mark whose published coordinate does not match its actual position on the ground. In such a case, the solution will have large shifts for many marks, all caused by constraining the one flawed coordinate.

Further down in the output after a section called UNCONSTRAINED MARKS, is another section called CONSTRAINED MARKS. In session processing, there is typically only one mark constrained (the hub). The shift indicated here for the constrained mark is the same as was given in the earlier table.

	******
CONSTRAINED MARKS 1	
+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++
MARK: gode (gode a 4; Washington, UNITED STA) CONSTRAIN: 3-D NORMAL	
N39:01:18.18974 W076:49:36.57470 15.784m	NAD 83(2011) @ 2010.0000
0.12cm 0.12cm 0.12cm	NEU SIGMAS
SHIFTS N: 0.001 m (0.001 m) E: -0.001 m (0.001 m)	H: 0.000 m (0.001 m)

Figure C-3: Coordinate shifts on a constrained mark shown in the results of session processing

## **C.2 Preliminary Adjustment**

The "MARK ESTIMATED - A PRIORI COORDINATE SHIFTS" table is very similar to session processing, but now the shifts are computed in an adjustment using all the occupations in the several sessions included in the preliminary adjustment setup. As before, the **shift is between the estimated (adjusted) coordinate and the a priori coordinate.** 

MARK	ESTI	IMATED -	A	PRIORI	coo	ORDIN	ATE SHI	FTS	5			
algo	N:	-0.005	m	(0.001	m)	E:γ	-0.003	m	(0.001	m)	н:	-0.006 m (0.001 m)
bell	N:	0.035	m	(0.001	m)	E: 1	-0.122	m	(0.001	m)	н:	-0.035 m (0.001 m)
brun	N:	0.032	m	(0.001	m)	E:	-0.122	m	(0.001	m)	Н:	-0.038 m (0.001 m)
calv	N:	0.037	m	(0.001	m)	E:	-0.137	m	(0.001	m)	Н:	-0.026 m (0.001 m)
ded2	N:	-0.003	m	(0.001	m)	E:	-0.001	m	(0.001	m)	Н:	-0.018 m (0.001 m)
dene	N:	-0.005	m	(0.001	m)	E:	-0.002	m	(0.001	m)	н:	-0.009 m (0.001 m)
e087	N:	0.038	m	(0.001	m)	E:	-0.138	m	(0.001	m)	Н:	-0.028 m (0.001 m)
fran	N:	0.025	m	(0.001	m)	E:	-0.110	m	(0.001	m)	Н:	-0.033 m (0.001 m)
gode	N:	-0.003	m	(0.001	m)	E:	-0.004	m	(0.001	m)	Н:	0.000 m (0.001 m)
gorf	N:	0.028	m	(0.001	m)	E:	-0.124	m	(0.001	m)	Н:	-0.031 m (0.001 m)
hnpt	N:	-0.004	m	(0.001	m)	E:	-0.004	m	(0.001	m)	Н:	-0.005 m (0.001 m)
n102	N:	0.025	m	(0.001	m)	E:	-0.128	m	(0.001	m)	Н:	-0.019 m (0.001 m)
pond	N:	0.027	m	(0.001	m)	E:	-0.119	m	(0.001	m)	Н:	-0.031 m (0.001 m)
tane	N:	0.030	m	(0.001	m)	E:	-0.123	m	(0.001	m)	Н:	-0.017 m (0.001 m)
york	N:	-0.004	m	(0.001	m)	E:	-0.004	m	(0.001	m)	н:	-0.007 m (0.001 m)

Figure C-4: Coordinate shifts between the Preliminary Network Adjustment and the a priori coordinates

Shifts should be small. A larger shift for a given mark can arise from three causes (similar to session processing): a flawed occupation in one or more of the sessions, a flawed data file in one or more of the sessions, or a flawed a-priori coordinate for a given mark. The table does not tell which flaw, if any, is present. As before, if larger than expected shifts are seen across many marks, the cause may be the constrained mark's published coordinates not matching well with the observed data. Users will need to consider each possible cause to find the problem. Careful inspection of session-by-session processing results (see Solution Statistics in Section 10.5; pay attention to the P2P values) and session-by-session vector comparison (\*.vec email attachments from session processing) may reveal the source of the problem. If the shifts are out of tolerance for the project's specifications, they will not get any better with subsequent adjustments. It is best to find the source of error (an offending observation?) at this stage.

The same shifts are also seen later in the output, in the section called "CONSTRAINED MARKS."

	***************************************
	CONSTRAINED MARKS
	***************************************
	MARK: gode (gode a 4)
	CONSTRAIN: 3-D NORMAL
	N39:01:18.18974 W076:49:36.57470 15.784m NAD_83(2011) @ 2010.0000
2	0.12cm 0.12cm 0.12cm NEU SIGMAS
_	SHIFTS N: -0.003 m (0.001 m) E: -0.004 m (0.001 m) H: 0.000 m (0.001 m)

Figure C-5: Coordinate shifts between the Preliminary Network Adjustment and the a prior coordinates on a constrained mark

#### **C.3 Horizontal Free Adjustment**

The Horizontal Free adjustment provides the **shift between the adjusted coordinates from the Horizontal Free** adjustment and those from the Preliminary Adjustment:

MARK	ESTIMATE	) - PI	RELIMINARY	ADJUSTMENT	COORDINAT	E SHIFTS		
algo	N: 0.0	001 m	(0.003 m)	E: 0.00	3 m (0.003	m) H:	0.037 m	(0.008 m)
bell	N: 0.0	003 m	(0.003 m)	E: 0.00	5 m (0.003	m) H:	0.010 m	(0.009 m)
brun	N: 0.0	002 m	(0.003 m)	E: 0.00	4 m (0.003	m) H:	0.010 m	(0.009 m)
calv	N: 0.0	002 m	(0.003 m)	E: 0.00	5 m (0.003	m) H:	0.008 m	(0.009 m)
ded2	N: 0.0	011 m	(0.002-m)	E: 0.00	2 m (0.003	m) H:	-0.009 m	(0.008 m)
dene	N: 0.0	005 m	(0.002-m)	E: 0.00	5 m (0.003	m) H:	0.004 m	(0.008 m)
e087	N: 0.0	002 m	(0.002 m)	E: 0.00	4 m (0.003	m) H:	0.009 m	(0.008 m)
fran	N: 0.0	902 m	(0.003 m)	E: 0.00	5 m (0.003	m) H:	0.011 m	(0.009 m)
gode	N: 0.0	004 m	(0.002 m)	E: 0.00	5 m (0.002	m) H:	0.000 m	(0.008 m)
gorf	N: 0.0	902 m	(0.003 m)	E: 0.00	5 m (0.003	m) H:	0.011 m	(0.009 m)
hnpt	N: 0.0	005 m	(0.002 m)	E: 0.00	2 m (0.003	m) H:	-0.009 m	(0.008 m)
n102	N: 0.0	903 m	(0.003 m)	E: 0.00	5 m (0.003	m) H:	0.011 m	(0.009 m)
pond	N: 0.0	902 m	(0.003 m)	E: 0.00	4 m (0.003	m) H:	0.010 m	(0.009 m)
tane	N: 0.0	001 m	(0.003 m)	E: 0.00	4 m (0.003	m) H:	0.011 m	(0.009 m)
york	N: 0.0	005 m	(0.002 m)	E: 0.00	07 m (0.003	m) H:	0.004 m	(0.008 m)

Figure C-6: Coordinate shifts between the Horizontal Free and the Preliminary Network Adjustments

The shifts should be small. A larger shift for a given mark can arise from the same three causes explained earlier (flawed occupation, data file, or a priori coordinate). Also, if the user selects a different constraint in the Horizontal Free Adjustment than was used in the Preliminary Adjustment, it is logical to expect a shift from the a priori coordinates. Another possible case is where most of the shifts are larger than expected. Consider a constrained CORS or user mark whose published coordinate does not match its observed position on the ground. In such a case, the solution will have large shifts for many marks, all caused by constraining the one flawed coordinate. Users will need to consider each possible cause to find the problem. As before, careful inspection of session-by-session processing results or session-by-session vector comparison may reveal the source of the problem.

Further down in the Processing Report (\*.txt attachment) is a section on CONSTRAINED MARKS (there should only be one such mark in the Horizontal Free adjustment). As before, these shifts are between the Horizontal Free adjustment and the Preliminary Adjustment.



Figure C-7: Coordinate shifts on a constrained mark shown in the results of the Horizontal Free Network Adjustment

### **C.4 Horizontal Constrained Adjustment**

In the Processing Report for the Horizontal Constrained adjustment, **two** different types of shifts are given: shifts between the adjusted coordinates from the Horizontal Constrained Adjustment and the Horizontal Free Adjustment, and between the adjusted coordinates from the Horizontal Constrained Adjustment and the published coordinates.
C.4.1 Shifts between the adjusted coordinates from the Horizontal Constrained Adjustment and those from the Horizontal Free Adjustment

MARK	ESTIMATED -	HORIZONTAL-FREE	ADJUSTMENT COORDINATE SHI	IFTS
algo bell brun calv ded2 dene e087 fran gode	N: -0.004 N: -0.003 N: -0.001 N: -0.001 N: -0.002 N: -0.002 N: -0.002 N: -0.002 N: -0.002	HORIZONTAL-FREE m (0.002 m) E: m (0.001 m) E: m (0.002 m) E: m (0.002 m) E: m (0.002 m) E: m (0.002 m) E:	ADJUSTMENT COORDINATE SH 0.002 m (0.001 m) H: 0.003 m (0.002 m) H: 0.002 m (0.002 m) H: 0.002 m (0.002 m) H: 0.001 m (0.001 m) H: 0.001 m (0.001 m) H: 0.002 m (0.001 m) H: 0.002 m (0.002 m) H: 0.002 m (0.002 m) H: 0.001 m (0.001 m) H: 0.002 m (0.002 m) H: 0.001 m (0.001 m) H: 0.002 m (0.002 m) H: 0.001 m (0.001 m) H: 0.001 m (0.001 m) H: 0.002 m (0.002 m) H: 0.001 m (0.001 m) H: 0.001 m (0.001 m) H: 0.001 m (0.001 m) H: 0.002 m (0.002 m) H: 0.001 m (0.001 m) H: 0.002 m (0.002 m) H: 0.002 m (0.001 m) H: 0.002 m (0.002 m)	0.016 m (0.004 m) 0.019 m (0.004 m) 0.016 m (0.005 m) 0.016 m (0.005 m) 0.017 m (0.004 m) 0.015 m (0.004 m) 0.015 m (0.004 k) 0.015 m (0.005 m) 0.015 m (0.005 m)
gorf hnpt n102 pond tane york	N: -0.001 N: -0.001 N: -0.001 N: -0.001 N: -0.002 N: -0.002	L m (0.001 m) E: L m (0.001 m) E: L m (0.002 m) E: L m (0.002 m) E: L m (0.002 m) E: 2 m (0.002 m) E:	0.001 m (0.001 m) H: 0.001 m (0.001 m) H: 0.001 m (0.001 m) H: 0.002 m (0.002 m) H: 0.002 m (0.002 m) H: 0.002 m (0.002 m) H: 0.000 m (0.001 m) H:	0.017 m (0.003 m) 0.015 m (0.003 m) 0.015 m (0.003 m) 0.015 m (0.005 m) 0.015 m (0.005 m) 0.015 m (0.005 m) 0.015 m (0.004 m)

Figure C-8: Coordinate shifts between the Horizontal Constrained and the Horizontal Free Network Adjustments

At this stage in the sequential adjustment process, a larger shift for a given mark can arise from two causes: a flawed a-priori coordinate from the Horizontal Free adjustment, or a flawed constrained coordinate for a given mark. The table does not tell which flaw if any is present. The Horizontal Constrained Adjustment will almost always have several constraints, so it is logical to expect a shift from the Horizontal Free coordinates. A possible case may arise where most of the shifts are larger than expected. Consider a constrained CORS or user mark whose published coordinate does not match its observed position on the ground. In such a case, the solution will have large shifts for many marks, all caused by constraining the one flawed coordinate. Users will need to consider each possible cause to find the problem. Careful inspection of session-by-session processing results or session-by-session vector comparison may reveal the source of the problem.

# C.4.2 Shifts between the adjusted coordinates from the Horizontal Constrained Adjustment and the published coordinates:

MARK ESTIMATED	D - PUBLISHED HORIZONTAL	COORDINATE SHIFTS	
algo N: -0.007 bell N: 0.003 ded2 N: 0.006 dene N: -0.001 e087 N: 0.008 gode N: -0.001 gorf N: -0.001 hnpt N: -0.000 vork N: -0.000	m (0.002 m) E: 0.001 m m (0.002 m) E: -0.002 m m (0.002 m) E: 0.002 m m (0.001 m) E: 0.003 m m (0.001 m) E: 0.0018 m m (0.001 m) E: -0.018 m m (0.001 m) E: -0.002 m m (0.001 m) E: -0.002 m	(0.001 m) U: 0.044 m (0.002 m) U: -0.006 m (0.001 m) U: -0.010 m (0.001 m) U: 0.009 m (0.001 m) U: -0.001 m (0.001 m) U: 0.015 m (0.001 m) U: -0.002 m (0.001 m) U: 0.003 m (0.001 m) U: 0.012 m	(0.004 m) CORS (0.004 m) OPUS (0.004 m) CORS (0.004 m) CORS (0.004 m) OPUS (0.003 m) CORS (0.003 m) OPUS (0.003 m) CORS (0.003 m) CORS

Figure C-9: Coordinate shifts between the Horizontal Constrained Adjustment and published positions

Large shifts here are often indicative of suspect Input constraints.

#### **C.5 Vertical Free Adjustment**

In the Vertical Free adjustment, coordinate shifts are between the Horizontal Constrained adjustment and the Vertical Free adjustment:

MARK	ESTIMA	ATED -	НС	DRIZONTA	AL-O	CONSTR	RAINED	AD 3	USTMENT	r c(	DORDIN	IATE SHI	IFT	S	
algo	N:	0.003	m	(0.003	m)	E:	-0.002	m	(0.003	m)	н:	-0.016	m	(0.008	m)
bell	N:	0.007	m	(0.003	m)	E:	-0.005	m	(0.003	m)	н:	-0.019	m	(0.009	m)
brun	N:	0.001	m	(0.002	m)	E:	-0.002	m	(0.003	m)	Н:	-0.016	m	(0.008	m)
calv	N:	0.001	m	(0.002	m)	E:	-0.002	m	(0.003	m)	Н:	-0.016	m	800م0)	m)
ded2	N:	0.008	m	(0.002	m)	E:	0.001	m	(0.003	m)	Н:	-0.017	m	(01008	m)
dene	N:	0.000	m	(0.002	m)	E:	0.002	m	(0.003	m)	Н:	-0.015	m	(0.008	m)
e087	N:	0.010	m	(0.002	m)	E:	-0.021	m	(0.003	m)	Н:	-0.016	m	(0.007	m)
fran	N:	0.001	m	(0.002	m)	E:	-0.002	m	(0.003	m)	Н:	-0.015	m	(0.008	m)
gode	N:	0.000	m	(0.001	m)	E:	0.000	m	(0.002	m)	Н:	-0.015	m	(0.008	m)
gorf	N:	0.000	m	(0.002	m)	E:	-0.007	m	(0.003	m)	Н:	-0.017	m	(0.008	m)
hnpt	N:	0.001	m	(0.002	m)	E:	-0.002	m	(0.003	m)	Н:	-0.015	m	(0.008	m)
n102	N:	0.001	m	(0.002	m)	E:	-0.002	m	(0.003	m)	Н:	-0.015	m	(0.008	m)
pond	N:	0.002	m	(0.003	m)	E:	-0.002	m	(0.003	m)	Н:	-0.015	m	(0.009	m)
tane	N:	0.001	m	(0.002	m)	E:	-0.002	m	(0.003	m)	H:	-0.015	m	(0.008	m)
york	N:	0.001	m	(0.002	m)	E:	0.003	m	(0.003	m)	H:	-0.015	m	(0.008	m)

Figure C-10: Coordinate shifts between the Vertical Free and the Horizontal Constrained Network Adjustments

At this stage in the sequential adjustment process, a larger shift for a given mark can arise from two causes: a flawed a-priori coordinate from the Horizontal Constrained adjustment, or a flawed vertical constraint. The table does not tell which flaw if any is present. The vertical shifts are often similar in magnitude and sign even if they are small. This is because the Vertical Free Adjustment is constraining a single Orthometric Height, rather than several Ellipsoid Heights. A few centimeters is to be expected. Another possible case is where most of the vertical shifts are larger than expected. Consider a constrained mark whose published orthometric height does not match its actual position on the ground. In such a case, the solution will have large shifts for many marks, all caused by constraining the one flawed height. Users will need to consider each possible cause to find the problem. Careful inspection of session-by-session processing results or session-by-session vector comparison may reveal the source of the problem.

Further down in the Processing Report is the section on CONSTRAINED MARKS. The shifts indicated here are between the Vertical Free adjustment and the Horizontal Constrained adjustment, but only for the coordinates constrained in the Vertical Free adjustment.

Note that the mark "e087" was constrained vertically, so the shift is only given in the vertical dimension (orthometric height).



Figure C-11: Shift in the vertical dimension (orthometric height) shown for the mark held vertically constrained in the Vertical Free Network Adjustment

Similarly, the shifts in the mark "gode" are only given in the horizontal dimension, as the mark was constrained horizontal-only.



Figure C-12: Shifts in the horizontal dimension shown for the mark held constrained horizontally in the Vertical Free Network Adjustment

#### **C.6 Vertical Constrained Adjustment**

Similar to the horizontal constrained adjustment, **two** tables of coordinate shifts are provided in the Processing Report (and in the email) for the Vertical Constrained adjustment. The first table provides the geometric (3D) coordinate shifts between the vertical constrained and the vertical free network adjustment. The second table provides the shifts in the orthometric heights between the vertical constrained and vertical free network adjustments.

C.6.1 Shifts between the adjusted coordinates from the Vertical Constrained Adjustment and those from the Vertical Free Adjustment:

MARK	ESTI	MATED -	V	ERTICAL	-FRI	EE /	ADJUSTMEN	т	COORDIN	ATE	SHIFTS	;			
algo	N:	-0.001	m	(0.003	m)	Ε:	0.000	m	(0.003	m)	н:	0.010	m	(0.005	m)
bell	N:	0.000	m	(0.003	m)	E:	0.000	m	(0.003	m)	Н:	0.009	m	(0.006	m)
brun	N:	0.000	m	(0.002	m)	E:	0.000	m	(0.003	m)	H:	0.010	m	(0.005	m)
calv	N:	0.000	m	(0.002	m)	E:	0.000	m	(0.003	m)	Н:	0.009	m	(0.005	m)
ded2	N:	0.000	m	(0.002	m)	E:	0.000	m	(0.003	<b>m</b> )	Н:	0.010	m	(0.005	m)
dene	N:	0.000	m	(0.002	m)	E:	0.000	m	(0.003	<b>m</b> )	Н:	0.009	m	(0.004	m)
e087	N:	0.000	m	(0.002	m)	E:	0.000	m	(0.003	m)	Н:	0.008	m	(0.004	m)
fran	N:	0.000	m	(0.002	m)	E:	0.000	m	(0.003	m)	Н:	0.009	m	(0.005	m)
gode	N:	0.000	m	(0.001	m)	E:	0.000	m	(0.002	m)	Н:	0.009	m	(0.004	m)
gorf	N:	0.000	m	(0.002	m)	E:	0.000	m	(0.003	m)	Н:	0.013	m	(0.005	m)
hnpt	N:	0.000	m	(0.002	m)	E:	0.000	m	(0.003	m)	Н:	0.010	m	(0.005	m)
n102	N:	0.000	m	(0.002	m)	E:	0.000	m	(0.003	m)	Н:	0.009	m	(0.005	m)
pond	N:	0.000	m	(0.003	m)	E:	0.000	m	(0.003	m)	Н:	0.009	m	0.006	m)
tane	N:	0.000	m	(0.002	m)	E:	0.000	m	(0.003	m)	H:	0.009	m	(0.005	m)
york	N:	0.000	m	(0.002	m)	E:	0.000	m	(0.003	m)	Н:	0.009	m	(0.005	m)

Figure C-13: Coordinate shifts between the Vertical Constrained and Vertical Free Network Adjustments

At this stage in the sequential adjustment process, the horizontal shifts should be small. Ideally, the vertical shifts should also be small. A few centimeters is to be expected. If most of the vertical shifts are larger and in the same direction than expected, this could be due to a bias in the published heights for one or more vertically constrained marks.

# C.6.2 Shifts between the adjusted coordinates from the Vertical Constrained Adjustment and the published coordinates:

MARK	ESTIMATED	- PUBLISHED VERTICAL COORDINATE SHIFTS
MARK bell: brun: calv: ded2: dene: e087: fran:	ORTHO HGT: ORTHO HGT: ORTHO HGT: ORTHO HGT: ORTHO HGT: ORTHO HGT: ORTHO HGT: ORTHO HGT:	- PUBLISHED VERTICAL COORDINATE SHIFTS -0.026 m (0.006 m) AJ7978 FGCS LEVELING IN NGSIDB -0.019 m (0.005 m) DJ2602 FGCS LEVELING IN NGSIDB 0.006 m (0.005 m) AJ7981 FGCS LEVELING IN NGSIDB -0.002 m (0.005 m) D07623 GPS HEIGHTS: 2CM/5CM STANDARDS 0.010 m (0.004 m) DK4426 GPS HEIGHTS: 2CM/5CM STANDARDS 0.008 m (0.004 m) JV2551 FGCS LEVELING IN NGSIDB 0.003 m (0.005 m) JV7214 GPS HEIGHTS: 2CM/5CM STANDARDS 0.003 m (0.005 m) JV7214 GPS HEIGHTS: 2CM/5CM STANDARDS
gorf: n102: pond: tane:	ORTHO HGT: ORTHO HGT: ORTHO HGT: ORTHO HGT:	-0.003 m (0.004 m) AF9647 GPS HEIGHTS: 2CM SCH STANDARDS -0.013 m (0.005 m) JV6895 FGCS LEVELING IN NGSIDB -0.009 m (0.005 m) JV2194 FGCS LEVELING IN NGSIDB 0.016 m (0.006 m) JV6666 FGCS LEVELING IN NGSIDB 0.018 m (0.005 m) JV6665 FGCS LEVELING IN NGSIDB

Figure C-14: Shifts in Orthometric Heights between the Vertical Free and Vertical Constrained Network Adjustments

The shifts specifically refer to orthometric heights, and the source of the published heights are given to the right of the shifts. See the table above for several examples, including "FGCS LEVELING IN NGSIDB," "GPS HEIGHTS: 2CM/5CM STANDARDS," and "FGCS LEVELING NOT IN NGSIDB."

Further down in the Processing Report is the section on CONSTRAINED MARKS. The shifts indicated here include all of the vertical constraints, as well as the horizontal constraint. The values presented here are between the Vertical Constrained adjustment and the Vertical Free adjustment.

```
CONSTRAINED MARKS

MARK: bell (108; AJ7978; BELL)

CONSTRAIN: VER-ONLY NORMAL

113.549m ORTHO NAVD 88

0.70cm U SIGMA

SHIFTS OH: -0.019 m (0.004 m)
```

Figure C-15: Orthometric Height shift for a mark held constrained vertically in the Vertical Constrained Network Adjustment



*Figure C-16: Geometric (3D) coordinate shifts for a mark held constrained geometrically in the Vertical Constrained Network Adjustment* 

Note that in the case of the mark bell, only the vertical shift is given, since the mark was only constrained vertically. In the case of the mark "brun," the mark was constrained 3D, so shifts in all three coordinates are given.

# Appendix D: How OP assigns sigmas on constrained marks

In both session processing and network adjustments, realistic estimates of a CORS or user mark's positional uncertainties are very important in deriving an accurate solution. In this appendix, we present additional information on the sources of these uncertainties within OPUS Projects .

#### **D.1 Source of Uncertainties for Session Processing**

The uncertainties associated with each coordinate are used to construct constraints in session processing. The uncertainties come from four possible sources:

- Unpublished user uploaded marks: the coordinate uncertainties come from the source OPUS-S solution used for the mark's a priori NAD 83 and ITRF2014 coordinates. The reported OPUS-S peak-to-peak uncertainties are scaled by 1.6929 (Schwarz 2006) thereby estimating one sigma uncertainties. The uncertainty is never allowed to be smaller than 0.001 m. The mark's velocity comes from the HTDP program and given 0.01 cm / yr uncertainties.
- Published user uploaded marks: the NAD 83 coordinates and uncertainties are taken from the datasheet for a mark (created from information in the NGS database) when the PID for that mark is associated with the mark in the project. From these coordinates, ITRF2014 coordinates are computed using HTDP. The NAD 83 coordinate uncertainties are transferred to the ITRF2014 coordinates without modification.

The mark's velocity comes from the HTDP program and given 0.01 cm /yr uncertainties.

- CORS: a database of ITRF2014 coordinates, velocities and uncertainties derived from the latest Multi-Year CORS Solution (MYCS; see Glossary) adjustment are kept by the CORS data center and used in OP. Occasionally, a CORS's coordinates are updated because of divergence seen in daily NCN monitoring. In these cases, the coordinates and/or velocity are updated, the coordinates are given 0.1 cm uncertainties; the velocity 0.01 cm / yr uncertainties.
- 4. Users can change user mark coordinates and uncertainties (i.e., sigmas) from their defaults (the sources given above) for unpublished marks from the individual mark web pages (not published marks or CORS). In addition, users can change constraint coordinates on the session processing form, but cannot change constrained coordinate sigmas from that form (again, not published marks or CORS).

In addition, a scaling factor specified by the user is applied to those uncertainties in session processing. Labeled the "Constraint Weights" on the session processing setup form, the options are: LOOSE, NORMAL or TIGHT. LOOSE scales constraint uncertainties to be approximately 1 m in magnitude; NORMAL scaled them to be approximately 0.01 m; and TIGHT scales them to be approximately 0.0001 m.

#### **D.2 Source of Uncertainties for Network Adjustments**

OP assigns uncertainties to all coordinates that are constrained by the user during a network adjustment. The Preliminary adjustment is best thought of as an extension to the session processing. Uncertainties are assigned to the constrained coordinates the same as in session processing, as explained above.

Geometric coordinates (e.g., latitude, longitude, ellipsoid height) constrained in the horizontal-free, horizontalconstrained, vertical-free and vertical-constrained coordinate constraints follow the guidelines required for submission to NGS:

- Unpublished user marks can be constrained (but this is not recommended). By default, OP will
  constrain the a priori coordinates of an unpublished mark and will assign uncertainties for these
  coordinates the same as in session processing, as noted above. Users can change the constraint
  coordinates and/or their sigmas from the mark web page.
- 2. Published user marks will be constrained to their published coordinates and uncertainties, taken from the datasheet for a mark.
- 3. CORS will be constrained to their published, NCN coordinates. However, the coordinates' uncertainties are set to equal the root-mean-square (RMS) error values computed from network monitoring results around the time of the project<sup>5</sup>. For examples of the most recent RMS values, see the CORS short-term plots. Adjustments using CORS outside of those monitored by the NCN are not allowed.
- 4. There are circumstances where published mark or CORS constrained coordinates can appear to be modifiable by the user, but in these cases the marks are treated as unpublished user marks with 0.10 cm coordinate uncertainties.

OP suggests only constraining orthometric heights in the vertical-free and vertical-constrained adjustments following the guidelines required for submission to NGS. All orthometric height uncertainties are computed according to Table D-1, below.

- For constrained marks with published orthometric heights determined by leveling, uncertainties are based upon the vertical source type and the order and class descriptions in the datasheets as noted in the table above.
- For constrained marks or CORS with GPS-derived, published orthometric heights that meet height modernization standards (i.e., procedures outlined in NGS-59), constraints are derived from the ellipsoid and geoid height uncertainties appropriately computed using error propagation per the equation in the table above. For these marks or CORS, the datasheet will have a vertical source equal to GPS OBS, and HT\_MOD will be listed at the top of the datasheet. Note that the same equation will be used to estimate uncertainties for GPS-derived orthometric heights constrained by the user that do not meet height modernization standards (although such constraints are not recommended).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> If possible, OP uses a 90-day interval centered at the midpoint of the survey to compute RMS. If processing a recent survey, OP will use the nearest 90 days to the midpoint of the survey.

• For constrained, unpublished marks labeled as "LEVELING NOT PUBLISHED" in the adjustment setup form, uncertainties are treated as third order leveling. This option allows users to constrain leveling-derived orthometric heights that have not yet been published.

Table D-1: Vertical uncertainties (sigmas) assigned in OP based on the source of the published ortho	ometric
height	

Vertical Source on Datasheet	Vertical Sigma (cm)
ADJUSTED or ADJ UNCH*	
VERT ORDER – FIRST CLASS 0	0.2
VERT ORDER – FIRST CLASS I	0.3
VERT ORDER – FIRST CLASS II	0.5
VERT ORDER – SECOND CLASS I	0.7
VERT ORDER – SECOND CLASS II	0.9
VERT ORDER – SECOND CLASS 0	0.9
VERT ORDER – THIRD	1.3
RESET or N-HEIGHT	1.3
POSTED or GPSONLV	1.5
GPS OBS and Height Modernization Station (as indicated	$\sqrt{SD_h^2 + 1}$
by HT_MOD special category at the top of the datasheet)	where <i>SD_h</i> is ellipsoid
	standard deviation

No additional scaling of constraint uncertainties is applied for these adjustments.

#### Literature Cited:

Schwarz, C. R. 2006, "Statistics of Range of a Set of Normally Distributed Numbers", "CORS and OPUS for Engineers", ed. T. Soler, American Society of Civil Engineers, Reston, VA, USA, pp. 41-45

# **Appendix E: FAA Airport Surveys**

The National Geodetic Survey, in accordance with a series of interagency agreements with the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA), provides airport geodetic control, as well as runway, navigational aid, obstruction, and other aeronautical data that is critical to the operation of the National Airspace System. Most of these data are source information obtained using field survey and photogrammetric methods. These data are used to develop runway approach procedures and obstruction charts.

NGS contracts survey work for Area Navigation Approach (ANA) charts to the private sector on a funds available basis. Survey specifications are provided in AC No: 150/5300-16B(2019) and the older "FAA No. 405, Standards for Aeronautical Surveys and Related Products," 4th edition, September, 1996; and "General Specifications for Aeronautical Surveys, Vol. I. Establishment of Geodetic Control on Airports." Funding for these surveys is provided to NGS by the FAA. This latest version of OPUS Projects (OP) fully supports the bluebooking process for FAA surveys by producing a b-file and g-file, and automatically invokes ADJUST in the required series of network adjustments. All files required for a successful submission of an airport survey to NGS are fully supported by OP.

### **E.1 NEW PACS/SACS**

When PACS/SACS are established as "New" there should be very little deviation from the recommended style of processing in OP. Observations for **new PACS/SACS** must meet all required observation criteria as defined in the AC 150/5300-16B to include, but not limited to:

- a. Two 4-hour or more simultaneous observation sessions are required on the PACS, HARN, and NAVD 88 bench marks involved in the survey, with a 30-60 minute break between. Observations must be simultaneous with the PACS.
- b. Two 2-hour or more observations on the SACS with a 30-60 minute break between sessions is required. Observations must be simultaneous with the PACS.
- c. The operator must reset the tripod (take down set up) between the sessions and document the same.
- d. Start times on subsequent days must be at least 2.5 hours different from the previous start times to incorporate a different satellite geometry.
- e. If the OPUS solution report is "bad" (low % obs or low % ambiguities fixed or high overall RMS or any uncertainties > 4 cm), the mark must be reoccupied (no exceptions). OP can, on occasion, "recover" data that OPUS could not initially process as successfully as we might like, but if OPUS struggles in its initial solution, chances are significantly higher that OP will struggle as well. The initial OPUS solution is your first quality control stage: use it.
- f. Remember that OPUS will not allow less than 2 hrs of usable data.
- g. NGS recommends collecting and processing GNSS data at a 10° elevation mask.

# E.2 Existing PACS/SACS

The following example provides guidance for those FAA surveys where the existing PACS is found to be in good condition at an airport, but either one or more SACS are destroyed. The existing PACS may serve as passive control to position new SACS so long as the existing PACS meets the AC 150/5300-16B Section 7.7.3 Accuracy Standards. The PACS and SACS (including both new and existing SACS) must be observed. Observation criteria is similar to a new PACS/SACS survey, except additional HARN and NAVD88 bench mark ties are not a requirement.

- a. Two 4-hour or more observation sessions on the PACS with a 30-60 minute break between sessions is required.
- b. Two 2-hour or more observations on the SACS with a 30-60 minute break between sessions is required. Observations must be simultaneous with the PACS.
- c. The operator must reset the tripod (take down set up) between the sessions and document the same.
- d. Start times on subsequent days must be at least 2.5 hours different from the previous start times to incorporate a different satellite geometry.
- e. If the OPUS solution report is "bad" (low % obs or low % ambiguities fixed or high overall RMS or any uncertainties > 4 cm) the mark must be reoccupied (no exceptions). OP can, on occasion, "recover" data that OPUS could not initially process as successfully as we might like, but if OPUS struggles in its initial solution, chances are significantly higher that OP will struggle as well. The initial OPUS solution is your first quality control stage: use it.
- f. Remember that OPUS will not allow less than 2 hrs of usable data.
- g. NGS recommends collecting and processing GNSS data at a 10° elevation mask.

#### E.3 Example of Recovering an Existing PACS

PACS station PIH FAA (AA3682) was recovered and observed in 2 sessions spanning 4 hours or more. The observations were uploaded into OP.

a. The two PACS initial OPUS solutions are compared to ensure consistency among the redundant observations (see section 7.1.4.6 of this document). The two horizontal coordinates are verified to be within 3 cm of each other. The ellipsoid heights are verified to be within 5 cm of each other. Failure to meet this requirement would mean re-observing the mark.

```
First Station : FAA PIH A Session A
 _____
     -1797612.8291 m LAT = 42 54 47.03861 North
X =
Y =
     -4320473.1246 m LON = 112 35 26.36466 West
     4321349.1331 m EHT =
7 =
                              1344.5860 Meters
Second Station : FAA PIH A Session B
_____
X =
     -1797612.8432 m LAT = 42 54 47.03832 North
Y =
     -4320473.1396 m LON = 112 35 26.36498 West
Z =
     4321349.1388 m EHT =
                              1344.6040 Meters
Forward azimuth
                   FAZ = 219 2 40.1632 From North
Back azimuth
                   BAZ = 39 2 40.1631 From North
Ellipsoidal distance S =
                                 0.0115 m
                     dh =
                                  0.0180 m
Delta height
Mark-to-mark distance D =
                                 0.0214 m
DX =
          -0.0141 m DN =
                                -0.0090 m
          -0.0150 m DE =
DY =
                                 -0.0073 m
DZ =
           0.0057 m DU =
                                  0.0180 m
Zenith (mk-to-mk)
                    ZD = 32 37 49.17
Apparent zenith distance = 32 37 49.17
```

Figure E-1: Example using INVERS3D to compare two OPUS solutions from redundant observations

B. Once the initial OPUS solutions are checked for consistency, the results can be verified with the NGS published coordinates for this station. The observed vs. published values must meet the AC 150/5300-16B requirement of 3 cm horizontal, 5 cm ellipsoid, 5 cm orthometric. If the PACS does not meet this requirement in the initial OPUS solution stage, this station may need to be redetermined in accordance with the AC 150/5300-16B, Section 7. A revised geodetic control plan will need to be submitted for review.

```
First Station : FAA PIH A OPUS-S
 _____
     -1797612.8291 m LAT = 42 54 47.03861 North
X =
Y =
     -4320473.1246 m LON = 112 35 26.36466 West
7 =
      4321349.1331 m EHT =
                                 1344.5860 Meters
Second Station : FAA PIH A Published
     _____
X =
      -1797612.8308 m LAT = 42 54 47.03909 North
Y =
     -4320473.1305 m LON = 112 35 26.36463 West
      4321349.1589 m EHT =
7 =
                                 1344.6080 Meters
Forward azimuth
                      FAZ = 2 37 49.0266 From North
Back azimuth
                      BAZ = 182 37 49.0266 From North
Ellipsoidal distance
                      S =
                                   0.0148 m
Delta height
                       dh =
                                    0.0220 m
Mark-to-mark distance
                       D =
                                    0.0265 m
DX =
           -0.0017 m DN =
                                    0.0148 m
                       DE =
DY =
           -0.0058 m
                                    0.0007 m
DZ =
            0.0258 m
                       DU =
                                    0.0220 m
Zenith (mk-to-mk)
                       ZD = 33 59 6.54
Apparent zenith distance
                        = 33 59
                                   6.54
```

Figure E-2: Example using INVERS3D to compare an initial OPUS solution to the published coordinates

C. Following the OPUS solution verification of the PACS, the additional observations may be uploaded into the project.



Figure E-3: Two, same-day sessions loaded into OPUS Projects (2020-021A and 2020-021B)

D. Review Project Preferences as described in Section 4 of this User Guide. Do not edit or modify the Data and Solution Quality Thresholds.

- E. Add the NGS-Assigned Tracking ID
  - Following the approval of the Geodetic Control Plan (GCP), NGS will assign a Project Tracking
     ID. This number will be at the header of the NGS review.
  - b. Use the assigned Project Tracking ID as described in Section 7.1.4.5 of this document to enter into the appropriate field. Complete all other necessary information in this window.
- F. Upload Description files (\*.dsc, \*.des, \*.err, \*.dis, \*.nbr) for all marks searched for or recovered during this survey. This operation will associate published and non-published marks with the observed marks.
- G. Upload Field Logs as described in section 7.1.4.9.
  - a. GNSS Observation Logs
  - b. Station Location Sketch and Visibility Diagrams
  - c. Recovery Logs (Optional)
- H. Add mark photos (Close-up, Eye-level, and Horizon View) as described in section 7.3, Individual Mark Web Pages (7.3.7). Ensure proper captions and filenames are applied prior to upload.
- Confirm the information for the mark occupations (Data File, Span, Antenna/Receiver Hardware, Antenna/Receiver Serial Number, ARP Height, and Receiver Firmware version) as described in section 7.3. This information must match the GNSS Observation Logs.
- J. Evaluate and select CORSs to be used in the project as described in section 9.
- K. Add a distant CORS to de-correlate the tropospheric parameters as described in section 9.2.2.
- L. Remove any unused CORS(s) to reduce clutter.
- M. Perform the first session processing as described in section 10 and evaluate results. Carefully review the *a priori* shifts of all stations given in the Processing Report (\*.txt). Keep in mind the *a priori* coordinates can vary from a mark with a published PID (eg. existing PACS) or an OPUS solution for a mark with an unpublished PID (eg. new SACS being established).

MARK	ESTI	MATED -	A PR	IORI	coc	RDINA	TE SHIF	тs	5						
brew gtrg idif idnl idpo p675 piha	N: N: N: N: N: N: N:	-0.003 0.003 0.003 -0.006 0.000 -0.002 -0.027	m (0 m (0 m (0 m (0 m (0 m (0 m (0	.001 .001 .001 .001 .001 .001 .001	m) m) m) m) m) m)	E: E: E: E: E: E: E: E: E:	0.004 0.006 0.000 0.000 0.001 0.003 -0.002	m m m m m m	(0.001 (0.001 (0.001 (0.001 (0.001 (0.001 (0.001	m) m) m) m) m) m)	H: H: H: H: H: H: H:	-0.013 -0.024 -0.014 -0.010 0.000 -0.011 -0.021	m m m m m m	(0.001 (0.001 (0.001 (0.001 (0.001 (0.001 (0.002	m) m) m) m) m) m)
pihc pihn	N: N:	-0.005 -0.028	m (0 m (0	.001 .001	m) m)	E: E:	0.005 -0.010	m m	(0.001 (0.001	m) m)	H: H:	-0.011 0.014	m m	(0.002 (0.002	m) m)

Figure E-4: Coordinate shifts between a priori estimates and OP session processing for session 2020-021-A

- N. Once results are acceptable for the first session, perform session processing on the next sequential session and evaluate results.
- O. Once two sessions have been processed, evaluate the peak-to-peak errors from the Solution Statistics selection in the pull-down menu above the "Marks and Sessions" table (section 10.5.5). Ensure that no user marks have errors that exceed 1 cm for North or East and 3 cm for UP as required by the AC-16B (Section 7.7.4.3)

			S	olution	& Statisti	cs 🔪				
MARKS	occupations count	occupations used	solutions count	Obs Used	Obs Used(%)	AMB Fixed(%)	North P2P(cm)	East P2P(cm)	Up P2P(cm)	MARKS
piha	2	2	2	7062	98.3	100.0	0.3	0.3	0.9	piha
pihc	2	2	2	5417	98.9	100.0	0.1	0.1	0.6	pihc
pihn	2	2	2	5131	96.7	100.0	0.2	0.2	0.5	pihn
brew	1	1	2	34721	96.3	100.0	0.24	0.32	0.92	brew
gtrg	1	1	2	37213	96.7	100.0	0.19	0.31	0.94	gtrg
idif	1	1	2	37446	96.6	99.1	0.02	0.25	0.62	idif
idnl	1	1	2	38287	98.9	97.3	0.08	0.25	0.51	idnl
idpo	1	1	2	203913	97.7	99.2	0	0.06	0	idpo
p675	1	1	2	38636	99.6	99.4	0.19	0.32	0.31	p675

Figure E-5: Solution Statistics for all sessions

If P2P errors exceed these values, common causes that should be investigated can include:

- a. Incorrect ARP height calculated/entered (height error).
- b. Incorrect antenna type selected (horizontal and/or vertical error).
- c. Tripod out of calibration (horizontal and/or vertical error).
- d. Improper tripod equipment (horizontal and/or vertical error).
- e. Insufficient dataset
- f. Limited CORS availability
- P. Process additional sessions if there are any and evaluate results.
- Q. Set up Adjustment
  - a. Run the preliminary network adjustment as described in section 11 with a single HUB CORS as the 3D constraint and evaluate solution quality. Using the Processing Report (\*.txt), verify a priori coordinate shift for the PACS still the accuracy requirement of 3 cm Horizontal, 5 cm Ellipsoid. For those marks with PIDs, this will be the initial Minimally Constrained Adjusted vs. Published comparison using GPSCOM.

```
MARK ESTIMATED - A PRIORI COORDINATE SHIFTS
         -0.002 m (0.001 m) E: 0.005 m (0.001 m) H: -0.008 m (0.001 m)
brew N:
gtrg N:
          0.004 m (0.001 m) E:
                                 0.008 m (0.001 m) H:
                                                        -0.019 m (0.001 m)
idif N:
          0.003 m (0.001 m) E:
                                 0.001 m (0.001 m) H:
                                                        -0.011 m (0.001 m)
idnl N:
          -0.005 m (0.001 m) E:
                                 0.001 m (0.001 m) H:
                                                        -0.007 m (0.001 m)
idpo N:
          0.000 m (0.001 m) E:
                                 0.000 m (0.001 m) H:
                                                        0.000 m (0.001 m)
p675 N:
          -0.001 m (0.001 m) E:
                                 0.005 m (0.001 m) H:
                                                        -0.010 m (0.001 m)
piha N:
          -0.025 m (0.001 m) E:
                                 0.000 m (0.001 m) H:
                                                        -0.017 m (0.001 m)
pihc N:
                                 0.005 m (0.001 m) H:
          -0.006 m (0.001 m) E:
                                                        -0.013 m (0.001 m)
          -0.028 m (0.001 m) E:
pihn N:
                                -0.009 m (0.001 m) H:
                                                         0.015 m (0.001 m)
```

Figure E-6: Coordinate shifts between a priori estimates and minimally constrained preliminary network adjustment

b. Set up Adjustment to run the **Horizontal Free** as described in Section 11.7.2. Hold the HUB CORS as the only 3D constraint. Un-constrain all other Marks and CORS.

?	2			Perform Adjustme	nt	
NGS surv ) Prelimi	ey project trackii inary	ng ID : 0000 Horizontal	free	O Horizontal constrained	○ Vertical free	○ Vertical constrained
Adjustme	ent Name (30 cha	r max): final				
	Inc	luded Solution	ns		Availabl	e Solutions
MARK piha	CONSTRAINT	HEIGI EL HGT V	HT (m)	← ← ← ← ← ← ← ← ← ← ← ← ← ← ← ← ← ← ←	LONGITUDE (° ' '')	REF. FRAME
MARK piha O pihc O	CONSTRAINT	HEIGI EL HGT ~ EL HGT ~	HT (m) 1344.608 1343.794	← → LATITUDE (° · · ·) №42:54:47.03909 №42:55:05.16563	LONGITUDE (°.'") W112:35:26.36463 W112:34:16.43830	REF. FRAME NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000)
MARK piha O pihc O pihn O	CONSTRAINT	HEIGI EL HGT ¥ EL HGT ¥ EL HGT ¥	HT (m) 1344.608 1343.794 1340.195	← → ► ► ► ► ► ► ► ► ► ► ► ► ►	LONGITUDE (°'") W112:35:26.36463 W112:34:16.43830 W112:35:53.80237	REF. FRAME NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000)
MARK piha pihc pihn CORS	CONSTRAINT NONE V NONE V NONE V CONSTRAINT	HEIGI EL HGT V EL HGT V EL HGT V HEIGI	HT (m) 1344.608 1343.794 1340.195 HT (m)	► ► ► ► ► ► ► ► ► ► ► ► ► ►	LONGITUDE (° ' '') W112:35:26.36463 W112:34:16.43830 W112:35:53.80237 LONGITUDE (° '')	REF. FRAME           NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) \$           NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) \$           NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) \$           REF. FRAME
MARK piha pihc pihn CORS brew	CONSTRAINT NONE ~ NONE ~ NONE ~ CONSTRAINT NONE ~	HEIGI EL HGT V EL HGT V EL HGT V HEIGI EL HGT V	HT (m) 1344.608 1343.794 1340.195 HT (m) 238.982	←     ←	LONGITUDE (° ' '') W112:35:26.36463 W112:34:16.43830 W112:35:53.80237 LONGITUDE (° ' '') W119:40:57.42179	REF. FRAME           NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) ×           NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) ×           NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) ×           REF. FRAME           NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) ×
MARK piha pihc pihn CORS brew gtrg	CONSTRAINT NONE ~ NONE ~ CONSTRAINT NONE ~	HEIGI EL HGT V EL HGT V EL HGT V HEIGI EL HGT V EL HGT V	HT (m) 1344.608 1343.794 1340.195 HT (m) 238.982 1539.765	tritude (°'")     N42:54:47.03909     N42:55:05.16563     N42:54:09.27121     LATITUDE (°'")     N48:07:53.46849     N43:14:38.71138	LONGITUDE (° ' '') W112:35:26.36463 W112:34:16.43830 W112:35:53.80237 LONGITUDE (° '') W119:40:57.42179 W119:14:28.31518	REF. FRAME           NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) \$           NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) \$           NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) \$           REF. FRAME           NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) \$
MARK piha pihc pihn C CORS brew @ gtrg @ idif @	CONSTRAINT NONE ~ NONE ~ NONE ~ CONSTRAINT NONE ~ NONE ~	HEIGI EL HGT ~ EL HGT ~ EL HGT ~ HEIGI EL HGT ~ EL HGT ~ EL HGT ~	HT (m) 1344.608 1343.794 1340.195 HT (m) 238.982 1539.765 1	←     ←	LONGITUDE (°´´) W112:35:26.36463 W112:34:16.43830 W112:35:55.80237 LONGITUDE (°´') W119:40:57.42179 W113:14:28.31518 W112:03:07.15278	REF. FRAME           NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) \$           NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) \$           NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) \$           REF. FRAME           NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) \$           NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) \$           NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) \$
MARK piha pihc pihn CORS brew G gtrg G idif G	CONSTRAINT NONE V NONE V CONSTRAINT NONE V NONE V NONE V	HEIGI EL HGT ~ EL HGT ~ EL HGT ~ EL HGT ~ EL HGT ~ EL HGT ~ EL HGT ~	HT (m) 1344.608 1343.794 1340.195 HT (m) 238.982 1539.765 1438.726 1509.077	►           ►	LONGITUDE (°.'') W112:35:26.36463 W112:34:16.43830 W112:35:53.80237 LONGITUDE (°.'') W119:40:57.42179 W119:40:57.42179 W113:14:28.31518 W112:03:07.15278 W113:00:32.64068	REF. FRAME           NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) \$           NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) \$           NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) \$           REF. FRAME           NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) \$           NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) \$           NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) \$           NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) \$
MARK piha piha piha CORS brew Generation of the second sec	CONSTRAINT NONE V NONE V CONSTRAINT NONE V NONE V NONE V NONE V NONE V	HEIGI EL HGT ~ EL HGT ~ EL HGT ~ EL HGT ~ EL HGT ~ EL HGT ~ EL HGT ~	HT (m) 1344.608 1343.794 1340.195 HT (m) 238.982 1539.765 1438.726 1509.077 1380.061	►           ►	LONGITUDE (°.'') W112:35:26.36463 W112:34:16.43830 W112:35:53.80237 LONGITUDE (°.'') W119:40:57.42179 W113:14:28.31518 W112:03:07.15278 W113:00:32.64068 W112:25:54.28751	REF. FRAME           NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000)            NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000)            NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000)            REF. FRAME           NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000)            NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000)            NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000)            NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000)            NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000)            NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000)            NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000)

Figure E-7: Setting up the Horizontal Free network adjustment

Evaluate solution quality. The a priori shifts of the CORSs may be a bit higher in this solution due to holding the PACS as the only constraint. You may notice that the N E H shifts are closely related to the N E U Free vs. Published inverse output for the PACS in the solution above.

MARK	ESTIMATED -	PRELIMINARY	ADJUSTMENT COORDINATE SHIFTS	
brew gtrg idif idnl idpo p675 piha pihc	N: 0.002 N: 0.005 N: 0.000 N: 0.012 N: 0.000 N: 0.005 N: 0.011 N: 0.012	m (0.003 m) m (0.002 m) m (0.002 m) m (0.002 m) m (0.002 m) m (0.002 m) m (0.003 m) m (0.003 m)	E: 0.003 m (0.005 m) H: E: -0.008 m (0.004 m) H: E: -0.009 m (0.004 m) H: E: 0.003 m (0.004 m) H: E: 0.000 m (0.004 m) H: E: -0.002 m (0.004 m) H: E: 0.003 m (0.005 m) H: E: 0.003 m (0.005 m) H:	0.004 m (0.007 m) 0.008 m (0.007 m) 0.003 m (0.007 m) 0.009 m (0.007 m) 0.000 m (0.007 m) 0.010 m (0.007 m) 0.008 m (0.008 m) 0.009 m (0.009 m)
pihn	N: 0.011	m (0.003 m)	E: 0.003 m (0.005 m) H:	0.010 m (0.009 m)

Figure E-8: Coordinate shifts between horizontal free and preliminary network adjustments

c. Set up Adjustment to run Horizontal Constrained as described in Section 12.3. In this case, FAA PIH A, PIH N and all CORSs are selected as 3D Constraints. DO NOT modify any of these a priori coordinates. This is a good time to check coordinate constraints vs. the published datasheets. In all cases, remove the distant CORS as a constraint. Constrain all other CORSs in 3D.

					Perform	n Adjustmer	ıt	>
NGS surv	vey project	trackin	ng ID : 0000		<b></b>		0	0
J Prelim	inary			free	Horizont constrained	d d	○ Vertical free	○ Vertical constrained
Adjustme	ent Name (3	30 chai	r max): final					
~		Incl	uded Solution	ns			Availabl	le Solutions
					*			
MARK	CONST	RAINT	HEIGI	HT (m)	LATITU	← →	LONGITUDE (° ' '')	REF. FRAME
MARK piha	CONSTI 3-D		HEIGI EL HGT 🗸	HT (m) 1344.608	LATITUI N42:54:47	← → DE (° ′ ″) 7.03909	LONGITUDE (° ' '')  W112:35:26.36463	REF. FRAME NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) ►
MARK piha C pihc C	CONSTI 3-D NONE		HEIGI EL HGT V EL HGT V	HT (m) 1344.608 1343.794	LATITUI N42:54:47 N42:55:05	← → DE (° ' '') 7.03909 5.16563	LONGITUDE (°'') W112:35:26.36463 W112:34:16.43830	REF. FRAME NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000)
MARK piha pihc pihn	CONSTI 3-D NONE 3-D		HEIGI EL HGT V EL HGT V	HT (m) 1344.608 1343.794 1340.195	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	← → DE (°´´') 7.03909 5.16563 9.27121	LONGITUDE (°.'') W112:35:26.36463 W112:34:16.43830 W112:35:53.80237	REF. FRAME NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000)
MARK piha O pihc O pihn O CORS	CONSTI 3-D NONE 3-D CONSTI	RAINT	HEIGI EL HGT V EL HGT V EL HGT V HEIGI	HT (m) 1344.608 1343.794 1340.195 HT (m)	LATITUI N42:54:47 N42:55:05 N42:54:09 LATITUI	← → DE (° ' '') 7.03909 5.16563 9.27121 DE (° ' '')	LONGITUDE (°.'') W112:35:26.36463 W112:34:16.43830 W112:35:53.80237 LONGITUDE (°'')	REF. FRAME           NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) ×           NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) ×           NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) ×           REF. FRAME
MARK piha pihc coRs brew 4	CONSTI 3-D NONE 3-D CONSTI NONE	RAINT	HEIGI EL HGT ~ EL HGT ~ EL HGT ~ HEIGI EL HGT ~	HT (m) 1344.608 1343.794 1340.195 HT (m) 238.982	LATITUI N42:54:47 N42:55:05 N42:54:09 LATITUI N48:07:53	► (°'') 7.03909 5.16563 9.27121 DE (°'') 3.46849	LONGITUDE (°.'') W112:35:26.36463 W112:34:16.43830 W112:35:53.80237 LONGITUDE (°.'') W119:40:57.42179	REF. FRAME           NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) >           NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) >           NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) >           REF. FRAME           NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) >
MARK piha pihc pihn C CORS brew 4 gtrg 4	CONSTI 3-D NONE 3-D CONSTI NONE NONE 3-D CONSTI 3-D 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	RAINT	HEIGI EL HGT ~ EL HGT ~ EL HGT ~ HEIGI EL HGT ~ EL HGT ~	HT (m) 1344.608 1343.794 1340.195 HT (m) 238.982 1539.765	LATITUI N42:54:47 N42:55:05 N42:54:09 LATITUI N48:07:53 N43:14:38	► (° '') DE (° '') 7.03909 5.16563 9.27121 DE (° '') 3.46849 8.71138	LONGITUDE (°´'') W112:35:26.36463 W112:34:16.43830 W112:35:53.80237 LONGITUDE (°´') W119:40:57.42179 W113:14:28.31518	REF. FRAME           NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) >           NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) >           NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) >           REF. FRAME           NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) >
MARK piha pihc pihn C CORS brew 4 gtrg 4 idif 4	CONSTI 3-D NONE 3-D CONSTI 0 NONE 0 NONE 0 S-D 0 NONE 0 3-D 0 S-D 0	RAINT	HEIGI EL HGT ~ EL HGT ~ EL HGT ~ EL HGT ~ EL HGT ~ EL HGT ~	HT (m) 1344.608 1343.794 1340.195 HT (m) 238.982 1539.765 1438.726	LATITUI           N42:54:47           N42:55:05           N43:14:38           N43:31:06	► <p< td=""><td>LONGITUDE (°´'') W112:35:26.36463 W112:34:16.43830 W112:35:53.80237 LONGITUDE (°´') W119:40:57.42179 W113:14:28.31518 W112:03:07.15278</td><td>REF. FRAME           NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) &gt;           NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) &gt;           REF. FRAME           NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) &gt;           NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) &gt;           NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) &gt;           NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) &gt;</td></p<>	LONGITUDE (°´'') W112:35:26.36463 W112:34:16.43830 W112:35:53.80237 LONGITUDE (°´') W119:40:57.42179 W113:14:28.31518 W112:03:07.15278	REF. FRAME           NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) >           NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) >           REF. FRAME           NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) >           NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) >           NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) >           NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) >
MARK piha pihc pihn CORS brew agtrg aidif aidnl	CONSTI 3-D NONE 3-D CONSTI 0 NONE 0 NONE 0 NONE 0 3-D 0	RAINT	HEIGI EL HGT ~ EL HGT ~ EL HGT ~ EL HGT ~ EL HGT ~ EL HGT ~ EL HGT ~	HT (m) 1344.608 1343.794 1340.195 HT (m) 238.982 1539.765 1438.726 1509.077	LATITUI           N42:54:47           N42:55:03           N42:55:03           N42:54:03           N48:07:53           N43:14:38           N43:31:06           N43:32:53	► <p< td=""><td>LONGITUDE (°´'') W112:35:26.36463 W112:34:16.43830 W112:35:53.80237 LONGITUDE (°´') W119:40:57.42179 W113:14:28.31518 W112:03:07.15278 W113:00:32.64068</td><td>REF. FRAME           NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) &gt;           NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) &gt;</td></p<>	LONGITUDE (°´'') W112:35:26.36463 W112:34:16.43830 W112:35:53.80237 LONGITUDE (°´') W119:40:57.42179 W113:14:28.31518 W112:03:07.15278 W113:00:32.64068	REF. FRAME           NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) >
MARK piha pihc pihn CORS brew gtrg gtrg idif idnl idpo i	CONSTI 3-D NONE 3-D CONSTI NONE 3-D 3-D 3-D 3-D 3-D 3-D 3-D 3-D	RAINT	HEIGI EL HGT ~ EL HGT ~ EL HGT ~ EL HGT ~ EL HGT ~ EL HGT ~ EL HGT ~	HT (m) 1344.608 1343.794 1340.195 HT (m) 238.982 1539.765 1438.726 1509.077 1380.061	N42:54:47           N42:55:05           N42:55:05           N42:54:47           N42:55:05           N42:55:05           N42:54:05           N43:07:53           N43:14:36           N43:31:06           N43:22:53           N42:51:55	► ► ► ► ► ► ■ </td <td>LONGITUDE (° ' ") W112:35:26.36463 W112:34:16.43830 W112:35:53.80237 LONGITUDE (° ' ") W119:40:57.42179 W119:40:57.42179 W113:14:28.31518 W112:03:07.15278 W113:00:32.64068 W112:25:54.28751</td> <td>REF. FRAME           NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) \           NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) \</td>	LONGITUDE (° ' ") W112:35:26.36463 W112:34:16.43830 W112:35:53.80237 LONGITUDE (° ' ") W119:40:57.42179 W119:40:57.42179 W113:14:28.31518 W112:03:07.15278 W113:00:32.64068 W112:25:54.28751	REF. FRAME           NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) \           NAD_83(2011) (2010.0000) \

Figure E-9: Setting up the horizontal constrained network adjustment

Evaluate the results of the Constrained Adjustment starting with the F-test as described in section 11.7.3.2. A failed F-Test will likely result in an unsuccessful project submission. Evaluate the mark estimated - horizontal-free adjustment coordinate shifts, mark estimated - published horizontal coordinate shifts, and residuals.

network-final-horizontal-constrained	I.txt created: 2020-09-17 12:29 UTC downloaded: 2021-06-09 12:58 UTC
NGS BETA OPUS-Proj	ects 2.03 NETWORK ADJUSTMENT REPORT
All coordinate accuracies repo uncertainties from the solutio geodesy.noaa.gov/OPUS/Using_OP	rted here are 1x the formal n. For additional information: US-Projects.html#accuracy
These positions were computed Geodetic Survey regarding the	without any knowledge by the National equipment or field operating procedures used.
SUBMITTED BY:	kevin.jordan
SOLUTION FILE NAME:	network-final-horizontal-constrained.sum
SOLUTION SOFTWARE:	ADJUST(6.4.3)
SOLUTION DATE:	2020-09-17T08:28:40 UTC
STANDARD ERROR OF UNIT WEIGHT:	1.482
F STATISTIC TEST:	PASS (2.20 < 2.75 F CRITICAL @ 99% CONFIDENCE)

*Figure E-10: Output from the Processing Report of the Horizontal Constrained network adjustment showing the result of the F-test* 

MARK	ESTI	MATED -	HORIZONTAL-FREE	E ADJUSTMENT COORDINATE SHIFTS
brew gtrg idif idnl	N: N: N: N:	0.000 0.000 0.000 -0.001	m (0.002 m) E: m (0.002 m) E: m (0.002 m) E: m (0.002 m) E: m (0.002 m) E:	0.001 m (0.002 m) H: -0.002 m (0.007 m) 0.001 m (0.002 m) H: -0.002 m (0.006 m) 0.002 m (0.002 m) H: -0.001 m (0.006 m) 0.001 m (0.002 m) H: -0.002 m (0.006 m)
idpo	N:	0.000	m (0.002 m) E:	0.001 m (0.002 m) H: -0.002 m (0.006 m)
p675 piha	N: N:	0.000	m (0.002 m) E: m (0.003 m) E:	0.001 m (0.002 m) H: -0.002 m (0.005 m) 0.001 m (0.002 m) H: 0.000 m (0.007 m)
pihc	N:	0.001	m (0.003 m) E:	0.001 m (0.003 m) H: -0.002 m (0.009 m)
pihn	N:	0.004	m (0.003 m) E:	0.002 m (0.002 m) H: -0.009 m (0.007 m)

Figure E-11: Shifts between Horizontal Constrained and Horizontal Free adjusted coordinates

MARK ES	TIMATED	- PUBLIS	SHED H	ORIZONTAL	COORDINATE SHIFTS	
brew N: gtrg N: idif N: idnl N: idpo N: p675 N:	0.002 0.008 0.002 0.006 -0.000	m (0.002 m (0.002 m (0.002 m (0.002 m (0.002 m (0.002	m) E: m) E: m) E: m) E: m) E: m) E:	0.010 m 0.001 m -0.006 m 0.005 m 0.001 m	(0.002 m) U: -0.007 m (0.002 m) U: -0.012 m (0.002 m) U: -0.009 m (0.002 m) U: -0.001 m (0.002 m) U: -0.002 m	(0.007 m) CORS (0.006 m) CORS (0.006 m) CORS (0.006 m) CORS (0.006 m) CORS (0.006 m) CORS
piha N: pihn N:	-0.011 -0.013	m (0.002 m (0.003 m (0.003	m) E: m) E: m) E:	0.003 m 0.004 m -0.004 m	(0.002 m) U: -0.009 m (0.002 m) U: 0.016 m	(0.007 m) OPUS (0.007 m) OPUS

Figure E-12: Shifts between the Horizontal Constrained adjusted and Published coordinates

netwo	ork-final-ho	orizontal-co	onstrained	.preplt2 created:	<b>2020-09-</b> 1	17 12:29 UTC downloaded: 2021	-06-09	16:19 U	ITC	
	Residu	al Compon	ents(m)	Rej Baseline	FROM:		Т	0:		
Obs#	DN	DE	DU	(m)	SSN	Designation	S	SN	Designation	
22	-0.0047	-0.0011	-0.0066	14016.0026	( 0001)	FAA PIH A	(	0014)	POCATELLO CORS	ARP
25	-0.0003	-0.0009	0.0028	12804.9158	( 0002)	PIH C	(	0014)	POCATELLO CORS	ARP
28	-0.0036	-0.0024	0.0045	14215.7979	( 0003)	PIH N	(	0014)	POCATELLO CORS	ARP
31	-0.0015	-0.0018	-0.0050	813536.2311	( 0016)	BREWSTER VLBA 40473M001	(	0014)	POCATELLO CORS	ARP
34	-0.0008	-0.0019	-0.0050	78229.1154	( 0011)	GTRG_EBRY_ID1998 CORS ARP	(	0014)	POCATELLO CORS	ARP
37	0.0003	-0.0019	-0.0033	78859.7661	( 0012)	IDAHO FALLS CORS ARP	Ć	0014)	POCATELLO CORS	ARP
40	-0.0001	-0.0016	-0.0025	89193.9122	( 0013)	IDAHO NAT LAB CORS ARP	(	0014)	POCATELLO CORS	ARP
43	-0.0009	-0.0019	-0.0015	76327.4604	(0015)	HOLBROOKID2006 CORS MON	(	0014)	POCATELLO CORS	ARP
46	-0.0013	0.0019	0.0023	14016.0026	( 0001)	FAA PIH A	Ó	0014)	POCATELLO CORS	ARP
49	-0.0012	0.0001	-0.0033	12804.9158	( 0002)	PIH C	Ó	0014)	POCATELLO CORS	ARP
52	-0.0056	0.0002	0.0090	14215.7979	( 0003)	PIH N	(	0014)	POCATELLO CORS	ARP
55	0.0013	0.0016	0.0043	813536.2311	( 0016)	BREWSTER VLBA 40473M001	(	0014)	POCATELLO CORS	ARP
58	0.0012	0.0017	0.0045	78229.1154	( 0011)	GTRG_EBRY_ID1998 CORS ARP	(	0014)	POCATELLO CORS	ARP
61	0.0001	0.0012	0.0028	78859.7661	( 0012)	IDAHO FALLS CORS ARP	(	0014)	POCATELLO CORS	ARP
64	0.0007	0.0014	0.0024	89193.9122	( 0013)	IDAHO NAT LAB CORS ARP	Ć	0014)	POCATELLO CORS	ARP
67	0.0011	0.0019	0.0016	76327.4604	( 0015)	HOLBROOKID2006 CORS MON	Ć	0014)	POCATELLO CORS	ARP
netwo	ork-final-ho	rizontal-co	onstrained	.preplt2 created:	2020-09-1	17 12:29 UTC downloaded: 2021	-06-09	16:19 U	ITC	

Figure E-13: Output from PrepIt2 showing the residuals from the Horizontal Constrained adjustment

d. Set up Adjustment to perform a **Vertical Free** as described in Section 12.4. Constrain the PACS only in Vertical, Constrain the HUB CORS in HOR-only. Do not modify any of these a priori coordinates. This is a good time to check coordinate constraints vs. published.

		···P	ocatello SACS"	Inetwo	ork Adjustn	nent	
?	<b>7</b> 2		Perfor	n Adjustmer	it		
NGS surv	ey project tracki	ng ID : 0000					
O Prelimi	inary	O Horizontal free	O Horizontal constrained	Vertical	al free O	Vertical constrained	
Adjustme	ent Name (30 cha	ır max): final					
		Included Solutions				Available Solutions	•
network-fi	inal-horizontal-co	nstrained		[none]			
				€ →			
			~				
MARK		NAVD 88 (GPS HEIGHTS	HEIGHT (m)	1357 66	LATITUDE (° ' '')	LONGITUDE (° ' ")	REF. FRAME
pina 🗢	VER ONET -	IN WE DO (OF OTILIOTTO.	. DECIMETER/1000010101)	2001100			
pihc O	NONE ¥	FL HGT - GEOID18	~	1356.79	N42:55:05.16563	W112:34:16.43830	NAD 83(2011) (2010.00
pihc O	NONE V	EL HGT - GEOID18 NAVD 88 (GPS HEIGHTS:	V DECIMETER ACCURACY) V	1356.79	N42:55:05.16563	W112:34:16.43830 W112:35:53.80237	NAD_83(2011) (2010.00
pihc O pihn O CORS	NONE V NONE V CONSTRAINT	EL HGT - GEOID18 NAVD 88 (GPS HEIGHTS:	DECIMETER ACCURACY)      HEIGHT (m)	1356.79 1353.26	N42:55:05.16563 N42:54:09.27121 LATITUDE (°'")	W112:34:16.43830 W112:35:53.80237 LONGITUDE (°''')	NAD_83(2011) (2010.00 NAD_83(2011) (2010.00 <b>REF. FRAME</b>
pihc O pihn O CORS brew (4)	NONE V NONE V CONSTRAINT	EL HGT - GEOID18 NAVD 88 (GPS HEIGHTS: NAVD 88 (GPS HEIGHTS:	DECIMETER ACCURACY)      HEIGHT (m)     2CM/5CM STANDARDS)	1356.79 1353.26 258.28	N42:55:05.16563 N42:54:09.27121 LATITUDE (°''') N48:07:53.46849	W112:34:16.43830 W112:35:53.80237 LONGITUDE (°´´) W119:40:57.42179	NAD_83(2011) (2010.00 NAD_83(2011) (2010.00 <b>REF. FRAME</b> NAD_83(2011) (2010.00
pihc O pihn O CORS brew O gtrg O	NONE   NONE  CONSTRAINT  NONE  NONE  NONE	EL HGT - GEOID18 NAVD 88 (GPS HEIGHTS: NAVD 88 (GPS HEIGHTS: EL HGT - GEOID18	CDECIMETER ACCURACY)      HEIGHT (m)     COM/SCM STANDARDS)	1356.79 1353.26 258.28 1552.59	N42:55:05.16563 N42:54:09.27121 LATITUDE (°'') N48:07:53.46849 N43:14:38.71138	W112:34:16.43830 W112:35:53.80237 LONGITUDE (°'") W119:40:57.42179 W113:14:28.31518	NAD_83(2011) (2010.00 NAD_83(2011) (2010.00 <b>REF. FRAME</b> NAD_83(2011) (2010.00 NAD_83(2011) (2010.00
pihc O pihn O CORS brew A gtrg A idif A	NONE       NONE       CONSTRAINT       NONE       NONE       NONE	EL HGT - GEOID18 NAVD 88 (GPS HEIGHTS: NAVD 88 (GPS HEIGHTS: EL HGT - GEOID18 EL HGT - GEOID18	EDECIMETER ACCURACY)      HEIGHT (m)     CCM/5CM STANDARDS)      V     V	1356.79 1353.26 258.28 1552.59 1450.41	N42:55:05.16563 N42:54:09.27121 LATITUDE (°´´) N48:07:53.46849 N43:14:38.71138 N43:31:06.88198	W112:34:16.43830         W112:35:53.80237         LONGITUDE (° '')         W119:40:57.42179         W113:14:28.31518         W112:03:07.15278	NAD_83(2011) (2010.00 NAD_83(2011) (2010.00 <b>REF. FRAME</b> NAD_83(2011) (2010.00 NAD_83(2011) (2010.00 NAD_83(2011) (2010.00
pihc O pihn O CORS brew (2) gtrg (2) idif (2) idnl (2)	NONE       NONE       CONSTRAINT       NONE       NONE       NONE       NONE       NONE	EL HGT - GEOID18 NAVD 88 (GPS HEIGHTS NAVD 88 (GPS HEIGHTS: EL HGT - GEOID18 EL HGT - GEOID18 EL HGT - GEOID18	DECIMETER ACCURACY)      HEIGHT (m)     2CM/5CM STANDARDS)	1356.79 1353.26 258.28 1552.59 1450.41 1521.31	N42:55:05.16563 N42:54:09.27121 LATITUDE (°'') N48:07:53.46849 N43:14:38.71138 N43:31:06.88198 N43:32:53.36853	W112:34:16.43830           W112:35:53.80237           LONGITUDE (° '')           W119:40:57.42179           W113:14:28.31518           W112:03:07.15278           W112:03:2.64068	NAD_83(2011) (2010.00           NAD_83(2011) (2010.00           REF.FRAME           NAD_83(2011) (2010.00           NAD_83(2011) (2010.00           NAD_83(2011) (2010.00           NAD_83(2011) (2010.00           NAD_83(2011) (2010.00
pihc O pihn O CORS brew O gtrg O idif O idnl O idpo O	NONE       NONE       CONSTRAINT       NONE       NONE       NONE       NONE       NONE       NONE       HOR-ONLY	EL HGT - GEOID18 NAVD 88 (GPS HEIGHTS EL HGT - GEOID18 EL HGT - GEOID18 EL HGT - GEOID18 EL HGT - GEOID18 EL HGT - GEOID18	DECIMETER ACCURACY)      HEIGHT (m)     2CM/5CM STANDARDS)	1356.79 1353.26 258.28 1552.59 1450.41 1521.31 1392.71	N42:55:05.16563 N42:54:09.27121 LATITUDE (°'') N48:07:53.46849 N43:14:38.71138 N43:31:06.88198 N43:32:55.36853 N42:51:55.99536	W112:34:16.43830           W112:35:53.80237           LONGITUDE (* ")           W119:40:57.42179           W119:40:57.42179           W119:40:57.42179           W119:40:57.42179           W119:40:57.42179           W119:40:57.42179           W119:40:57.42179           W119:40:50:07.15278           W1112:05:07.15278           W113:00:32.64068           W112:25:54.28751	NAD_83(2011) (2010.00           NAD_83(2011) (2010.00           REF.FRAME           NAD_83(2011) (2010.00
pihc O pihn O CORS brew O gtrg O idif O idnl O idpo O p675 O	NONE       NONE       CONSTRAINT       NONE       NONE       NONE       NONE       NONE       HOR-ONLY       NONE	EL HGT - GEOID18 NAVD 88 (GPS HEIGHTS EL HGT - GEOID18 EL HGT - GEOID18	HEIGHT (m)     COMPARENT ACCURACY)      HEIGHT (m)     COM/SCM STANDARDS)	1356.79 1353.26 258.28 1552.59 1450.41 1521.31 1392.71 1573.88	N42:55:05.16563 N42:54:09.27121 LATTUDE(*') N48:07:53.46849 N43:14:38.7138 N43:11:06.88198 N43:31:06.88198 N43:32:53.36853 N42:51:55.99536 N42:12:43.97903	W112:34:16.43830           W112:35:53.80237           LONGITUDE (* ")           W119:40:57.42179           W119:40:57.42179           W119:40:57.42179           W119:40:57.42179           W119:40:57.42179           W119:40:57.42179           W119:40:60:07.15278           W112:05:07.15278           W112:25:54.28751           W112:43:07.70818	NAD_83(2011) (2010.00           NAD_83(2011) (2010.00           REF.FRAME           NAD_83(2011) (2010.00           NAD_83(2011) (2010.00
pihc pihn CORS brew gtrg idif idnl idpo p675 Processin	NONE         V           NONE         V           CONSTRAINT         NONE           NONE         V           NONE         V           NONE         V           NONE         V           HOR-ONLY         V           NONE         V	EL HGT - GEOID18 NAVD 88 (GPS HEIGHTS EL HGT - GEOID18 EL HGT - GEOID18	EDECIMETER ACCURACY)      HEIGHT (m)     2CM/5CM STANDARDS)	1356.79 1353.26 258.28 1552.59 1450.41 1521.31 1392.71 1573.88	N42:55:05.16563 N42:54:09.27121 LAITIUDE (* '') N48:07:53.46849 N43:14:38.71138 N43:14:06.88198 N43:31:06.88198 N43:32:53.36853 N42:51:55.99536 N42:12:43.97903	W112:34:16.43830         W112:35:53.80237         LONGITUDE (* ")         W119:40:57.42179         W119:40:57.42179         W119:40:50.7.42179         W119:40:50.7.42179         W119:40:50.7.42179         W119:40:50.7.42179         W119:40:50.7.42179         W119:40:50.7.42179         W119:40:50.7.42179         W1112:25:54.28751         W112:43:07.70818	NAD_83(2011) (2010.00           NAD_83(2011) (2010.00           REF.FRAME           NAD_83(2011) (2010.00           NAD_83(2011) (2010.00

Figure E-14: Setting up the Vertical Free network adjustment

Evaluate output. The a priori coordinate shifts may appear higher than normal due to holding only a single passive control mark as the vertical constraint.

MARK	ESTI	MATED -	HORIZONT	AL-CO	ISTRAINED	ADJUSTMEN	IT COORDI	INATE SHIFTS
brew	N:	-0.002	m (0.003	m) E:	0.00	1 m (0.005	5 m) H:	0.023 m (0.025 m)
gtrg	N:	0.009	m (0.002	.m) E:	0.000	0 m (0.004	⊦m) H:	0.023 m (0.025 m)
idif	N:	0.002	m (0.002	m) E:	-0.00	8 m (0.004	⊧m)H:	0.022 m (0.025 m)
idnl	N:	0.006	m (0.002	m) E:	0.004	4 m (0.004	⊧m) H:	0.023 m (0.025 m)
idpo	N:	0.000	m (0.002	m) E:	0.00	0 m (0.004	⊦m) H:	0.022 m (0.025 m)
p675	N:	0.004	m (0.002	m) E:	0.004	4 m (0.004	⊦m) H:	0.022 m (0.025 m)
piha	N:	-0.014	m (0.003	m) E:	0.00	2 m (0.005	im)H:	0.020 m (0.024 m)
pihc	N:	-0.001	m (0.003	m) E:	-0.00	1 m (0.005	im) H:	0.023 m (0.025 m)
pihn	N:	-0.017	m (0.003	m) E	-0.00	6 m (0.005	6 m) H:	0.029 m (0.025 m)

Figure E-15: Shifts between the Horizontal Constrained and Vertical Free coordinates

e. Set up Adjustment to perform a **Vertical Constrained** as discussed in Section 12.5. Constrain the PACS vertical and in cases where the existing SACS meet all Horizontal, Ellipsoid and Vertical requirements, constrain the Vertical as well. Constrain the HUB CORS in 2D only.

?	C2		Perfo	rm Adjustme	nt		
IGS surve	ey project tracki	ng ID : 0000					
O Prelimi	nary	O Horizontal free	O Horizontal constraine	d O Vertie	cal free 🤇	Vertical constrained	
Adjustme	nt Name (30 cha	r max): final					
		Included Solutions				Available Solutions	•
network-fi	nal-vertical-free			[none]	.]		
				E			
				-			
				€ →			
				÷			
				-			
MARK	CONSTRAINT		HEIGHT (m)		LATITUDE (° ' '')	LONGITUDE (° ' '')	REF. FRAME
MARK piha	CONSTRAINT VER-ONLY V	NAVD 88 (GPS HEIGHTS	HEIGHT (m)	← → 1357.66	LATITUDE (° ' '') N42:54:47.03909	LONGITUDE (° ' ")  W112:35:26.36463	REF. FRAME
MARK piha O pihc O	CONSTRAINT VER-ONLY V NONE V	NAVD 88 (GPS HEIGHTS	HEIGHT (m) E DECIMETER ACCURACY) V	← → 1357.66 1356.79	LATITUDE (° ' ") N42:54:47.03909 N42:55:05.16563	LONGITUDE (° ' '') W112:35:26.36463 W112:34:16.43830	REF. FRAME NAD_83(2011) (2010.00 NAD_83(2011) (2010.00
MARK piha O pihc O pihn O	CONSTRAINT VER-ONLY V NONE V VER-ONLY V	NAVD 88 (GPS HEIGHTS EL HGT - GEOID18 NAVD 88 (GPS HEIGHTS	HEIGHT (m) : DECIMETER ACCURACY) : DECIMETER ACCURACY)	<ul> <li>1357.66</li> <li>1356.79</li> <li>1353.26</li> </ul>	LATITUDE (°'') N42:54:47.03909 N42:55:05.16563 N42:54:09.27121	LONGITUDE (°''') W112:35:26.36463 W112:34:16.43830 W112:35:53.80237	REF. FRAME NAD_83(2011) (2010.00 NAD_83(2011) (2010.00 NAD_83(2011) (2010.00
MARK piha pihc pihn CORS	CONSTRAINT VER-ONLY V NONE V VER-ONLY CONSTRAINT	NAVD 88 (GPS HEIGHTS EL HGT - GEOID18 NAVD 88 (GPS HEIGHTS	HEIGHT (m) : DECIMETER ACCURACY) : DECIMETER ACCURACY) HEIGHT (m)	← → 1357.66 1356.79 1353.26	LATITUDE (° ' '') N42:54:47.03909 N42:55:05.16563 N42:54:09.27121 LATITUDE (° ' '')	LONGITUDE (° ' '') W112:35:26.36463 W112:34:16.43830 W112:35:53.80237 LONGITUDE (° ' ')	REF. FRAME NAD_83(2011) (2010.00 NAD_83(2011) (2010.00 (NAD_83(2011) (2010.00 REF. FRAME
MARK piha O pihc O cORS brew @	CONSTRAINT VER-ONLY V NONE V VER-ONLY V CONSTRAINT NONE V	NAVD 88 (GPS HEIGHTS EL HGT - GEOID18 NAVD 88 (GPS HEIGHTS NAVD 88 (GPS HEIGHTS	HEIGHT (m) : DECIMETER ACCURACY) · : DECIMETER ACCURACY) HEIGHT (m) : 2CM/5CM STANDARDS) ~	<ul> <li>←</li> <li>←</li> <li>1357.66</li> <li>1356.79</li> <li>↓</li> <li>1353.26</li> <li>258.28</li> </ul>	LATITUDE (° ' '') N42:55:05.16563 N42:55:09.27121 LATITUDE (° '') N48:07:53.46849	LONGITUDE (° ' '') M112:35:26.36463 M112:34:16.43830 M112:35:53.80237 LONGITUDE (° '') M119:40:57.42179	REF. FRAME           NAD_83(2011) (2010.00           NAD_83(2011) (2010.00           NAD_83(2011) (2010.00           REF. FRAME           NAD_83(2011) (2010.00
MARK piha pihc pihn CORS brew gtrg @	CONSTRAINT VER-ONLY ~ NONE ~ VER-ONLY ~ CONSTRAINT NONE ~ NONE ~	NAVD 88 (GPS HEIGHTS EL HGT - GEOID18 NAVD 88 (GPS HEIGHTS NAVD 88 (GPS HEIGHTS EL HGT - GEOID18	HEIGHT (m) : DECIMETER ACCURACY) : DECIMETER ACCURACY) HEIGHT (m) : 2CM/5CM STANDARDS) V	<ul> <li>←</li> <li>↓</li> /ul>	LATITUDE (° '') N42:55:05.16563 N42:55:09.27121 LATITUDE (° '') N48:07:53.46849 N43:14:38.71138	LONGITUDE (° ' '') M112:35:26.36463 M12:34:16.43830 M12:35:53.80237 LONGITUDE (° ' '') M119:40:57.42179 M119:41:57.42179 M113:14:28.31518	REF. FRAME           NAD_83(2011) (2010.00           NAD_83(2011) (2010.00           NAD_83(2011) (2010.00           REF. FRAME           NAD_83(2011) (2010.00           NAD_83(2011) (2010.00
MARK piha pihc pihn CORS brew gtrg idif @	CONSTRAINT VER-ONLY ~ NONE ~ VER-ONLY ~ CONSTRAINT NONE ~ NONE ~	NAVD 88 (GPS HEIGHTS EL HGT - GEOID18 NAVD 88 (GPS HEIGHTS NAVD 88 (GPS HEIGHTS EL HGT - GEOID18 EL HGT - GEOID18	HEIGHT (m) : DECIMETER ACCURACY) · : DECIMETER ACCURACY) HEIGHT (m) : 2CM/5CM STANDARDS) · · ·	<ul> <li>←</li> <li>↓</li> /ul>	LATITUDE (° '') N42:55:05.16563 N42:55:09.27121 LATITUDE (° '') N48:07:53.46849 N43:14:38.71138 N43:31:06.88198	LONGITUDE (° ' '') M112:35:26.36463 M112:34:16.43830 M112:35:53.80237 LONGITUDE (° ' '') M119:40:57.42179 M119:40:57.42179 M113:14:28.31518 M112:03:07.15278	REF. FRAME           NAD_83(2011) (2010.00           NAD_83(2011) (2010.00           NAD_83(2011) (2010.00           REF. FRAME           NAD_83(2011) (2010.00           NAD_83(2011) (2010.00           NAD_83(2011) (2010.00           NAD_83(2011) (2010.00
MARK piha pihc cORS brew gtrg gtrg idif idif @	CONSTRAINT VER-ONLY ~ NONE ~ VER-ONLY ~ CONSTRAINT NONE ~ NONE ~ NONE ~	NAVD 88 (GPS HEIGHTS EL HGT - GEOID18 NAVD 88 (GPS HEIGHTS NAVD 88 (GPS HEIGHTS EL HGT - GEOID18 EL HGT - GEOID18 EL HGT - GEOID18	HEIGHT (m) : DECIMETER ACCURACY) : DECIMETER ACCURACY) HEIGHT (m) : 2CM/5CM STANDARDS)	<ul> <li>←</li> <li>↓</li> /ul>	LATITUDE (° '') N42:55:05.16563 N42:55:05.27121 LATITUDE (° '') N48:07:53.46849 N43:14:38.71138 N43:31:06.88198 N43:32:53.36853	LONGITUDE (°'') W112:35:26.36463 W112:34:16.43830 W112:35:53.80237 LONGITUDE (°'') W119:40:57.42179 W119:40:57.42179 W113:14:28.31518 W112:03:07.15278 W113:00:32.64068	REF. FRAME           NAD_83(2011) (2010.00           NAD_83(2011) (2010.00           REF. FRAME           NAD_83(2011) (2010.00
MARK piha pihc pihn CORS brew gtrg gtrg idif idni idpo (a)	CONSTRAINT VER-ONLY ~ VER-ONLY ~ VER-ONLY ~ CONSTRAINT NONE ~ NONE ~ NONE ~ HOR-ONLY ~	NAVD 88 (GPS HEIGHTS EL HGT - GEOID18 NAVD 88 (GPS HEIGHTS EL HGT - GEOID18 EL HGT - GEOID18 EL HGT - GEOID18 EL HGT - GEOID18 EL HGT - GEOID18	HEIGHT (m) EDECIMETER ACCURACY) COMUNICATION EDECIMETER ACCURACY) HEIGHT (m) COM/5CM STANDARDS) COM/5CM STANDARDS) COMUNICATION CO	<ul> <li>←</li> <li>↓</li> /ul>	LATITUDE (° '') N42:55:05.16563 N42:55:05.16563 N42:54:09.27121 LATITUDE (° '') N48:07:53.46849 N43:14:38.71138 N43:31:06.88198 N43:32:53.36853 N42:51:55.99536	LONGITUDE (°'') W112:35:26.36463 W112:34:16.43830 W112:35:53.80237 LONGITUDE (°'') W119:40:57.42179 W119:40:57.42179 W113:14:28.31518 W112:03:07.15278 W113:00:32.64068 W112:25:54.28751	REF. FRAME           NAD_83(2011) (2010.00           NAD_83(2011) (2010.00           NAD_83(2011) (2010.00           REF. FRAME           NAD_83(2011) (2010.00           NAD_83(2011) (2010.00           NAD_83(2011) (2010.00           NAD_83(2011) (2010.00           NAD_83(2011) (2010.00           NAD_83(2011) (2010.00           NAD_83(2011) (2010.00

Figure E-16: Setting up the Vertical Constrained network adjustment

f. Evaluate output. Take note if the adjustment passed the F-Test. Evaluate mark estimated - vertical free adjustment coordinate shifts, mark estimated - published vertical coordinate shifts, and residuals.

network-final-vertical-constrained.txt created: 2020-09-17 13:28 UTC downloaded: 2021-06-09 19:42 UTC NGS BETA OPUS-Projects 2.03 NETWORK ADJUSTMENT REPORT \_\_\_\_\_ All coordinate accuracies reported here are 1x the formal uncertainties from the solution. For additional information: geodesy.noaa.gov/OPUS/Using\_OPUS-Projects.html#accuracy These positions were computed without any knowledge by the National Geodetic Survey regarding the equipment or field operating procedures used. SUBMITTED BY: kevin.jordan SOLUTION FILE NAME: network-final SOLUTION SOFTWARE: ADJUST(6.4.3) SOLUTION DATE: 2020-09-17709 network-final-vertical-constrained.sum SOLUTION DATE: 2020-09-17T09:27:52 UTC STANDARD ERROR OF UNIT WEIGHT: 1.009 PASS (1.02 < 2.95 F CRITICAL @ 99% CONFIDENCE) F STATISTIC TEST: TOTAL NUMBER OF OBSERVATIONS: 203913 TOTAL NUMBER OF MARKS: 9 1 HORIZONTAL, 2 VERTICAL CONSTRAINED MARKS: idpo N42:51:55.99536 W112:25:54.28751 NAD\_83(2011) @ 2010.0000 idpo 0.21cm 0.44cm NE SIGMAS piha 1357.66m ORTHO NAVD 88 2.43cm U SIGMA piha pihn 1353.26m ORTHO NAVD 88 pihn 2.45cm U SIGMA

Figure E-17: Processing Report (\*.txt) from Vertical Constrained network adjustment highlighting the result of the Ftest

MARK	ESTIMATED -	VERTICAL-FREE AD	JUSTMENT COORDINATE	SHIFTS
brew gtrg	N: 0.002 N: 0.000	m (0.003 m) E: m (0.002 m) E:	-0.002 m (0.005 m) 0.000 m (0.004 m) 0.000 m (0.004 m)	H: -0.021 m (0.018 m) H: -0.021 m (0.018 m) H: -0.021 m (0.018 m)
idnl idpo	N: 0.000 N: 0.000	m (0.002 m) E: m (0.002 m) E: m (0.002 m) E:	0.000 m (0.004 m) 0.000 m (0.004 m) 0.000 m (0.004 m)	H: -0.021 m (0.018 m) H: -0.020 m (0.018 m) H: -0.020 m (0.018 m)
p675 piha pihc	N: 0.000 N: 0.000 N: 0.000	0 m (0.002 m) E: 0 m (0.003 m) E: 0 m (0.003 m) E:	0.000 m (0.004 m) 0.000 m (0.005 m) 0.000 m (0.005 m)	H: -0.020 m (0.018 m) H: -0.020 m (0.018 m) H: -0.021 m (0.018 m)

Figure E-18: Shifts between Vertical Free and Vertical Constrained adjusted coordinates

MARK ESTIMATED - PUBLISHED VERTICAL COORDINATE SHIFTS brew: ORTHO HGT: 0.007 m (0.018 m) DK4090 GPS HEIGHTS: 2CM/5CM STANDARDS piha: ORTHO HGT: -0.020 m (0.018 m) AA3682 GPS HEIGHTS: DECIMETER ACCURACY pihn: ORTHO HGT: 0.021 m (0.018 m) AB8163 GPS HEIGHTS: DECIMETER ACCURACY

Figure E-19: Shifts between Vertical Constrained and published orthometric heights

In this case, BREW is the distant CORS and was unconstrained in the adjustment. The output for this CORS may be ignored.

g. Follow OP guidance to Review and Submit to NGS as described in Section 11.7.6. Additional notification on the FAA Airports GIS portal as well as supplemental documents, including the OPUS Projects ID, NGS Tracking ID and date submitted will be required.

# Appendix F: Tying a Real-Time Network to the NSRS

OP may be used for tying coordinates of real-time network control stations to the NSRS. A more formal NGS NSRS validation process/service may be available in the future.

The following is an outline of general 'best practices' for tying an RTN to the NSRS, mostly concatenated from current general guidelines outlined in Section V. of Henning et al (2013) "<u>NGS Guidelines for Real Time GNSS</u> <u>Networks</u>."

#### F.1 Determining RTN Station Coordinates using OPUS Projects

It is recommended that the RTN Administrator follow the procedures outlined in this manual (especially Sections 10 and 11) to perform the sequential network adjustments on simultaneous observations from the real-time base stations as required for submitting the project to NGS. Following these procedures, the coordinates derived for the real-time base stations will be properly tied to the NSRS.

NGS accepts survey project proposals intended to tie RTN base stations to the NSRS via OP: a NGS Project Tracking ID will be issued as with any other GNSS survey project designed to be submitted to NGS

For this task, it is recommended that a minimum of five (5) twenty-four (24) hour data sets be used for each base station that is not a CORS in the network adjustment. The corresponding 24-hour data files are uploaded into the project through the regular OPUS data file upload page, noting that the antenna heights would be set to zero (0.0000 m).

For connecting RTN base stations to the NSRS, only RTN base station data (24-hour files) need to be downloaded from the network and uploaded to OP; there is no need to download/upload CORS data

#### F.2 MON vs. GRP vs. ARP

Published CORS coordinates are automatically seeded into OP projects when RTN active station data is uploaded through OPUS to an OP project. In many cases, the published height at a CORS is with respect to the ARP, or "antenna reference point." It may also be published with respect to the **GRP**, or "**geometric reference point**," which is virtually the same as the ARP. In some cases, however, the published height is attributed to the MON, or "monument." OPUS keeps track of any MON/GRP/ARP vertical offsets (even if it is 0.000m) but will always only report the MON ellipsoid height for CORS, if available. This distinction is typically unimportant for most projects, but in the case of an RTN project where CORS may also be part of the RTN, the project manager must be aware of this MON vs ARP distinction. The difference between coordinates for the MON vs. GRP vs. ARP may cause confusion, as RTN network software typically expects the ellipsoid heights at the ARP to be entered for all stations.



Figure F-1: Example project which includes RTN base stations as user marks in OP

Large real-time networks can be completed sequentially in OP by creating multiple projects containing RTN clusters that overlap each other providing the ability to check the same station coordinates in different projects. Each cluster project must use identical constraining CORS. While this multi-project technique produces good results, adjusting the entire RTN as one project produces the best results.

# F.3 Use the Latest Absolute Antenna Calibrations

Since 2011, NGS has been using Absolute Antenna calibrations in the definition of the national reference frames. The latest absolute antenna patterns are automatically used in OPUS and thus OP as well. Within each antenna calibration file there are north and east orientation values. For best results, therefore, each antenna's North Reference Point (NRP) should be aligned to true north. Normally all CORS are orientated to north when they are installed. The NGS maintains an <u>antenna calibration web page</u> where absolute calibrations are provided for most geodetic GNSS antennas currently on the market.

# F.4 Collect Station Data During Optimal Weather Conditions

Typically, the errors remaining in GNSS after modeled effects are removed result from signals going through the troposphere. It is therefore recommended to collect RTN station data (to use in processing) during a dry weather period when high pressure may dominate the entire RTN coverage area and tropospheric conditions are uniformly stable. Care should also be exercised not to use data taken during periods of high ionospheric disturbance. The National Weather Service Space Weather Prediction Center provides information and warnings of these periods; see <a href="https://www.swpc.noaa.gov/">https://www.swpc.noaa.gov/</a>.

# F.5 Tie RTN Stations to the NSRS Using Select CORSs

It is recommended that the RTN be tied to the NOAA CORS Network (NCN). This is very easy to achieve within OP as the access to the entire NCN is available within the program. At least 10% or a minimum of three (whichever is greater) of the RTN active reference stations should be part of the NCN. This provides a continuous real-time network tie to the NCN, the NSRS, and the geometric datum. The NCN sites to be constrained in the network should be distributed as uniformly as possible throughout the RTN service area. For the best tie, use CORS that have proven themselves to be reliable and stable over time, and have up to date log files with photos. Verify that the antenna and radome in the log file are the ones actually on the mount during the time the data are downloaded. Include constraining to one or more IGS CORS sites and refer to the IGS website for more information on the IGS site locations: http://igscb.jpl.nasa.gov/network/netindex.html



OP lists both NCN and IGS Stations (not in the NCN) as "CORS." Clicking on the individual CORS for more information will reveal which kind of station it is.

# F.6 Coordination

Real-time networks that are adjacent to one another may want to consider coordinating their efforts to position their networks such that rover operators may cross RTN borders and expect to work effectively with common, homogeneous coordinates. Thorough testing of the network correctors, supported by empirical data, may provide some assurance of common coordinates corroborated by independent OPUS Static solutions.

#### F.7 Field Tests

RTN Administrators may elect to occupy a subset of passive marks with rovers to compare RTN derived positions with the NGS national adjustment positions in the same reference frame. However, the correctors any given RTN provides may yield coordinates for an RTN rover, at passive control, that disagree with NAD 83(2011)2010.00 coordinates. Note that the processed vectors used in the national adjustment of 2011 (NA2011, which yielded NAD 83(2011)) are from surveys spanning nearly 20 years and therefore based on equipment and software used at the time of the original survey. Additionally the adjustment will not account for possible mark disturbance or movement since the observation date. Western states' passive marks may be subject to significant tectonic plate motion which complicates efforts to assign long-lasting, stable coordinate positions. In fact, even in the most "stable" part of the North American Continent, residual interplate motions are known to exist. For checking the validity of RTN correctors after tying the network to the NSRS, it is recommended to perform a static GNSS occupation on the passive mark, and compare the new independent OPUS solution to the RTN-rover-based coordinate value. This method uses the identical survey epoch (with similar atmospheric conditions) and hardware, with the only difference being the method of computation (OPUS vs. RTN).

### F.8 Monitoring RTN Station Coordinates

After a successful submission of the RTN project to NGS, NSRS coordinates will be published for the RTN base stations (not part of the NCN). The RTN Administrator should plan to monitor the positions of all RTN stations to ensure that their coordinates do not deviate more than expected from these newly published values. Administrators should provide quality assurance to users that the positions do not vary by more than an expected amount for any given day of RTN operation. How much variance or movement in position is acceptable? What are the seasonal effects on station positions? Each RTN should determine acceptable normal limits and beyond those limits consider re-positioning the station. For consistency, consider adopting procedures for updating the station's coordinates and/or velocity if coordinate differences in excess of 2 cm in either horizontal dimension and/or 4 cm in ellipsoid height persist over a period of several days.

After completing a new RTN adjustment or updating individual station coordinates the RTN Administrator should consider publishing each station's position on the RTN website. Include metadata about the adopted coordinates and relative positioning network accuracies for the RTN stations based on the assumption that CORS are errorless. Network accuracies should be published for each station so that users may include those errors when performing local project static network adjustments using the RTN stations. Thus local project network error will include the RTN network error. The network error should be normally reported at the 95% (2) confidence level.

#### **F.9 Literature Cited:**

Henning, W., D. Martin, G. Schrock, G. Thompson, R. Snay. 2013. National Geodetic Survey Guidelines for Real Time Networks. Accessed online on November 16, 2020:

https://www.ngs.noaa.gov/PUBS\_LIB/NGSGuidelinesForRealTimeGNSSNetworksV2.2.pdf. 64pp.